Jari Karppinen

Menopause, Physical Activity, and Whole-Body Metabolism with an Emphasis on Resting Energy Expenditure, Fat Oxidation, and Serum Metabolome



#### JYU DISSERTATIONS 636

# Jari Karppinen

# Menopause, Physical Activity, and Whole-Body Metabolism with an Emphasis on Resting Energy Expenditure, Fat Oxidation, and Serum Metabolome

Esitetään Jyväskylän yliopiston liikuntatieteellisen tiedekunnan suostumuksella julkisesti tarkastettavaksi yliopiston päärakennuksen salissa C1 kesäkuun 16. päivänä 2023 kello 12.

Academic dissertation to be publicly discussed, by permission of the Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences of the University of Jyväskylä, in University Main Building, auditorium C1, on June 16, 2023, at 12 o'clock noon.



JYVÄSKYLÄ 2023

Editors Anne Viljanen Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä Ville Korkiakangas Open Science Centre, University of Jyväskylä

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2023, by the author and University of Jyväskylä

ISBN 978-951-39-9575-1 (PDF) URN:ISBN:978-951-39-9575-1 ISSN 2489-9003

Permanent link to this publication: http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-951-39-9575-1

# ABSTRACT

Karppinen, Jari Menopause, physical activity, and whole-body metabolism with an emphasis on resting energy expenditure, fat oxidation, and serum metabolome Jyväskylä: University of Jyväskylä, 2023, 153 p. (JYU Dissertations ISSN 2489-9003; 636) ISBN 978-951-39-9575-1 (PDF)

Menopause is thought to impair cardiometabolic health, while physical activity is believed to promote it. This PhD thesis investigated the associations between these two exposures and resting energy expenditure, fat oxidation at rest and during exercise, and changes in the serum metabolome. The thesis also examined the relationship between fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation abilities. The data came from four studies. The longitudinal ERMA study measured serum metabolites with nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy from 218 women who were in perimenopause and postmenopause stages (with a median follow-up of 14 months). During the follow-up period, 35 women began using menopausal hormone therapy. The other three studies were cross-sectional and measured resting energy expenditure and fat oxidation at rest and during exercise with indirect calorimetry. The EsmiRs study recruited 42 women (aged 52-58 years) representing different menopause stages. The resting energy expenditure data were supplemented with data from 17 women in the Calex study (aged 42-58 years). The FITFATTWIN study included 23 pairs of monozygotic male twins (aged 32-37 years). Cotwins of 10 pairs were discordant for physical activity over the past 3 years. EsmiRs and FITFATTWIN participants also underwent oral glucose tolerance testing. Based on the results, menopause was associated with increased apolipoprotein B-containing lipoprotein particle number and changes in system biomarkers indicative of overnutrition and declining metabolic health. The changes in metabolite levels were partially explained by shifts in the sex hormone levels. Menopausal hormone therapy improved the apolipoprotein B/A-I ratio. Menopause status or serum sex hormone levels were not associated with resting energy expenditure or fat oxidation. Physical activity discordant cotwins also did not differ in these measures. However, higher physical activity was associated with higher peak fat oxidation during exercise in middle-aged women. Neither resting nor peak fat oxidation indicated better glycemic control or insulin sensitivity. Therefore, menopause may increase cardiometabolic risk by altering the serum metabolome rather than by decreasing resting energy expenditure or fat oxidation capacity. Physical activity may improve fat oxidation capacity during exercise in middle-aged women but without necessarily increasing the ability to regulate blood glucose levels.

Keywords: menopause, physical activity, energy metabolism, metabolomics

## TIIVISTELMÄ (ABSTRACT IN FINNISH)

Karppinen, Jari Menopaussin ja fyysisen aktiivisuuden yhteydet lepoenergiankulutukseen, rasvan käytön tehoon ja muutoksiin seerumin metabolomissa Jyväskylä: Jyväskylän yliopisto, 2023, 153 p. (JYU Dissertations ISSN 2489-9003; 636) ISBN 978-951-39-9575-1 (PDF)

Menopaussin ajatellaan heikentävän ja fyysisen aktiivisuuden edistävän aineenvaihduntaterveyttä. Tässä väitöskirjassa tutkittiin, ovatko menopaussi ja fyysinen aktiivisuus yhteydessä lepoenergiankulutukseen, rasvan käytön tehoon levossa ja liikkuessa tai muutoksiin seerumin metabolomissa. Lisäksi tarkasteltiin rasvan käytön tehon ja sokeriaineenvaihduntaterveyden välisiä yhteyksiä. Väitöskirjatutkimuksessa käytettiin neljän tutkimuksen aineistoa. ERMA-tutkimuksessa seurattiin 218 naista heidän ylittäessään menopaussin (seurannan mediaani 14 kk). Tutkimuksen aikana 35 tutkittavista aloitti hormonikorvaushoidon. Seerumin metabolomi määritettiin ydinmagneettisella resonanssispektroskopialla alku- ja loppumittausnäytteistä. Muissa tutkimuksissa mitattiin aineenvaihduntaa epäsuoralla kalorimetrialla levossa ja liikkuessa. EsmiRs-tutkimukseen rekrytoitiin 42 menopaussin suhteen eri vaiheissa olevaa naista (ikä 52–58 vuotta). Aineistoa täydennettiin Calex-tutkimuksen 17 naisen (ikä 42-58 vuotta) tuloksilla kun tutkittiin lepoenergiankulutusta. FITFATTWIN-tutkimukseen osallistui 23 identtistä mieskaksosparia (ikä 32-37 vuotta), joista 10 parin veljekset erosivat fyysiseltä aktiivisuudeltaan. EsmiRs- ja FITFATTWIN-tutkimukset sisälsivät myös sokerirasituskokeen. Menopaussi oli yhteydessä apoB:tä sisältävien lipoproteiinipartikkeleiden määrän kasvuun ja laajemmin aineenvaihduntaterveyden heikkenemisestä kertoviin biomarkkerimuutoksiin. Muutokset sukupuolihormonien pitoisuuksissa selittivät osan löydöksistä. Hormonikorvaushoito paransi apoB/A-I-suhdetta. Menopaussistatus ei ollut yhteydessä lepoenergiankulutukseen eikä rasvan käytön tehokkuuteen. Fyysiseltä aktiivisuudelta eroavat kaksosveljet eivät myöskään eronneet lepoenergiankulutuksen eivätkä rasvan käytön suhteen. Keski-ikäisten naisten aineistossa korkeampi fyysinen aktiivisuus oli yhteydessä korkeampaan rasvan käyttökykyyn liikkuessa. Korkeampi rasvan käytön teho levossa tai liikkuessa ei kertonut paremmasta sokerinsiedosta eikä insuliiniherkkyydestä. Menopaussi heikentää aineenvaihduntaterveyttä siis ennemmin muuttamalla seerumin metabolomia kuin alentamalla lepoenergiankulutusta tai rasvan käyttöä. Fyysinen aktiivisuus voi tehostaa rasvan käyttöä liikkuessa, mutta tällä ei välttämättä ole merkitystä sokeriaineenvaihduntaterveydelle.

Avainsanat: vaihdevuodet, liikunta, energia-aineenvaihdunta, metabolomiikka

Author	Jari Karppinen, pt, MSc Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences University of Jyväskylä Finland jari.e.j.karppinen@jyu.fi ORCID 0000-0002-9886-9067
Supervisors	Associate Professor Eija Laakkonen, PhD Gerontology Research Center Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences University of Jyväskylä Finland
	Professor Emeritus Urho Kujala, MD, PhD Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences University of Jyväskylä Finland
	Professor Jari Laukkanen, MD, PhD Institute of Clinical Medicine University of Eastern Finland Finland
Reviewers	Associate Professor Laurie Isacco, PhD Laboratory of the Metabolic Adaptations to Exercise Under Physiological and Pathological Conditions University of Clermont Auvergne France
	Professor Pirjo Nuutila, MD, PhD Turku PET-center University of Turku Finland
Opponent	Professor Edward Melanson, PhD Division of Endocrinology Metabolism and Diabetes School of Medicine University of Colorado USA

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This PhD thesis marks the culmination of five years of work in the discipline of Sports and Exercise Medicine at the Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä. My passion for understanding human metabolism was ignited during my Master's studies, and this thesis embodies the knowledge I have acquired since then. I am grateful for all the experiences and people I have encountered on this journey, recognizing that this thesis is only the beginning of my exploration into the complexities of scientific research.

First and foremost, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to my supervisors, who have been instrumental in my development as a scientist. Associate Professor Eija Laakkonen has been a guiding force throughout my PhD journey, providing insightful feedback and encouraging me to pursue my interests. Her support has been crucial to my growth as a knowledgeable researcher. Eija, I could not have wished for a better mentor. I am also deeply grateful to Professor Emeritus Urho Kujala, who has served as a role model for me in understanding human function, scientific methodology, and interpretation of research findings. Lastly, I thank Professor Jari Laukkanen for his support and expertise. Our discussions during the data collection process will remain cherished memories, and I am grateful for all the knowledge you shared. I also want to acknowledge Professor Timo Lakka for serving as a steering group member for my dissertation.

I sincerely thank the official reviewers, Associate Professor Laurie Isacco and Professor Pirjo Nuutila, for their feedback and encouragement. I also want to thank Professor Edward Melanson for agreeing to be the opponent. It is truly an honor to have the opportunity to discuss my thesis with such a distinguished expert.

I express my gratitude to the Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences of the University of Jyväskylä for funding my research, allowing me to work full-time as a Doctoral Researcher and focus exclusively on my thesis. I also thank Professor Jari Parkkari, Senior Lecturers Katja Waller and Eero Haapala, fellow Doctoral Researcher Suvi Ravi, and other colleagues in Sports and Exercise Medicine for their guidance and help over the years. Additionally, I extend my appreciation to fellow researchers at the Gerontology Research Center for their valuable contributions to my development as a scientist. Although I have not been formally affiliated with the center, I have been fortunate to participate in conferences, meetings, and thoughtful discussions.

I am forever grateful to both past and present members of the Laakkonen lab, including Sira Karvinen, Matti Hyvärinen, Tero Sievänen, and others, for their support and encouragement. Special thanks go to my dear colleague, Hanna-Kaarina Juppi. Sharing the PhD journey with you has been a pleasure, and our friendship has made it even more exciting. I am thankful to my coauthors for their feedback and contributions to the studies included in this thesis. Their insights and suggestions have been invaluable in shaping this work. The lab personnel, Mervi Matero, Eeva-Maija Palonen, Anja Ahlgren, Hanne Tähti, Bettina Hutz, and Jukka Hintikka, also deserve my heartfelt thanks for their contributions to data collection.

I would like to thank my parents, my sister Sari and brother Mika, and their families for their unwavering support throughout my life. Dad, I'm grateful for all the years I got to spend with you. Your work ethic was unparalleled. You taught me to never give up, and here I am. Mom, you have always been my greatest support. You believed in me even when I doubted myself. Without you, this thesis would never have been possible. Lastly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my partner, Timo. Thank you for your immeasurable support during this journey.

Lieto, 16.04.2023 Jari Karppinen

# ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS AND AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

This PhD thesis is based on the below four original publications, which are referred to by their Roman numerals. The thesis also includes unpublished results.

I **Karppinen, J. E.**, Törmäkangas, T., Kujala, U. M., Sipilä, S., Laukkanen, J., Aukee, P., Kovanen, V. & Laakkonen, E. K. (2022). Menopause modulates the circulating metabolome: evidence from a prospective cohort study. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 29(10), 1448–1459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjpc/zwac060</u>

II **Karppinen, J. E.**, Wiklund, P., Ihalainen, J. K., Juppi, H-K., Isola, V., Hyvärinen, M., Ahokas, E. K., Kujala, U. M., Laukkanen, J., Hulmi, J. J., Ahtiainen, J. P., Cheng, S. & Laakkonen, E. K. Age but not menopausal status is linked to lower resting energy expenditure. Submitted for publication.

III **Karppinen, J. E.**, Rottensteiner, M., Wiklund, P., Hämäläinen, K., Laakkonen, E. K., Kaprio, J., Kainulainen, H. & Kujala, U. M. (2019). Fat oxidation at rest and during exercise in male monozygotic twins. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 119(11–12), 2711–2722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-019-04247-x</u>

IV **Karppinen, J. E.**, Juppi, H-K, Hintikka, J., Wiklund, P., Haapala, E. A., Hyvärinen, M., Tammelin, T. H., Aukee, P., Kujala, U. M., Laukkanen, J. & Laakkonen, E. K. (2022). Associations of resting and peak fat oxidation with sex hormone profile and blood glucose control in middle-aged women. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 32(9), 2157–2167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2022.06.001</u>

I made a significant contribution to the overall design of the EsmiRs metabolism study, which provided data for *Studies II* and *IV*. I also developed the protocols for both resting and exercise metabolism testing and performed indirect calorimetry measurements. Additionally, I provided guidance for the Physique and NO-REDS studies on measuring resting energy expenditure, resulting in the collection of data that was used in *Study II*. I processed most gas exchange data used in the current thesis into variables and planned the overall concept of each manuscript. I conducted the statistical analyses in *Studies II–IV*. In *Study I*, I created the diet quality score, performed preliminary statistical analyses, and assisted with the final analyses. I was responsible for interpreting the data and creating all figures. As the first author, I drafted all manuscripts and made revisions based on feedback from the coauthors and reviewers.

# FIGURES

FIGURE 1	Changes in the serum metabolome in response to chronic
	overnutrition and resulting metabolic deterioration
FIGURE 2	Stages of reproductive aging (A) and associated hormonal
	changes during menopause (B)37
FIGURE 3	The three models explaining the relationship between activity
	energy expenditure and resting energy expenditure
FIGURE 4	Key characteristics of the studies in this PhD thesis
FIGURE 5	The aims of <i>Study I</i> and sample sizes in statistical analyses63
FIGURE 6	The aims of <i>Study II</i> and sample sizes in statistical analyses64
FIGURE 7	The aims of <i>Study III</i> and sample sizes in statistical analyses66
FIGURE 8	The aims of <i>Study IV</i> and sample sizes in statistical analyses68
FIGURE 9	Effects of interest in the conceptual model between estradiol and
	follicle-stimulating hormone concentrations, body fat percentage,
	and metabolite measure change77
FIGURE 10	The associations of menopause with key metabolite
	outcomes
FIGURE 11	The associations of menopausal hormonal shift with key
	metabolite changes
FIGURE 12	Comparison of fat-free mass and fat mass-adjusted residual
	resting energy expenditure among (A) age and (B) menopause
	groups
FIGURE 13	Comparison of (A) measured and (B) fat-free mass and fat mass-
	adjusted residual resting energy expenditure between physical
	activity discordant cotwins
FIGURE 14	Comparison of (A) resting fat oxidation and (B) peak fat
	oxidation between physical activity discordant cotwins90
FIGURE 15	Comparison of (A) resting fat oxidation and (B) peak fat
	oxidation among menopause groups91
FIGURE 16	The associations between lean mass-relative resting fat oxidation
	and peak fat oxidation with glycemic control (A and C) and
	insulin sensitivity (B and D) in the studied men and women92
FIGURE 17	Illustrating the impact of menopause on energy resource
	allocation

# TABLES

TABLE 1	Intervention studies investigating the effects of ovarian hormone
	suppression in premenopausal women and the effects of
	menopausal hormone therapy in postmenopausal women on
	energy metabolism44
TABLE 2	Cross-sectional studies comparing energy metabolism between
	postmenopausal women and premenopausal or perimenopausal
	women or menopausal hormone therapy users
TABLE 3	Participant characteristics at the beginning and end of the follow-
	up in <i>Study I</i> 80
TABLE 4	Participant characteristics and energy expenditures across age
	and menopause groups in <i>Study II</i> 82
TABLE 5	Participant characteristics and energy metabolism outcomes in
	Studies III and IV
TABLE 6	Menopause and menopausal hormone therapy interactions with
	key metabolite outcomes

# ABBREVIATIONS

AEE	Activity energy expenditure
APO	Apolipoprotein
AUC	Area under the curve
BCAA	Branched-chained amino acid
BMI	Body mass index
CEE	Conjugated equine estrogens
CV	Coefficient of variation
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DLW	Doubly labeled water
E2	Estradiol
ER	Estrogen receptor
FAT <sub>MAX</sub>	Relative exercise intensity of peak fat oxidation
FFM	Fat-free mass
FM	Fat mass
FSH	Follicle-stimulating hormone
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic model of insulin resistance
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
IDL	Intermediate-density lipoprotein
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LM	Lean mass
MET	Metabolic equivalent of task
MHT	Menopausal hormone therapy
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acids
MZ	Monozygotic
NEFA	Nonesterified fatty acid
NEAT	Nonexercise activity thermogenesis
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PFO	Peak fat oxidation
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid
QUICKI	Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index
REE	Resting energy expenditure
RER	Respiratory exchange ratio
RFO	Resting fat oxidation
RQ	Respiratory quotient
SEE	Sleeping energy expenditure
SFA	Saturated fatty acid
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
TEE	Total energy expenditure
VLDL	Very low-density lipoprotein
<sup>VCO</sup> 2	Volume of carbon dioxide

<sup>.</sup> VO <sub>2</sub>	Volume of oxygen
VO2max	Maximal oxygen uptake
<sup>ൎ</sup> VO <sub>2PEAK</sub>	Peak oxygen uptake
WHI	Women's Health Initiative study
W <sub>MAX</sub>	Maximal work capacity

# CONTENTS

ABSTRACT TIIVISTELMÄ (ABSTRACT IN FINNISH) ACKNOWLEDGMENTS ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS AND AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION FIGURES AND TABLES ABBREVIATIONS CONTENTS

1	INT	RODUCTION	17
2	LITH	ERATURE REVIEW	19
	2.1	Measures of whole-body metabolism	19
		2.1.1 Resting and total energy expenditure	19
		2.1.1.1 Assessment of energy expenditure	19
		2.1.1.2 Main determinants of resting energy expenditure	21
		2.1.2 Fat oxidation	23
		2.1.2.1 Assessment of fat oxidation	24
		2.1.2.2 Main determinants of resting fat oxidation	25
		2.1.2.3 Main determinants of peak fat oxidation	25
		2.1.3 Serum metabolome	27
		2.1.3.1 Assessment of serum metabolome	28
		2.1.3.2 Lipoprotein particles	28
		2.1.3.3 Other metabolites	30
	2.2	Menopause	36
		2.2.1 Menopause and body composition	38
		2.2.2 Menopause and cardiometabolic health	39
		2.2.3 Menopausal hormone therapy	40
		2.2.4 Menopause and energy expenditure	42
		2.2.5 Menopause and fat oxidation	47
		2.2.6 Menopause and serum metabolome	48
	2.3	Physical activity	49
		2.3.1 Assessment of physical activity	49
		2.3.2 Physical activity and energy expenditure	50
		2.3.3 Physical activity and fat oxidation	53
		2.3.4 Physical activity and serum metabolome	54
	2.4	Fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation	55
		2.4.1 Insulin resistance pathogenesis	56
		2.4.2 Connections between whole-body fat oxidation and blood	
		glucose regulation	58
3	PUR	RPOSE OF THE STUDY	60

4	MA	MATERIALS AND METHODS 61			
	4.1	Study	v designs and participants	62	
		4.1.1	Study I	62	
		4.1.2	Study II	63	
		4.1.3	Study III	65	
		4.1.4	Study IV	66	
	4.2	Asses	sment of exposures	68	
		4.2.1	Menopause status and sex hormone levels	68	
		4.2.2	Physical activity	69	
		4.2.3	Age	70	
		4.2.4	Serum metabolome	71	
		4.2.5	Resting energy expenditure	71	
		4.2.6	Fat oxidation at rest and during exercise	72	
		4.2.7	Total energy expenditure	73	
		4.2.8	Glycemic control and insulin sensitivity	73	
	4.3	Asses	sment of covariates	73	
		4.3.1	Body composition	73	
		4.3.2	Cardiorespiratory fitness	73	
		4.3.3	Dietary intake and diet quality	74	
		4.3.4	Lipolysis-related metabolites	74	
		4.3.5	Education level, smoking status, and use of alcohol	75	
	4.4	4 Ethical considerations			
	4.5	Statis	tical analyses	75	
		4.5.1	Data transformations	76	
		4.5.2	Longitudinal analyses	76	
		4.5.3	Cross-sectional analyses	77	
5	RESULTS			79	
	5.1	Partic	ripants	79	
	5.2	5.2 Serum metabolome (Study I)		84	
		5.2.1	Natural menopause	84	
		5.2.2	Menopausal hormonal shift	86	
		5.2.3	Menopausal hormone therapy	87	
	5.3	Resti	ng energy expenditure (Studies II and III)	87	
		5.3.1	Determinants	87	
		5.3.2	Age	88	
		5.3.3	Menopause and sex hormones levels	88	
		5.3.4	Physical activity	88	
	5.4	Fat o	xidation at rest and during exercise (Studies III and IV)	89	
		5.4.1	Resting fat oxidation determinants	89	
		5.4.2	Peak fat oxidation determinants	89	
		5.4.3	Physical activity	90	
		5.4.4	Menopause and sex hormone levels	91	
		5.4.5	Blood glucose regulation	91	
6	DIS	CUSSI	ON	93	

	6.1	Menopause and serum metabolome	93
	6.2	Menopause, physical activity, and resting energy expenditure	96
	6.3	Menopause, physical activity, and fat oxidation	99
	6.4	Fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation	102
	6.5	Strength and limitations	103
	6.6	Future directions	104
7	MA	IN FINDINGS	106
YHT	ΓΕΕΝ	VETO (SUMMARY IN FINNISH)	107
REF	EREN	ICES	110
ORI	GINA	AL PAPERS	

# **1** INTRODUCTION

The term metabolism originates from the Greek words *metabolē* or *metaballein*, meaning change or to change. Metabolism encompasses all the chemical reactions within living organisms, including both the breakdown and synthesis of molecules (Cammack et al., 2006). Hence, metabolism covers the cellular processes that allow us to be what we are and do what we do. The cost of these processes determines energy expenditure, which is met through the conversion of stored energy in the chemical bonds of mainly glucose and fatty acids into ATP, which is the energy currency of the body. The dependence on either substrate as an energy source is primarily influenced by their availability at a given time, yet it has been suggested that this choice may also reflect an individual's metabolic functioning and health status (Goodpaster & Sparks, 2017).

Two powerful stimuli that influence metabolism are endocrine hormones and physical activity. Endocrine hormones are signaling molecules secreted by specialized cells and that are transported in circulation to modulate the function of the target cells at another body location (Hall, 2016). The word hormone comes from the Greek word *hormon*, which means to set into motion. Physical activity does the same but in a more concrete manner. According to the classic definition by Caspersen et al. (1985), physical activity is any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that result in energy expenditure. The endocrine system and physical activity are closely connected and mutually impact one another, the interrelated nature of physiology and behavior.

Menopause is a normal physiological process most women encounter, usually during their midlife. Because menopause occurs when women are generally active in work and have various caregiving roles within their families (Davis & Baber, 2022), menopause touches not only the lives of women but also those close to them. The exact reason for menopause is unknown, and the phenomenon is extremely rare in the animal kingdom, with only the females of humans and four whale species experiencing menopause and having long postreproductive life spans (Dalton, 2022). The grandmother hypothesis posits that, in these species, females gain evolutionary advantages from menopause because it redirects them to allocate more energy resources toward increasing the longevity of their grand-offspring (Hawkes, 2003). For example, killer whale calves have a lower life expectancy if their grandmother dies (Nattrass et al., 2019). Menopause leads to changes in sex hormone levels, which influences the functioning of cells that have receptors for these hormones, even if these cells are not directly involved in reproduction. The effects of these cellular changes are, however, not fully understood. Research has suggested that these adaptations may increase the risk of cardiometabolic diseases in women, at least in industrialized nations (El Khoudary et al., 2020; Lambrinoudaki et al., 2022). Therefore, it is crucial to further investigate the effects of menopause on metabolism to better understand and mitigate the associated health risks.

In contrast to menopause, regular physical activity causes cellular adaptations that promote cardiometabolic health (Pedersen & Saltin, 2015). Evolutionarily, the human body is designed to be active throughout life because physical activity used to be a necessity for survival (Cordain et al., 1998). However, this is no longer the case in our current environment. Today, physical inactivity is a global burden and is estimated to be, based on observational data, responsible for 7.2% and 7.6% of all-cause and cardiovascular disease (CVD) mortality, respectively (Katzmarzyk et al., 2022). The benefits of physical activity are diverse and mediated through numerous metabolic pathways. An emerging model has proposed that physical activity may protect health by redirecting energy resources away from the metabolic processes that contribute to cardiometabolic diseases (Pontzer, 2018), although more evidence is required to solidify this theory.

Metabolism cannot be characterized using a single method. Therefore, the research on metabolism employs multiple techniques to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the research question at hand. The present thesis has incorporated both traditional and modern methods. Gas exchange measurements have been used to study energy expenditure and substrate use since the nineteenth century (Kenny et al., 2017). Despite the rapid progression of biotechnology, the indirect calorimetry technique has held its place as one of the most widely used methods in metabolism research. In comparison, metabolomics is a relatively new method, with its first mention appearing in the PubMed database in 1993. Metabolomics offers another way to study wholebody metabolism by measuring a large number of small molecules less than 1500 Da in size, called metabolites, which are used or produced by cellular processes, hence providing insight into the biological status of the individual (X. Liu & Locasale, 2017). The use of metabolomics has grown rapidly, with a sixfold increase in publications in the PubMed database from 2011 to 2021. Reflecting this substantial and rapid progression, some metabolomics platforms have already ventured into clinical and commercial markets (Tikkanen et al., 2021), highlighting the potential of this field to contribute to medical advancements

In the present dissertation, I present my research findings on the complex relationships between menopause, physical activity, and metabolism at the whole-body level. Additionally, I reflect on what I have learned while studying the interconnections between fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation abilities.

# 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

## 2.1 Measures of whole-body metabolism

### 2.1.1 Resting and total energy expenditure

Adolf Magnus-Levy conceived of the concept of basal metabolic rate to define a variable that could be used to study intraindividual and interindividual variation in elementary processes consuming energy while activity is limited to a minimum (Magnus-Levy, 1947). Basal metabolic rate and resting energy expenditure (REE) characterize the same phenomenon and are often used interchangeably. As explained by Heymsfield et al. (2021), the term basal metabolic rate is reserved for situations when the measurements are performed in strict conditions similar to the pioneering research (e.g., Harris & Benedict, 1918), where, for example, muscular repose was automatically confirmed.

In the general population, approximately 60–70% of total daily energy expenditure (TEE) is covered by REE. The energy expended on movement, which is known as activity energy expenditure (AEE), accounts for 20–30% of TEE, and the energy spent on processing and storing energy and nutrients from food, which is known as the thermic effect of food, makes up the remaining 10%. Among the three components, AEE varies the most between individuals (Warren et al., 2010), while the thermic effect of food is the most consistent (Calcagno et al., 2019). The TEE components are closely interconnected, despite often being portrayed as separate. For example, a rise in AEE can lead to an increase in food intake, slightly elevating the thermic effect of food (Calcagno et al., 2019). The relationship between AEE and REE is even more complex and will be explored further in section 2.3.2.

### 2.1.1.1 Assessment of energy expenditure

The first law of thermodynamics states that energy cannot be created or destroyed, only converted into another form. Therefore, when the body uses chemical energy, it eventually transforms this energy into heat that dissipates into the surrounding environment. Direct calorimetry, which measures this heat dissipation, is the gold standard for assessing energy expenditure at the wholebody level. However, the method is challenging to use, especially when the participants are physically active (Kenny et al., 2017). The body uses almost all the oxygen it takes in to synthesize ATP, producing  $CO_2$  (Heymsfield et al., 2021). Studies that have simultaneously measured heat dissipation with the oxygen and  $CO_2$  breathed in and out found that gas exchange analysis can also closely estimate energy expenditure (Kenny et al., 2017). Nowadays, indirect calorimetry is the most commonly used method for measuring energy expenditure at the whole-body level.

To assess REE, gas exchange is usually measured using open-circuit respirometers, such as metabolic carts. A valid REE assessment requires four conditions to be met (Henry, 2005). First, the participants must be awake, lying supine and rested, and with no physical activity before the assessment. A commonly used protocol is a 30-minute resting period followed by a 30-minute measurement period (Fullmer et al., 2015). Second, the test should be conducted after fasting for at least 10 hours to control the thermic effect of food. Third, thermoneutral conditions (22-26°C) are needed. REE increases in response to cold stress (Claessens-van Ooijen et al., 2006; Kashiwazaki et al., 1990), while the effect of raising room temperature is unclear (Henderson & Halsey, 2022). Finally, the participants should be relaxed and familiar with the equipment because anxiety can distort the measurements. REE is typically measured in the early morning to meet these requirements, representing a snapshot of basal metabolism close to its nadir. However, it is important to acknowledge that REE follows a circadian rhythm and increases later in the day (van Moorsel et al., 2016; Zitting et al., 2018). REE estimates from different devices can vary by over 200 kcal/d, with a measurement error in popular metabolic carts ranging from 2–14% (Alcantara et al., 2022). Therefore, the same cart should be used throughout the study, and calibration procedures should be followed to ensure the validity and reliability of measurements. Overall, REE measurements in standardized conditions are repeatable, with the mean coefficient of variation (CV) for intraindividual variability of REE over 6 months being 5–6% (Bader et al., 2005).

In a laboratory setting, TEE can be measured using a whole-room indirect calorimeter. The sleeping energy expenditure (SEE) is also often measured in this scenario, which is roughly equal to REE minus the effects of arousal (Heymsfield et al., 2021). However, it should be noted that human behavior can vary between laboratory and real-life conditions (Kumahara et al., 2010). The most accurate method to assess free-living TEE is the doubly labeled water (DLW) method (Strath et al., 2013). In the DLW method, the participants are dosed with deuter-ium and <sup>18</sup>oxygen-enriched water (Speakman & Hambly, 2016). The isotopes merge in the body water pool, and their disappearance can be measured from bodily fluids, typically from urine. Deuterium (<sup>2</sup>H) disappears from the body as water (H<sub>2</sub>O) and <sup>18</sup>oxygen also as CO<sub>2</sub>. Therefore, CO<sub>2</sub> production can be estimated by the elimination rate difference between the isotopes. TEE can then be calculated when the average diet macronutrient distribution is known or esti-

mated because macronutrient consumption influences the ratio of oxygen consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> production (discussed in section 2.1.2.1).

### 2.1.1.2 Main determinants of resting energy expenditure

*Tissue mass.* REE shows notable variation between individuals, primarily because of differences in the fat-free mass (FFM) (M. J. Müller et al., 2004; Pontzer et al., 2021). In adult populations with typical FFM (40-80 kg), FFM has a linear relationship with REE and accounts for about 60–85% of its variance, depending on sample homogeneity (M. J. Müller et al., 2018). The two-compartment model, which considers both FFM and fat mass (FM), slightly improves REE estimation (Heymsfield et al., 2021). However, FM contributes less to REE variance because of its lower mass-specific metabolic rate (FFM 20 kcal/d, FM 4.5 kcal/d) (Elia, 1992). FFM is composed of organs and tissues with varying metabolic rates, with proportions differing between individuals, hence leading to an error in REE estimation when using the two-compartment model. Measuring FFM constituent volumes with magnetic resonance imaging can explain nearly 90% of REE variability (Heymsfield et al., 2021). However, this proportion may be understated as volume estimation assumes constant tissue quality, which, in real-life scenarios, varies between individuals and alters the mass-specific metabolic rate of organs and tissues (M. J. Müller et al., 2018). Tissue-specific metabolic rates can also vary because of differences in cellular metabolism. Most studies using REE as an outcome aim to understand how the energy expenditure by all body cells differs between individuals or within individuals over time. The metabolic rate of cells is shaped by intrinsic factors such as mitochondrial characteristics and their stimulation level, for example, by the nervous and endocrine systems (M. J. Müller et al., 2018). The below sections will examine those factors that may affect REE at the cellular level.

Age. REE changes during the human lifespan, as shown by Pontzer et al. (2021). A newborn's adjusted REE (for FFM and FM) is similar to that of adults, but it increases to a peak in the first year before then declining to adult levels by age 18. TEE shows a similar pattern. In old age, REE decreases because of slowing cellular metabolism (Z. Wang et al., 2010), but the exact timing is unclear. Pontzer et al. (2021) found that REE decline starts after 45 years, while TEE declines only after 63 years. This discrepancy has led these researchers to argue that metabolic slowing may not manifest until about 60 years of age, which was argued because the limited sample size of middle-aged participants with REE measurements created some uncertainty about the estimate. In contrast, Geisler et al. (2016b) found that, when adjusted for FFM constituents, REE started declining already in the 30s. In the end, estimating the exact age of decline is challenging because of limitations in current body composition assessment methods that cannot account for age-associated changes in tissue quality (Fragala et al., 2015; Giorgio et al., 2010) or FFM composition (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2003) when using a twocompartment model. Age does improve REE explanation and prediction at the population level (M. J. Müller et al., 2004), likely because of partially mitigating these limitations.

*Sex.* Males have a higher mean absolute REE (M. J. Müller et al., 2018) and greater REE variability than females when controlling for FFM, FM, and age (Halsey et al., 2022). Notably, Pontzer et al. (2021) did not find sex differences in adjusted REE across the life course. The effect of sex on REE disappears when FFM is substituted by its components, highlighting the similarity in the impact of sex and age on REE in explanatory and predictive models and contributing to resolving the limitations of body composition assessments (Heymsfield et al., 2021).

Menstrual cycle. Levels of various hormones fluctuate during the menstrual cycle, with the most characteristic changes seen in the production of estradiol (E2) and progesterone by the ovaries. The present thesis focuses primarily on changes in metabolism during menopause, but it is important to briefly address the menstrual cycle as well. Typically, the menstrual cycle lasts around 28 days and is divided into the follicular and luteal phases, with each lasting approximately 14 days. However, hormone levels can also vary within these phases. Measuring women at different phases of the cycle can make it difficult to compare study results. Hence, it is now recommended to divide the menstrual cycle into four distinct phases to clearly capture specific hormonal profiles (Elliott-Sale et al., 2021). Phase 1 (early follicular) covers the first 5 days of the cycle, a time that is characterized by menstrual bleeding and low levels of E2 and progesterone. E2 levels then rise and reach their peak in Phase 2 (late follicular), which occurs 14-16 hours before ovulation, while progesterone levels remain low. Phase 3 (ovulatory), lasting 24–36 hours after a positive ovulation test, has moderate E2 levels and low progesterone levels. In Phase 4 (luteal), roughly 7 days after ovulation, progesterone levels are at their peak, and E2 levels are high but lower than in Phase 2. In reality, however, the menstrual cycle varies between and within individuals, making phase identification challenging.

The impact of the menstrual cycle on REE remains debatable. A metaanalysis of 26 studies by Benton et al. (2020) found that REE may be slightly higher in the luteal phase than in the follicular phase (standardized mean difference = 0.33; 95% CI 0.17–0.49). However, the total number of participants in the included studies was relatively small (n = 318), and the studies had a high risk of bias, reducing the certainty of the findings. Additionally, the effect size was smaller when restricting the analysis to studies with more than 10 participants or those published after 2000. Moreover, the studies performed measurements at different menstrual cycle phases. For example, follicular phase measurements were performed 2–12 days after the start of menstruation, reflecting time points with varying E2 levels.

*Genotype*. The heritability of REE adjusted for age, sex, and FFM has been estimated as being 30–40% (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Bouchard et al., 1993), which is lower compared with many other physiological traits. The lower heritability can be attributed to a combination of factors, such as difficulties in accurately measuring REE and body composition. Additionally, REE may be more vulnerable to environmental factors affecting the metabolic state of an individual.

*Energy balance and weight fluctuations.* Perhaps the most studied stimuli in the REE literature are altered energy balance and body composition. Even short periods of negative energy balance cause a decline in REE, and extended periods of energy restriction lead to a larger REE decline than expected, which is solely based on tissue mass losses (M. J. Müller et al., 2021). Additionally, even if energy balance is restored, FFM- and FM-adjusted REE may not return to pre-weight loss levels (Fothergill et al., 2016). On the other hand, the energy surplus will elevate adjusted REE (M. J. Müller et al., 2021), and an increase in skeletal muscle mass or adiposity, especially when obese, may result in systemic adaptations that increase REE more than what is estimated based on tissue-specific metabolic rates alone (Heymsfield et al., 2022; Hwaung et al., 2019).

#### 2.1.2 Fat oxidation

Resting fat oxidation (RFO) is the rate of fatty acid use that is measured under conditions similar to those used for assessing REE. On the other hand, the protocols used to measure fat oxidation during exercise vary. When comparing the research on exercise fat oxidation, it is crucial to take into account testing intensity and duration. The testing intensity is commonly expressed as a percentage of maximal oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2MAX</sub>) or peak oxygen uptake  $(\dot{V}O_{2PEAK})$ . At low-intensity exercise (25% of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$ ), the primary fuel source are nonesterified fatty acids (NEFAs) derived from circulation, with exercise duration having a minimal impact (Romijn et al., 1993). As the intensity of exercise increases to moderate levels (65% of VO<sub>2MAX</sub>), the absolute rate of fat oxidation also increases, and the use of fatty acids from intramyocellular lipids reaches that of circulating NEFA. Moreover, the amount of muscle glycogen used to fuel the exercise also increases. During moderate-intensity, prolonged exercise, the dependence on fat oxidation rises over time as glycogen storage gradually decreases, with the use of intramyocellular lipids following a somewhat inverted U-shaped curve. The increase lasts for the first 30 minutes, before declining around the 60-minute mark. In high-intensity exercise (85% VO<sub>2MAX</sub>), glycogen becomes the primary substrate source. The mode of exercise also has an impact on fat oxidation by engaging more muscle mass, which leads to higher absolute fat oxidation rates during running compared with cycling (Achten et al., 2003).

Assessing the capacity for fat oxidation during exercise has traditionally been done by testing participants at one or a few specific submaximal relative exercise intensities, such as 50% of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$ . However, the relative exercise intensity at which fat oxidation peaks can vary substantially between individuals (Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Thomas, et al., 2021; G. Fletcher et al., 2017; M. C. Venables et al., 2005). In 2002, Achten et al. developed the FAT<sub>MAX</sub> protocol to address this issue; this protocol assesses fat oxidation at multiple exercise intensities during a single testing session. The variables obtained from the test include the highest rate of fat oxidation achieved, which is known as maximal or peak fat oxidation (PFO), and the relative exercise intensity at which PFO occurs as a percentage of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$ , which is known as FAT<sub>MAX</sub>.

#### 2.1.2.1 Assessment of fat oxidation

The law of conservation of mass states that mass, like energy, cannot be created or destroyed but can only change form. Hence, the atoms of energy substrates do not disappear during energy extraction from chemical bonds; they transform into metabolic water and CO<sub>2</sub> instead. Glucose and fatty acids are the primary energy substrates in human metabolism. As outlined by Jeukendrup and Wallis (2005), a key difference between the substrates is that glucose contains more oxygen per carbon; therefore, breaking down a mole of glucose requires less oxygen than a mole of fatty acid. This structural difference leads to variations in the ratio of oxygen consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> production when cellular respiration primarily relies on either glucose or fatty acids. This ratio is represented by the respiratory quotient (RQ) at the tissue level. A RQ of around 0.7 indicates that ATP production relies on fatty acids, while a RQ of 1.0 signifies glucose use. However, the interpretation of RQ across its range is not straightforward because other molecules, such as amino acids and ketones, which have different RQs, can also be used in ATP production.

Whole-body RQ cannot be measured directly. However, the ratio of oxygen uptake to CO<sub>2</sub> excretion can be assessed at the respiratory level using indirect calorimetry, which is known as the respiratory exchange ratio (RER). This distinction is crucial because RER can only be considered equal to RQ when RQ remains constant for long enough for RER to match it (Jeukendrup & Wallis, 2005). Additionally, stoichiometric equations have been developed to estimate the rates of fat and carbohydrate oxidation using respirometry data. These estimates can be corrected for amino acid oxidation if urinary nitrogen excretion is also measured (Frayn, 1983; Péronnet & Massicotte, 1991).

The assessment of fat oxidation during exercise with indirect calorimetry requires additional considerations, as also reviewed by Jeukendrup and Wallis (2005). First, indirect calorimetry is a viable tool in substrate use assessment only at exercise intensities below approximately 75% of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$  because, at higher intensities, bicarbonate buffering of hydrogen ions causes nonmetabolic CO<sub>2</sub> production and distorts the fat oxidation assessment, making it appear as if fat oxidation eventually has dropped to zero, even though it has not. Second, each submaximal exercise test stage should be long enough for RER to match RQ. This is usually not an issue in traditional single-stage protocols, but it can be a problem in PFO testing using the FAT<sub>MAX</sub> protocol. The original protocol (Achten et al., 2002), which was developed in young and trained cyclists, used three-minute exercise stages, but this may not be long enough for participants with low cardiorespiratory fitness to reach a steady state (Dandanell et al., 2017). However, increasing the stage duration to 4 minutes can solve the issue (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2018). An important methodological limitation of PFO assessment is that it has a substantial day-to-day intraindividual variation (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2018, 2020), with the typical error being  $\pm 0.06$  g/min.

#### 2.1.2.2 Main determinants of resting fat oxidation

A common assumption in metabolism research has been that fasting RER or RFO characterizes the fat oxidation capacity and metabolic phenotype of an individual. As a result, many studies have tried to explain the differences in FM between groups or changes in FM over time by looking at fasting substrate use (Péronnet & Haman, 2019). However, these traditionally held assumptions have been questioned (Galgani & Fernández-Verdejo, 2021).

The determinants of resting substrate use, as measured after an overnight fast, are primarily energy balance (Goris & Westerterp, 2000) and the distribution of macronutrients in the diet when energy balance is maintained (Miles-Chan et al., 2015). Therefore, RFO increases when energy intake does not meet expenditure and when the proportion of fats in the diet is high. Additionally, RFO does not truly reflect maximal fat oxidation capacity. Even in people with low cardiorespiratory fitness, mitochondrial oxidative capacity is not the limiting factor of substrates used at rest (Holloszy, 2009). For these reasons, resting RER and RFO are perhaps better suited for assessing nutritional status (Miles-Chan et al., 2015), especially energy balance (Goris & Westerterp, 2000), than the metabolic functioning and health of an individual.

#### 2.1.2.3 Main determinants of peak fat oxidation

It is unclear which step in the fat oxidation pathway is the rate-limiting factor for PFO. However, both the ability to mobilize and transport fatty acids from adipose tissue and intramyocellular lipid stores and the ability of the mitochondrial capacity to oxidize fatty acids likely play a role (Purdom et al., 2018). At the skeletal muscle level, high PFO is associated with a higher proportion of type I fibers, capillary density, the content of multiple cytosolic and mitochondrial proteins in the fat oxidation pathway, and total mitochondrial capacity (Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Smith, et al., 2021; Dandanell et al., 2018; Shaw et al., 2020). However, circulating NEFA availability may still be a key factor in regulating PFO. Frandsen et al. (2019) showed that, in male athletes who overnight fasted, PFO does not represent the actual maximal fat oxidation rate: three subsequent tests performed at 4-hour intervals resulted in increasing levels of PFO. Circulating NEFA levels rose similarly in each ensuing trial, and NEFA concentration strongly explained PFO variation ( $R^2 = 0.73$ ). Additionally, increasing NEFA availability by activating lipoprotein lipase activity with heparin infusion was found to increase fat oxidation during exercise in athletes (Hawley, 2002) and individuals with type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Akanji et al., 1993). Overall, these factors are associated with several temporal and phenotypic characteristics that are discussed next.

*Diet and body composition.* PFO is higher in the overnight fasted state compared with the postabsorptive state (Frandsen et al., 2019). However, diet on preceding days is not a major determinant of PFO, here in contrast to RFO (Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Thomas, et al., 2021; G. Fletcher et al., 2017). Because absolute PFO is closely related to the number of oxidative cells, particularly in the skeletal muscle, studies should adjust PFO for FFM or lean mass (LM) in statistical analyses. Despite this, FM or body fat percentage does

not appear to be a significant determinant of PFO, even though it may be tempting to assume that lower fat oxidation capacity during exercise could lead to obesity. A systematic review by Arad et al. (2020) that compiled 24 exercise studies comparing fat oxidation between individuals whit overweight or obesity and individuals with normal weight found no systematic differences in exercise fat oxidation between the two groups. In some studies, participants with more FM even exhibited higher fat oxidation rates.

*Cardiorespiratory fitness*. When adjusted for FFM, cardiorespiratory fitness is the primary PFO determinant (Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Thomas, et al., 2021; G. Fletcher et al., 2017; M. C. Venables et al., 2005). This conclusion is supported by evidence from case-control studies, where PFO has been found to be higher in endurance athletes than nonathletes (Dandanell et al., 2018; Shaw et al., 2020) and in participants with higher fitness levels compared with those with lower levels (Frandsen, Hansen, et al., 2021; Stisen et al., 2006). The strong association between PFO and  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$  is expected because the variables are closely related. For example, better skeletal muscle oxidative machinery leads to higher arterio-venous oxygen difference, which leads to higher  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$  (Bassett & Howley, 2000). Additionally, high cardiac output, which is the primary determinant of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$ , may contribute to higher PFO by increasing oxygen delivery.

*Genotype.* The heritability of  $\dot{VO}_{2MAX}$  is about 50% (Bouchard et al., 1998), which suggests that PFO may also have a significant genetic component. However, this has not yet been directly studied. The heritability estimates of RER at low-to-moderate exercise intensities have been similar to those for  $\dot{VO}_{2MAX}$  (Bouchard et al., 1989). Therefore, it is likely that genotype is a major contributor to the interindividual variation of PFO and the association between  $\dot{VO}_{2MAX}$  and PFO. Genetic pleiotropy may also be a factor in the relationship between physical activity and PFO, which is discussed in section 2.3.3.

Sex. The research has consistently shown that females have higher PFO than males (Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Thomas, et al., 2021; G. Fletcher et al., 2017; M. C. Venables et al., 2005). The sex difference is also observed when nonathlete participants are tested using traditional single-stage protocols, but it may disappear in highly trained athlete populations (Cano et al., 2022). The exact reason for the sex difference is unknown, but it is presumed to be rooted in E2 concentration differences based mainly on evidence from rodent and cell models and E2 supplementation trials in men (Oosthuyse et al., 2022). According to Oosthuyse et al. (2022), E2 signaling can enhance fat oxidation in skeletal muscle by multiple mechanisms. E2 activates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors  $\alpha$  and  $\delta$ , directly or via AMP-activated kinase, increasing the expression of beta-oxidation enzymes and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4, which promote fat oxidation in the mitochondria. To meet this demand, the expression of long-chain fatty acid transport proteins in the plasma membrane, cytosol, and mitochondrial membranes are also increased. Additionally, E2 increases the expression of lipoprotein lipase to support triglyceride hydrolysis and cytosolic proteins involved in intracellular triglyceride storage. Furthermore, E2 improves adipose tissue lipolysis by heightening its sensitivity to norepinephrine and

downregulating adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase activity and those proteins involved in triglyceride storage. Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Smith, et al. (2021) tried to explain the sex difference in PFO by quantifying adipose tissue and skeletal muscle protein contents without success. Ultimately, the sex differences originated from multiple biological levels, so finding a specific explanation for the phenotypic outcomes such as PFO may be challenging.

*Menstrual cycle.* The literature on the influence of the menstrual cycle on fat oxidation during exercise has been inconsistent. Some studies have demonstrated that fat oxidation is enhanced and that glycogen sparing occurs during the luteal phase, when E2 levels are high, compared with the early follicular phase (Boisseau & Isacco, 2022). Interestingly, such studies employed protocols incorporating prolonged exercise stages (Oosthuyse et al., 2022). However, the menstrual cycle does not appear to affect PFO (Frandsen et al., 2020), and controlling for the menstrual cycle phase has not improved the repeatability of PFO assessment (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2020). As such, Oosthuyse et al. (2022) postulated that, for the menstrual cycle to have an impact on fat oxidation, the exercise duration would need to be sufficient to elicit significant stress on the use of endogenous energy stores.

### 2.1.3 Serum metabolome

Another way to study whole-body metabolism is through metabolomics, which involves identifying and measuring the small molecules the body produces and uses (X. Liu & Locasale, 2017). One efficient way to do this is by analyzing blood, specifically the serum, which is the cell-free and clotting protein–free fraction that carries most of the body's metabolites and into which all organs and tissues feed (Psychogios et al., 2011). The human serum metabolome consists of more than 4,000 metabolites, with the largest groups being various lipids carried by lipoproteins, while amino acids and glucose derivates are also abundant (Psychogios et al., 2011). Research has shown that the human serum metabolome is associated with differences in health and lifestyle (Soininen et al., 2015; Würtz et al., 2017), making it a useful tool for metabolism research.

The understanding of how metabolic deterioration affects the serum metabolome is still evolving. Much of the current knowledge has been gained through the use of a nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy platform (Soininen et al., 2015; Tikkanen et al., 2021), which is what the current thesis has used. The platform quantifies 250 metabolite concentrations or ratios, including size-categorized lipoprotein particles and their lipid contents, fatty acids, glycolysis-related metabolites, amino acids, ketone bodies, and the inflammation marker GlycA. Thirty-seven measures have been validated for clinical use (Tikkanen et al., 2021). For practical reasons, this literature review focuses on the quantified metabolites and their connections with cardiometabolic health but acknowledges that this provides only a partial view of the topic. The typical metabolite changes associated with worsening metabolic health are described later in the text and summarized in FIGURE 1 at the end of the section.

#### 2.1.3.1 Assessment of serum metabolome

Metabolomics methods can be divided into targeted and untargeted approaches. Targeted metabolomics aims to quantify the absolute concentrations of selected metabolites, while untargeted metabolomics focuses on detecting unknown metabolites and comparing their relative levels between groups of individuals or organisms (X. Liu & Locasale, 2017). The two main tools used in metabolomics are NMR and mass spectroscopy. Both have their strengths and weaknesses, and both can only detect a subset of serum metabolites (Psychogios et al., 2011).

The present thesis uses data obtained through targeted proton NMR metabolomics, a method relying on the principle that every molecule containing hydrogen ions emits a unique signal when placed in a particular magnetic field. The intensity of this signal reflects the concentration of the molecule in the sample (Soininen et al., 2015). This strength makes NMR metabolomics the most robust tool for quantitative metabolomics research because it can measure known metabolite concentrations with high accuracy (Psychogios et al., 2011). However, a drawback of the method is its limited sensitivity, which means it can only detect and quantify a subset of metabolites present in relatively high amounts in the sample (Emwas et al., 2019). Mass spectrometry techniques are the best choice for detecting and measuring specific metabolites present in low quantities, such as inflammation markers or hormones. Furthermore, when the sample volume is a limitation, mass spectrometry may be a more suitable option because it necessitates smaller volumes than NMR spectroscopy (Psychogios et al., 2011).

#### 2.1.3.2 Lipoprotein particles

Lipoprotein particles have a lipid core consisting mainly of triglycerides and cholesterol, which is encapsulated in a phospholipid-protein monolayer. The ratio of lipids to proteins determines the density and diameter of the lipoprotein particle, which are used, together with the surface proteins apolipoprotein (apo) A-I and B, to categorize the particles into classes.

*ApoB-containing lipoproteins.* Each apoB-containing lipoprotein particle has one apoB protein; therefore, the apoB count can be used to determine the concentration of apoB-containing lipoprotein particles in a given sample (Sniderman et al., 2019). Chylomicrons and very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) are the largest lipoprotein particles, and their primary function is to transport triglycerides (i.e., energy) from the small intestine or liver to the rest of the body (Packard et al., 2020). The fasting chylomicron concentration is low in healthy individuals (Björnson et al., 2020), such as the participants in the present thesis. Therefore, this review does not cover chylomicron metabolism.

The liver secretes two types of VLDL particles with partly different synthesis routes: larger VLDL<sub>1</sub> (50–80 nm, ~70% triglycerides) and smaller VLDL<sub>2</sub> particles (30–50 nm, ~30% triglycerides) (Packard et al., 2020). The VLDL<sub>1</sub> particle number determines serum triglyceride concentration, which is the clinical indicator of VLDL metabolism. A fasting triglyceride concentration of less than 1.2 mmol/l indicates its optimal efficiency (Ginsberg et al., 2021). Secretion and clearance rates regulate VLDL<sub>1</sub> particle number and triglyceride concentration

(Borén et al., 2015). Overnutrition and insulin resistance drive their secretion by increasing the delivery of NEFA to the liver and promoting *de novo* lipogenesis (Ginsberg et al., 2021). The clearance of VLDL<sub>1</sub> particles is primarily determined by the activity of lipoprotein lipase, which is influenced by genetic and lifestyle factors (Wu et al., 2021), as well as the hepatic removal of VLDL remnants (Ginsberg et al., 2021). In contrast, elevated liver cholesterol levels result in the abnormal production of VLDL<sub>2</sub> particles, particularly in conditions such as familial hypercholesterolemia (Packard et al., 2020).

As VLDL particles lose their triglyceride content and become less dense, they are reclassified as intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDL) and low-density lipoproteins (LDL). In healthy individuals, the proportion of VLDL, IDL, and LDL particles of the circulating apoB-containing lipoproteins is roughly 15%, 15%, and 70%, respectively (Ala-Korpela et al., 2022). This difference in concentration illustrates the fast processing and clearance of VLDL particles from circulation and explains why LDL particles are considered the primary drivers of atherosclerosis, despite the ability of VLDL particles with a diameter less than 70 nm also to enter the arterial wall (Sniderman et al., 2019). For this reason, LDL cholesterol is a good proxy of atherogenic lipoprotein particles in most individuals (Ference et al., 2017).

The relationship between apoB-containing lipoprotein measures and energy metabolism becomes clear through studies on overfeeding and energy restriction. Even short periods of positive energy balance increase VLDL particle synthesis (Sevastianova et al., 2012; G. I. Smith, Reeds, et al., 2014), while negative energy balance and FM loss decrease VLDL particle and triglyceride concentrations, even in female physique athletes (Sarin et al., 2019). T2D is associated with increased VLDL particle number, size, and triglyceride content (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019), but disease remission through severe energy restriction includes a decline in VLDL<sub>1</sub> particles and triglycerides (Al-Mrabeh et al., 2020). When triglyceride levels are elevated, VLDL overproduction drives the slower clearance of LDL particles, leading to a dominance of small LDL particles in circulation (Borén et al., 2020). In contrast, energy restriction reduces LDL particles, especially in the smallest subclass (Collins et al., 2023; Huffman et al., 2022). In addition to energy intake, the fatty acid composition of the diet affects VLDL and LDL particle levels. A preference for saturated over polyunsaturated fatty acids promotes hepatic triglyceride and VLDL production (Yki-Järvinen et al., 2021) and reduces LDL clearance by decreasing LDL receptor activity (Siri-Tarino et al., 2015).

*ApoA-I-containing lipoproteins.* High-density lipoproteins (HDL) are the smallest and most numerous circulating lipoprotein particles, comprising to 90% of all lipoproteins (Ala-Korpela et al., 2022). HDL particles typically contain two or three apoA-I proteins, so the concentrations of apoA-I and HDL particles are not equal (von Eckardstein et al., 2022). Historically, HDL particles were thought to be a homogenous group with the sole function of returning cholesterol from the periphery to the liver. However, both of these assumptions have been proven to be incorrect and have contributed to the ongoing confusion regarding the role

of HDL particles in health. Observational studies have consistently shown that HDL cholesterol has a robust protective association against CVD (Castelli et al., 1986; Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration et al., 2009; Sharrett et al., 2001) and T2D risk (Schmidt et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2007). However, the relationship between HDL cholesterol and mortality is U-shaped because both low and extremely high concentrations of HDL cholesterol are associated with an increased risk of death (Madsen et al., 2017; Yi et al., 2021). In contrast, RCTs investigating HDL cholesterol-increasing drugs have shown no benefit (ACCORD Study Group et al., 2010; AIM-HIGH Investigators et al., 2011), and Mendelian randomization studies indicate that HDL cholesterol and apoA-I concentrations are not causally related to CVD (M. K. Karjalainen et al., 2020; T. G. Richardson et al., 2020; Voight et al., 2012).

In reality, HDL particles are structurally and functionally heterogeneous. Reverse cholesterol transport is just one of the many functions of HDL particles because they also regulate cellular functions throughout the body by modulating the cholesterol levels of cells and activating cell responses directly or indirectly by transporting signaling molecules (von Eckardstein et al., 2022). HDL particles also bind toxic substances and inactivate them directly or transport them to the liver for disposal (von Eckardstein et al., 2022). The differing health effects of HDL subcategories become evident when they are divided based on size. Larger HDL particles are negatively associated with apo-B-containing particle number, LDL cholesterol, and triglyceride concentrations, while smaller particles are positively associated with these items (Ala-Korpela et al., 2022). Only larger HDL particles have been found to be associated with a lower risk of CVD (Holmes et al., 2018; Würtz et al., 2015). In contrast, obesity is associated with increased numbers of small HDL particles (Juárez-Rojas et al., 2020), and weight loss shifts HDL size distribution toward larger particles (Coimbra et al., 2019; Collins et al., 2023; Huffman et al., 2022). Furthermore, small HDL particles are associated with insulin resistance (Garvey et al., 2003) and predict the development of T2D (Bragg et al., 2022).

Another important aspect of HDL particles is their lipid composition. As previously discussed, HDL cholesterol is traditionally considered health protective. On the other hand, HDL triglycerides have been found to be positively associated with cardiometabolic disease incidence (Bragg et al., 2022; Holmes et al., 2018; Würtz et al., 2015). A likely reason for this discrepancy is that overnutrition and insulin resistance upregulate triglyceride and VLDL particle production, increasing triglyceride transfer to HDL particles while also causing their increased glycation and catabolism (Vergès, 2015). These changes decrease the capacity of HDL for reverse cholesterol transport, which means that HDL cholesterol levels decline.

### 2.1.3.3 Other metabolites

*Fatty acid ratios.* The serum fatty acid pool is composed of fatty acids derived from dietary sources, as well as those modified or produced by the body. As hydrophobic molecules, fatty acids cannot travel freely in circulation. Esterified

fatty acids in apoB-containing lipoprotein particles form the largest constituent of serum fatty acids, while smaller amounts of NEFAs travel from the adipose tissue to the sites of oxidation that are bound to albumin. Given that the quantity of serum fatty acids varies between individuals, ratios of different fatty acid categories to total fatty acids reflect cardiometabolic health better than their absolute concentrations.

When studying circulating triglycerides in isolation, elevated ratios of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and saturated fatty acids (SFA) are associated with insulin resistance (Kotronen et al., 2009). Furthermore, higher total ratios of MUFAs and SFAs in circulation have been found to predict T2D (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019; Mahendran et al., 2013; Seah et al., 2022), and a higher MUFA ratio has been linked to an increased risk of CVD events (Würtz et al., 2015). It is important to note that circulating MUFAs do not correlate with dietary MUFA intake but instead reflect endogenous production (Hodson et al., 2008). Similarly, palmitate, which is a form of SFA, is the primary product of *de novo* lipogenesis and contributes to circulating SFA levels. Conversely, a higher ratio of circulating polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) has been found to be protective against T2D (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019; Mahendran et al., 2013; Seah et al., 2022). Linoleic acid is the primary circulating PUFA. Unlike MUFAs, the body does not produce linoleic acid, and its concentration reflects dietary intake better (Hodson et al., 2008).

*Glycolysis-related metabolites.* Glucose is the substrate for glycolysis, and its fasting value is the primary clinical tool for prediabetes and diabetes screening. Fasting glucose has reasonable specificity but lower sensitivity because blood glucose levels are tightly controlled and do not change until the disease state progresses far enough (Barry et al., 2017). This has led to a search for alternative biomarkers in metabolomics studies for earlier identification of high-risk individuals (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019).

Pyruvate, which is the end product of glycolysis, can either be transported to the mitochondria for oxidation or transformed into lactate or glycerol-3phosphate. Lactate, which has been previously thought to be mainly a waste product produced during high-intensity exercise, is actually a highly desired energy substrate for various tissues that cells also produce at rest (Brooks et al., 2022). Elevated lactate levels are seen in individuals with poor metabolic health and decrease after bariatric surgery (T. E. Jones et al., 2019). Interestingly, higher pyruvate and lactate – but not glucose – concentrations were associated with higher CVD event risk (Würtz et al., 2015). Higher lactate levels were also associated with incident T2D in the Chinese (Bragg et al., 2022) but not in the Finnish population (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019). Impaired aerobic metabolism has been suggested as a possible explanation for elevated fasting lactate levels (T. E. Jones et al., 2019); however, this is unlikely because oxidative capacity is not a rate-limiting factor of metabolism at rest (Holloszy, 2009). The increased pyruvate and lactate levels may simply represent increased energy availability.

Glycerol enters circulation following adipose tissue lipolysis and is commonly used as a proxy for lipolysis rate (Wolfe et al., 1987). The liver primarily clears glycerol from the circulation, where it is used for gluconeogenesis or triglyceride synthesis (Kalhan et al., 2001). Elevated glycerol levels have been linked to higher fasting and postprandial glucose concentrations (Mahendran et al., 2013) and an increased risk of cardiometabolic disease (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019; Mahendran et al., 2013; Würtz et al., 2015).

Citrate, which is an intermediate in the tricarboxylic acid cycle, is primarily found in the bones, accounting for 90% of the body's citrate (Costello & Franklin, 2016). The regulation of circulating citrate is not well understood, and likely, the citrate present in soft tissues does not significantly contribute to the overall circulating citrate pool because citrate is mainly retained within mitochondria (Costello & Franklin, 2016). Epidemiological research has shown no clear role for circulating citrate as a cardiometabolic health marker. For example, although citrate has been found to have a positive association with all-cause mortality (Fischer et al., 2014), citrate also has a negative association with CVD events (Würtz et al., 2015) and no clear connection to T2D risk (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019; Bragg et al., 2022). A recent study also found that low citrate levels were associated with insulin resistance in individuals with obesity (Luukkonen et al., 2021), but citrate levels were not affected by energy restriction in individuals with or without excess weight (Huffman et al., 2022).

Amino acids. Branch-chained amino acids (BCAA; i.e., isoleucine, leucine, and valine) have now been established as biomarkers of metabolic functioning. Their concentrations are elevated in individuals with obesity (Newgard et al., 2009) and with insulin resistance (Palmer et al., 2015) and T2D (Vanweert et al., 2021), and they predict T2D development (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019; Bragg et al., 2022). In contrast, BCAA concentrations decrease following weight loss induced by bariatric surgery (Vaz et al., 2022) and energy restriction both in individuals with overweight or obesity (Collins et al., 2023) and in those with normal weight (Huffman et al., 2022). The reason for the increase in BCAAs in metabolic diseases is not entirely apparent. Perhaps the most convincing theory is that their levels rise because of insulin resistance (Mahendran et al., 2017; Q. Wang et al., 2017) because insulin stimulation is needed for amino acid breakdown. However, the current evidence suggests that defects in the BCAA catabolism may also play a role in insulin resistance development (Vanweert et al., 2022). Another theory is that insulin resistance is the cause of impaired BCAA catabolism in prediabetes, but increased BCAA levels may contribute to the progression of the disease to T2D (White et al., 2021).

The aromatic amino acids tyrosine and phenylalanine have received less attention than BCAAs but show similar associations with T2D (Morze et al., 2022). Conversely, glutamine and glycine concentrations are inversely associated with T2D (Morze et al., 2022). Their decreased levels are postulated as resulting from changes in BCAA metabolism. Glutamine is synthesized to transport amino groups from oxidative tissues to the liver; thus, its decreased levels could reflect declining BCAA catabolism (Holeček, 2020). However, White et al. (2020) suggested that, in individuals with obesity, elevated BCAA levels increase BCAA catabolism and the need for amino group transport from skeletal muscle to the liver via the pyruvate-alanine cycle and glutamine synthesis. Glycine is a carbon donor for the pyruvate-alanine cycle, and the increase in BCAA flux could lead to glycine depletion (White et al., 2020). Further investigation is necessary to thoroughly understand the mechanisms linking amino acids and metabolic health.

*Ketone bodies.* Ketone bodies such as acetoacetate, acetone, and 3hydroxybutyrate are small molecules produced in meaningful quantities by the liver, which can substitute glucose as a fuel in the central nervous system (Cotter et al., 2013). Hepatocytes convert acetyl coenzyme A to acetoacetate, which can then be further converted into 3-hydroxybutyrate, while smaller amounts of acetoacetate also spontaneously transform into acetone (Cotter et al., 2013). Ketone production increases when adipose tissue lipolysis is elevated, leading to a surge of NEFAs in the liver, here in the presence of low insulin and high glucagon levels (Cotter et al., 2013). However, ketone levels decrease after overfeeding without carbohydrate restriction (Dirlewanger et al., 2000) and increase during energy restriction (Huffman et al., 2022). Therefore, circulating ketone concentrations reflect the current energy balance and macronutrient intake of an individual.

The relationship between ketone concentrations and cardiometabolic health is complex. In healthy individuals, higher levels of acetoacetate and 3hydroxybutyrate are positively associated with insulin sensitivity (Mahendran et al., 2013; Würtz et al., 2012) and lower risk of CVD events (Würtz et al., 2015). However, compared with individuals with normal fasting glucose, acetoacetate and 3-hydroxybutyrate are lower in individuals with impaired fasting glucose but higher in those with T2D (Mahendran et al., 2013). These findings suggest that ketone levels decrease during the early stages of metabolic deterioration because of insulin resistance, but when the disease progresses to T2D, ketone levels may increase as a result of impaired insulin secretion.

Circulating acetate, on the other hand, is mainly derived from the diet or produced by gut microbiota (Canfora & Blaak, 2017). Although animal and shortterm human studies have suggested that acetate may have the potential to alter systemic metabolism through mechanisms such as increasing energy expenditure and improving insulin sensitivity, it remains unclear if these effects hold in real-life scenarios (Canfora & Blaak, 2017). Additionally, in prospective human studies, acetate has not been found to have as clear of an association with cardiometabolic disease risk (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019; Bragg et al., 2022; Würtz et al., 2015).

*GlycA*. GlycA is a biomarker of systemic inflammation that has garnered excitement in cardiometabolic disease research because metabolomics studies have found it to be one of the strongest predictors of CVD events (Akinkuolie et al., 2014, 2016; Würtz et al., 2015) and T2D (Ahola-Olli et al., 2019; Bragg et al., 2022). Unlike traditional single-molecule inflammation markers, GlycA is an NMR-derived composite signal of the concentration and glycosylation degree of serum acute phase proteins, reflecting the overall inflammation level in the body (Otvos et al., 2015). This makes it a more stable and comprehensive measure of

chronic inflammation (Otvos et al., 2015). For example, GlycA has been found to be more effective in explaining adverse cardiometabolic disease risk profiles in adolescents and young adults and predicting hypertension and metabolic syndrome development over a 10-year follow-up when compared with Creactive protein (Chiesa et al., 2022). This suggests that GlycA has high utility, even in populations with low inflammation levels. Furthermore, changes in inflammation status can also be reflected in changes in GlycA levels when the energy balance is manipulated. Studies have shown that both bariatric surgery (Dadson et al., 2020) and energy restriction in individuals with and without overweight (Collins et al., 2023; Huffman et al., 2022) can lead to a decrease in GlycA levels.

#### Overnutrition Insulin resistance





CH2-CH2-CH2-CH2

CH2-CH2-CH2-CH2-CH2

сн-сн-сн-сн-сн

### Changes occurring in the serum metabolome

#### Apolipoproteins

↑ apoB ↓ apoA-I ↑ apoB/A-I ratio

#### Lipoprotein particles

- ↑ VLDL, IDL and LDL particles
- ↑ small HDL particles
- ↓ large HDL particles

#### Particle size

- ↑ VLDL and LDL size
- ↓ HDL size

#### Lipoprotein lipids

- ↑ VLDL and HDL triglycerides
- 1 IDL and LDL cholesterol
- ↓ HDL cholesterol

#### Fatty acid ratios

- ↑ MUFA and SFA
- ↓ PUFA (especially linoleic acid)

#### Glycolysis-related metabolites

- ↑ glucose and lactate
- ↑ glycerol (proxy of lipolysis)

#### Amino acids

- 1 BCAAs and aromatic amino acids
- ↓ glutamine and glycine
- ОН

#### Ketone bodies

↓ acetoacetate and 3-hydroxybutyrate

#### Inflammation ↑ GlycA

FIGURE 1 Changes in the serum metabolome in response to chronic overnutrition and resulting metabolic deterioration. When the energy intake chronically exceeds energy expenditure, metabolic health is impaired. Initially, this manifests as increased triglyceride production and decreased circulating ketone levels. The liver gradually increases the production of very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles to relocate triglycerides to the adipose tissue to prevent fat accumulation. This also leads to an increase in other apoB-containing lipoprotein particles, particularly small low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particles, being in circulation. Over time, the liver, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle lose insulin sensitivity, leading to further metabolic deterioration. Adipose tissue lipolysis increases and is reflected in elevated glycerol levels. As fatty acid availability in the liver increases, triglyceride levels continue to rise in all lipoprotein particle types, primarily consisting of monounsaturated and saturated fatty acids (MUFA and SFA) because of an increased dietary intake of SFA and de novo lipogenesis, resulting in a decreased polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) ratio. High-density lipoprotein (HDL) particle size shifts toward smaller particles, and HDL cholesterol efflux capacity decreases, leading to lower HDL cholesterol levels. Branch-chained amino acid (BCAA) and aromatic amino acid catabolism are impaired, increasing their circulating levels and decreasing glutamine and glycine concentrations. The accumulation of BCAAs may further drive the progression of the disease. Lactate levels also increase in the early stages of disease progression, but fasting glucose levels remain normal until the disease progresses to prediabetes. In response to elevated inflammatory stimulus, GlycA increases.

### 2.2 Menopause

Menopause marks the end of the female reproductive lifespan, either as a spontaneous cessation of ovarian follicular activity (*natural menopause*) or as a result of medical procedures (*induced menopause*) (Shifren et al., 2014). Natural menopause is confirmed after 12 months of amenorrhea (Harlow et al., 2012) and is caused by the depletion of the ovarian follicle pool (S. J. Richardson et al., 1987). Both genetic and various environmental factors play a role in hypothalamic and ovarian aging, leading to follicle depletion (Davis et al., 2015). The age of natural menopause can have considerable variation and occur between the ages of 40 and 58 (Shifren et al., 2014). The worldwide mean age of natural menopause is 48.8 years, but the estimate is higher in wealthier nations (Schoenaker et al., 2014). In Finland, the median age of menopause is 51 years (Luoto et al., 1994; Pakarinen et al., 2010). Premature menopause as menopause between the ages of 40 and 45 (Shifren et al., 2014).

Menopause status determination. The nomenclature for menopause staging (FIGURE 2A) follows the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop (STRAW) + 10 guidelines (Harlow et al., 2012). The reproductive phase of life (stages -5 to -3) begins after puberty. In their 40s, most women enter menopausal transition, which is divided into the early (-2) and late (-1) phases. In the early phase, menstrual cycle length varies persistently for at least 7 days, and in the late phase, amenorrhea for at least 60 days occurs. The duration of menopausal transition is highly variable but typically lasts from 1 to 3 years (Davis et al., 2015). The late menopausal transition ends with the final menstrual period. Reproductive endocrine functions stabilize during the early postmenopause (with more rapid changes in +1a and +1b, and stabilization in +1c), lasting approximately 5 to 8 years. In late postmenopause (+2), physiological changes are more related to biological aging than reproductive aging. It can be difficult to identify when the last menstrual period has occurred. A year after the final menstrual period marks the end of the waiting period when menopause can be diagnosed. In the current thesis, the term perimenopause is used interchangeably with menopausal transition. However, in reality, perimenopause encompasses a longer period, including the 12-month amenorrhea requirement, while menopausal transition refers explicitly to the period leading up to the final menstrual period (Harlow et al., 2012).

*Menopausal hormonal changes.* During the menopausal transition, the gradual cessation of ovarian follicular activity leads to a dramatic shift in the individual's sex hormone profile (FIGURE 2B). This is primarily characterized by a decrease in estradiol (E2) and increase in follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) concentrations (Davis et al., 2015). However, it is important to note that other hormone changes also occur during menopause, such as a decrease in progesterone and increase in luteinizing hormone levels. The increase in luteinizing hormone is less pronounced compared with the changes in FSH
(Soares et al., 2020) and does not mirror the decline in E2 as closely (Overlie et al., 1999). E2 concentrations fluctuate during the menopausal transition, while FSH levels increase more consistently (Burger et al., 1999). For these reasons, FSH measurements are used in determining menopause status. In the early menopausal transition, FSH levels are variable but slightly elevated when measured on cycle days 2–5, while in the late phase, FSH levels are typically above 25 IU/1 but may greatly fluctuate (Harlow et al., 2012). These hormonal changes continue to progress for about 2 years after the final menstrual period. After menopause, ovaries continue to secrete small amounts of estrogens and testosterone (Fogle et al., 2007), while adrenal glands produce mainly weak androgens, particularly dehydroepiandrosterone (Rege et al., 2013). After menopause, the primary source of systemic estrogens is the aromatization of androgens by the adipose tissue (Mohanty & Mohanty, 2021). Therefore, the estrogen–androgen ratio shifts toward an androgenic direction (Paschou et al., 2018).

The decline in E2 levels is primarily responsible for menopause symptoms, which are typically the most severe during late perimenopause and early postmenopause, when E2 changes are most pronounced (Davis et al., 2015). The most frequently reported symptoms are vasomotor symptoms, while changes in sleep, mood, and cognition, sexual functions, and increased urogenital and somatic pain experiences are also common (Monteleone et al., 2018; Woods & Mitchell, 2005).



FIGURE 2 Stages of reproductive aging (A) and associated hormonal changes during menopause (B). The gradual loss of ovarian follicle activity results in fluctuations in estradiol (E2) levels during the early menopausal transition and a significant decline in E2 concentrations around the final menstrual period (FMP). Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) levels increase in response to ovarian E2 production decline. Hormone levels stabilize during early postmenopause.

As reviewed by Fuentes and Silveyra (2019), E2 exerts its functions mainly through two intracellular estrogen receptors (ERs)–ERa and Er $\beta$ –as well as

through a membrane-bound G protein-coupled ER 1. ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  are expressed in nearly all tissues, but their ratios vary. However, making things even more complex, the functions of ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  can sometimes be opposing. The effects of E2 mainly occur through gene regulation. In classic direct genomic signaling, E2 binds to ERs in the cytoplasm and causes the dimerization of receptors. This complex then travels to the nucleus and interacts with estrogen response elements in DNA, leading to changes in gene transcription. The complex can also cause indirect genomic signaling by interacting with other proteins that regulate gene expression. Furthermore, it has been proposed that all ERs can alter cellular function through nongenomic actions, such as modulating intracellular signaling pathways, which can lead to faster responses to E2 stimulation.

### 2.2.1 Menopause and body composition

Women often report changes in body composition during the menopausal transition that they cannot explain with lifestyle changes. Longitudinal studies have shown that during this time, women experience a loss of LM and an increase in FM, with a shift toward a more android fat distribution (Aloia et al., 1991; Juppi et al., 2020, 2022; Lee et al., 2009; Lovejoy et al., 2008; Sowers et al., 2007). Whether the changes result from aging or menopause has been debated (Al-Safi & Polotsky, 2015; Davis et al., 2012; Wildman & Sowers, 2011). Recent studies aiming to separate the effects of the phenomena indicated that menopause has a causal role (Clayton et al., 2022; Greendale et al., 2019; Hyvärinen et al., 2021). The exact reasons for the changes are not fully understood. Skeletal muscle mass decline explains the LM loss (Juppi et al., 2020), potentially because of E2 deficiency-induced changes in protein synthesis and degradation, apoptosis rate, and contractile protein structure and function (Pellegrino et al., 2022). Additionally, declining progesterone signaling may also play a role (Juppi et al., 2020; G. I. Smith, Yoshino, et al., 2014). The shift in FM distribution reflects the change toward a more androgenic sex hormone profile (Paschou et al., 2018), which is similar to what has been seen in transgender men receiving genderaffirming hormone therapy (Ford et al., 2022). Notably, this shift is also associated with increased visceral fat (Ambikairajah et al., 2019).

An increase in FM is always a product of a chronic positive energy balance. Menopause may change the energy balance by affecting energy intake, expenditure, or both. The effect of menopause on energy intake is not well understood, but it is believed that estrogen regulates hunger at the hypothalamic level, and its deficiency induces hyperphagia in animal models (Asarian & Geary, 2013). However, whether this effect is also present in humans is uncertain. Longitudinal studies using food frequency questionnaires (Grisotto et al., 2021; Macdonald et al., 2005) or 4-day food diaries (Lovejoy et al., 2008) have not found any changes in diet quality or estimated energy intake during the menopausal transition. A study assessing diet with 7-day food diaries even found that energy and carbohydrate intake declined in women transitioning into postmenopause during a 5-year follow-up compared with participants who did not (Duval et al., 2014). It is important to note that insufficient sleep may increase hunger and

energy intake by modulating appetite hormone levels (Chaput et al., 2023), and depressive mood has a bidirectional relationship with diet (Jacka, 2017), which may mediate the effects of menopause on energy intake. A recent study found that postmenopausal women had poorer sleep quality and higher sugar intake than age-matched premenopausal women (Bermingham et al., 2022), which supports this hypothesis.

Although the increase in FM associated with menopause has traditionally been explained by declining E2 concentrations, research has suggested that the rise in FSH may contribute independently to this phenomenon. In a mouse model, blocking FSH has been shown to reduce FM by increasing energy expenditure through the activation of brown adipose tissue and the process of adipocyte beiging (Han et al., 2020; P. Liu et al., 2017). However, it is unclear if these findings will translate to humans. The thermogenic capacity of brown adipose tissue is much greater in mice than in humans, and whether brown adipose tissue activation can increase energy expenditure in humans in meaningful quantities is still under investigation (Carpentier et al., 2018). Furthermore, observational studies examining the relationship between FSH and FM in humans have generally produced inconsistent results. For example, Mattick et al. (2022) found that FSH levels-but not E2 levels-were associated with lower FM in postmenopausal women aged 50 to 79 when both hormones were included in the same multivariable linear regression model. However, in longitudinal analyses, women who experienced a larger change in FSH levels gained more FM. Therefore, further research is needed to fully understand the role of FSH in the menopause-associated increase in FM and to clarify the conflicting evidence regarding whether menopause reduces energy expenditure (discussed in section 2.2.4.).

### 2.2.2 Menopause and cardiometabolic health

CVD is the primary cause of death in all women worldwide, while cancer deaths lead the statistics in women under the age of 65. However, this difference between cancer and CVD deaths in younger women has been decreasing (Khan et al., 2022). This narrowing of the mortality gap is likely because of an increase in CVD risk factors in the population, which are also influenced by menopause. Postmenopausal women have a higher risk of CVD than age-matched premenopausal women (Kannel et al., 1976), particularly if they have experienced menopause prematurely (Muka et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2019). Additionally, women tend to develop CVD about 10 years later than men, and premenopausal women have a much lower CVD risk than age-matched men (Johnston et al., 2011). This sex difference starts to diminish after women reach menopause. For example, in Finland between 2016 and 2020, women represented 9%, 12%, and 16% of ischemic heart disease deaths in the 45-49, 50-54, and 55-59 age categories, respectively (Statistics Finland, 2022).

Regarding other categories of cardiometabolic diseases, the association with menopause is not as well established. The incidence of metabolic syndrome increases during menopausal transition and early postmenopause (Janssen et al., 2008); there is some evidence that menopause might accelerate the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (Pafili et al., 2022). Menopause is also considered a risk factor for T2D (Lambrinoudaki et al., 2022). Here, a meta-analysis of six prospective cohort studies found that older age at menopause was associated with decreased T2D risk (Guo et al., 2019). Additionally, women who underwent bilateral hysterectomy and oophorectomy had a higher risk of developing T2D than those without these procedures (Appiah et al., 2014). It is important to note that T2D also increases the risk of developing CVD, and the risk increase is more prominent in women than men (Peters et al., 2014; Y. Wang et al., 2019).

The menopause-associated increase in cardiometabolic disease risk can result from sex hormone changes directly or through mediating factors. Potential direct effects predisposing women to atherosclerosis development include, but are not restricted to, decreased LDL particle clearance through reduced activity of hepatocyte LDL receptors (A. Karjalainen et al., 2000; Parini et al., 1997) and endothelial dysfunction (Bechlioulis et al., 2010; Moreau et al., 2012). Indirect routes, such as changes in energy balance and resulting changes in body composition and metabolic functioning, may also play a role in the development of cardiometabolic diseases (Lambrinoudaki et al., 2022; Maas et al., 2021). A recent study (Mutie et al., 2023) using Mendelian randomization found that a higher body mass index (BMI) was causally related to an increased risk of T2D in all women, regardless of their menopause status. However, the study also found that a higher BMI only increased the risk of coronary artery disease in premenopausal women. This suggests that other risk factors may play a more significant role in postmenopausal women. It is tempting to posit that menopausal hormonal changes have a more direct effect on the development of CVD, while indirect routes may contribute more to the risk of T2D.

### 2.2.3 Menopausal hormone therapy

Menopausal hormone therapy (MHT) is primarily prescribed as either estrogen monotherapy or estrogen-progestin combination therapy, depending on whether the woman has had a hysterectomy. The estrogen component consists of E2 or conjugated equine estrogens (CEE, a mixture of estrogens), while the progestin component prevents endometrial hyperplasia in women with an intact uterus (Davis & Baber, 2022). MHT is usually administered orally or transdermally. The main difference between the administration routes is that oral MHT goes through the liver's first-pass metabolism before entering the systemic circulation (Davis & Baber, 2022).

MHT has one of the most controversial histories of any drug in medicine. Before the twenty-first century, MHT was prescribed liberally based on largely observational evidence for the treatment of menopausal symptoms and prevention of chronic diseases (Chester et al., 2018). This changed in 2002 with the publication of the first results from the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) trial, which showed a statistically significant increase in the risk of CVD events with the use of both oral CEE monotherapy and CEE and medroxyprogesterone acetate combination therapy when compared with the placebo (Rossouw et al., 2002). Additionally, combination therapy was associated with an increased risk of breast cancer. As a result, the prescription of MHT plummeted (Ettinger et al., 2018).

Subsequent analyses of the WHI trial data have clarified the original findings. A 13-year follow-up found that the risks associated with combination therapy and incident CVD and breast cancer remained statistically significant (Manson et al., 2013). However, an 18-year follow-up reported that the combination therapy was not associated with all-cause, CVD, or cancer mortality (Manson et al., 2017). The fundamental limitation of the WHI trial is that the mean age of participants was 63 years and that most had experienced menopause more than 10 years prior to enrollment (Chester et al., 2018). Age-stratified analyses of the data revealed that the CVD risk dissipated in women aged 50–59 years at baseline (Manson et al., 2013).

Overall, the evidence from RCTs suggests that MHT is neutral or perhaps even beneficial for cardiovascular health when prescribed close to the final menstrual period (Marjoribanks et al., 2017). Additionally, MHT may offer some protection against T2D (Davis & Baber, 2022; Lambrinoudaki et al., 2022). Currently, MHT is prescribed after shared decision making for women with troublesome menopausal symptoms or severe fracture risk to reduce osteoporosis within 10 years after menopause. However, it is not recommended for the prevention of CVD or other chronic diseases (Davis & Baber, 2022).

The effect of MHT on preventing or reversing menopause-associated changes in body composition has been controversial. In a 3-year substudy of the WHI trial, the combination therapy group lost less LM than the placebo group (Chen et al., 2005). Additionally, long-term MHT users had better muscle power assessed with the vertical jump test than their nonuser monozygotic (MZ) cotwins (Ronkainen et al., 2009). Further studies also revealed differences in skeletal muscle transcriptome and proteome between the MHT-using and nonusing twins (Laakkonen, Soliymani, et al., 2017; Ronkainen et al., 2010). However, a meta-analysis of 12 RCTs found that MHT did not affect muscle mass in postmenopausal women compared with no treatment or placebo (Javed et al., 2019). Nevertheless, RCTs have suggested that at least oral E2 and norethisterone acetate combination therapy (Sipilä et al., 2001) and transdermal E2 monotherapy (Dam et al., 2020) may benefit muscle gain compared with a placebo when combined with a resistance training program designed to cause hypertrophy.

In terms of adiposity, MHT does not seem to decrease FM in postmenopausal women (Ambikairajah et al., 2019). However, it may restore more gynoid FM distribution, potentially resulting in less visceral fat (Salpeter et al., 2006). Indeed, in the aforementioned cotwin control study, MHT users had less body fat than nonuser cotwins, particularly in the abdominal area (Ahtiainen et al., 2012). However, in the already mentioned resistance training trial, women allocated to transdermal E2 monotherapy lost less total and visceral FM than those in the placebo group (Dam et al., 2021). It is important to note that the effects of MHT on body composition have not been extensively studied in women in menopausal transition using RCT design. However, in our longitudinal studies, women who started MHT during the menopausal transition experienced similar LM loss and FM increase as those women without MHT use (Juppi et al., 2020, 2022).

# 2.2.4 Menopause and energy expenditure

The cause of menopause-associated increase in FM has often been attributed to reduced energy expenditure (Knight et al., 2021; Mauvais-Jarvis et al., 2013; Nappi et al., 2022), perhaps because it is easier to quantify than energy intake. As reviewed by Van Pelt et al. (2015), the mechanistic evidence for whether menopause modulates energy expenditure mainly comes from studies in rodents. Both female and male  $ER\alpha$  – though not  $ER\beta$  – knock-out mice consistently have more FM than wild-type controls. ERα knock-outs have also decreased physical activity and REE, indicating that ERa signaling is essential for systemic energetics. However, rodents do not experience menopause. Mechanistic studies in rodents induce menopause with ovariectomy and compare operated animals with shamoperated or E2-supplemented controls. Both ovariectomized mice and rats gain FM, particularly in the abdominal region, which is preventable with E2 supplementation. However, the mechanism behind FM increase differs between species. Food intake increases only in rats, while physical activity decreases in both species but is preventable with E2 supplementation (Van Pelt et al., 2015). A decline in REE seems to occur in mice (do Carmo et al., 2018; Rogers et al., 2009; Witte et al., 2010; Zidon et al., 2020) but less consistently in rats (Giles et al., 2010; Vieira-Potter et al., 2015; Witte et al., 2010).

These rodent studies, however, have several limitations. First, laboratories often house mice below their thermoneutral zone, which increases their energy expenditure because of cold stress (Ganeshan & Chawla, 2017). As ovariectomized animals gain FM, they become better insulated and less vulnerable to cold than their controls. Second, these studies have often failed to adjust appropriately for variations in body mass when analyzing energy expenditure data. The prevalent use of scaling leads to biased results when comparing those groups with different body masses. If the regression intercept between body mass and energy expenditure is positive – as it nearly always is – scaling will underestimate energy expenditure, and the error increases with increasing body mass (T. D. Müller et al., 2021). A third limitation is that the results from rodent studies are unlikely to be generalizable to other species, such as primates. In ovariectomized rhesus monkeys, neither 3-month selective estrogen receptor modulator supplementation nor its cessation altered REE despite increased FM (Sullivan et al., 2012). Moreover, in marmoset monkeys, ovariectomy and E2 supplementation did not change FM- or DLW-measured TEE (Kraynak et al., 2019). Finally, ovariectomy in rodents does not fully equate to oophorectomy in humans. Dehydroepiandrosterone is the main precursor of androgens and estrogens after ovarian removal. However, the primary producers of dehydroepiandrosterone in rodents are gonads, while in humans,

it is the adrenal glands. Therefore, the effects of ovary removal may be more severe in mice than in humans (Van Pelt et al., 2015).

In conclusion, to understand the effect of menopause on energy metabolism, it is important to study the phenomenon in women. The effects of induced menopause cannot be studied similarly to ovariectomy in other species because of ethical reasons. However, ovarian hormone production can be temporarily suppressed by blocking gonadotropin-releasing hormone secretion. Studies on premenopausal women (TABLE 1) have shown that acute and chronic ovarian hormone suppression may reduce REE by up to 60 kcal/d (Day et al., 2005; Gavin et al., 2020; Grant et al., 2022; Melanson et al., 2015). However, this estimate possesses considerable uncertainty, and statistically significant reductions were not observed in SEE or TEE compared with control groups (Gavin et al., 2020; Melanson et al., 2015). Moreover, two important distinctions exist between the sex hormone profile generated by ovarian hormone suppression and the changes that occur during menopause. First, the treatment suppresses the release of anterior pituitary gonadotropins, whereas their secretion increases during the menopausal transition. This is an important consideration if FSH indeed influences energy metabolism in humans. Second, ovarian hormone suppression also reduces testosterone levels. However, the significance of this is questionable because, at least in men, a 3-week gonadal hormone suppression did not decrease REE, and subsequent 3-week E2, testosterone, or their combined replacement did not increase it (Santosa et al., 2010).

It is clear that also the use of MHT as an intervention can provide valuable insights into the effects of female sex hormones on energy metabolism. However, none of the major MHT trials have used REE as an outcome. Despite this, four single-group studies (Anderson et al., 2001; Bessesen et al., 2015; dos Reis et al., 2003; Lwin et al., 2008) and one RCT with a cross-over design (Marlatt et al., 2020) suggested that MHT does not appear to have a clear impact on REE in postmenopausal women (TABLE 1). These studies, however, have limitations, such as small sample sizes and a high risk of bias. Additional evidence can be found in hormone therapy studies in Turner syndrome, a condition caused by a partial or complete absence of one of the X chromosomes, which manifests as ovarian insufficiency (Klein et al., 2018). Research has demonstrated that hormone therapy did not have a notable effect on REE or substrate use in girls (Torres-Santiago et al., 2013) or women (Gravholt et al., 2007). Additionally, no discernible differences were found between oral and transdermal administration of hormone therapy (Torres-Santiago et al., 2013).

TABLE 1Intervention studies investigating the effects of ovarian hormone suppression<br/>in premenopausal women and the effects of menopausal hormone therapy in<br/>postmenopausal women on energy metabolism.

Study	Participants	Interventions	Result				
Ovarian h	ormone suppression						
One-group	One-group pretest-posttest studies						
Day	14 PRE women,	6 days:	REE: $\downarrow$ 71 kcal/d ( <i>P</i> = 0.002)				
(2005)	M = 29 y, SD = 5	GnRH <sub>ANT</sub>	RER: no change				
USA							
Grant	9 PRE women,	5 days:	REE: $4.8\%$ ( $P = 0.055$ )				
(2022)	M = 30  y, SD = 6	GnRH <sub>AG</sub>	RFO: ↓ 34.9%				
USA	-		RER: ↑ 41.3%				
Randomized controlled trials							
Melanson	70 PRE women,	5 months:	REE: $\downarrow$ -3.7% ( <i>P</i> < 0.05) in				
(2015)	age 20–49 y	1) GnRH <sub>AG</sub> + placebo, $n = 35$	group 1.				
USA		2) GnRH <sub>AG</sub> + E2, $n = 35$	SEE and TEE (metabolic				
			chamber): no between-				
			group differences				
Gavin	34 PRE women,	24 weeks:	REE, group 1: $\downarrow$ 59 kcal/d				
(2020)	age 40–54 y	1) GnRH <sub>AG</sub> + placebo, $n = 9$	TEE (DLW), group 1: $\downarrow$ 93				
USA		2) GnRH <sub>AG</sub> + exercise, $n = 11$	kcal/d. No statistically				
		3) GnRH <sub>AG</sub> + E2, $n = 14$	significant between-group				
			differences.				
Menopaus	al hormone therapy						
One-group	pretest-posttest stu	dies					
Anderson	18 POST women,	2 months:	REE: no change				
(2001)	age 45–55 y	Transdermal E2 for 1 month,					
USA	15 POST women,	then E2 + P4 for 1 month					
	age 70–80 y						
dos Reis	23 women with	12 months:	REE: no change				
(2003)	menopausal	1) Conjugated estrogens	RFO: $\downarrow$ in group 1 than in				
Brazil	symptoms and	2) Transdermal E2	group 2 at end				
	FSH > 30 IU/1,		measurement. (Reporting				
	age 45–65 y		limits interpretation.)				
Lwin	14 POST women	2 months:	TEE (metabolic chamber):				
(2007)	M = 51, SD 4	Conjugated estrogens	no change				
USA			Resting RER: no change				
			24-h RER: ↑ 0.865 to 0.876				
Bessesen	12 POST women,	2 weeks:	REE and RFO: no changes				
(2015)	M = 56  y, SD = 3	Transdermal E2					
USA	-						
Randomiz	ed cross-over trial						
Marlatt	8 POST women,	8 weeks:	REE and RER: no				
(2020)	age 50–60 y	1) Placebo	statistically significant				
USA		2) Conjugated estrogens +	between-treatment				
		bazedoxifene	differences				

AG, agonist; ANT, antagonist; DLW, doubly labeled water; E2, estradiol; GnRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone; M, mean; P4, progesterone; POST, postmenopausal; PRE, premenopausal; REE, resting energy expenditure; RER, respiratory exchange ratio; RFO, resting fat oxidation; SD, standard deviation; SEE, sleeping energy expenditure; TEE, total energy expenditure

The majority of evidence on whether menopause affects REE comes from observational studies, which are primarily cross-sectional in design (TABLE 2). These studies have shown that young premenopausal women have higher REE than postmenopausal women (Reimer et al., 2005; Schattinger et al., 2021; Van Pelt et al., 1997). However, this difference disappears when the groups are more similar in age (Bessesen et al., 2015; Gould et al., 2022; Hodson et al., 2014; Monda et al., 2017). The only study that has measured TEE with DLW found no difference between premenopausal and postmenopausal women (Tooze et al., 2007). Studies comparing postmenopausal MHT users and nonusers (Aubertin-Leheudre et al., 2008; Monda et al., 2017; Reimer et al., 2005) have been limited by substantial tissue mass differences between groups, which were not considered in statistical analyses. Additionally, Aubertin-Leheudre et al. (2008) measured participants at varying times during the day, some only 3 hours after their last meal. These cross-sectional findings are consistent with the previously mentioned study by Pontzer et al. (2021), which found that FFM- and FMadjusted REE or TEE trajectories did not differ between sexes in midlife.

To approach causality, it is essential to have longitudinal evidence on how REE behaves during the menopausal transition. Unfortunately, only two studies have investigated this issue so far. The study by Lovejoy et al. (2008), which is highly cited in the literature, followed 34 initially premenopausal women over a 4-year period. Half of the participants transitioned to postmenopause, while the remaining half remained in premenopause throughout the study. The study assessed energy metabolism during a 24-hour metabolic chamber stay, which included 2 hours of walking on a treadmill. The results indicated that both SEE and TEE decreased in both groups during the follow-up period without noticeable between-group differences. A later study (Duval et al., 2013) followed 91 women for 5 years, measuring REE annually. At the end of the follow-up period, 19 women were premenopausal or perimenopausal, 12 women had been postmenopausal for less than or equal to 12 months, and 25 had been postmenopausal for more than 12 months. Even though FFM decreased and FM increased in all women (Abdulnour et al., 2012), the measured REE did not decrease in women who reached postmenopause and even increased in women who were premenopausal or perimenopausal at the final follow-up.

TABLE 2Cross-sectional studies comparing energy metabolism between postmeno-<br/>pausal women and premenopausal or perimenopausal women or menopau-<br/>sal hormone therapy users.

Study Parti	icipants (	Groups, n (age)	Results		
Studies of young premenopausal and middle-aged postmenopausal women					
Van Pelt Won	nen 1	1) PRE sedentary, $n = 12$	FFM- and FM-adjusted		
(1997) repre	esenting (	(M = 29, SE = 1)	REE: $\downarrow$ POST sedentary		
USA diffe	rent 2	2) POST sedentary, $n = 15$	vs. PRE sedentary, but		
phys	sical	(M = 61, SE = 2)	not in POST runners vs.		
activ	rity levels. 3	3) PRE runners, $n = 13$	PRE runners		
Note	eight (	(M = 31, SE = 1)			
wom	nen in both 4	4) POST runners, $n = 15$			
POS	Γ groups (	(M = 58, SE = 1)			
were	e on MHT				
Schattinger Sede	ntary 1	1) PRE (M = 20, SD = 1), $n = 7$	Measured REE: $\downarrow$ in		
(2021) wom	nen with a 2	2) POST (M = 57, SD = 5), $n = 7$	POST vs. PRE.		
USA BMI	≤ 35		RER: no differences		
kg/r	n <sup>2</sup>				
Studies of middle-aged premenopausal and postmenopausal women					
Tooze Won	nen aged 1	1) PRE, $n = 90$	FFM-adjusted TEE		
(2007) 40-6	9 y with a (	(includes 7 PERI women)	(doubly labeled water):		
USA mean	n BMI of 2	2) POST, $n = 110$	no differences		
~27 l	kg/m <sup>2</sup>				
Hodson Won	nen with a 1	1) PRE (M = 41, SE = 0.6), $n = 26$	LM-adjusted REE: no		
(2014) BMI	of 18.5–35 2	2) POST (M = 58, SE = $0.5$ ), $n = 25$	differences		
UK kg/r	n <sup>2</sup>				
Bessesen Won	nen with a 1	1) PRE (M = 42, SD = 4), $n = 23$	FFM-adjusted REE or		
(2015) BMI	< 30 2	2) POST (M = 55, SD = 4), $n = 22$	RFO: no differences		
USA kg/r	n <sup>2</sup>				
Gould Nona	athlete 1	1) PRE (M = 40, SD = 3.3), $n = 24$	REE or RFO: no		
(2022) wom	nen with a 2	2) PERI (M = 50, SD = 3.4), $n = 24$	differences		
USA BMI	of 18.5– 3	3) POST (M = 55, SE = 3.5), $n = 24$			
39.9	kg/m²				
Studies with a men	nopausal horm	10ne therapy user group			
Reimer Won	nen with a 1	1) PRE (M = 30, SD = 2), $n = 11$	Measured REE: $\downarrow$ POST		
(2005) norm	nal weight 2	2) POST (M = 53, SD = 2), $n = 7$	vs. PRE		
Canada	3	3) MHT (M = 55, SD = 1), $n = 6$	RER: $\downarrow$ MHT vs. other		
			groups		
Aubertin- Won	nen with a 1	1) POST (M = 60, SD = 3), $n = 13$	Measured REE: $\downarrow$ MHT		
Leheudre BMI	of 18–30 2	2) MHT (M = 59, SD = 3), <i>n</i> = 13	vs. POST, likely because		
(2008) kg/r	n <sup>2</sup>		of 2 kg higher body		
Canada			mass?		
Monda Sede	ntary 1	1) PRE (M = 43, SD = 4), $n = 40$	Measured REE ↑ MHT		
(2017) wom	nen with 2	2) POST (M = 51, SD = 4), $n = 40$	vs. PRE or POST, likely		
Italy obes					

BMI, body mass index; FFM, fat-free mass; FM, fat mass; LM, lean mass; M, mean; MHT, menopausal hormone therapy; PERI, perimenopausal; POST, postmenopausal, PRE, premenopausal; REE, resting energy expenditure; RER, respiratory exchange ratio; RFO, resting fat oxidation; SD, standard deviation; SE, standard error; TEE, total energy expenditure

#### 2.2.5 Menopause and fat oxidation

*Resting fat oxidation.* Decreased fat oxidation has been proposed as a potential mechanism by which menopause may contribute to the accumulation of FM (Lovejoy et al., 2008). However, as previously reviewed, the evidence supporting this theory is limited (Péronnet & Haman, 2019). Most human studies have not found differences in resting RER or RFO between menopausal groups (TABLE 2) or following ovarian hormone suppression or MHT (TABLE 1). In the study by Lovejoy et al. (2008), 24-hour fat oxidation decreased statistically significantly only in women experiencing menopause during the follow-up period. However, it is important to note that the lack of group and time interaction in the study limits the conclusions that can be drawn from these results. Additionally, 24-hour RER did not change, and women compensated for the decrease in fat oxidation by increasing protein oxidation.

*Peak fat oxidation.* Because fat oxidation is higher during submaximal exercise in premenopausal women than in men (Cano et al., 2022), menopause can be assumed to decrease PFO. Whether the sex difference disappears after menopause is uncertain. A study by Frandsen, Amaro-Gahete, et al. (2021) investigated the relationship between age, sex, and PFO by dividing 247 men and 188 women into three age categories: under 45, 45–55, and over 55 years old. A sex difference was present only in the youngest age category. Conversely, a study by Numao et al. (2009) found that 10 postmenopausal women with obesity had higher FFM adjusted fat oxidation rates while cycling at 50% of  $\dot{V}O_{2PEAK}$  compared with men matched for age, BMI, and cardiorespiratory fitness. It is worth noting that the groups also had comparable E2 levels.

Studies that compare fat oxidation during exercise between women in different menopausal states have been scarce, and none have used PFO as an outcome measure. In a seminal study, Abildgaard et al. (2013) compared fat oxidation rates between 11 premenopausal and seven postmenopausal women while cycling at 50% of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$  intensity for 45 min. They found that absolute fat oxidation rates were 0.31 g/min (SD = 0.03) in premenopausal and 0.21 g/min (SD = 0.07) in postmenopausal women, but after adjusting for LM, the difference between the groups was not statistically significant (P = 0.05). Additionally, the fraction of energy expenditure fueled by fat oxidation did not differ notably between groups (52% vs 43%, P > 0.05). A more recent study (Gould et al., 2022) compared substrate use at rest and during graded exercise between premenopausal, perimenopausal, and postmenopausal women (see the details in TABLE 2). However, the analysis strategy used makes the results difficult to interpret. The authors pooled all volume of oxygen (VO<sub>2</sub>) uptake and volume of CO<sub>2</sub> (VCO<sub>2</sub>) output data without identifying steady states to represent low, moderate, and high exercise intensities, which violate the assumptions of indirect calorimetry (Jeukendrup & Wallis, 2005). The results suggested that premenopausal women had 0.09 g/min (SE = 0.03, P = 0.045) higher absolute fat oxidation than postmenopausal women at a moderate-intensity exercise. However, the premenopausal group had almost 6 kg more FFM. No results accounting for FFM were reported. The only study to have compared substrate

use during exercise between postmenopausal women and postmenopausal MHT users was Johnson et al. (2002). They found no significant differences between groups in treadmill exercise at 85% of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$ ; however, the selected testing intensity violated the valid use of indirect calorimetry (Jeukendrup & Wallis, 2005).

### 2.2.6 Menopause and serum metabolome

The associations between menopause and circulating metabolites have been studied by mainly using traditional clinical biomarkers as outcomes. The results from longitudinal studies have varied, likely because of differences in study populations and designs. The most consistent findings have been increased serum triglyceride, total cholesterol, and LDL cholesterol levels (Ca et al., 2009; Hyvärinen et al., 2021; Jensen et al., 1990; Karvinen et al., 2019; Matthews et al., 2009, 2021). HDL cholesterol has been reported to decrease (Do et al., 2000; Jensen et al., 1990) peak before (Matthews et al., 2009) or increase (Abdulnour et al., 2012; Ca et al., 2009; Hyvärinen et al., 2021; Karvinen et al., 2019; Matthews et al., 2021) around menopause. Only our recent study found fasting glucose to increase (Hyvärinen et al., 2012; Jensen et al., 1990).

The effects of MHT depend on the selected estrogen and progestin components and administration route (Godsland, 2001). Oral CEE monotherapy increases triglycerides and HDL cholesterol while decreasing total and LDL cholesterol. Oral E2 monotherapy has similar effects on total and LDL cholesterol as CEE, but it increases HDL cholesterol and triglycerides less. Transdermal E2 increases HDL cholesterol less than oral administration but has the potential to lower triglycerides. Different progestins have different effects, but typically, they modulate the effects of estrogens on triglycerides and HDL cholesterol. MHT may also lower insulin resistance as calculated from fasting glucose and insulin concentrations, and oral MHT can increase C-reactive protein (Salpeter et al., 2006).

Prior to the present thesis, two studies have used the same NMR technology to investigate the associations between menopause and circulating metabolites but have done so using different designs. Auro et al. (2014) examined the differences in metabolite levels in relation to age, sex, and menopause status using cross-sectional data from 16,107 Finns (age range 24–75 years; 8,321 women) and 9,958 Estonians (age range 18–103 years; 6,416 women). The study found that in women aged 25–75 years (n = 10,083), postmenopausal status was associated with increased numbers of larger VLDL, IDL, and LDL particles, as well as increased concentrations of total and LDL cholesterol, glutamine, isoleucine, and tyrosine. When the analyses were restricted to women aged 40–55 years (n = 3,240), postmenopause was found to be associated with higher apoB/A-I ratio, MUFA, SFA, glutamine, and glycine concentrations. The study also found that, in age- and sex-stratified analyses, a proatherogenic lipoprotein particle shift occurred in men in early middle age, while in women, it occurred around age 45. A sensitivity analysis was also conducted on the data of MHT users (n = 1,053),

and it was found that they had similar metabolite profiles with premenopausal women but lower concentrations of apoB, VLDL, and LDL particles in some subclasses, along with HDL, triglycerides, and GlycA, than postmenopausal women. Additionally, MHT users had higher large HDL particle concentrations.

More recently, Q. Wang et al. (2018) analyzed cross-sectional data from 3,312 British women, of whom 1,492 also experienced menopausal status change during a 2.5-year follow-up. The study found that menopause was associated with an increased number of apoB, very small VLDL, IDL, and LDL particles, and increased concentrations of IDL and LDL cholesterol in both cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. Perhaps surprisingly, the study also found that menopause was associated with increased glutamine concentrations and decreased SFA ratios in both analyses. The GlycA concentration rose only in the cross-sectional analysis and apoA-I in the longitudinal analysis. Additionally, LDL particle size decreased in women who were followed over menopausal transition.

Synthesis of metabolomics studies can be challenging because of the high number of outcomes. However, broadly speaking, these two prior studies indicated that menopause is associated with increases in apoB-containing lipoprotein particles and cholesterol concentrations. However, the findings concerning triglycerides, fatty acid ratios, and nonlipid metabolites were less consistent but generally indicated a trend toward elevated BCAA and aromatic amino acid levels.

# 2.3 Physical activity

Physical activity, which here can be defined as the movement produced by skeletal muscle that results in energy expenditure, can be broadly classified into three categories: activities performed during sleep, work, and leisure time (Caspersen et al., 1985). Exercise, on the other hand, is a subcategory of physical activity specifically intended to improve health and/or physical fitness (Caspersen et al., 1985). When discussing energy expenditure caused by physical activity, nonexercise activity thermogenesis (NEAT) refers to the AEE that cannot be attributed to exercise. NEAT encompasses a wide range of physical activities that may occur in various settings, such as fidgeting, tapping one's toes, and speaking during work or leisure time (Levine, 2004). Like REE, AEE is influenced by an individual's body mass and composition. To make AEE comparable between individuals, it is common practice to express it as a physical activity level by dividing TEE by REE (Westerterp, 2018).

# 2.3.1 Assessment of physical activity

Physical activity has four dimensions: mode or type, frequency, duration, and intensity (Warren et al., 2010). The latter three are essential when quantifying the volume of physical activity, which is commonly expressed as kilocalories or the

metabolic equivalent of task (MET) units (Strath et al., 2013). One MET represents the average oxygen consumption (3.5 ml/kg/min) or energy expenditure (1 kcal/kg/h) while sitting (Ainsworth et al., 1993). Therefore, the measures are interchangeable. For example, the MET value of jogging is 7.0 (Ainsworth et al., 1993), indicating that a person weighing 70 kg will expend approximately 7 MET × 70 kg × 1 h = 490 kcal during an hour-long jog.

Physical activity can be assessed using various methods, including direct, self-reported, and device-based techniques. Direct methods measure AEE. The gold standard techniques for measuring AEE are indirect calorimetry in laboratory settings and DLW in free-living conditions (Strath et al., 2013). However, these methods are costly and require specialized equipment, making them practical for studies with smaller sample sizes. Self-reported methods such as questionnaires, recalls, and diaries are commonly used in epidemiological research (Warren et al., 2010). In particular, questionnaires are frequent because they are quick to fill and easy to analyze into data; however, they suffer from recall and social desirability bias (Strath et al., 2013). Of the device-based methods, accelerometers are the most common because they provide information on all three fundamental physical activity domains and have a low burden for participants (Warren et al., 2010). Accelerometers measure body acceleration and deceleration, typically in units of acceleration because of gravity, which can then be analyzed using various algorithms to determine physical activity volume and intensity (Strath et al., 2013).

The physical activity measures obtained through questionnaires and accelerometers tend to have a low-to-moderate correlation (Prince et al., 2008). This is because the two methods assess different aspects of physical activity. For example, questionnaires are less effective in capturing information on NEAT (Strath et al., 2013), while accelerometers may not accurately measure activities that take place in water or certain types of land-based physical activities, such as climbing, lifting loads, or cycling (Warren et al., 2010). Additionally, accelerometer measurements are often short, and wearing the device may affect physical activity behavior. Although accelerometers are commonly used to estimate TEE, they tend to produce large errors compared with DLW (O'Driscoll et al., 2020).

# 2.3.2 Physical activity and energy expenditure

Three models (FIGURE 3) have been proposed to explain how REE responds to increases in AEE (Careau et al., 2021). The *additive* model posits that AEE and REE are independent variables, such that an increase in AEE results in a corresponding rise in TEE. The *performance* model suggests that AEE increases REE—and, subsequently, TEE—more than expected because of the increased recovery and maintenance needs. Finally, the *constrained* model predicts that a decrease in REE compensates for an increase in AEE, resulting in TEE remaining unchanged because the energy budget of an organism is limited, and any investment in AEE requires the reallocation of energy from other physiological processes.



FIGURE 3 The three models explaining the relationship between activity energy expenditure (AEE) and resting energy expenditure (REE). Model A (Additive) assumes REE remains unchanged with increasing AEE, model B (Performance) expects REE to increase, and model C (Constrained) expects REE to decrease with increasing AEE. Figure modified from Careau et al. (2021).

The main argument supporting the constrained model is that, despite having markedly higher physical activity levels, hunter-gatherers and other small-scale populations have similar TEEs to those living in industrialized nations (Gurven et al., 2016; Pontzer et al., 2012). This finding is consistent with the data from other primate species, where animals living in captivity have similar TEE to those living in the wilderness (Pontzer et al., 2014). Energy compensation has also been documented in humans in response to increased AEE when the increase is extreme. An example is the Race Across the USA, a 140day transcontinental event where participants run marathons on average for 6 days a week. Thurber et al. (2019) found that the postrace TEE of five runners was approximately 596 kcal/d lower than predicted, even though mean body mass and FFM losses were only 3.7 and 0.9 kg, respectively. Pooling of the data from other extreme endurance events with varying durations showed that the estimated physical activity level humans could sustain decreases as a function of time and levels to a maximum of about 2.5 × REE. Moreover, analysis of overfeeding data suggested that the human body's ability to sustain physical activity is limited by the efficiency of the alimentary tract in extracting energy from food. Finally, studies using exercise as a weight loss intervention have consistently reported poorer results than expected based on prescribed AEE, suggesting that some compensatory mechanisms may be at play (Riou et al., 2015). However, when interventions aim for weight loss, it is challenging to differentiate the effects of exercise from the impact of negative energy balance because energy restriction and subsequent tissue mass loss can induce adaptive thermogenesis without added AEE (Nunes et al., 2022). Furthermore, an increase in AEE often causes a compensatory increase in energy intake (Martin et al., 2019), particularly among nonresponders (Herrmann et al., 2015).

The constrained model suggests that, when AEE increases, humans reallocate energy from modifiable components of REE, such as reproductive and

bodily defense functions, to maintain TEE at a homeostatic level (Pontzer, 2018). These trade-offs can explain why moderate exercise volume improves health and overtraining impairs it. Observational studies in industrialized populations have reported mixed findings concerning potential changes in REE. Although the TEE of The Race Across the USA runners declined, their REE (n = 3) remained unchanged (Thurber et al., 2019). However, a recent large cross-sectional study by Careau et al. (2021) supported the constrained model. Among the 1,754 participants, REE was positively associated with TEE ( $\beta = 0.72$ ; 95% CI, 0.63–0.82) when adjusted for sex, age, FFM, and FM. The estimate shows that, when TEE increased by one standardized unit in the data, the REE increase was only 72% of that. The <1 slope indicates a compensatory relationship between AEE and REE. The study also reanalyzed data from 68 individuals aged 70–90 (Cooper et al., 2013), finding that any increases in AEE were offset almost entirely by decreases in REE during a 7-year follow-up period.

There is, however, limited evidence for a decline in REE because of exercise interventions in humans. A seminal study by Westerterp et al. (1992) found some indication of REE decline in previously sedentary participants (n = 23) who trained four times a week for 44 months to complete a half marathon. The participants lost approximately 2 kg of FM and gained 3 kg of FFM during the study. TEE measured by DLW (n = 13) increased from baseline to 8 weeks but remained unchanged throughout the rest of the study, despite a gradual increase in the training volume. SEE measured during a stay in a metabolic chamber declined statistically significantly in the 11 male participants. A later reanalysis of the data reinforced the decline in SEE as a result of increased AEE, incorporating a more advanced modeling strategy that accounted for confounders and both between- and within-individual correlations (Careau, 2017). However, the decline in SEE was modest and unable to fully account for the conservation of TEE. A recent meta-analysis of 18 studies found no evidence of decreased REE after exercise interventions (MacKenzie-Shalders et al., 2020). It should be noted that the studies included in the meta-analysis had a high risk of bias, and the meta-analysis included some miscalculations. Additionally, adjusting the results for body composition changes was impossible because of differences in reporting. Furthermore, REE decline did not occur, even in the two highest-quality trials where exercise was administered to induce weight loss (Martin et al., 2019; Willis et al., 2014).

Another mechanism for TEE constraint is that exercising will decrease NEAT, meaning that the adaptation occurs inside the AEE component. However, current evidence does not support this theory (Halsey, 2021; Melanson, 2017). For example, it is unrealistic that decreased NEAT accounts for the nearly 600 kcal/d TEE compensation, as indicated in the study by Thurber et al. (2019). New theories for energy conservation mechanisms have now emerged, such as reduced circadian variation of REE and decreased mitochondrial proton leak (Halsey, 2021). A study by Urlacher et al. (2019) compared energy expenditures between Shuar children and children from the United States and the United Kingdom. Despite having a 25% higher accelerometer-measured physical

activity level and 20% greater REE, Shuar children had a similar TEE to their industrialized counterparts. The elevated REE can be explained by the fact that the Shuar are Amazonian forager-horticulturalists with elevated immune system activation because of high parasite burden. A modeling exercise found that TEE similarity was because of higher AEE in the industrialized children, resulting from higher body mass and poorer movement efficiency and lower circadian variation of REE in the Shuar children. However, an 8% discrepancy remained, which the authors suggested may be because of higher proton leak or thermoregulatory needs in industrialized children.

### 2.3.3 Physical activity and fat oxidation

*Resting fat oxidation.* When energy balance is maintained, acute exercise does not increase 24-hour fat oxidation (Melanson et al., 2009). Additionally, long-term exercise training has been found to not elevate RFO (Martin et al., 2019; Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2010). These findings align with the laws of energy conservation and mass (Péronnet & Haman, 2019). However, some studies have reported an increase in RFO the morning after a single exercise session (Kang et al., 2020) or after exercise intervention compared with nonexercising controls (Amaro-Gahete, Acosta, et al., 2020). These findings were likely confounded by changes in energy balance.

*Peak fat oxidation.* It is reasonable to assume that engaging in physical activity will increase PFO because PFO is closely related to cardiorespiratory fitness that is well-known to respond to it. Two large-scale cross-sectional studies identified self-reported physical activity as a PFO determinant (G. Fletcher et al., 2017; M. C. Venables et al., 2005), while one did not (Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Thomas, et al., 2021). The differing results may be because of the different covariates used in the studies. A limitation of the PFO explanatory models used in studies is that they include physical activity (exposure) and  $\dot{VO}_{2MAX}$  (partial mediator) as covariates. Therefore, it is not surprising that the association between physical activity and PFO would diminish when adjusting for  $\dot{VO}_{2MAX}$  (Amaro-Gahete, Acosta, et al., 2020).

Most intervention studies on PFO have used single-group designs or compared two exercise interventions without a nonexercising control group (Maunder et al., 2018). The longest single-group study (Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2010) found that the PFO of 17 untrained men and women increased by 0.07 g/min after 12 months of self-monitored walking/jogging. The statistical significance remained even when using PFO scaled to FFM as the outcome. However, the results from RCTs comparing exercise and control interventions have been mixed. Two 12-week studies conducted at the University of Copenhagen have investigated the effects of exercise on PFO in sedentary adult men (n = 50 and 44) with overweight, here showing positive results. The first study (Rosenkilde et al., 2015) randomized participants into groups that engaged in daily endurance training (300 or 600 kcal/d) or a control group. Both training groups demonstrated improved PFO compared with the control group. The second study (Nordby et al., 2015) combined the more intensive endurance

training protocol (600 kcal/d) with no dietary intervention, an energy-restricted diet, or an energy-increased diet before then comparing the results to a control group. PFO improved compared with the control group only in the group without any dietary modification. When summarized, the 600 kcal/day exerciseonly intervention lasting for 3 months improved PFO by 0.12 and 0.16 g/min and FFM-scaled PFO by 1.8 and 2.2 mg/kg FFM/min. Another 12-week study (Amaro-Gahete, De-la-O, et al., 2020) examined the effects of lower-dose exercise in 89 sedentary middle-aged men and women. The three studied interventions included training regime dosed according а to physical activity recommendations (150 min endurance exercise and 60 min resistance training per week) or HIIT training without or with electrical stimulation twice a week. None of the interventions resulted in an improvement in LM-scaled PFO compared with the control group. Overall, these RCT findings have suggested that even sedentary individuals would need to significantly increase their exercise volume to see improvements in PFO.

# 2.3.4 Physical activity and serum metabolome

The studies forming the current PhD thesis did not directly examine the associations between physical activity and the serum metabolome; however, an understanding the nature of this relationship is essential for comprehending the adaptability of the circulating metabolome. In a seminal study, Kujala et al. (2013) applied the same NMR technology as in the present thesis to compare serum metabolites between 16 same-sex twins (age range 50-74 years) who had over 30year physical activity discordance and 1,037 age- and sex-matched individuals (age range 30-62 years) with at least a 5-year physical activity difference. The results showed that physical activity was associated with a distinctly opposite serum metabolite profile compared with the changes related to metabolic deterioration, as shown in FIGURE 1. The participants who were more physically active had lower levels of apoB-containing particles in virtually all subclasses than their less active counterparts. They also had smaller average VLDL and LDL particle sizes and lower VLDL triglyceride and LDL cholesterol concentrations. Additionally, their average HDL size was larger, HDL cholesterol concentration was higher, and their serum fatty acid profile was more favorable, with higher levels of PUFAs and lower levels of MUFAs and SFAs. Physical activity was also associated with lower glucose, isoleucine, phenylalanine, and GlycA concentrations, as well as higher acetoacetate concentrations.

Subsequent studies have revealed the potential mediators between physical activity and serum metabolite profile. Kujala et al. (2019) found that the profile differences of young men with high and low cardiorespiratory fitness were similar to the differences observed between more and less physically active individuals, as expected because of the bidirectional relationship and shared genetic factors between physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness (Mustelin et al., 2011). However, adjusting for body fat percentage weakened the associations between cardiorespiratory fitness and most metabolite levels (Kujala et al., 2019), suggesting that body composition plays a significant role as a

mediator. A more recent study (Lehtovirta et al., 2022) observed similar associations between physical activity and serum metabolome in adolescents and young adults, finding an inverse association between physical activity and fasting insulin, here with a larger association size compared with any of the NMR-measured metabolites. The study did not perform mediation analyses, but the findings implied that insulin sensitivity may also mediate the associations between physical activity and metabolite levels.

It is important to note that observational studies may be limited by unmeasured and residual confounding that could partly explain the results. However, studies using both device-measured and self-reported physical activity have shown consistent results, though the associations between devicemeasured physical activity and serum metabolites are smaller and less certain (P. R. Jones et al., 2022; Vaara et al., 2022). Intervention studies have also provided consistent results, with exercise training leading to decreases in triglycerides and increases in HDL cholesterol levels, while LDL cholesterol levels tend to respond less (Durstine et al., 2001; Sarzynski et al., 2022). Exercise also leads to decreases in large VLDL particles and increases in large LDL and HDL particles, resulting in improvements to their size profile (Sarzynski et al., 2015). In summary, observational and intervention studies have provided consistent results, highlighting the importance of physical activity for maintaining a favorable serum metabolite profile.

### 2.4 Fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation

An estimated 537 million people globally have diabetes, primarily T2D, a number projected to increase 46% by 2045. This trend in T2D prevalence is linked to modern environmental factors such as dietary changes, sedentary behavior, and obesity (Sun et al., 2022). In contrast, T2D, elevated fasting glucose levels, and obesity are extremely rare among hunter-gatherers and other small-scale cultures living in traditional or preindustrial environments (Eaton et al., 1988; Pontzer et al., 2018). This highlights the causal role of long-term energy balance in the development of T2D, as demonstrated by the ability of energy restriction and subsequent weight loss to reverse the condition (Churuangsuk et al., 2022).

T2D develops when the pancreas no longer produces sufficient amounts of insulin to counteract the inability of other tissues to respond to its stimulation, resulting in hyperglycemia. The inability of the body's cells to respond normally to insulin stimulation is referred to as insulin resistance and is considered a primary event in the development of T2D, which often progresses for decades before disease onset (Roden & Shulman, 2019). Insulin resistance also increases the risk of other chronic diseases, such as CVD (Paneni et al., 2013), nonalcoholic liver disease (Loomba et al., 2021), several cancers (Gallagher & LeRoith, 2015), and Alzheimer's disease (Candeias et al., 2012). Although the dysregulation of glucose metabolism is a defining feature of insulin resistance, it is essential to recognize how lipid metabolism plays an equally vital role in this complex condition (Roden & Shulman, 2019). In light of the topic of the current thesis, understanding these interconnections is essential.

# 2.4.1 Insulin resistance pathogenesis

The mechanisms underlying the development of insulin resistance remain unclear. Nevertheless, two of the most widely accepted theories propose that insulin resistance is connected to mitochondrial function either through reactive lipid metabolites or reactive oxygen species (Frangos et al., 2021). A review (Roden & Shulman, 2019) provided an integrative explanation for the development of insulin resistance in humans, here based on the reactive lipid theory. According to the theory, a sustained positive energy balance leads to the expansion of adipose tissue, eventually overwhelming its capacity to store fat and causing hypoxia, which then triggers apoptosis and cell death. The infiltration of macrophages into the adipose tissue causes localized inflammation, leading to increased lipolysis and the eventual spreading to low-grade systemic inflammation. The accumulation of reactive lipids may also disrupt insulin signaling, further increasing lipolysis (Lyu et al., 2021). As a result, lipids begin to spillover to other organs, such as the liver and skeletal muscle. In the liver, the excess of NEFA and glycerol stimulates the synthesis of triglycerides and gluconeogenesis. When mitochondrial function is insufficient, blood glucose levels rise, triglycerides accumulate, and the production of reactive lipids further impairs insulin signaling. In the skeletal muscle, the increased availability of NEFA leads to the accumulation of lipids and the formation of reactive lipids similar to the liver. The subsequent loss of insulin sensitivity lowers glucose uptake and glycogen storing, further increasing circulating glucose levels because skeletal muscle is the primary glucose sink in the body. The pancreas initially compensates for these alterations by increasing insulin secretion, hence maintaining normal blood glucose levels. However, as the disease state progresses and the pancreas's ability to secrete insulin declines, T2D develops, resulting in hyperglycemia.

In this theory, the central hypothesis is that insulin signaling is disturbed by the accumulation of lipotoxic metabolites such as diglycerides and ceramides (Sangwung et al., 2020). Triglyceride storage alone is not problematic because research has shown that endurance athletes with high insulin sensitivity have similar levels of intramyocellular triglycerides as those with T2D (Goodpaster et al., 2001). Of particular concern is the accumulation of sn-1,2 diglycerides in the plasma membrane, which can activate novel forms of protein kinase Cs, which, in turn, inhibit the insulin signaling cascade both in skeletal muscle and liver (Sangwung et al., 2020) and perhaps also in the white adipose tissue (Lyu et al., 2021). However, it is worth mentioning that most of the literature is centered on researching the phenomenon in skeletal muscle, including the evidence presented below.

The second key point of the theory is that inherited or acquired mitochondrial dysfunction may predispose individuals to the accumulation of reactive lipids and insulin resistance (Sangwung et al., 2020). Initially, the defect

was believed to lay specifically in the fatty acid oxidation pathway (Lowell & Shulman, 2005). In a pioneering study, through the use of limb indirect calorimetry, Kelley and Simoneau (1994) discovered that individuals with noninsulin-dependent T2D had higher fasting RER compared with age and BMImatched controls, and their RER did not increase similarly after a test meal, indicating defects in fat oxidation ability, insulin sensitivity, and substrateswitching in leg muscles. Later, the findings were repeated by comparing individuals with normal weight and individuals with obesity (Kelley et al., 1999). The study also included a 4-month weight loss intervention, which improved insulin sensitivity but showed no change in fasting RER, leading to the idea that poor fat oxidation capacity is the primary cause predisposing an individual to insulin resistance and obesity. The concept has also been extensively studied in rodents using high-fat-feeding but with conflicting results (Frangos et al., 2021; Muoio & Neufer, 2012).

The reactive lipid theory has recently dissociated itself from the concept that explicitly poor mitochondrial fat oxidation capacity leads to insulin resistance. One study (Song et al., 2020) employed advanced tracer experiments to examine the relationship between skeletal muscle mitochondrial substrate use and insulin sensitivity in both mice and humans. The findings revealed no discernible difference in the energy substrate preference or ability to use fatty acids between insulin-resistant and insulin-sensitive muscles in a fasted state. However, insulin-resistant muscles demonstrated a decreased ability to increase glucose use in response to insulin stimulation compared with insulin-sensitive muscles. This suggests that poor fat oxidation capacity does not cause insulin resistance but that insulin resistance can impair metabolic flexibility, i.e., the ability to adapt to changing substrate availability or energy demands (Goodpaster & Sparks, 2017). Furthermore, research has indicated that increasing flux through betaoxidation may even promote insulin resistance (C. D. Smith et al., 2021). Thereby, the theory now suggests that a low overall mitochondrial capacity, rather than an inability to oxidize fatty acids, may contribute to insulin resistance in some instances (Sangwung et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020).

The reactive oxygen species theory has been based on mitochondrial bioenergetics and posits that the balance between energy supply and demand is the crucial factor through the modulation of redox stress in determining insulin sensitivity. As reviewed by Fisher-Wellman and Neufer (2012), the transport of electrons through the electron transport chain is an automatic process tightly coupled with proton pumping. The rate at which the system operates is determined by the energy expenditure (i.e., *pull*) rather than the energy supply (i.e., *push*). When the *push* exceeds the *pull*, the mitochondria become overpressurized as protons accumulate on the outer surface of the inner membrane. This creates a back pressure that slows proton pumping, in turn slowing electron transport and oxygen consumption. To alleviate this pressure, electrons leak from the chain to oxygen, increasing the emission of reactive oxygen species, particularly hydrogen peroxide. The production of reactive species is particularly elevated when the push is generated by beta-oxidation.

Subsequent sift in the cellular redox environment modulates the function of metabolic enzymes and other proteins, leading to reduced sensitivity for insulin stimulation. The theory argues against the idea that mitochondrial dysfunction causes insulin resistance because mitochondrial function, or the *pull*, is rarely at its maximum during everyday living (Muoio & Neufer, 2012). However, the theory supports the idea that mitochondrial function can deteriorate when the disease state progresses, hence limiting exercise performance (Muoio & Neufer, 2012).

Reconciling the two theories of insulin resistance can be a complex task, but one thing is clear – both views agree that a sustained excess energy supply with high-lipid cellular environment in oxidative tissues leads to trouble (Fisher-Wellman & Neufer, 2012; Roden & Shulman, 2019). They also agree that poor fat oxidation capacity or metabolic inflexibility is not the root cause of insulin resistance (Muoio & Neufer, 2012; Song et al., 2020). However, where both theories differ is in identifying the primary mechanism that disrupts insulin signaling and whether intrinsic mitochondrial characteristics play a role in predisposition to insulin resistance. Ultimately, it is likely that both mechanisms contribute to insulin resistance with varying proportions in different scenarios (Frangos et al., 2021). Notably, both theories recognize the efficacy of E2 signaling and exercise in promoting insulin sensitivity by relieving lipid-induced (J. P. Camporez et al., 2019; J. P. G. Camporez et al., 2013; Sangwung et al., 2020) and redox stress (Muoio & Neufer, 2012; Torres, Kew, et al., 2018; Torres, Ryan, et al., 2018).

# 2.4.2 Connections between whole-body fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation

When I first began working on this PhD project, I believed that RFO could explain the metabolic health differences between individuals because this was a commonly held assumption in research. However, after reading the comprehensive review by Péronnet and Haman (2019), my perspective shifted. As previously discussed, fasting substrate use is primarily dependent on energy balance and diet macronutrient distribution (Goris & Westerterp, 2000; Miles-Chan et al., 2015) and does not accurately reflect maximal fat oxidation capacity (Holloszy, 2009) or serve as a causal factor in the development of insulin resistance (Muoio & Neufer, 2012; Song et al., 2020). However, insulin resistance and other consequences of myocellular lipid overload may damage mitochondrial function (Cheng et al., 2010; Ruegsegger et al., 2018), which may become evident in particular during exercise (Muoio & Neufer, 2012). Therefore, PFO has more rationale as a marker of the ability to regulate blood glucose levels than RFO.

Most studies investigating the associations between fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation have used fasting glucose- and insulin-derived surrogates as outcomes, such as the homeostatic model of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI) indexes. These indexes primarily reflect hepatic rather than peripheral insulin resistance (Borai et al., 2011). Although the rationale for using RFO as a metabolic health marker is not convincing, Amaro-Gahete, Jurado-Fasoli, et al. (2020) found that higher RFO was associated with a lower HOMA-IR in 71 middle-aged men and women. However, it is important to consider that, as fasting duration increases, whole-body fat oxidation increases and insulin concentrations decline (Horton & Hill, 2001), here following changes in energy availability. Therefore, energy balance is the likely confounder behind the observed association. In a later study, exercise test data from the same middle-aged participants were pooled with data from 119 younger adults (Amaro-Gahete et al., 2021). The results showed that PFO was not associated with fasting glucose, insulin, or HOMA-IR, contrary to the findings of Robinson et al. (2015, 2016), who were the first to show that PFO was positively correlated with the QUICKI index and negatively with fasting insulin in 57 young men. However, the correlations found by Robinson et al. (2015, 2016) were small (0.33 for QUICKI and -0.29 for fasting insulin) and not adjusted for LM.

Compared with fasting indexes, the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) provides a more dynamic reflection of glycemic control, and insulin sensitivity surrogates derived from the OGTT are typically better correlated with the direct measure of insulin resistance, that is, the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp (Borai et al., 2011). Before the current thesis, the relationship between RFO and OGTT responses had been examined by only one study, likely because of the more time-consuming nature of the OGTT. Kunz et al. (2000) found that, in 166 participants with hypertension and obesity, FM, glucose area under the curve (AUC), and female sex were positively associated with RFO and explained 40% of its variation. These findings challenge the idea that RFO is a marker of improved glycemic control. Furthermore, no study had previously investigated the associations between PFO and OGTT outcomes, highlighting the need for further research.

# **3 PURPOSE OF THE STUDY**

The primary aim of the present PhD thesis was to investigate the associations between menopause, physical activity, and whole-body metabolism, here with a particular focus on REE, fat oxidation at rest and during exercise, and serum metabolome. Additionally, as a secondary aim, the current thesis examined whether differences in RFO and PFO could explain the variations in the ability to regulate blood glucose after glucose ingestion. These research aims are illustrated in FIGURE 4.

To achieve these objectives, the following research questions were formulated:

- 1. Is menopausal transition associated with changes in serum metabolome, and are these changes explained by changes in serum E2 and FSH concentrations? (*Study I*)
- 2. Do REE (*Study II*), RFO, and PFO (*Study IV*) vary according to menopausal status, and are serum E2 and FSH concentrations associated with these outcomes in middle-aged women?
- 3. Are there differences in REE, RFO, and PFO among male MZ cotwins who have long-term discordant leisure-time physical activity levels (*Study III*), and is physical activity level associated with RFO and PFO (*Studies III* and *IV*)?
- 4. Are RFO and PFO associated with proxies of glycemic control and insulin sensitivity? (*Studies III* and *IV*)

# 4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

To achieve the aims of the present PhD thesis, four studies were conducted using a combination of longitudinal, cross-sectional, and cotwin control study designs (FIGURE 4). The participants were women in *Studies I, II*, and *IV* and men in *Study III*. The primary outcomes were assessed using NMR metabolomics in *Study I and indirect calorimetry in Studies II–IV*. Menopause was the main exposure studied in *Studies I, II*, and *IV*, while *Study III* enabled more detailed examination of associations related to physical activity The secondary aim of the present thesis—the relationship between fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation—was examined in *Studies III* and *IV*. Including data from both sexes was chosen to enhance the generalizability of the findings.



FIGURE 4 Key characteristics of the studies in this PhD thesis.

# 4.1 Study designs and participants

### 4.1.1 Study I

*Study I* (FIGURE 5) employed data and samples from 218 women in the longitudinal core-ERMA (Estrogenic Regulation of Muscle Apoptosis) study (Kovanen et al., 2018) collected between 2015 and 2019. The primary aim of *Study I* was to investigate whether menopausal transition alters the circulating metabolome and to explore whether changes in E2 and FSH levels may explain the observed changes in metabolites.

The ERMA cohort was established by randomly selecting 47–55-year-old women from the Jyväskylä area from the Population Information System (n = 6,878) and sending them a study invitation and a prequestionnaire. Of the women, 3,229 (47%) responded, and 1,627 were called for menopausal status determination. Women with a self-reported BMI of over 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or a condition or medication affecting the ovaries, the immune system, or daily functioning were excluded. Finally, the menopausal status of 1,393 women was determined, and 1,158 participated in ERMA laboratory measurements. The perimenopausal women were invited to participate in the longitudinal phase of the study, where they were followed to early postmenopause. The aim was to gain an understanding of what occurs in women's physiology during the phase of the most significant hormonal changes. The menopausal transition was monitored with menstrual diaries and FSH measurements every 3 to 6 months, depending on the participant's menopause progression.

Of the 381 women who began the follow-up, 234 reached early postmenopause during the study. One participant died, and 26 dropped out. Additionally, some did not reach postmenopause (n = 69), or their menopausal status remained unclear at the last measurements (n = 48). For the purpose of Study I, women who had received a cancer diagnosis (n = 4) or were using lipidor glucose-lowering medication (n = 12) were also excluded, resulting in a final sample size of 218 participants. Of these women, 35 (15%) began using MHT during the follow-up. This ratio is consistent with the general Finnish population: in 2020, 12% of Finnish women aged 45 years or older were MHT users (Finnish Medicines Agency Fimea, 2021). Those participants who began MHT participated in the final measurements after 6 months of treatment. Based on questionnaire responses, one participant had started MHT for 17 days, and another participant 2 days before the last measurement. However, only the first woman was classified as an MHT starter because the two-day use of low-dose transdermal MHT by the latter participant was unlikely to have affected the studied parameters. This assumption was confirmed by comparing her metabolite concentrations with women who refrained from MHT. Of the 35 MHT starters, 27 used oral products containing E2 only (n = 7) or E2 combined with a progestogen (*n* = 20, including 16 dydrogesterone and four norethisterone acetate users). The remaining MHT starters used E2 only (n = 7) or E2 and norethisterone acetate-containing patches (n = 1).



FIGURE 5 The aims of *Study I* and sample sizes in statistical analyses. E2, estradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; MHT, menopausal hormone therapy.

# 4.1.2 Study II

*Study II* (FIGURE 6) aimed to investigate the associations between age and menopausal status on REE by using a cross-sectional sample of 120 participants, including 59 middle-aged women. The participants were from four studies conducted between 2008 and 2022 at the Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences at the University of Jyväskylä: EsmiRs (Estrogen and microRNAs as Modulators of Women's Metabolism), Calex, Physique, and Athletic Performance and Nutrition (NO-REDS). All participants were required to be free of any known diseases or medications that may affect energy expenditure, but the use of hormonal contraception and MHT were allowed. The participants were categorized into three age groups, and middle-aged women were further divided into menopause groups: premenopausal or perimenopausal (PRE/PERI), postmenopausal (POST), and postmenopausal MHT-using women (MHT). In a sensitivity analysis, perimenopausal women were excluded from the data.

The EsmiRs study is described in detail in section 4.1.4 of *Study IV*. The Calex study (Ojanen et al., 2021) aimed to examine how lifestyle factors influenced functional gene and protein expression of muscle and adipose tissue by recruiting mother-father-daughter families with varying adiposity levels. The measurements were performed between 2008 and 2011. From this study, REE

data from 17 middle-aged (ages 42–58 years) and 21 younger women (ages 17–21 years) were used. These participants formed a subsample of 16 mother–daughter pairs, where the analyses were partially controlled for genotype. Ten pairs also had TEE measured with the DLW method. The Physique study (Isola et al., 2023) aimed to investigate how weight reduction for a bodybuilding competition influenced the physiology of normal-weighed men and women. *Study II* used REE data from 23 women (ages 22–38 years) collected in 2019 prior to the weight loss. The Athletic Performance and Nutrition study is an ongoing project designed to assess the physiological adaptations of elite winter sports athletes throughout consecutive training and competition seasons. *Study II* used REE data from 17 women (ages 18–35 years) collected in 2021 during a transition season when the athletes' training volume was at its lowest.

In all studies, REE measurements were performed with the same metabolic cart in the same thermoneutral laboratory. There were slight variations in the measurement protocols, as detailed in section 4.2.5. The participants were required to fast overnight and avoid physical activity at least the day before measurements.



FIGURE 6 The aims of *Study II* and sample sizes in statistical analyses.

#### 4.1.3 Study III

*Study III* (FIGURE 7) used data from the FITFATTWIN study, which were collected between 2011 and 2012 (Rottensteiner et al., 2015). The primary aim of *Study III* was to compare REE, RFO, and PFO between members of male MZ twin pairs who exhibited marked differences in leisure-time physical activity over the preceding 3 years. Additionally, the twin design allowed for the examination of familial dependence on the outcomes. However, direct heritability estimates could not be calculated because the sample did not include dizygotic twin pairs. *Study III* also investigated the associations between fat oxidation outcomes and blood glucose regulation during an OGTT.

The 46 participants were recruited from the 202 MZ twin pairs of the Finntwin16 cohort. Through responses in the fifth Finntwin16 data collection wave questionnaire, cotwins of 39 pairs were identified as potentially discordant for leisure-time physical activity. Following a telephone interview, 20 twin pairs were invited to the FITFATTWIN study, and 17 accepted the invitation. Six additional twin pairs were recruited from the cohort, knowing their members were not discordant for leisure-time physical activity. After a detailed physical activity history characterization during the laboratory measurements (explained in section 4.2.2), the cotwins of 10 pairs were classified as discordant for leisure-time physical activity over the past 3 years. These cotwins exhibited a minimum difference of 1 MET-h/d in the past 3-year short MET index and 1.5 MET-h/d difference in the past 12-month MET index. Additionally, the less active cotwin had a less than 5 MET-h/d in the 12-month MET index, and the active cotwin.

The metabolism measurements were conducted over the course of 2 consecutive days. On the first day, exercise metabolism tests were performed at noon. The participants were instructed to abstain from vigorous exercise and alcohol consumption for 48 hours before the measurements and refrain from eating for 2 hours before testing. PFO was measured from 41 twin individuals; however, five participants could not participate in testing because of medical reasons. On the second day, body composition and resting metabolism measurements were performed in an overnight fasted state. To minimize any potential impact of physical activity on the results, the participants were transported to the laboratory via car. Resting metabolism measurements were successfully conducted on 43 twin individuals. However, one twin pair declined participation, and data from one participant were excluded because of hyperventilation. After the resting metabolism measurement, OGTT was performed. One twin pair did not participate in the OGTT.



FIGURE 7 The aims of *Study III* and sample sizes in statistical analyses. PFO, peak fat oxidation; REE, resting energy expenditure; RFO, resting fat oxidation.

### 4.1.4 Study IV

*Study IV* (FIGURE 8) was conducted as a part of the EsmiRs study (Hyvärinen et al., 2021), which represents the fourth-year follow-up of the ERMA cohort. Data were collected during the years 2019 and 2020. The primary aim of *Study IV* was to compare RFO and PFO across women of the same age who differed in menopausal status. The study also aimed to examine whether circulating levels of E2 and FSH could explain the differences in fat oxidation outcomes. The groups being compared were the same as in *Study II*. The premise of the study was that the postmenopausal group would exhibit a lower PFO than the other groups owing to lower E2 levels. Additionally, it was hypothesized that E2 levels would positively associate with PFO. Like in *Study III*, a secondary aim was to investigate the associations between fat oxidation measures and blood glucose regulation during an OGTT.

The target sample size was calculated using the data from a previously described study (Abildgaard et al., 2013). The mean difference between premenopausal and postmenopausal participants in fat oxidation was 1.67 (pooled SD = 1.40) mg/kg LM/min. The effect size, as measured by Cohen's *d*, was 1.19. It is important to note that this effect size is large for a biological phenomenon. A power calculation showed that a minimum of 12 participants per group would be needed to detect a statistically significant between-group

difference with an alpha level of 0.05 and 80% power. Considering potential dropouts and measurement difficulties, the recruitment goal was set at 20 women per group.

The sample for Study IV was recruited from the 304 women who participated in the laboratory measurements of the EsmiRs study. The study nurse was responsible for determining the participation eligibility and initial group allocations. The eligibility criteria were as follows: 1) BMI of  $\geq 18$  and < 30 $kg/m^2$ , 2) intact ovaries and uterus, 3) absence of any diseases or medication known to affect metabolism or exercise responses, 4) no hormonal contraception, and 5) no regular smoking. Because of the premature ending of recruitment as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the final sample consisted of 13 participants in the PRE/PERI group, 20 participants in the POST group, and nine participants in the MHT group. After the final menopausal status determination, six participants from the PRE/PERI group were allocated to the POST group. Four participants from the POST group had E2 concentrations that were over four times higher (0.27–0.54 nmol/l) than the group's third quartile (0.09 nmol/l) and, therefore, were excluded from group comparisons owing to the study's premise. All MHT-using participants used a combination MHT containing E2 and progestin. Seven used oral and two transdermal preparation. In an exploratory analysis, the PRE/PERI and MHT groups were combined as a HIGH E2 group and compared against the POST group.

The metabolism measurements were performed on two visits, which were separated by a median of 2 weeks (interquartile range 1-3 weeks) for most participants, but for five participants, the time between visits was longer (13-18 weeks) because of metabolic cart malfunction or COVID-19 restrictions. During the first visit, the women participated in resting metabolism and OGTT measurements. They also underwent a comprehensive medical examination to ensure safe exercise metabolism testing on the second visit. The participants were advised to avoid any lifestyle changes throughout the study. They kept food diaries for 2 days before the measurements and matched their diets for the preceding 24 hours. They also refrained from alcohol and caffeine use for 24 hours and 12 hours before measurements, respectively. The participants ate their last meal on the previous evening between 8 PM and 10 PM and drank 100 ml of water after awakening. Regarding physical activity, the participants were instructed to avoid moderate-to-vigorous physical activity for 48 hours before measurements, limit physical activity on the measurement morning, and arrive at the laboratory by car.

Valid RFO measurements were obtained from 39 participants. However, data from three women – two from PRE/PERI group and one from the POST group – were excluded from *Study IV* because of potential slight hyperventilation. The PFO measurements of 40 participants were successful. However, data from two MHT group women were excluded because of metabolic cart failure or difficulty in wearing the gas mask. OGTT data were complete for 35 participants. Data from at least three sampling points were obtained from three participants, while three participants provided only fasting and 120-minute samples.

Unfortunately, one participant could not give the final blood sample, and her data were not included in the statistical analyses.



FIGURE 8 The aims of *Study IV* and sample sizes in statistical analyses. PFO, peak fat oxidation; RFO, resting fat oxidation.

# 4.2 Assessment of exposures

#### 4.2.1 Menopause status and sex hormone levels

*Menopausal status.* Menopausal status was determined using the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop + 10 guidelines (Harlow et al., 2012) – with some exceptions – and menstruation and FSH data. The different studies employed slightly different methods in menopausal status assessment.

*Study I.* During the initial menopausal status determination, the participants kept menstrual diaries for a minimum of 3 months, and perimenopausal women were identified as those with irregular or absent menstrual bleeding and FSH levels between 17 and 30 IU/l. During follow-up, early postmenopause was determined by 6 months of amenorrhea and two

consecutive FSH measurements above 30 IU/l. Postmenopause in participants with hysterectomy (n = 11) or uncertain bleeding reports (n = 14) was determined by FSH measurements alone. The amenorrhea criterion was shortened from 12 months to optimize the number of women who completed the study within funding constraints. The median amenorrhea duration was 8.1 months (interquartile range 6.5–10.4). However, 28 participants did not meet the 6-month amenorrhea criterion, and sensitivity analyses were performed without these women to account for the protocol deviation.

*Study II.* In the Calex study questionnaire, the participants answered how many menstrual periods they had during the past year and the time from their last menses. This information was supplemented with one FSH measurement to determine their menopausal status. The EsmiRs women were categorized as explained below.

*Study IV.* During the EsmiRs study recruitment, allocation into the study groups was based on self-assessment. In the study questionnaire, the participants estimated their menopausal status using a short description of menopause-related menstrual changes. They also wrote down the time of their last menses. In the final menopausal status determination, the questionnaire responses were supplemented with FSH measurements from both metabolism measurement visits.

*Menopausal hormone therapy.* In the ERMA (*Study I*) and EsmiRs studies (*Studies II* and *IV*), MHT use was determined through a questionnaire in which the participants reported the MHT products they had used in their lifetime, including the start and end dates of use. In the Calex study (*Study II*), medication use was queried as a part of the study questionnaire.

Serum sex hormone concentrations. Measurements were performed using IMMULITE 2000 XPi (Siemens Medical Solution Diagnostics, Los Angeles, CA, USA) from fasted serum samples stored at -80 °C. However, accurately measuring low concentrations of sex steroids with immunoassay technologies can be challenging (Rosner et al., 2013). The CV for the used E2 immunoassay kit was 9.7%, and the limit of detection was 0.055 nmol/l. The immunoassay method used in our laboratory was compared against liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry using 166 samples and had a reasonably good agreement (r = 0.91). However, the agreement was poor (r = 0.42) in 76 samples, with E2 concentrations less than 100 pmol/l, here as measured with liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry.

# 4.2.2 Physical activity

*Self-reported physical activity.* In *Study III*, physical activity was assessed using a combination of a short and long interview and the Baecke questionnaire (Baecke et al., 1982). The short interview was used to evaluate past 3-year leisure-time physical activity at 1-year intervals. The interview followed a 4-item questionnaire (Kujala et al., 1998) that was also used in *Studies I* and *IV* to assess the participants' current physical activity. The first question addressed the frequency of monthly leisure-time physical activity, and the options ranged from less than once per month to over 20 times per month. The second question

focused on the intensity of the physical activity by asking whether it typically resembled walking, walking with periodical jogging, jogging, or running. The answers to this question were assigned a MET value, with walking being assigned 4 METs, walking with periodical jogging assigned 6 METs, jogging assigned 8 METs, and running assigned 13 METs (Ainsworth et al., 1993). The third question addressed the average duration of the physical activity, with options ranging from under 15 minutes to over 2 hours. The leisure-time physical activity volume was then calculated using the following formula:

Leisure-time physical activity (MET-h/d) = (monthly frequency × METintensity × minute duration) / 30 d

Finally, daily active commuting habits were queried, with options ranging from no active commuting and I do not currently work to an hour or longer. The active commuting volume was calculated using the standard intensity (4 METs) and frequency (5 days per week):

Active commuting (MET-h/d) = (daily duration x 4 METs x 5 per week) / 7 d

To obtain the total physical activity volume, the leisure-time physical activity and active commuting volumes were combined. This variable is referred to as the short MET index.

In *Study III*, a comprehensive characterization of leisure-time physical activity for the past 12 months was assessed using a longer interview that followed the Kuopio Ischemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study (Lakka & Salonen, 1992). The participants were asked about their engagement in 20 set physical activities, including the frequency, duration, and intensity of each activity. The participants were also allowed to mention other physical activities not included in the selection. The total physical activity volume was calculated as MET-h/d and is referred to as the 12-month MET index.

Accelerometer-measured physical activity. In Study IV, physical activity was also assessed using hip-worn GT3X+ and wGT3X+ Actigraph accelerometers (Pensacola, Florida, USA). The measurement period was 7 days, and the participants were required to wear the device for at least 10 hours on 3 days (Hyvärinen et al., 2020). The participants also logged their wake-up times, working hours, and nonwearing periods of more than 30 minutes. Raw acceleration data were collected at 60 Hz, filtered, and then converted into 60-second epoch counts. Tri-axial vector magnitude cutoff points of 450, 2,690, and 6,166 counts per minute were used to differentiate between light, moderate, and vigorous intensities of physical activity, respectively (Laakkonen, Kulmala, et al., 2017; Sasaki et al., 2011).

# 4.2.3 Age

In the ERMA cohort, the date of birth was derived from the Population Information System, while in the other studies, the participants reported their birth dates. The age of the participants at the time of measurement was determined by calculating the time between birth and the measurement date.

In *Study II*, age categories were created following Pontzer et al. (2021), where it was found that FFM- and FM-adjusted REE and TEE declined to adult levels at 18.0 (95% CI, 16.8–19.2) and 20.5 years of age (95% CI, 19.8–21.2), respectively. The decline then began again after 46.5 (95% CI, 40.6–52.4) and 63.0 years of age (95% CI, 60.1–65.9), respectively. Therefore, participants aged 18~21 years old were assigned to group I, participants aged 22~39 years old were assigned to group II, and participants aged 40~60 years old were assigned to group III.

# 4.2.4 Serum metabolome

In *Study I*, 250 metabolite measures were quantified from the same fasting blood samples as the sex hormones using high-throughput proton NMR spectroscopy (Nightingale Health Plc, Helsinki, Finland; biomarker quantification version 2020). The quantification process has been described previously (Soininen et al., 2015; Würtz et al., 2017). Of the 250 metabolites, 180 were selected as the primary outcomes for the present study. Lipoprotein lipid ratios were excluded because they were found to contain partially overlapping information with lipoprotein lipid concentrations and did not add significant new information to the study's objectives. This decision was made to maximize statistical power when analyzing metabolite concentration changes during the menopausal transition, given the relatively small sample size of the study.

# 4.2.5 Resting energy expenditure

All indirect calorimetry data were collected in a thermoneutral laboratory using the Vmax Encore 92 metabolic cart (Sensormedics, Yorba Linda, CA, USA). The cart was calibrated following the manufacturer's instructions before each measurement. The resting measurements were conducted using the same ventilated hood. The participants were instructed to lie still, keep their eyes open, and the laboratory lighting was dimmed. Resting and measurement periods varied between studies, with resting periods ranging from 0 to 30 minutes and measurement periods ranging from 15 to 30 minutes. Data from the first 5–10 minutes were excluded. In all studies, REE was calculated using data from at least 5-minute steady-state period, where the CV of  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$  was no more than 10% (Fullmer et al., 2015). REE was calculated with the modified Weir equation (Weir, 1990):

REE 
$$(kcal/d) = (3.941 \times \dot{V}O_2 + 1.106 \times \dot{V}CO_2) \times 1440$$

REE was made comparable between individuals using the residual method. A linear regression model was applied, with REE as the outcome and FFM/LM and FM as the explanatory variables. No *ln*-transformation was required for FFM/LM and FM because all participants were within the range where FFM/LM

and REE have a linear relationship, and this was also visually confirmed. The residuals were obtained for each participant, showing the deviation of measured REE from estimated values. The models generated, including the regression co-efficients, were as follows:

*Study II:* REE (kcal/d) = 413.4 + 20.2 × FFM (kg) + 1.7 × FM (kg) *Study III:* REE (kcal/d) = 374.4 + 20.6 × LM (kg) + 7.6 × FM (kg)

### 4.2.6 Fat oxidation at rest and during exercise

In *Studies III* and *IV*, RFO was calculated from the same gas exchange data used for the REE calculation, here by using the Frayn equation, with the assumption that nitrogen excretion is negligible (Frayn, 1983):

Fat oxidation (g/min) = 
$$1.67 \times \dot{V}O_2 - 1.67 \times \dot{V}CO_2$$

As can be observed by comparing the Weir and Frayn equations, the Frayn equation is more sensitive to factors influencing the relationship between oxygen uptake and CO<sub>2</sub> excretion than the Weir equation. In healthy individuals, RER should fall below 0.91 while fasting (Fullmer et al., 2015). Thus, this value was used as an RFO measurement acceptance criterion in *Studies III* and *IV*. Three women were excluded from *Study IV* and were included in *Study II* because slight hyperventilation does not affect REE as much as RFO.

The exercise tests in *Studies III* and *IV* were conducted using the same bicycle ergometer (Ergoselect 200, Ergoline GmbH, Germany) while continuously monitoring participants' electrocardiograms to ensure their safety; however, the test protocols varied between the studies. In *Study III*, testing began with 2-minute workloads at 20 and 25 W, followed by an increment of 25 W every 2 minutes until exhaustion. Data from the last 30 seconds of each stage were used for calculations. Steady-state achievement in gas exchange was determined by comparing  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$  between 1:30 and 1:45 and 1:46 and 2:00 minutes. Three participants who did not reach a steady state were excluded from a sensitivity analysis, which indicated that their inclusion in the primary analyses did not significantly affect the results.

In *Study IV*, the test protocol was designed using evidence from participants with low cardiorespiratory fitness (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2018; Dandanell et al., 2017) and was fine-tuned through pilot testing. The test began at 20 W, and the workload was increased by 20 W every 4 minutes until the participants reached RER 1.0 or the seventh stage. Gas exchange data from the last 60 seconds of each stage were extracted, and steady-state achievement was confirmed by comparing  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$  between 3:00 and 3:30 and 3:30 and 4:00 minutes. Fat oxidation was calculated for stages where the steady-state assumption was met with the Frayn equation. In both studies, the highest measured fat oxidation rate was selected as the PFO.
## 4.2.7 Total energy expenditure

In *Study II*, TEE data were obtained from a subset of participants from the Calex study. On the first assessment day, the participants provided fasted urine samples, ingested a DLW dose of 1 g/kg, and provided a second sample 4–6 hours later. The third sample was collected 14 days later after overnight fasting. Sample analysis was conducted in triplicate at the University of Alabama (Birmingham, USA) using a Metabolic Solutions Inc. mass spectrometer (Merrimack, NH, USA). TEE was calculated following a methodology described previously (Schoeller et al., 1986; Schoeller & Hnilicka, 1996).

## 4.2.8 Glycemic control and insulin sensitivity

In *Studies III* and *IV*, a 2-hour OGTT protocol was used with blood samples taken every 30 minutes, with the exception that *Study III* did not collect a 90-minute sample. The participants were required to fast before providing blood samples, following which they ingested a solution containing 75 g of glucose (GlucosePro, Comed Oy, Ylöjärvi, Finland). The plasma glucose concentrations were analyzed using the Konelab 20 XT (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland). The serum insulin concentrations were analyzed in *Study III* using the IMMULITE 1000 and in *Study IV* using the IMMULITE 2000XPi (Siemens Medical Solution Diagnostics, Los Angeles, CA, USA). The primary outcomes were insulin sensitivity and glycemic control. Insulin sensitivity was assessed using the Matsuda index (Matsuda & DeFronzo, 1999), which is a surrogate outcome that uses both fasting and postprandial glucose and insulin concentrations. The index was calculated using an available Microsoft Excel file (<u>http://mmatsuda.diabetes-smc.jp</u>). Glycemic control was assessed by calculating the total glucose AUC using the trapezoidal method. The AUC was also calculated for insulin.

## 4.3 Assessment of covariates

## 4.3.1 Body composition

In *Studies II–IV*, body composition was assessed using a dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry scanner (DXA Prodigy, GE Lunar Corp., Madison, WI, USA). In *Study I*, body fat percentage was measured using bioelectrical impedance analysis (InBody720, Biospace, Seoul, Korea). *Study IV* used the same equipment to identify body composition changes between laboratory visits.

### 4.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness

In *Studies III* and *IV*, cardiorespiratory fitness and PFO were assessed during the same exercise testing session. *Study III* participants continued the 2-minute workloads with 25 W increments until volitional exhaustion. Gas exchange was

recorded using 30-second rolling averages, and the highest  $\dot{V}O_2$  recording was selected as the  $\dot{V}O_{2PEAK}$ . The maximal test performance criteria were a rate of perceived exertion of 19–20 or RER of greater than 1.1 at the final stage. Four participants were unable to complete the maximal test because of health reasons, and their  $\dot{V}O_{2PEAK}$  was extrapolated based on  $\dot{V}O_2$ , heart rate recordings and estimated maximal heart rate.

In *Study IV*, the exercise test consisted of two phases: PFO and  $\dot{VO}_{2PEAK}$ . The participants transitioned to the  $\dot{VO}_{2PEAK}$  phase immediately after the PFO phase. The ramp method was chosen to minimize the fatiguing effect of increasing workloads. The phase started at 100 W, and the workload was increased by 1 W every 3 seconds until volitional exhaustion or until the participant could not maintain the instructed cadence of  $70 \pm 5$  rpm. Gas exchange was recorded using 10-second rolling averages, and  $\dot{VO}_{2PEAK}$  was determined as the 30-second period with the highest  $\dot{VO}_2$ . Additionally, the maximal work capacity ( $W_{MAX}$ ) the participant reached was recorded as an alternative measure of cardiorespiratory fitness. The participants reached their maximum well based on a RER<sub>MAX</sub> cutoff of  $\geq$  1.10 and an age-predicted maximal heart rate (210-age) with a cutoff of  $\geq$  99% (Wagner et al., 2020), with the exception of one PRE/PERI woman who did not quite reach the criteria.

### 4.3.3 Dietary intake and diet quality

In *Study IV*, the participants filled food diaries for 2 days prior to the resting and exercise metabolism measurements. Energy and macronutrient intake were subsequently calculated using the AivoDiet software (Aivo Finland Oy, Turku, Finland). The food quotient was employed to describe the metabolizable RER of the diet and calculated as per (Elia, 1991):

Food quotient = [0.71 × fat intake (kcal/d) + 0.835 × protein intake (kcal/d) + 1.0 × carbohydrate intake (kcal/d)] / energy intake (kcal/d)

In *Study I*, dietary habits were assessed at the beginning and end of the follow-up period using a food frequency questionnaire comprising 45 foods commonly consumed in Finland. An 11-item scale was employed to evaluate diet quality, as modified from a validated tool (Masip et al., 2019) and based on the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2012). The scale awarded points for regular consumption of whole grains, low-fat dairy, vegetables, fruits and berries, nuts and seeds, and fish, while infrequent consumption of highly processed baked goods, sweet and salty snack foods, fast food, sugary beverages, and processed meats also earned points. The maximum possible score was 11.

#### 4.3.4 Lipolysis-related metabolites

In *Study IV*, concentrations of NEFA were analyzed using the Indiko clinical chemistry analyzer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland). In *Studies III* and

*IV*, concentrations of glycerol and 3-hydroxybutyrate were analyzed using the NMR metabolomics technology (Nightingale Health Plc, Helsinki, Finland), as previously described.

#### 4.3.5 Education level, smoking status, and use of alcohol

In *Study I*, the participants' education level, smoking status, and alcohol use were assessed using a structured questionnaire. The questionnaire was completed at every follow-up visit. Education was assessed with a single question and categorized into primary, secondary, and tertiary levels. In the statistical analyses, the two lowest categories were combined because of the small sample size of the first category.

Regarding smoking status, the participants were first asked if they had ever smoked more than 5–10 cigarettes in their lifetime. Those who answered no were classified as never smokers. Those who answered yes were then asked if they currently smoked regularly. If they answered no, they were classified as a quitter; if they answered yes, they were classified as a current smoker. For the statistical analyses, dummy variables were created to indicate whether the participant had ever smoked and whether they currently smoked.

Alcohol use was assessed by asking participants about their weekly consumption of three different types of alcohol-containing beverages (beer, cider, long drinks; wine; spirits) with seven answer options. Alcohol portions (12 g of alcohol per portion) were calculated and added together to express the participant's alcohol consumption per week.

## 4.4 Ethical considerations

All studies in the present thesis were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Central Finland Health Care District (Calex, memo 22/8/2008 and 5/2009; ERMA, 8U/2014; EsmiRs, 9U/2018; FITFATTWIN, 4U/2011; Physique, 19U/2918) or the Ethics Committee of the University of Jyväskylä (NO RED-S, 514/13.00.04.00/2021) for all studies. The participants provided informed consent, and their anonymity and safety were protected throughout all phases of the studies.

## 4.5 Statistical analyses

The R statistical environment (R Core Team, 2022) version 4.0.5 or higher was used for statistical analyses, unless otherwise stated. Descriptive data are presented as the means with standard deviations, medians with interquartile ranges, or frequencies with percentiles. Before accepting the results, the assumptions of the modeling approaches were confirmed. The R code used to generate results in *Study II* can be accessed at <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7446075</u> and for *Study IV* at <u>https://osf.io/afmu7/</u>. To enhance readability, the findings are presented using point estimates and corresponding *P*-values. The CIs for the key results can be found in the original publications.

### 4.5.1 Data transformations

The distributions of hormone and metabolite concentrations are often skewed, and the variables typically produce non-normally distributed residuals. In *Study I*, the metabolite measures were Box–Cox transformed using the lambda parameter estimated for each variable separately with the *MASS* package version 7.3–54 (W. N. Venables & Ripley, 2002). The metabolite measures were standardized to their baseline mean and SD to facilitate a comparison of the results between metabolites with different units and concentrations. In *Study IV*, E2 concentrations and OGTT-derived variables were *ln*-transformed to meet the residual normality assumption.

## 4.5.2 Longitudinal analyses

In *Study I*, linear mixed effects models were employed to investigate changes in metabolite concentrations over time, with participant identification as a random effect. The *nlme* package (Pinheiro et al., 2022) was used for all linear mixed effect modeling. The associations between MHT and metabolite measures were examined by incorporating time and MHT interaction as the exposure. The impact of the menopausal hormonal shift, either directly or indirectly through changes in fat percentage, on changes in metabolite outcomes was examined using latent change score modeling in Mplus (version 7.4) (FIGURE 9). The model can be viewed as an extension of the paired *t*-test, where the metabolite change is controlled for the first measurement value. The model was applied for each metabolite separately, with the results showing the proportion of the metabolite measure change that can be attributed to the menopausal hormonal shift.

Because of the large number of metabolite outcomes, multiple statistical testing was required. However, many metabolite measures were highly correlated, and classical multiple correction methods such as the Bonferroni correction are too conservative in this scenario (Würtz et al., 2017). To address multiple testing when analyzing the influence of natural menopause and MHT, the Keff–Šidák correction (Moskvina & Schmidt, 2008) was used because it performed the best in the simulation experiments. False discovery rate correction was used when studying the associations between menopausal hormonal shift and metabolite changes.



FIGURE 9 Effects of interest in the conceptual model between estradiol (E2) and folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) concentrations, body fat percentage (BF%), and metabolite measure change.

#### 4.5.3 Cross-sectional analyses

In *Study II*, differences in residual REE between middle-aged women and younger age groups were tested while accounting for the familial relationship between Calex participants, here by using a linear mixed effects model with family identification as a random effect and the middle-aged group as the reference. Residual REE differences between menopause groups were compared using linear regression with postmenopausal women as the reference. Since tissue mass variables may explain REE differently among women of varying ages, additional regression models were generated using measured REE as the outcome, menopause status or sex hormone concentrations as the explanatory variable, and FFM, FM, and age as covariates.

In *Study III*, the original publication compared the differences between physically active discordant cotwins using a paired samples *t*-test in IBM SPSS Statistics 24.0. However, this method does not allow for covariate adjustment. Therefore, the energy metabolism outcomes were divided by LM to analyze the mass-relative differences. However, ratio scaling produces accurate results only when the regression line between the outcome and exposure variables passes the origin (Tanner, 1949). During the writing of the present thesis, the analyses were repeated using linear mixed effects models with twin pair identification as a random effect. The reanalyses did not change the results, which is understandable because the cotwins had relatively similar tissue masses. Therefore, the results from the original publication are presented here. Twin individual-based analyses were performed with linear regression in Stata 15.0.

The violation of independence assumption was taken into account with the clustering option of Stata using twin pair identification as the clustering variable.

*Studies II* and *III* also analyzed familial dependence on the metabolism outcomes by estimating intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) using one-way random-effects models generated with the *psych* package (Revelle, 2022). This method compares intrapair variation to interpair variation. The ICC is 0 when an individual resembles a member of another pair as much as their family member and 1 when family members are identical in the outcome studied (Bogardus et al., 1986).

In *Study IV*, the differences in fat oxidation between the menopause groups were compared using an analysis of variance or covariance models generated with the *jmv* package (Ravi et al., 2020). Exploratory analysis between the HIGH E2 and POST groups and association analyses between continuous variables were performed using linear regression.

# 5 **RESULTS**

## 5.1 Participants

*Study I* involved participants who were between 47 and 55 years old at the beginning of the study (TABLE 3). Those participants who began using MHT during the follow-up were found to be younger and had lower serum FSH concentrations compared with those who did not start MHT. The follow-up period for each participant was individualized and ranged from 4 months to 3.5 years. During this time, the participants decreased their alcohol consumption, and their body fat percentage increased on average by 1%. The changes in body fat percentage were similar for participants who did and did not start using MHT. Detailed information on body composition changes can be found in Juppi et al. (2020, 2022).

	Natural meno	pause ( $n = 183$ )	MHT starters ( $n = 35$ )		
	Baseline	Follow-up	Baseline	Follow-up	
Age, y	51.9 (1.9)	53.1 (1.9)	50.6 (1.8)	52.0 (1.9)	
Follow-up duration, d		397 (243-603)		464 (334-707)	
HT use duration, d		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		220 (191-242)	
Sex hormones					
E2, nmol/l	0.25	0.16	0.25	0.28	
	(0.17 - 0.41)	(0.11-0.27)	(0.18 - 0.42)	(0.20 - 0.61)	
FSH, IU/1	30	70	23	36	
	(23-49)	(47-90)	(17-36)	(18-60)	
Education					
Primary	5 (3%)	5 (3%)	1 (3%)	1 (3%)	
Secondary	100 (55%)	100 (55%)	15 (43%)	15 (43%)	
Tertiary	78 (42%)	78 (43%)	19 (54%)	19 (54%)	
Body composition					
Height, cm	165.1 (5.7)	-	166.3 (5.5)	-	
Body mass, kg	69.5 (11.3)	70.2 (11.6)	70.4 (10.2)	70.5 (10.8)	
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>					
< 25	92 (50%)	85 (46%)	20 (57%)	19 (54%)	
25–29.9	66 (36%)	71 (39%)	10 (29%)	12 (34%)	
≥ 30	25 (14%)	27 (15%)	5 (14%)	4 (11%)	
Percent body fat, %	30.9 (8.3)	32.1 (8.0)	30.5 (7.1)	31.4 (6.3)	
Smoking					
Never	122 (67%)	122 (67%)	26 (74%)	26 (74%)	
Quitter	49 (27%)	50 (28%)	6 (17%)	5 (14%)	
Smoker	12 (7%)	11 (6%)	3 (9%)	4 (11%)	
Alcohol use, portions/wk	3.0 (1.0-5.0)	2.5 (1.0-5.0)	4.5 (2.5-5.8)	2.5 (1.0-4.9)	
Diet quality score, 0–11	5.7 (2.3)	5.5 (2.1)	5.5 (2.4)	5.6 (2.4)	
Physical activity, MET-h/d	3.6 (1.7-4.8)	3.8 (2.3-5.6)	4.5 (1.8-7.5)	4.8 (2.5-7.5)	

TABLE 3Participant characteristics at the beginning and end of the follow-up in *Study*I.

Data as means (standard deviation), medians (interquartile range), or counts (%). E2, estradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; MET, metabolic equivalent of task; MHT,

menopausal hormone therapy

*Study II* included women who were between the ages of 17 and 58 (TABLE 4). Of these participants, 59 were middle-aged and represented different menopause groups. The PRE/PERI group women were slightly younger than those in the POST and MHT groups.

The participant characteristics of *Studies III* and *IV*, which included assessments of fat oxidation, are combined in TABLE 5. The participants in *Study III* were men between the ages of 32 and 37. The cotwins discordant for physical activity had a 205 kcal/d (P < 0.001) difference in AEE over the past 12 months. The more active cotwins had 1.4 kg higher LM (95% CI, -0.3 to 3.0) and 3.3 kg lower FM (95% CI -6.7 to 0.2) than their less active cotwins. When adjusted for LM, the more active cotwins also had 357 ml higher  $\dot{VO}_{2PEAK}$  (P < 0.001) than the less active cotwins. As reported in Rottensteiner et al. (2015), Matsuda index was also higher among the more active co-twins (P = 0.021).

In *Study IV*, the participants were women between the ages of 52 and 58, representing the different menopause groups, as in *Study II*. These groups did not differ in terms of age (P = 0.56), self-reported physical activity (P = 0.74), or body fat percentage (P = 0.46). As expected, the POST group had lower E2 and higher FSH concentrations compared with the PRE/PERI (both hormones P < 0.001) and MHT groups (E2; P < 0.001, FSH; P = 0.003). No notable changes in body composition were observed during the study period.

	Age groups ( $N = 120$ )			Menopause groups ( <i>n</i> = 59)			
	Ι	II	III	PRE/PERI	MHT	POST	
	<i>n</i> = 26	<i>n</i> = 35	<i>n</i> = 59	<i>n</i> = 19	<i>n</i> = 10	<i>n</i> = 30	
Age, y	19.8 (1.1)	28.2 (4.3)	53.8 (3.5)	50.7 (4.3)	55.1 (1.7)	55.3 (1.9)	
Sex hormones							
E2, nmol/l				0.29 (0.18-0.55)	0.29 (0.17-0.38)	0.09 (0.06-0.12)	
FSH, IU/1				8 (7-25)	38 (34-61)	80 (71-102)	
<b>Body composition</b>							
Height, cm	165.6 (5.6)	165.3 (5.8)	166.4 (5.0)	168.1 (4.6)	166.5 (5.6)	165.3 (4.8)	
Total mass, kg	65.0 (10.5)	64.5 (7.9)	68.5 (9.1)	69.1 (9.0)	71.3 (12.3)	67.1 (7.9)	
Fat-free mass, kg	44.2 (5.0)	49.8 (5.3)	44.2 (4.2)	45.6 (4.1)	43.4 (4.2)	43.6 (4.1)	
Fat mass, kg	20.9 (8.2)	14.7 (5.8)	24.2 (7.3)	23.6 (7.8)	27.9 (8.4)	23.4 (6.4)	
Body fat %	31 (8)	23 (7)	36 (7)	35 (8)	40 (5)	36 (6)	
Resting energy exp	enditure						
Measured, kcal/d	1,430 (110)	1,474 (146)	1,286 (124)	1,323 (105)	1,249 (143)	1,276 (128)	
Predicted, kcal/d <sup>p</sup>	1,339 (104)	1,442 (107)	1,345 (87)	1,372 (84)	1,335 (98)	1,332 (85)	
Predicted, kcal/d <sup>\$</sup>	1,440 (103)	1,467 (94)	1,286 (92)	1,322 (86)	1,283 (115)	1,264 (84)	
Total energy expen	diture		. ,		. /	. /	
Measured, kcal/d	2,162 (310), <i>n</i> = 1	10	2,148 (236), $n = 10$				

TABLE 4 Participant characteristics and energy expenditures across age and menopause groups in *Study II*.

Data as means (standard deviation) or medians (interquartile range)

° FFM and FM, <sup>\$</sup> FFM, FM, and age

E2, estradiol; FFM, fat-free mass; FM, fat mass; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; MHT, menopausal hormone therapy; POST, postmenopause; PRE/PERI, premenopause or perimenopause

	Study III			Study IV			
	All	More active	Less active	All	PRE/PERI	POST	MHT
	(N = 46)	(n = 10)	(n = 10)	(N = 42)	(n = 7)	(n = 22)	(n = 9)
Age, y	34.5 (1.5)	33.9 (1.3)	33.9 (1.3)	55.3 (1.6)	54.9 (1.5)	55.6 (1.6)	55.4 (1.4)
E2, nmol/1				0.11 (0.06-0.25)	0.18 (0.15-0.22)	0.06 (0.05-0.09)	0.27 (0.25-0.42)
FSH, IU/1				66 (37)	21 (14)	89 (32)	50 (26)
Body composition							
Height, cm	178 (7.5)	180 (5.4)	179 (5.2)	166.0 (4.9)	166.7 (4.6)	165.8 (5.0)	166.6 (6.0)
Body mass, kg	76.7 (9.8)	76.0 (8.5)	78.0 (12.7)	67.8 (8.1)	69.9 (8.9)	67.2 (7.7)	68.9 (10.1)
Percent body fat, %	21.4 (6.7)	20.7 (4.0)	24.0 (4.6)	36.5 (5.5)	36.4 (5.1)	36.3 (5.8)	38.9 (4.4)
Physical activity							
Short index, MET-h/d	3.0 (1.2-6.5)	4.3 (3.0-6.2)	1.2 (1.1–1.7)	4.5 (2.3-7.5)	4.5 (3.4-6.8)	4.4 (2.3–7.5)	2.9 (1.5-4.5)
12 mo index, MET-h/d	3.0 (1.4-5.0)	3.9 (3.2-4.4)	0.7 (0.5–1.9)				
ACCEL, MVPA min/d				49.0 (26.0)	71.5 (28.8)	49.2 (23.6)	32.4 (15.8)
Glucose regulation	n = 44						
Glucose AUC, mmol/l/h	11.6 (9.8–12.9)	4.6 (4.1-5.3)	5.5 (3.8–5.7)	12.6 (11.3-14.5)	13.8 (12.0–15.0)	12.3 (10.8–13.5)	16.0 (13.8-16.4)
Matsuda index	10.2 (7.9–23.4)	11.2 (9.0-41.6)	9.1 (8.1-9.6)	7.3 (5.4–9.4)	8.5 (6.9-10.7)	7.2 (5.4–11.1)	6.3 (3.7-8.8)
Resting metabolism	<i>n</i> = 43	<i>n</i> = 9	<i>n</i> = 9	<i>n</i> = 39	<i>n</i> = 5	<i>n</i> = 21	
REE, kcal/d	1685 (190)	1735 (187)	1675 (191)				
RER	0.82 (0.04)	0.82 (0.03)	0.80 (0.03)	0.83 (0.03)	0.83 (0.03)	0.84 (0.03)	0.81 (0.02)
RFO, g/min	0.075 (0.017)	0.075 (0.017)	0.079 (0.016)	0.050 (0.010)	0.053 (0.009)	0.048 (0.010)	0.054 (0.009)
RFO, mg/kg LM/min	1.31 (0.29)	1.31 (0.29)	1.40 (0.29)	1.22 (0.23)	1.25 (0.19)	1.18 (0.25)	1.34 (0.18)
Exercise metabolism	<i>n</i> = 41	<i>n</i> = 9	<i>n</i> = 9	<i>n</i> = 40			<i>n</i> = 7
॑VO₂ <sub>РЕАК</sub> , ml∕kg LM/min	55 (8)	58 (5)	52 (5)	52 (7)	51 (5)	53 (8)	48 (6)
PFO, g/min	0.39 (0.14)	0.46 (0.20)	0.38 (0.12)	0.22 (0.07)	0.23 (0.10)	0.22 (0.06)	0.21 (0.05)
PFO, mg/kg LM/min	6.8 (2.2)	8.0 (3.1)	6.9 (1.8)	5.3 (1.4)	5.4 (2.1)	5.3 (1.3)	5.0 (1.2)
FAT <sub>MAX</sub> , ( $\dot{VO}_{2PEAK}$ )	40 (10)	40 (9)	43 (8)	34 (9)	37 (15)	33 (8)	33 (5)

TABLE 5Participant characteristics and energy metabolism outcomes in *Studies III* and *IV*.

Data as means (standard deviation) or medians (interquartile ranges)

ACCEL, accelerometery; AUC, area under the curve; E2, estradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; LM, lean mass; MET, metabolic equivalent of task; MHT, menopausal hormone therapy; MVPA, moderate-to-vigorous physical activity; PFO, peak fat oxidation; POST, postmenopause; PRE/PERI, premenopause or perimenopause; REE, resting energy expenditure; RER, respiratory equation ratio; RFO, resting fat oxidation; VO<sub>2PEAK</sub>, peak oxygen uptake

 $\mathcal{E}$ 

## 5.2 Serum metabolome (Study I)

#### 5.2.1 Natural menopause

The women who experienced natural menopause had a statistically significant change in 85 of the 180 metabolite measures that were studied. The key findings are presented in FIGURE 10. The number of apoB-containing particles increased, reflecting increases in VLDL and LDL particles. Additionally, VLDL particle size and the amount of VLDL-carried triglycerides and cholesterol increased. IDL and LDL cholesterol also increased. The results concerning HDL measures were uncertain, with the exception of HDL triglycerides, which increased. The profile of serum fatty acids changed in favor of SFAs over PUFAs. At the concentration level, linoleic acid (-0.32 SD, P = 0.001) and docosahexaenoic acid (-0.21 SD, P = 0.023) decreased. Glycerol and glutamine concentrations increased, while citrate, leucine, acetoacetate, and 3-hydroxybutyrate concentrations decreased.

Adjusting for body fat percentage reduced the association sizes of lipoprotein measures and glycerol and amino acid concentrations by 0.03–0.05 SDs. On the other hand, the associations between menopause, fatty acid ratios, and concentrations of citrate and ketone bodies were unaffected by the adjustment. In a sensitivity analysis, data from 28 participants whose amenorrhea had lasted less than 6 months were excluded. All reported associations strengthened. Notably, the association between menopause and an increased small HDL particle number (0.24 SD, P = 0.037) reached statistical significance.



 $K_{eff}$ -Šidák-corrected  $-P < 0.05 - P \ge 0.05$ 

FIGURE 10 The associations of menopause with key metabolite outcomes (n = 183). The dots represent metabolite changes during follow-up in standard deviation (SD) units and whiskers 95% confidence intervals (CI). The metabolite changes are adjusted for age at the first measurement, follow-up duration, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, physical activity level, and diet quality. The figure is republished from Karppinen et al. (2022) under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). BCAA; branch-chained amino acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LA, linoleic acid; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; SFA, saturated fatty acid; TG/PG, triglyceride/phosphoglyceride; VLDL, very low-density lipoprotein.

#### 5.2.2 Menopausal hormonal shift

Of the 85 menopause-associated metabolite changes observed in the primary analysis, 64 were found to be directly linked to the menopausal hormonal shift. The results of key metabolites are shown in FIGURE 11. The shift explained 7.4% of the increase in apoB, 8.5% of the increase in LDL particles, and 10.6% of the increase in LDL cholesterol. Despite the noticeable change in VLDL measures during the follow-up, the shift only explained 4.0% of the increase in VLDL particle number and 2.9% of the increase in VLDL triglyceride concentration. Additionally, the menopausal hormonal shift explained the rise in glutamine (2.4%), the decreases in citrate (5.0%), 3-hydroxybutyrate (4.4%), and acetoacetate (3.4%) concentrations, as well as the decrease in the linoleic acid ratio (3.4%). However, no associations between menopausal hormonal shift and metabolite changes were observed through body fat percentage mediation. This occurred because the changes in sex hormone concentrations were not associated with changes in body fat percentage, which would require the pathway (FIGURE 9) to be causal.



FIGURE 11 The associations of menopausal hormonal shift with key metabolite changes adjusted for age at the first measurement, follow-up duration, education, smoking, alcohol use, physical activity, and diet quality. 3-OHB, 3-hydroxybutyrate; Ala, alanine; BCAA; branch-chained amino acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; Gln, glutamine; Gly, glycine; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; His, histidine; Ile, isoleucine; LA, linoleic acid; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; Leu, leucine; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid; Phe, phenylalanine; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; SFA, saturated fatty acid; TG/PG, triglyceride/phosphoglyceride; Tyr, tyrosine; Val, valine; VLDL, very low density lipoprotein. \* P < 0.05; \*\* P < 0.01 are false discovery rate corrected. The figure is republished from Karppinen et al. (2022) under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### 5.2.3 Menopausal hormone therapy

MHT was primarily associated with changes in lipoprotein measures (TABLE 6). Specifically, the use of MHT was linked to an increase in the apoB/A-I ratio, which was achieved through an increase in larger HDL particles and a decrease in smaller LDL particles. Additionally, MHT was also associated with a reduction in glycine concentration. Notably here, adjusting for body fat percentage did not impact these results.

TABLE 6Menopause and menopausal hormone therapy interactions with key metabolite outcomes. The table is republished from Karppinen et al. (2022) under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (<a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</a>).

	Crude	model		Adjus	Adjusted model #		
Metabolite	Int	99.95% CI	Р	Int	99.95% CI	Р	
ApoB/apoA-I ratio	-0.54	-0.86 to -0.21	< 0.001	-0.55	-0.88 to -0.22	< 0.001	
Apolipoprotein A-I	0.51	0.08 to 0.93	0.005	0.55	0.13 to 0.97	0.001	
Glycine	-0.46	-0.80 to -0.11	0.001	-0.46	-0.80 to -0.12	0.001	
M HDL particles	0.54	0.10 to 0.97	0.003	0.58	0.15 to 1.01	0.001	
L HDL particles	0.35	0.06 to 0.64	0.004	0.36	0.07 to 0.66	0.002	
HDL cholesterol	0.36	0.02 to 0.70	0.028	0.39	0.05 to 0.74	0.008	
HDL diameter	0.35	0.05 to 0.65	0.007	0.35	0.04 to 0.74	0.009	
S LDL particles	-0.41	-0.76 to -0.05	0.005	-0.44	-0.83 to -0.05	0.011	
LDL particles	0.31	-0.76 to -0.05	0.010	-0.39	-0.75 to -0.03	0.020	
M LDL particles	-0.39	-0.74 to -0.03	0.017	-0.37	-0.77 to -0.01	0.039	

<sup>#</sup> age at the first measurement, follow-up duration, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, physical activity, and diet quality.

HDL, high-density lipoprotein; Int, interaction; L, large; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; M, medium; S, small. The confidence intervals and *P*-values were Keff-Šidák-corrected for multiple comparisons.

## 5.3 Resting energy expenditure (Studies II and III)

Residuals refer to those derived from the FFM/LM- and FM-adjusted models unless otherwise specified.

#### 5.3.1 Determinants

In *Studies II* and *III*, the proportion of variance in REE explained by FFM or LM and FM was 47% and 61%, respectively. When age was included in the analysis, the adjusted  $R^2$  in *Study II* improved to 0.68. The ICCs for measured REE and residual REE in 16 mother–daughter pairs were 0.22 (P = 0.19) and 0.05 (P = 0.42), respectively, and the ICC for FFM, FM, and age-adjusted residual REE was 0.41 (P = 0.046). Additionally, ICCs for measured TEE and residual TEE in 10 daughter–mother pairs were 0.83 and 0.92, respectively (P < 0.001 for both

coefficients). In *Study III*, ICCs for measured REE, LM-relative REE, and residual REE in 21 MZ twin pairs were 0.58 (P = 0.002), 0.59 (P = 0.001), and 0.36 (P = 0.039), respectively.

#### 5.3.2 Age

In *Study II*, age was inversely associated with residual REE (B = -3.9, P < 0.001), with the oldest group having 126 and 89 kcal/d lower REE than the younger groups I and II, respectively (FIGURE 12A). Furthermore, middle-aged mothers were found to have significantly lower residual REE compared with their daughters (-100 kcal/d; P < 0.001; n = 16 pairs), but no clear difference in TEE was observed (B = -26 kcal/d; P = 0.82; n = 10 pairs).

#### 5.3.3 Menopause and sex hormones levels

The POST group did not have lower residual REE than the PRE/PERI or MHT groups (FIGURE 12B). This conclusion remained unchanged when using the middle-aged subsample-specific models that controlled for FFM, FM, and age. The MHT group had even lower REE by 58.4 kcal/d (P = 0.025) compared with the POST group. In *Study II* middle-aged women, neither serum E2 (B = 5.2, P = 0.89) nor FSH concentrations (B = 0.2, P = 0.43) were found to be significantly associated with REE, as shown by the results adjusted for FFM, FM, and age.



FIGURE 12 Comparison of fat-free mass and fat mass-adjusted residual resting energy expenditure (REE) among (A) age and (B) menopause groups. Box plots show group means and standard deviations. MHT, menopausal hormone therapy; Ns, nonsignificant; POST, postmenopausal; PRE/PERI, premenopausal or perimenopausal; Ref, reference; \*\*\* P < 0.001.

#### 5.3.4 Physical activity

In the physical activity discordant MZ twin pairs of *Study III*, there were no apparent differences observed in measured or residual REE between the cotwins (FIGURE 13). Additionally, neither the 12-month MET index ( $\beta$  = 0.089, *P* = 0.60)

nor the 3-year short MET index ( $\beta$  = -0.032, *P* = 0.82) were found to have a clear association with residual REE.



FIGURE 13 Comparison of (A) measured and (B) fat-free mass and fat mass-adjusted residual resting energy expenditure (REE) between physical activity discordant cotwins. The boxplots show group means with standard deviations. Ns., nonsignificant.

### 5.4 Fat oxidation at rest and during exercise (Studies III and IV)

All the results presented have been adjusted for LM unless otherwise specified.

#### 5.4.1 Resting fat oxidation determinants

In *Study III*, ICCs for RFO calculated as g/min and g/kg LM/min were 0.54 (P = 0.004) and 0.57 (P = 0.003), respectively. Although no statistically significant associations between body composition and RFO were observed in the men in *Study III*, *Study IV* found that a higher FM was positively associated with RFO in middle-aged women ( $\beta = 0.44$ ; P = 0.006). Diet was not recorded in *Study III*. However, in *Study IV*, the energy intake on the 2 previous days before the measurement was negatively associated with RFO ( $\beta = -0.40$ ; P = 0.019). Together, LM, FM, and energy intake explained 40% of the variance in RFO (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.35$ ; P < 0.001). These variables were considered the main determinants of RFO.

Both studies found that higher serum 3-hydroxybutyrate concentrations were positively associated with RFO (*Study III*:  $\beta$  = 0.54; *P* < 0.001 and *Study IV*:  $\beta$  = 0.52; *P* < 0.001). *Study IV* also measured serum NEFA concentrations, which were found to be positively associated with RFO ( $\beta$  = 0.46; *P* < 0.003).

#### 5.4.2 Peak fat oxidation determinants

In *Study III*, ICCs for PFO calculated as g/min and g/kg LM/min were 0.67 (P < 0.001) and 0.59 (P = 0.002), respectively. Both studies showed positive associations between LM and PFO (*Study III*:  $\beta = 0.41$ ; P = 0.007 and *Study IV*:  $\beta = 0.49$ ; P

= 0.002). The studies also found an association between cardiorespiratory fitness and PFO. In *Study III*,  $\dot{VO}_{2PEAK}$  was positively associated with absolute PFO ( $\beta$  = 0.51; P = 0.028); however, the association was not statistically significant when adjusted for LM ( $\beta$  = 0.43; P = 0.13). In *Study IV*, both  $\dot{VO}_{2PEAK}$  ( $\beta$  = 0.47; P = 0.006) and  $W_{MAX}$  ( $\beta$  = 0.59; P = 0.002) were positively associated with PFO.

In *Study IV*, the association between PFO and serum metabolites was evaluated both before and after exercise testing. The results showed that pretest concentrations of NEFA ( $\beta = 0.33$ ; P = 0.024) and glycerol ( $\beta = 0.31$ ; P = 0.024) were positively associated with PFO. Additionally, posttest glycerol concentration was positively associated with PFO ( $\beta = 0.42$ ; P = 0.003) even after adjusting for pretest values.

#### 5.4.3 Physical activity

In *Study III*, no apparent differences were observed in RFO or PFO between the physically more and less active MZ twins (FIGURE 14). When adjusted for LM, more active twins had -0.004 g/min (P = 0.38) lower RFO and 0.06 g/min (P = 0.24) higher PFO than their cotwins. Additionally, none of the physical activity variables were found to be associated with RFO in *Studies III* or *IV*. In *Study III*, a positive association was found between the 12-month MET index and PFO ( $\beta = 0.26$ , P = 0.034). However, this association attenuated after adjusting for LM. In *Study IV*, both self-reported short MET index ( $\beta = 0.37$ , P = 0.020) and accelerometer-measured physical activity ( $\beta = 0.35$ , P = 0.024) were positively associated with PFO. Including the self-reported short MET index in the PFO explanatory model along with LM and  $W_{MAX}$  slightly improved the adjusted  $R^2$  from 0.37 to 0.38 (P < 0.001 for both models). These variables were considered the main determinants of PFO.



FIGURE 14 Comparison of (A) resting fat oxidation (RFO) and (B) peak fat oxidation (PFO) between physical activity discordant cotwins. The boxplots show group means with standard deviations. Ns., nonsignificant.

#### 5.4.4 Menopause and sex hormone levels

In *Study IV*, menopausal status was not found to be associated with absolute RFO or PFO (FIGURE 15). These results remained unchanged when adjusted for LM (RFO: *F*[2,31] = 1.7; *P* = 0.20, PFO: *F*[2,32] = 0.18; *P* = 0.84) or their main determinants (RFO: *F*[2,29] = 0.25; *P* = 0.78, PFO: *F*[2,29] = 0.01; *P* = 0.99). Explorative analysis between the HIGH E2 and POST groups did not change the results. Furthermore, neither serum E2 concentration ( $\beta$  = 0.22, *P* = 0.17) nor serum FSH concentration ( $\beta$  = -0.21, *P* = 0.20) were found to be associated with RFO, and the same was true for PFO (E2:  $\beta$  = 0.01, *P* = 0.95, FSH:  $\beta$  = 0.16, *P* = 0.28). The inclusion of these hormones in the explanatory models for RFO and PFO did not improve the adjusted *R*<sup>2</sup> values beyond the main determinants of RFO and PFO.



FIGURE 15 Comparison of (A) resting fat oxidation (RFO) and (B) peak fat oxidation (PFO) among menopause groups. MHT, menopausal hormone therapy; POST, post-menopausal; PRE/PERI, premenopausal or perimenopausal. The boxplots show group means with standard deviations.

#### 5.4.5 Blood glucose regulation

The results concerning the primary outcomes are illustrated in FIGURE 16A–16D. No clear association was found between either RFO or PFO and the Matsuda index in *Studies III* or *IV*. However, in *Study IV*, a positive association was found between RFO and glucose AUC ( $\beta = 0.52$ , P = 0.002) as well as with insulin AUC ( $\beta = 0.42$ , P = 0.012). These associations remained unchanged after adjusting for fasting concentrations of NEFA, 3-hydroxybutyrate, glucose, or insulin (data not shown). In a sensitivity analysis of those participants with complete OGTT data, the association between RFO and glucose AUC remained statistically significant ( $\beta = 0.51$ , P = 0.007). In the men in *Study III*, a negative relationship was observed between insulin AUC and absolute PFO ( $\beta = -0.42$ , P = 0.015); however, this association was not statistically significant after adjusting for LM.



FIGURE 16 The associations between lean mass-relative resting fat oxidation (RFO) and peak fat oxidation (PFO) with glycemic control (A and C) and insulin sensitivity (B and D) in the studied men and women. Oral glucose tolerance test outcomes were *ln*-transformed to meet the residual normality assumption.

## 6 DISCUSSION

The present PhD thesis primarily investigated the associations between menopause and physical activity with whole-body metabolism, as measured by REE, fat oxidation at rest and during exercise, and the serum metabolome. The main finding was that the menopausal transition is associated with changes in the serum metabolome that are indicative of worsening cardiometabolic health. For the first time, the current thesis directly connected these changes in the serum metabolome to shifting sex hormone levels. A cross-sectional examination revealed that, even after adjusting for FFM and FM, REE declines in women from young to middle adulthood. However, neither middle-aged women with varying menopausal states nor long-term physically more and less active male MZ twins showed differences in REE or fat oxidation rates at rest or during exercise. Despite this, higher physical activity was found to be associated with higher PFO in middle-aged women.

The secondary aim of the current thesis was to investigate the assumption that higher RFO and PFO indicate a better ability to regulate blood glucose levels. The results did not support this premise. RFO was found to reflect the energy balance of the participants and, in middle-aged women, even predicted poorer glycemic control during a glucose challenge. No clear relationship was observed between PFO and glycemic control or insulin sensitivity. Overall, the present thesis highlights the complex interplay between menopause, physical activity, and whole-body metabolism, along with the need for further research.

#### 6.1 Menopause and serum metabolome

Menopause marks the end of the female reproductive life phase, resulting in the cessation of fertility and changes in hormonal balance that affect the functioning of cells beyond reproduction. Through *Study I*, where the women were followed from perimenopause to early postmenopause, the current thesis has demonstrated that menopause modulates metabolism, here at the level of the

serum metabolome. The changes in the metabolome were consistent with those associated with metabolic impairment and may partly explain the increased risk of cardiometabolic diseases such as CVD (Kannel et al., 1976; Muka et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2019) and T2D (Guo et al., 2019; Muka et al., 2017) observed in postmenopausal women in industrialized populations.

The findings can be summarized by the changes in both causal and system biomarkers. First, the increased number of apoB-containing lipoprotein particles, a known causal biomarker for CVD, has suggested that menopause may accelerate the development of atherosclerosis by increasing the propensity of these particles to enter and become trapped in arterial walls (Sniderman et al., 2019). This finding is consistent with previous research, such as the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation, which found that the number of apoB particles did not change in reproductive women until sharply increasing in the years leading up to and immediately following the final menstrual period (Matthews et al., 2021). Additionally, previous studies using the same NMR metabolomics technology have observed an association between menopause and increase in apoB particle number (Auro et al., 2014; Q. Wang et al., 2018). Of the apoB-containing lipoproteins, the menopausal hormonal shift was found to be particularly responsible for the increase in LDL particle numbers, while MHT protected against this increase. However, the same was not seen as clearly for VLDL particle numbers, suggesting that menopause impairs LDL particle clearance, possibly through mechanisms such as decreased LDL receptor activity (A. Karjalainen et al., 2000; Parini et al., 1997).

Second, system biomarkers provided evidence of wider-scale alterations in the metabolic state of women. The most noticeable change was the increase in VLDL particle number, size, and triglyceride load. These changes were accompanied by an increase in glycerol and decrease in ketone concentrations. Overall, this indicates that menopausal transition may cause an increase in adipose tissue lipolysis rate, perhaps because of decreasing insulin sensitivity, which can lead to an increase in NEFA availability in the liver. The NEFA seems to be primarily used for triglyceride synthesis rather than oxidation. Premenopausal women are more efficient at directing NEFA into oxidation and ketone production than men (Marinou et al., 2011), but this ability may be lost after menopause. The decrease in ketogenesis may also result from increased liver triglyceride accumulation (J. A. Fletcher et al., 2019). However, limitations of the study's body composition analysis have prevented further examination of these mechanisms at the organ level. Energy balance changes may also explain these findings, which will be discussed later.

Menopause was also associated with an increase in HDL triglyceride concentration, and the largest observed association was between menopausal hormonal shift and an increase in small HDL particles. This phenomenon has also been observed in the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (El Khoudary et al., 2021), where the shift toward smaller HDL particle size was related to the amount of visceral fat and was partly mediated by insulin resistance (Nasr et al., 2022). The increase in HDL triglycerides likely reflects triglyceride spillover from VLDL particles, which can reduce the capacity of HDL to remove cholesterol from the bloodstream (Vergès, 2015). Additionally, MHT was associated with an increase in larger HDL particle number and HDL cholesterol. Overall, these findings suggest that some of the protective functions of HDL may be lost after menopause.

The findings also indicate that menopause is associated with changes in specific amino acid concentrations, such as increased leucine and decreased glutamine. Together with the other mentioned system biomarkers, these changes align with the overall picture of overnutrition and metabolic deterioration. Indeed, the study participants gained an average of 0.8 kg of FM during the follow-up period (Juppi et al., 2022), indicating that most were in a sustained positive energy balance. However, the current thesis cannot establish the role of body composition in mediating the effects of menopause on serum metabolome because a hormonal shift was not associated with a change in body fat percentage. The use of visceral fat as a mediator could have produced different results, as menopause particularly seems to redistribute FM to central areas (Greendale et al., 2019; Juppi et al., 2022). This limitation of the modeling strategy should be noted. Nevertheless, the findings highlight that the impact of sex hormones may be more apparent at the molecular level than at the phenotypical level.

The question arising from the observed positive energy balance is whether it resulted from an increase in energy intake, a decrease in energy expenditure, or a combination of both. Although the effect of menopause on energy intake remains inconclusive, *Study I* offered some insights into the possibility of dietary changes during the menopausal transition. The study did not collect food diaries, and the crude food frequency-based scale indicated no changes in diet quality during follow-up. However, a shift in the serum fatty acid profile from a polyunsaturated to saturated direction was observed, primarily because of a decrease in linoleic acid concentration. Because the body does not synthesize linoleic acid and its circulating concentration reflects dietary intake (Hodson et al., 2008), it can be proposed that the diet of the participants changed to include more processed foods, which are typically high in SFA and energy density (Vellinga et al., 2022). This potential dietary change could explain the increase in FM, contributing to the observed changes in serum metabolome.

In contrast to menopause, physical activity protects cardiometabolic health (Pedersen & Saltin, 2015). Although the current thesis did not investigate whether engaging in physical activity could prevent menopause-associated changes in the serum metabolome, adjusting for self-reported physical activity had a negligible effect on the results from *Study I*. Additionally, other studies using clinical chemistry data from the ERMA women have shown that higher physical activity levels are not able to prevent the menopause-associated changes in lipid measures and fasting glucose (Hyvärinen et al., 2021; Karvinen et al., 2019). However, it remains to be seen whether the changes can be ameliorated if physical activity increases substantially during the menopausal transition.

### 6.2 Menopause, physical activity, and resting energy expenditure

With a cross-sectional examination of women of varying ages and menopause states, Study II aimed to determine whether the observed changes in serum metabolome and body composition in the women in Study I could be partly explained by reduced REE. The results showed that FFM- and FM-adjusted REE was lower in midlife than in earlier adulthood. This is consistent with previous studies showing that young premenopausal women have higher REE than postmenopausal women (Schattinger et al., 2021; Van Pelt et al., 1997). Furthermore, the adjusted REE difference was present when comparing middle-aged mothers with their daughters, suggesting that an age-associated decline in REE was also present when partially controlling for genetic factors. The present thesis and previous cross-sectional evidence from both industrialized (Geisler et al., 2016b; M. J. Müller et al., 2004; Siervo et al., 2015) and gatherer-horticulturalists populations (Gurven et al., 2016) have shown that, even when considering differences in FFM and FM, REE begins to decline earlier than 60 years of age, as suggested recently (Pontzer et al., 2021). It is important to note that the decline in REE may not necessarily represent a decrease in cellular metabolic rate; however, it may result from limitations in adjusting for differences in tissue quality (M. J. Müller et al., 2018). As people age, the proportion of metabolically active cells in tissues decreases (Fragala et al., 2015; Giorgio et al., 2010), leading to a likely overestimation of the decline in REE. In fact, age-associated REE decline was not present when adjusted for total body potassium analysis-measured FFM cell mass (Roubenoff et al., 2000).

Despite middle-aged women having lower adjusted REE than younger women, there was no apparent difference in adjusted REE between the menopause group, which is consistent with previous literature (Bessesen et al., 2015; Duval et al., 2013; Gould et al., 2022; Hodson et al., 2014). While the middleaged subsample-specific model indicated that the MHT group had a lower FFM-, FM-, and age-adjusted REE than the postmenopausal group, it should be noted that the MHT group was the smallest in the study. Therefore, high uncertainty exists whether this difference can be attributed to MHT use.

It may seem counterintuitive that the loss of ovarian hormone stimulation would not result in energy savings. However, there are several potential explanations for this phenomenon. One possibility is that the effects of sex hormones on REE may be relatively small, making it difficult to detect any decline in REE after menopause, especially when taking into account the limitations of indirect calorimetry and body composition assessment methods (Alcantara et al., 2022; M. J. Müller et al., 2018). Long-term ovarian hormone suppression has been shown to result in a decline of approximately 60 kcal/day compared with placebo or simultaneous estrogen supplementation (Gavin et al., 2020; Melanson et al., 2015). If menopause were to decrease REE by a similar amount, this reduction would be within the range of day-to-day variation (Bader

et al., 2005). Furthermore, aging progresses differently among individuals, so the effects of menopause and aging cannot be easily disentangled.

An alternative explanation for the lack of difference in REE between menopause groups is that women may be reallocating the energy freed from reproduction inside the REE component. This theoretical concept (FIGURE 17) builds on the active grandparent hypothesis (Lieberman et al., 2021), which combines elements from the grandmother hypothesis (Hawkes, 2003) and constrained TEE model (Pontzer, 2018). The central premise is that TEE is homeostatically kept at the same level, perhaps until age 60, when aging-related changes begin to manifest (Pontzer et al., 2021). The cessation of reproductive functions frees energy from the TEE budget, which women ideally use to increase AEE. Hazda hunter-gatherer women, for example, remain highly physically active after their reproductive years (Raichlen et al., 2017) and even increase the time spent foraging to provide resources for their offspring (Hawkes et al., 1997). Notably, Hazda women do not exhibit an increase in body fat percentage or cardiometabolic disease risk in old age (Pontzer et al., 2018). Study II found that, even though middle-aged mothers and their daughters differed in adjusted REE, they had very similar adjusted TEE, which could indicate that the mothers compensated for REE decline by increasing AEE. However, reverse causation is equally possible. Typically though, physical activity is proposed to decrease in women living in industrialized nations in middle age around menopause (Duval et al., 2013; Lovejoy et al., 2008), which is similar to animal experiments (Leeners et al., 2017; Van Pelt et al., 2015). However, our studies have not observed this trend (Hyvärinen et al., 2021; Juppi et al., 2022).

If not used for the movement or maintenance of a body that encounters demanding daily physical challenges, women may redirect the freed energy from reproduction toward building energy storage and bodily defenses (Lieberman et al., 2021). In this scenario, REE does not decline as expected because of factors such as increased activity of the pituitary-adrenal axis and the immune and sympathetic nervous systems. Studies have shown that higher systolic blood pressure (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008; Brock et al., 2012; Creber et al., 2018; Luke et al., 2004; Sriram et al., 2014), insulin resistance (Bosy-Westphal et al., 2008), and C-reactive protein concentrations (Geisler et al., 2016a) are all associated with elevated REE. These factors may offset the expected decline in REE, leading to an increased risk of cardiometabolic diseases after menopause.



FIGURE 17 Illustrating the impact of menopause on energy resource allocation: a figure modified from Lieberman et al. (2021). The theory posits that daily total energy expenditure (TEE) remains constant until old age (1). Ideally, the energy freed from reproduction after menopause is used for activity energy expenditure (AEE) and the maintenance of a body capable of varied movement (2). However, if this is not the case, the excess energy may be stored as fat, potentially leading to an overactive immune system and heightened stress responsiveness (3). These alterations, which maintain resting energy expenditure (REE) at premenopausal levels, increase the risk of developing cardiometabolic diseases (4).

For the presented theory to hold, evidence of an association between menopause and the REE-elevating mechanisms described above is needed. Determining whether menopause increases systemic inflammation has been challenging also because of the lack of perfect biomarkers (Furman et al., 2019). However, no longitudinal studies have reported increases in traditional inflammation markers, such as C-reactive protein or interleukin 6, following menopause. In Study I, no increase in GlycA, which is a composite biomarker of chronic inflammation, was observed. However, a preliminary analysis of 51 women who returned for the cohort fourth-year follow-up has shown a substantial increase in GlycA concentration as the women progressed in postmenopause. This suggests that a menopausal hormonal shift may not directly increase systemic inflammation, but it may develop later as a secondary consequence. The impact of menopause on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis or sympathetic nervous system is unclear. Urinary cortisol levels peak at late perimenopause and are positively associated with FSH levels (Woods et al., 2006). The sympathetic nervous system regulates blood pressure acutely and chronically, and the effect is more significant in men and postmenopausal women than in premenopausal women (Barnes et al., 2014). Systolic blood

pressure increases with age in women, but menopause does not seem to accelerate this (Clayton et al., 2022; El Khoudary et al., 2020; Hyvärinen et al., 2021). These observations suggest that neuroendocrine changes may be less likely to be the destination of energy reallocation after menopause than energy storage and inflammation.

The present thesis also examined the adaptability of REE, specifically in relation to physical activity. Menopause and physical activity may have a somewhat related response because physical activity is proposed as downregulating REE by also repressing sex hormone concentrations in both men and women (Pontzer, 2018). However, no significant differences in absolute or LM- and FM-adjusted REE were observed between physically active and inactive cotwins in Study III. This contradicts the constrained TEE model. Additionally, self-reported physical activity measures were not associated with adjusted REE. However, among all twin pairs, familial dependency in REE was slightly lower than what has been reported earlier (Bouchard et al., 1989), possibly because of the selection of twins based on potential physical activity discordance. These results align with the majority of observational and intervention studies that have shown that REE remains unchanged after exercise training (MacKenzie-Shalders et al., 2020; Thurber et al., 2019) or that the decline is so modest that it cannot fully explain TEE conservation (Westerterp et al., 1992). Ultimately, the constrained TEE model remains a hypothesis, and more evidence of its existence, especially in the general population, along with its mechanisms, are needed before its acceptance (Halsey, 2021; Melanson, 2017).

### 6.3 Menopause, physical activity, and fat oxidation

To gain a more comprehensive understanding of energy metabolism, the current thesis also examined the adaptability of fat oxidation at rest and during exercise in response to menopause status and physical activity. Therefore, in *Studies III* and *IV*, RFO and PFO were compared between physically active and inactive male cotwins and middle-aged women representing different menopause states. In *Study IV*, the relationship between physical activity, here as measured by both self-report and accelerometer, and fat oxidation outcomes was also examined among middle-aged women.

The nature and value of RFO as an outcome in metabolism research is a topic of debate (Galgani & Fernández-Verdejo, 2021). However, the findings of the present thesis, as well as previous studies (Goris & Westerterp, 2000), have indicated that REE is primarily a marker of energy balance. Therefore, the lack of association between menopause status or physical activity level and RFO were anticipated. However, some studies have reported lower RFO after ovarian hormone suppression (Grant et al., 2022) or menopause transition (Lovejoy et al., 2008), lower RER in MHT users (Reimer et al., 2005), or higher RFO after exercise training (Amaro-Gahete, De-la-O, et al., 2020). These studies are exceptions, and the results most likely reflect the differences in energy balance between groups

or time points. To demonstrate the validity of the argument, most studies have not observed changes in the resting substrate after ovarian hormone suppression (Day et al., 2005), MHT use (Bessesen et al., 2015; Lwin et al., 2008; Marlatt et al., 2020; O'Sullivan et al., 1998), between menopause groups (Bessesen et al., 2015; Gould et al., 2022; Schattinger et al., 2021), or following exercise interventions (Martin et al., 2019; Scharhag-Rosenberger et al., 2010; Wilmore et al., 1998).

The current thesis can offer two examples of how not considering the role of energy balance as a determinant of RFO can lead to biased conclusions. First, the strongest predictor of RFO was found to be serum 3-hydroxybutyrate concentration, perhaps because 3-hydroxybutyrate is highly responsive to changes in energy balance (Huffman et al., 2022). At the end measurements in Study I, the participants were likely in a more positive energy balance than at the first measurements, and as a result, their 3-hydroxybutyrate levels were lower than at the first measurement. If RFO had been assessed in Study I, it would have likely declined, probably appearing as though menopause reduces the ability to use fatty acids at rest. However, this would have been a false conclusion because of the changes in energy balance. Second, in *Study IV*, the MHT group had numerically higher RFO compared with the POST group. However, this difference was no longer observed when adjusting for body composition variables and prior energy intake. Therefore, the explanation for the numerical group difference was that the LM- and FM-adjusted energy intake was approximately 250 kcal/d lower in the MHT group than in the POST group. Interested readers can compare FIGURE 15A with FIGURE 1 in the original publication (*Study IV*), where RFO is plotted using adjusted residuals, hence illustrating the issue.

Cardiorespiratory fitness was found to be the primary PFO determinant, which is in agreement with previous larger-scale cross-sectional studies (Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Thomas, et al., 2021; G. Fletcher et al., 2017; M. C. Venables et al., 2005). *Study III* also demonstrated that PFO likely has a significant genetic component. Despite recruiting twin pairs based on potential physical activity discordance, the ICC estimates were similar to those of a previous twin study using RER as an outcome (Bouchard et al., 1989). In *Study IV*, no associations between energy intake or diet macronutrient distribution and PFO were found. However, an analysis of serum NEFA and glycerol concentrations before and after testing revealed that PFO was connected to the participant's metabolic state, as previously shown in male athletes (Frandsen et al., 2019).

Contrary to the hypothesis that menopause reduces fat oxidation capacity during exercise, PFO was strikingly similar between the menopause groups. Furthermore, no associations were found between PFO and serum concentrations of E2 or FSH. This contradicts previous research (Abildgaard et al., 2013) that suggested that fat oxidation during exercise is lower in postmenopausal women than in premenopausal women. However, there were notable differences between the study participants and their designs. First, Abildgaard et al. (2013) compared premenopausal and postmenopausal women, while most of the participants in the PRE/PERI group of *Study IV* were perimenopausal. The menopausal transition may influence fat oxidation capacity already in its early stages, thus limiting the ability of *Study IV* to detect its effects. Second, the two studies used different testing protocols. Abildgaard et al. (2013) measured fat oxidation during a 45-minute cycling session at 45% of VO<sub>2PEAK</sub> intensity, while Study IV used the graded FAT<sub>MAX</sub> protocol. Most of the participants in Study IV reached their PFO early in the test, after around 4-12 minutes of cycling. E2 has been suggested to improve fat oxidation by increasing lipolysis at adipose tissue and intramyocellular levels (Oosthuyse et al., 2022); for example, the sex difference in lipolysis stimulation seems to increase with exercise duration (Hellström et al., 1996). Therefore, the testing protocol in Study IV may have been too short to detect any differences in lipid metabolism between the study groups. Additionally, previous research has found that in premenopausal women with normal but not overweight BMI, upper body dominant fat mass distribution is associated with lower fat oxidation capacity during exercise (Isacco et al., 2020). It is possible that the amount of FM could also moderate the effect of menopause on PFO since menopause redistributes FM to a more android pattern (Greendale et al., 2019; Juppi et al., 2022). Further investigation is warranted to determine whether menopause has a greater impact on PFO in women who are leaner or experience larger changes in body fat distribution during the menopausal transition.

The present thesis found some evidence that physical activity is positively associated with PFO, particularly among middle-aged women. This may be because the testing protocol used in *Study IV* was explicitly developed for PFO assessment. Most previous larger-scale cross-sectional studies have also observed an association between self-reported physical activity and PFO (G. Fletcher et al., 2017; M. C. Venables et al., 2005). In Study IV, a similar-sized association was also found when using accelerometer-measured physical activity as the explanatory variable. However, the positive effects of physical activity on PFO could not be confirmed by comparing physical activity discordant MZ cotwins. Those factors related to study design, participants, and PFO characteristics may explain the lack of any findings. The used testing protocol was not tailored to measure PFO, and deviations from the standard  $FAT_{MAX}$ protocol, such as testing participants in a postabsorptive state and using short 2minute workloads, may have introduced errors into the measurements. However, it is worth noting that the load increases were small and that most participants reached steady-state conditions during the period where PFO was calculated. Additionally, research has shown that relatively high exercise volumes are necessary to see changes in PFO, even in individuals with low exercise levels at baseline (Nordby et al., 2015; Rosenkilde et al., 2010). In Study III, physical activity discordant cotwins had a mean AEE difference of 205 kcal/d for the past year, which may not have been sufficient to cause notable differences in PFO. Furthermore, it is important to note that the day-to-day variability of PFO was substantial (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2018, 2020) and higher than that of, for example, VO<sub>2PEAK</sub> (Skinner et al., 1999). Therefore, larger sample sizes may be required to detect an effect of similar magnitude in PFO as in VO<sub>2PEAK</sub>.

### 6.4 Fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation

The secondary aim of the present thesis was to examine whether RFO and PFO can explain the variability in glycemic control and insulin sensitivity during a standard OGTT. The results did not support the hypothesis that RFO serves as a marker of a better ability to regulate blood glucose levels in individuals without known metabolic disorders. Additionally, the literature lacks biological evidence that can support this assumption. This finding is consistent with the results of Arad et al. (2022), who also did not find a relationship between RFO and insulin sensitivity, as measured by the Matsuda index. Furthermore, the study found that RFO was similar between metabolically healthy and unhealthy groups with normal weight and obesity, despite the metabolically unhealthy subgroups having lower insulin sensitivity. The study's strength lies in the effort made to ensure that all participants were in a similar metabolic state by providing them with all food for 9 days before measurements.

In *Study IV*, higher RFO in middle-aged women was even associated with poorer glycemic control, a finding consistent with previous research (Kunz et al., 2000). The likely explanation for this association is that the women who were more dependent on fat oxidation may have had temporarily reduced insulin sensitivity, impairing their ability to use glucose during an OGTT performed immediately after the RFO measurement. The direct relationship between RFO and glucose tolerance was supported by the lack of association attenuation when adjusting for various potential mediators. This finding is in line with previous research, which has shown that fasting and negative energy balance decrease both RER and insulin sensitivity (Jørgensen et al., 2015) and that longer fasting duration before an OGTT predicts higher 2-hour glucose levels (Clemmensen et al., 2020; Hulmán et al., 2013).

The present thesis neither supports the notion that a higher PFO indicates better glycemic control or insulin sensitivity. Although early studies (Robinson et al., 2015, 2016) suggested a positive correlation between PFO and insulin sensitivity, later studies, including the ones reported in the current thesis and by other researchers (Amaro-Gahete et al., 2021; Chrzanowski-Smith, Edinburgh, Thomas, et al., 2021), have been unable to confirm this relationship. One potential explanation for this discrepancy is the difference in exercise intensities at which PFO was reached in the cited studies. The young men studied by Robinson et al. (2015, 2016) reached PFO at much higher intensities (58% of  $\dot{V}O_{2MAX}$ ) compared with the participants in the other studies (34–44% VO<sub>2PEAK</sub>). As pressure to use intramyocellular lipids increases with exercise intensity (Romijn et al., 1993), it is possible that the studies by Robinson et al. (2015, 2016) measured slightly different aspects of the fat oxidation pathway compared with other studies. It is worth noting that individuals with obesity and low cardiorespiratory fitness may have higher circulating levels of NEFA, which may explain why they have similar PFO to individuals with higher cardiorespiratory fitness but less FM (Lanzi et al., 2014). However, the study by Lanzi et al. (2014) found that participants with obesity and low cardiorespiratory fitness had a lower ability to use fatty acids at higher relative exercise intensities, as indicated by left-sided fat oxidation curves. Therefore, to better understand the relationship between fat oxidation capacity and insulin sensitivity, it may be more beneficial to focus testing at higher relative exercise intensities, particularly given the potential link between insulin resistance and intramyocellular lipid handling (Roden & Shulman, 2019).

To understand the connections between fat oxidation during exercise and metabolic health while controlling for the influence of exercise intensity, the participants in the study by Arad et al. (2022) were tested for 45 minutes at both 75% and 100% of their gas exchange thresholds. The results confirmed that fat oxidation increases with exercise duration because fat oxidation rates were higher after 45 minutes than after 15 minutes of cycling at both intensities. A statistically significant correlation (r = 0.40, P = 0.026) between FFM-relative fat oxidation and the Matsuda index was observed only at 100% of the gas exchange threshold, indicating that fat oxidation capacity at higher exercise intensities may be a better indicator of insulin sensitivity. However, even this association was absent in individuals with obesity, highlighting the complexity of the relationship.

### 6.5 Strength and limitations

The main strengths of the present PhD thesis include a precise determination of menopause status using menstrual cycle and FSH concentration data and efforts to limit the confounding effect of age while investigating associations between menopause and study outcomes. In *Study I*, the follow-up was specifically designed to capture the period of the most dramatic changes in sex hormone levels around the final menstrual period, which can help minimize the effects of aging. Additionally, the original cohort was not a convenience sample but was randomly drawn from the Population Information System, increasing the generalizability of the findings. In *Study IV*, a sample of similar-aged women was recruited to produce a sample that would differ only by their menopause status, resulting in more similar-aged groups than typically seen in the literature. The MZ cotwin study design in *Study III* was unique in that it allowed for the investigation of the effect of physical activity while controlling for genotype and childhood environment. Furthermore, in *Study II*, we were able to partly control for these factors by studying mother-daughter pairs.

The main limitation of the current thesis is the small sample sizes in some studies. Despite an extensive search, only 10 MZ twin pairs where the brothers were discordant for physical activity were located in *Study III*. Additionally, recruitment for *Study IV* had to be halted prematurely in March 2020 because of the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to uneven participant distribution across groups and small numbers in the PRE/PERI and MHT groups. To compensate for these smaller-than-expected group sizes, data from four studies were pooled

in *Study II*, which may have introduced a potential confounding cohort effect on the results. However, a sensitivity analysis was conducted, and no clear effect was found.

Additionally, there are some methodological limitations to consider. First, the exercise protocol in *Study III* was not specifically designed to assess PFO. Second, there may have been limitations in assessing the effects of sex hormones. Here, E2 concentrations were analyzed using immunoassays, which have poor validity in measuring low E2 concentrations in postmenopause (Rosner et al., 2013). Furthermore, the menstrual cycle phase and oral contraception use were not considered in *Studies II* and *IV*. However, these limitations are unlikely to have affected the overall conclusions of the study because they are expected to introduce greater variation and make finding differences between age groups more difficult. Finally, MHT use was not standardized across studies, resulting in the inclusion of women who had used different formulations, dosages, and duration of MHT.

### 6.6 Future directions

The recent studies, including *Study I* and the publications by Auro et al. (2014) and Q. Wang et al. (2018), have provided a characterization of menopause-associated changes in the serum metabolome, ranging from population-level changes to those linked to sex hormone levels. However, further research is required to fully understand the underlying mechanisms and molecular pathways driving these changes. Additionally, although the changes in the serum metabolome have been identified, it remains unclear whether they have any clinically meaningful implications. As a result, it is crucial to conduct long-term follow-up studies following women into old age to investigate menopause-associated metabolite changes and their relationship with disease endpoints.

The literature on the associations between menopause and REE is limited because it has primarily relied on cross-sectional studies, which may not be adequate to fully understand the complex relationship between menopause and REE. Although REE measurements were not performed in Study I, the study's design provided an excellent template for future research endeavors. To gain a deeper understanding of the effects of menopause on REE, experimental evidence is also necessary. Quasi-experimental designs-such as comparing premenopausal women undergoing prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy, perimenopausal women starting MHT, and postmenopausal women ceasing MHT use-to matched controls would provide insights into how changes in ovarian hormone concentrations impact metabolism. Additionally, in countries where financial compensation to research participants is allowed, ovarian hormone suppression is an established method to study the effects of menopause. To comprehensively understand how menopause affects energy expenditure, it is important to combine REE assessments with TEE and physical activity assessments. As the costs of DLW measurements decrease, this approach may

become more feasible in the future. To assess the potential reallocation of energy, studies should also measure body composition in detail, along with the activity of sympathetic nervous and inflammatory systems. Sophisticated statistical analysis methods could be used to analyze potential causal pathways.

The literature on the effects of menopause on fat oxidation during exercise is even more limited and inconclusive compared with REE. The previously suggested study designs would also fit this purpose. It is important to note that the use of the  $FAT_{MAX}$  protocol may not be the most effective method for evaluating the ability to use endogenous lipid stores during exercise. However, it should also be acknowledged that the critique of the  $FAT_{MAX}$  protocol is still speculative. An exciting research idea would be to compare the  $FAT_{MAX}$  protocol against longer-stage protocols in different menstrual cycle phases and menopause states. Additionally, it is important to note that substrate use measurements may be affected by significant intraindividual day-to-day variations; thus, duplicate measurements would improve the validity of such studies (Chrzanowski-Smith et al., 2020).

The constrained TEE model is still a hypothesis that requires further investigation. The limitations and knowledge gaps surrounding the model have been discussed (Halsey, 2021; Melanson, 2017). Although some ecological, observational, and experimental data support the model, long-term exercise interventions not focused on weight loss are needed for a more comprehensive understanding of the model. These studies should require DLW assessment to measure TEE. Metabolic chambers can be used to investigate the circadian variability of REE and mitochondrial respiration measurements from tissue samples to detect changes in mitochondrial efficiency.

# 7 MAIN FINDINGS

The key findings of the current PhD thesis are as follows:

- 1. At the serum metabolome level, menopause is associated with an increase in apoB-containing lipoproteins, as well as increases in VLDL and HDL triglyceride and LDL cholesterol concentrations. Additionally, menopause is associated with an increase in glycerol and leucine concentrations, a decrease in glutamine, citrate, and ketone concentrations, and a shift in the fatty acid profile from PUFA toward SFA. The hormonal changes associated with menopause may partially explain these changes in the serum metabolome. Furthermore, MHT is associated with protection from changes in LDL and HDL measures. These findings suggest that menopause may predispose women to cardiometabolic diseases.
- 2. The menopause status or serum levels of E2 and FSH are not associated with REE, RFO, or PFO. These results suggest that a slowing of basal metabolism or decline in the ability to use fatty acids cannot be considered as potential explanations for the changes in the serum metabolome or body composition associated with menopause.
- 3. Physical activity is not associated with REE or RFO. However, higher levels of self-reported and accelerometry-measured physical activity were found to be associated with higher PFO in middle-aged women. This suggests that exercise can be recommended for women who want to improve their ability to oxidize fat, regardless of the reason.
- 4. Neither higher RFO nor PFO indicate better glycemic control or insulin sensitivity. RFO increases with negative energy balance and may temporarily impair glucose tolerance. Therefore, researchers and clinicians should exercise caution in interpreting fat oxidation measurements as an indicator of an individual's metabolic health status.

### YHTEENVETO (SUMMARY IN FINNISH)

Menopaussi johtuu munasarjojen munasolutuotannon loppumisesta, ja se todetaan 12 kuukautta viimeisten kuukautisten päättymisestä. Menopaussi muuttaa elimistön sukupuolihormonien pitoisuuksia: estradiolin pitoisuus laskee ja follikkeleita stimuloivan hormonin (FSH) nousee. Erityisesti estradiolin pitoisuuden laskun ajatellaan muuttavan elimistön aineenvaihduntaa. Tutkimusten mukaan menopaussilla on itsenäinen vaikutus rasvamassan lisääntymiseen erityisesti keskivartalon alueelle. Rasvamassan lisääntyminen kohottaa sydän- ja verenkiertoelimistön sekä aineenvaihdunnallisten sairauksien riskiä. Sairausriskin kohoaminen voi selittyä myös hormonimuutosten suorilla vaikutuksilla aineenvaihduntareittien toimintaan. Mekanismit menopaussin, kehonkoostumuksen ja sairausriskin välillä ovat pääosin selvittämättä.

Fyysinen aktiivisuus suojaa sydän- ja verenkiertoelimistön sekä aineenvaihdunnan sairauksilta. Fyysisen aktivisuuden vaikutusmekanismien tutkimista vaikeuttaa se, että samat geenit määrittävät sekä fyysistä aktiivisuutta että paremmin toimivaa energia-aineenvaihduntaa. Tästä syystä havainnoivat tutkimukset voivat yliarvioida fyysisen aktiivisuuden aineenvaihduntaa parantavia ja sairauksia ehkäiseviä vaikutuksia. Satunnaistetut kontrolloidut kokeet antavat tarkempaa tietoa syy-seuraussuhteista, mutta kokeet ovat tyypillisesti lyhytkestoisia. Tutkimusasetelmien heikkoudet voidaan ylittää tutkimalla identtisiä kaksosia, jotka eroavat toisistaan aikuisiän fyysisen aktiivisuuden suhteen. Asetelmalla pystytään kontrolloimaan sekä perimän että lapsuuden kasvuympäristön sekoittavat vaikutukset, jolloin fyysisen aktiivisuuden pitkäaikaisvaikutuksia voidaan tutkia luotettavasti.

Menopaussin aiheuttama hormonimuutos saattaa alentaa lepoenergiankulutusta ja heikentää kykyä käyttää rasvaa energianlähteenä. Tutkimusnäyttö aiheesta pohjautuu kuitenkin pitkälti eläinkokeisiin, eli tulosten yleistettävyys ihmisiin on kyseenalainen. Yllättäen myös fyysisen aktiivisuuden terveysvaikutusten on ajateltu selittyvän aineenvaihdunnan muutoksilla, jotka alentavat lepoenergiankulutusta. Teoria perustuu oletukseen, että päivittäinen kokonaisenergiankulutus on tarkkaan säädelty ilmiö esimerkiksi happoemästasapainon ja verensokerin tavoin. Jos fyysiseen aktiivisuuteen käytetty energiankulutus laskee, voi elimistö käyttää vapautuneen energian esimerkiksi rasvavarastojen kasvattamiseen, tulehdusprosesseihin ja voimakkaampiin stressireaktioihin. Fyysinen aktiivisuus voi pienentää sairausriskiä myös parantamalla rasva-aineenvaihdunnan toimintaa.

Tämän väitöskirjatutkimuksen ensisijaisena tavoitteena oli selvittää, ovatko menopaussi ja fyysinen aktiivisuus yhteydessä lepoenergiankulutukseen, rasvan käytön tehokkuuteen ja veren aineenvaihduntatuoteprofiilin muutoksiin. Rasvan käyttöä mitattiin levossa ja sen korkeinta mahdollista tehoa liikuntatestin aikana. Veren aineenvaihduntatuoteprofiilia voidaan käyttää koko elimistön aineenvaihdunnan tutkimiseen molekyylitasolla, koska kaikki kudokset käyttävät veren kuljettamia aineenvaihdunnan lähtöaineita ja vapauttavat vereen aineenvaihdunnan tuotteita.

Väitöskirjan toissijaisena tavoitteena oli selvittää, onko korkeampi rasvan käyttöteho levossa tai liikkuessa yhteydessä terveempään sokeriaineenvaihdun-

nan säätelyyn. Luurankolihassolujen herkkyys insuliinin vaikutuksille heikentyy, jos soluihin kertyy haitallisia rasva-aineita. Perimmäinen syy ilmiöön on liiallinen energiansaanti. Pitkälle edetessään tila edistää verensokerin kohoamista ja tyypin 2 diabeteksen puhkeamista. Tästä syystä korkeamman rasvan käyttökyvyn ajatellaan kertovan paremmasta insuliiniherkkyydestä ja terveemmästä sokeriaineenvaihdunnasta. Tieto perustuu kuitenkin vain muutamaan tutkimukseen.

Väitöskirja koostuu neljästä alkuperäistutkimuksesta. Ensimmäisessä tutkimuksessa selvitettiin menopaussin yhteyttä veren aineenvaihduntatuoteprofiilin muutoksiin käyttämällä ERMA-tutkimuksen aineistoa. Yhteensä 218 naista seurattiin menopaussin yli. Alkumittauksissa naiset olivat perimenopaussissa, eli heillä oli vielä epäsäännöllinen kuukautiskierto. Loppumittauksissa naisten kuukautiskierto oli päättynyt vähintään 6 kuukautta aiemmin. Tutkimuksen alussa tutkittavat olivat keskimäärin 51,7-vuotiaita (keskihajonta 1,9 vuotta) ja seurannan keston mediaani oli 14 kuukautta (kvartaaliväli 8-20 kuukautta). Tutkimuksen tavoitteena oli minimoida ikääntymisen sekoittava vaikutus tutkimalla aineenvaihduntatuoteprofiilin muutoksia ajanjaksolla, jolloin estradiolipitoisuuksien muutos on kaikkein voimakkain. Seurannan aikana 35 naista aloitti estradiolia sisältävän hormonikorvaushoidon, jolloin voitiin selvittää suojaako estradiolipitoisuuksien laskun ehkäisy aineenvaihduntatuoteprofiilin muutoksilta. Alku- ja loppumittausnäytteistä määritettiin 180 seerumin aineenvaihduntatuotetta ydinmagneettisella resonanssispektroskopialla sekä estradiolin ja FSH:n pitoisuudet immunomäärityksellä. Tilastoanalyyseissä huomioitiin ikä seurannan alussa, seurannan kesto, koulutustaso, tupakointistatus, alkoholinkäyttö, fyysisen aktiivisuuden taso ja ravitsemuksen laatu.

Väitöskirjan toisessa tutkimuksessa selvitettiin iän ja menopaussistatuksen yhteyttä lepoenergiankulutukseen. Tutkimusjoukon muodosti 120 naista (ikä 17–58 vuotta) EsmiRs-, Calex-, Physique- ja NO-REDS-tutkimuksista. Iän yhteyttä lepoenergiankulutukseen tutkittiin käyttämällä ikää jatkuvana muuttujana ja ja-kamalla tutkittivat ikäluokkiin. Ikäluokkajako 17–21-, 22–39- ja 40–59-vuotiaisiin perustui aiempaan tutkimustietoon mahdollisista energiankulutuksen käänne-kohdista elämänkaaren aikana. Aineisto sisälsi 16 äiti-tytärparia, joissa äiti oli keski-ikäinen ja tytär noin 20-vuotias. Tämä parittainen alaryhmäanalyysi mahdollisti perimän vaikutuksen osittaisen kontrolloinnin. Tutkimuksen 59 keski-ikäistä naista jaettiin edelleen menopaussiluokkiin: tutkittavista 19 ei ollut läpi-käynyt menopaussia, 30 oli ohittanut menopaussin ja 10 oli ohittanut menopaussin mutta käytti hormonikorvaushoitoa. Heiltä mitattiin myös veren estradiolija FSH-pitoisuudet. Tilastolliset analyysit vakioitiin rasvattoman massan ja rasvamassan määrillä, ja niissä huomioitiin äiti-tytärparien sukulaisuussuhde.

Väitöskirjan kolmannessa osajulkaisussa tutkittiin fyysisen aktiivisuuden yhteyttä lepoenergiankulutukseen ja rasvan käyttökykyyn. Aineiston muodosti FITFATTWIN-tutkimuksen 23 identtistä iältään 32–37-vuotiasta mieskaksosparia, joista 10 parin veljekset erosivat toisistaan fyysiseltä aktiivisuudeltaan edeltävän kolmen vuoden ajalta. Tilastoanalyysit vakioitiin rasvattomalla massalla ja lepoenergiankulutuksen osalta myös rasvamassalla, ja niissä huomioitiin veljesten sukulaisuussuhde.
Väitöskirjan viimeinen tutkimus selvitti menopaussin ja sukupuolihormonien pitoisuuksien yhteyttä rasvan käytön tehokkuuteen. EsmiRs-tutkimus rekrytoi 42 naista (ikä 52–58), jotka jaettiin menopaussiluokkiin kuten väitöskirjan toisessa tutkimuksessa: 7 tutkittavaa ei ollut kokenut menopaussia, 26 oli ohittanut menopaussin ja 9 käytti hormonikorvaushoitoa. Tilastoanalyysit vakioitiin rasvattoman massan määrällä. Kahdessa viimeisessä väitöskirjan tutkimuksessa tutkittavat suorittivat sokerirasituskokeen. Veren sokeri- ja insuliinimittausten avulla määritettiin tutkittavien sokerinsieto ja insuliiniherkkyys.

Väitöskirjan ensimmäisessä osatyössä selvisi, että menopaussi oli yhteydessä valtimonkovettumatautia aiheuttavien LDL-partikkelien määrän lisääntymiseen. Muutoksia havaittiin myös systeemisissä merkkiaineissa, jotka eivät aiheuta sairauksia mutta kertovat aineenvaihdunnan tilasta. Erityisesti suurten VLDL- ja pienten HDL-partikkelien sekä niiden sisältämien triglyseridien määrä kasvoi. Myös glyserolin ja leusiinin pitoisuudet kohosivat ja ketoaineiden pitoisuudet laskivat. Veren rasvahappoprofiili muuttui siten, että tyydyttyneiden rasvahappojen osuus kasvoi ja monityydyttyneiden rasvahappojen osuus pieneni. Suurin osa muutoksista oli yhteydessä sukupuolihormonien pitoisuuksien muutokseen. Erityisesti systeemisten merkkiaineiden muutokset kertonevat myös positiivisesta energiatasapainosta ja insuliiniherkkyyden heikkenemisestä, joita menopaussi voi edistää. Hormonikorvaushoito suojasi LDL-partikkelien määrän nousulta ja kasvatti suurten HDL-partikkelien määrää ja HDL-kolesterolin pitoisuutta. Toisessa osatyössä havaittiin, että lepoenergiankulutus laski iän myötä. Keski-ikäisten naisten lepoenergiankulutus oli noin 100 kcal/vrk alhaisempi kuin nuorten naisten lepoenergiankulutus. Sama ero havaittiin, kun verrattiin keski-ikäisiä naisia heidän tyttäriinsä. Keski-ikäisten naisten joukossa menopaussistatus tai sukupuolihormonien pitoisuudet eivät kuitenkaan selittäneet lepoenergiankulutuksen eroja. Kolmannessa osatyössä fyysisen aktiivisuuden suhteen eroavien identtisten kaksosveljesten välillä ei havaittu eroja lepoenergiankulutuksessa eikä rasvan käytön muuttujissa. Neljännen osatyön keski-ikäisten naisten joukossa sekä itseraportoitu että kiihtyvyysanturimittauksella määritetty fyysinen aktiivisuus olivat yhteydessä korkeampaan rasvan käytön huipputehoon liikuntatestin aikana. Menopaussistatus tai sukupuolihormonien pitoisuudet eivät selittäneet rasvan käytön eroja. Korkeampi rasvan käytön teho levossa tai liikkuessa ei ollut yhteydessä parempaan sokerinsietoon eikä insuliiniherkkyyteen kolmannessa eikä neljännessä osatyössä.

Tämä väitöskirjatutkimus osoittaa, että menopaussi muuttaa naisten aineenvaihduntaa. Muutos veren aineenvaihduntatuoteprofiilissa johtuu osin suoraan sukupuolihormonipitoisuuksien muutoksesta ja kertoo kohonneesta aineenvaihduntasairauksien riskistä menopaussin jälkeen. Menopaussi ei tämän tutkimuksen perusteella alenna merkittävästi lepoenergiankulutusta tai heikennä kykyä käyttää rasvaa energianlähteenä. Fyysinen aktiivisuus saattaa tehostaa ainakin keski-ikäisten naisten kykyä käyttää rasvaa liikkuessa. Rasvan käyttökyvyn tehostuminen ei kuitenkaan suoraan paranna sokeriaineenvaihduntaterveyttä.

## REFERENCES

- Abdulnour, J., Doucet, E., Brochu, M., Lavoie, J.-M., Strychar, I., Rabasa-Lhoret, R., & Prud'homme, D. (2012). The effect of the menopausal transition on body composition and cardiometabolic risk factors: A Montreal-Ottawa New Emerging Team group study. *Menopause*, 19(7), 760–767. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/gme.0b013e318240f6f3</u>
- Abildgaard, J., Pedersen, A. T., Green, C. J., Harder-Lauridsen, N. M., Solomon, T. P., Thomsen, C., Juul, A., Pedersen, M., Pedersen, J. T., Mortensen, O. H., Pilegaard, H., Pedersen, B. K., & Lindegaard, B. (2013). Menopause is associated with decreased whole body fat oxidation during exercise. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 304(11), E1227-1236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00492.2012</u>
- ACCORD Study Group, Ginsberg, H. N., Elam, M. B., Lovato, L. C., Crouse, J. R., Leiter, L. A., Linz, P., Friedewald, W. T., Buse, J. B., Gerstein, H. C., Probstfield, J., Grimm, R. H., Ismail-Beigi, F., Bigger, J. T., Goff, D. C., Cushman, W. C., Simons-Morton, D. G., & Byington, R. P. (2010). Effects of combination lipid therapy in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 362(17), 1563–1574. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1001282
- Achten, J., Gleeson, M., & Jeukendrup, A. E. (2002). Determination of the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 34(1), 92–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-</u> 200201000-00015
- Achten, J., Venables, M. C., & Jeukendrup, A. E. (2003). Fat oxidation rates are higher during running compared with cycling over a wide range of intensities. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 52(6), 747–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0026-0495(03)00068-4</u>
- Ahola-Olli, A. V., Mustelin, L., Kalimeri, M., Kettunen, J., Jokelainen, J., Auvinen, J., Puukka, K., Havulinna, A. S., Lehtimäki, T., Kähönen, M., Juonala, M., Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi, S., Salomaa, V., Perola, M., Järvelin, M.-R., Ala-Korpela, M., Raitakari, O., & Würtz, P. (2019). Circulating metabolites and the risk of type 2 diabetes: A prospective study of 11,896 young adults from four Finnish cohorts. *Diabetologia*, 62(12), 2298–2309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-05001-w</u>
- Ahtiainen, M., Alen, M., Pöllänen, E., Pulkkinen, S., Ronkainen, P. H. A., Kujala, U. M., Kaprio, J., Sipilä, S., & Kovanen, V. (2012). Hormone therapy is associated with better body composition and adipokine/glucose profiles: A study with monozygotic co-twin control design. *Menopause*, 19(12), 1329–1335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/gme.0b013e31825a3344</u>
- AIM-HIGH Investigators, Boden, W. E., Probstfield, J. L., Anderson, T., Chaitman, B. R., Desvignes-Nickens, P., Koprowicz, K., McBride, R., Teo, K., & Weintraub, W. (2011). Niacin in patients with low HDL cholesterol levels receiving intensive statin therapy. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 365(24), 2255–2267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1107579</u>

- Ainsworth, B. E., Haskell, W. L., Leon, A. S., Jacobs, D. R., Montoye, H. J., Sallis, J. F., & Paffenbarger, R. S. (1993). Compendium of physical activities: Classification of energy costs of human physical activities. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 25(1), 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1249/00005768-199301000-00011
- Akanji, A. O., Osifo, E., Kirk, M., & Hockaday, T. D. (1993). The effects of changes in plasma nonesterified fatty acid levels on oxidative metabolism during moderate exercise in patients with non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 42(4), 426–434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(93)90098-9</u>
- Akinkuolie, A. O., Buring, J. E., Ridker, P. M., & Mora, S. (2014). A novel protein glycan biomarker and future cardiovascular disease events. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 3(5), e001221. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.114.001221
- Akinkuolie, A. O., Glynn, R. J., Padmanabhan, L., Ridker, P. M., & Mora, S. (2016). Circulating n-linked glycoprotein side-chain biomarker, rosuvastatin therapy, and incident cardiovascular disease: An analysis from the JUPITER trial. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 5(7), e003822. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.116.003822</u>
- Ala-Korpela, M., Zhao, S., Järvelin, M.-R., Mäkinen, V.-P., & Ohukainen, P. (2022). Apt interpretation of comprehensive lipoprotein data in large-scale epidemiology: Disclosure of fundamental structural and metabolic relationships. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 51(3), 996–1011. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyab156
- Alcantara, J. M. A., Galgani, J. E., Jurado-Fasoli, L., Dote-Montero, M., Merchan-Ramirez, E., Ravussin, E., Ruiz, J. R., & Sanchez-Delgado, G. (2022).
  Validity of four commercially available metabolic carts for assessing resting metabolic rate and respiratory exchange ratio in non-ventilated humans. *Clinical Nutrition*, 41(3), 746–754.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2022.01.031
- Al-Mrabeh, A., Zhyzhneuskaya, S. V., Peters, C., Barnes, A. C., Melhem, S., Jesuthasan, A., Aribisala, B., Hollingsworth, K. G., Lietz, G., Mathers, J. C., Sattar, N., Lean, M. E. J., & Taylor, R. (2020). Hepatic lipoprotein export and remission of human type 2 diabetes after weight loss. *Cell Metabolism*, 31(2), 233-249.e4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.11.018</u>
- Aloia, J. F., McGowan, D. M., Vaswani, A. N., Ross, P., & Cohn, S. H. (1991).
   Relationship of menopause to skeletal and muscle mass. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 53(6), 1378–1383.
   https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/53.6.1378
- Al-Safi, Z. A., & Polotsky, A. J. (2015). Obesity and menopause. Best Practice & Research. Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 29(4), 548–553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2014.12.002</u>
- Amaro-Gahete, F. J., Acosta, F. M., Migueles, J. H., Ponce González, J. G., & Ruiz, J. R. (2020). Association of sedentary and physical activity time with maximal fat oxidation during exercise in sedentary adults.

*Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 30*(9), 1605–1614. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.13696

- Amaro-Gahete, F. J., De-la-O, A., Jurado-Fasoli, L., Sanchez-Delgado, G., Ruiz, J. R., & Castillo, M. J. (2020). Metabolic rate in sedentary adults, following different exercise training interventions: The FIT-AGEING randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Nutrition*, 39(11), 3230–3240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2020.02.001</u>
- Amaro-Gahete, F. J., Jurado-Fasoli, L., Ruiz, J. R., & Castillo, M. J. (2020). Association of basal metabolic rate and nutrients oxidation with cardiometabolic risk factors and insulin sensitivity in sedentary middleaged adults. *Nutrients*, 12(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12041186</u>
- Amaro-Gahete, F. J., Sanchez-Delgado, G., Jurado-Fasoli, L., & Ruiz, J. R. (2021). Uncertain association between maximal fat oxidation during exercise and cardiometabolic risk factors in healthy sedentary adults. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 22(6), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2021.1895894
- Ambikairajah, A., Walsh, E., Tabatabaei-Jafari, H., & Cherbuin, N. (2019). Fat mass changes during menopause: A meta-analysis. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 221(5), 393-409.e50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2019.04.023</u>
- Anderson, E. J., Lavoie, H. B., Strauss, C. C., Hubbard, J. L., Sharpless, J. L., & Hall, J. E. (2001). Body composition and energy balance: Lack of effect of short-term hormone replacement in postmenopausal women. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 50(3), 265–269. https://doi.org/10.1053/meta.2001.21015
- Appiah, D., Winters, S. J., & Hornung, C. A. (2014). Bilateral oophorectomy and the risk of incident diabetes in postmenopausal women. *Diabetes Care*, 37(3), 725–733. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-1986</u>
- Arad, A. D., Basile, A. J., Albu, J., & DiMenna, F. J. (2020). No influence of overweight/obesity on exercise lipid oxidation: A systematic review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(5), E1614. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21051614</u>
- Arad, A. D., DiMenna, F. J., Kittrell, H. D., Kissileff, H. R., & Albu, J. B. (2022). Whole body lipid oxidation during exercise is impaired with poor insulin sensitivity but not with obesity per se. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 323(4), E366–E377. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00042.2022
- Asarian, L., & Geary, N. (2013). Sex differences in the physiology of eating. American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 305(11), R1215-1267. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00446.2012
- Aubertin-Leheudre, M., Goulet, E. D. B., & Dionne, I. J. (2008). Enhanced rate of resting energy expenditure in women using hormone-replacement therapy: Preliminary results. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 16(1), 53–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.16.1.53</u>

- Auro, K., Joensuu, A., Fischer, K., Kettunen, J., Salo, P., Mattsson, H., Niironen, M., Kaprio, J., Eriksson, J. G., Lehtimäki, T., Raitakari, O., Jula, A., Tiitinen, A., Jauhiainen, M., Soininen, P., Kangas, A. J., Kähönen, M., Havulinna, A. S., Ala-Korpela, M., ... Perola, M. (2014). A metabolic view on menopause and ageing. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 4708. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5708
- Bader, N., Bosy-Westphal, A., Dilba, B., & Müller, M. J. (2005). Intra- and interindividual variability of resting energy expenditure in healthy male subjects – Biological and methodological variability of resting energy expenditure. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 94(5), 843–849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn20051551</u>
- Baecke, J. A., Burema, J., & Frijters, J. E. (1982). A short questionnaire for the measurement of habitual physical activity in epidemiological studies. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 36(5), 936–942. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/36.5.936
- Barnes, J. N., Hart, E. C., Curry, T. B., Nicholson, W. T., Eisenach, J. H., Wallin, B. G., Charkoudian, N., & Joyner, M. J. (2014). Aging enhances autonomic support of blood pressure in women. *Hypertension*, 63(2), 303– 308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02393</u>
- Barry, E., Roberts, S., Oke, J., Vijayaraghavan, S., Normansell, R., & Greenhalgh, T. (2017). Efficacy and effectiveness of screen and treat policies in prevention of type 2 diabetes: Systematic review and meta-analysis of screening tests and interventions. *BMJ*, 356, i6538. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i6538
- Bassett, D. R., & Howley, E. T. (2000). Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 32(1), 70–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-</u> 200001000-00012
- Bechlioulis, A., Kalantaridou, S. N., Naka, K. K., Chatzikyriakidou, A., Calis, K. A., Makrigiannakis, A., Papanikolaou, O., Kaponis, A., Katsouras, C., Georgiou, I., Chrousos, G. P., & Michalis, L. K. (2010). Endothelial function, but not carotid intima-media thickness, is affected early in menopause and is associated with severity of hot flushes. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *95*(3), 1199–1206. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-2262
- Benton, M. J., Hutchins, A. M., & Dawes, J. J. (2020). Effect of menstrual cycle on resting metabolism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One*, 15(7), e0236025. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236025</u>
- Bermingham, K. M., Linenberg, I., Hall, W. L., Kadé, K., Franks, P. W., Davies, R., Wolf, J., Hadjigeorgiou, G., Asnicar, F., Segata, N., Manson, J. E., Newson, L. R., Delahanty, L. M., Ordovas, J. M., Chan, A. T., Spector, T. D., Valdes, A. M., & Berry, S. E. (2022). Menopause is associated with postprandial metabolism, metabolic health and lifestyle: The ZOE PREDICT study. *EBioMedicine*, *85*, 104303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.104303

- Bessesen, D. H., Cox-York, K. A., Hernandez, T. L., Erickson, C. B., Wang, H., Jackman, M. R., & Van Pelt, R. E. (2015). Postprandial triglycerides and adipose tissue storage of dietary fatty acids: Impact of menopause and estradiol. *Obesity*, 23(1), 145–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20935</u>
- Björnson, E., Packard, C. J., Adiels, M., Andersson, L., Matikainen, N., Söderlund, S., Kahri, J., Hakkarainen, A., Lundbom, N., Lundbom, J., Sihlbom, C., Thorsell, A., Zhou, H., Taskinen, M.-R., & Borén, J. (2020). Apolipoprotein B48 metabolism in chylomicrons and very low-density lipoproteins and its role in triglyceride transport in normo- and hypertriglyceridemic human subjects. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 288(4), 422–438. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.13017
- Bogardus, C., Lillioja, S., Ravussin, E., Abbott, W., Zawadzki, J. K., Young, A., Knowler, W. C., Jacobowitz, R., & Moll, P. P. (1986). Familial dependence of the resting metabolic rate. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 315(2), 96–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198607103150205</u>
- Boisseau, N., & Isacco, L. (2022). Substrate metabolism during exercise: Sexual dimorphism and women's specificities. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 22(5), 672–683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2021.1943713</u>
- Borai, A., Livingstone, C., Kaddam, I., & Ferns, G. (2011). Selection of the appropriate method for the assessment of insulin resistance. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11(1), 158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-158</u>
- Borén, J., Chapman, M. J., Krauss, R. M., Packard, C. J., Bentzon, J. F., Binder, C. J., Daemen, M. J., Demer, L. L., Hegele, R. A., Nicholls, S. J., Nordestgaard, B. G., Watts, G. F., Bruckert, E., Fazio, S., Ference, B. A., Graham, I., Horton, J. D., Landmesser, U., Laufs, U., ... Ginsberg, H. N. (2020). Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: Pathophysiological, genetic, and therapeutic insights: a consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. *European Heart Journal*, 41(24), 2313–2330. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehz962
- Borén, J., Watts, G. F., Adiels, M., Söderlund, S., Chan, D. C., Hakkarainen, A., Lundbom, N., Matikainen, N., Kahri, J., Vergès, B., Barrett, P. H. R., & Taskinen, M.-R. (2015). Kinetic and related determinants of plasma triglyceride concentration in abdominal obesity: Multicenter tracer kinetic study. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 35*(10), 2218–2224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.305614</u>
- Bosy-Westphal, A., Eichhorn, C., Kutzner, D., Illner, K., Heller, M., & Müller, M. J. (2003). The age-related decline in resting energy expenditure in humans is due to the loss of fat-free mass and to alterations in its metabolically active components. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 133(7), 2356–2362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/133.7.2356</u>
- Bosy-Westphal, A., Wolf, A., Bührens, F., Hitze, B., Czech, N., Mönig, H., Selberg, O., Settler, U., Pfeuffer, M., Schrezenmeir, J., Krawczak, M., & Müller, M. J. (2008). Familial influences and obesity-associated metabolic

risk factors contribute to the variation in resting energy expenditure: The Kiel Obesity Prevention Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *87*(6), 1695–1701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/87.6.1695</u>

- Bouchard, C., Daw, E. W., Rice, T., Pérusse, L., Gagnon, J., Province, M. A., Leon, A. S., Rao, D. C., Skinner, J. S., & Wilmore, J. H. (1998). Familial resemblance for VO2max in the sedentary state: The HERITAGE family study. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 30(2), 252–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199802000-00013</u>
- Bouchard, C., Pérusse, L., Dériaz, O., Després, J. P., & Tremblay, A. (1993).
  Genetic influences on energy expenditure in humans. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 33(4–5), 345–350.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/10408399309527631
- Bouchard, C., Tremblay, A., Nadeau, A., Després, J. P., Thériault, G., Boulay, M. R., Lortie, G., Leblanc, C., & Fournier, G. (1989). Genetic effect in resting and exercise metabolic rates. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 38(4), 364–370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(89)90126-1</u>
- Bragg, F., Kartsonaki, C., Guo, Y., Holmes, M., Du, H., Yu, C., Pei, P., Yang, L., Jin, D., Chen, Y., Schmidt, D., Avery, D., Lv, J., Chen, J., Clarke, R., Hill, M. R., Li, L., Millwood, I. Y., & Chen, Z. (2022). The role of NMR-based circulating metabolic biomarkers in development and risk prediction of new onset type 2 diabetes. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 15071. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-19159-8</u>
- Brock, D. W., Tompkins, C. L., Fisher, G., & Hunter, G. R. (2012). Influence of resting energy expenditure on blood pressure is independent of body mass and a marker of sympathetic tone. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 61(2), 237–241.

```
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2011.06.019
```

- Brooks, G. A., Osmond, A. D., Arevalo, J. A., Curl, C. C., Duong, J. J., Horning, M. A., Moreno Santillan, D. D., & Leija, R. G. (2022). Lactate as a major myokine and exerkine. *Nature Reviews. Endocrinology*, 18(11), 712. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-022-00724-0</u>
- Burger, H. G., Dudley, E. C., Hopper, J. L., Groome, N., Guthrie, J. R., Green, A., & Dennerstein, L. (1999). Prospectively measured levels of serum follicle-stimulating hormone, estradiol, and the dimeric inhibins during the menopausal transition in a population-based cohort of women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 84(11), 4025–4030. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.84.11.6158
- Ca, D., Sl, C., Rc, P., M, S., B, S., & Ka, M. (2009). Lipid changes during the menopause transition in relation to age and weight: The Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 169(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwp043</u>
- Calcagno, M., H, K., J, A., Nn, B., Ra, F., Ml, B., & Nd, B. (2019). The thermic effect of food: A review. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 38(6). https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2018.1552544

- Cammack, R., Atwood, T., Campbell, P., Parish, H., Smith, A., Vella, F., & Stirling, J. (2006). Metabolism. Oxford Dictionary of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. Oxford University Press. Retrieved 10 Oct. 2022, from <u>https://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/acref/9780198529170.</u> 001.0001/acref-9780198529170-e-12235
- Camporez, J. P. G., Jornayvaz, F. R., Lee, H.-Y., Kanda, S., Guigni, B. A., Kahn, M., Samuel, V. T., Carvalho, C. R. O., Petersen, K. F., Jurczak, M. J., & Shulman, G. I. (2013). Cellular mechanism by which estradiol protects female ovariectomized mice from high-fat diet-induced hepatic and muscle insulin resistance. *Endocrinology*, 154(3), 1021–1028. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2012-1989
- Camporez, J. P., Lyu, K., Goldberg, E. L., Zhang, D., Cline, G. W., Jurczak, M. J., Dixit, V. D., Petersen, K. F., & Shulman, G. I. (2019). Anti-inflammatory effects of oestrogen mediate the sexual dimorphic response to lipidinduced insulin resistance. *The Journal of Physiology*, 597(15), 3885–3903. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP277270
- Candeias, E., Duarte, A. I., Carvalho, C., Correia, S. C., Cardoso, S., Santos, R. X., Plácido, A. I., Perry, G., & Moreira, P. I. (2012). The impairment of insulin signaling in Alzheimer's disease. *IUBMB Life*, 64(12), 951–957. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.1098
- Canfora, E. E., & Blaak, E. E. (2017). Acetate: A diet-derived key metabolite in energy metabolism: good or bad in context of obesity and glucose homeostasis? *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 20(6), 477–483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000408</u>
- Cano, A., Ventura, L., Martinez, G., Cugusi, L., Caria, M., Deriu, F., & Manca, A. (2022). Analysis of sex-based differences in energy substrate utilization during moderate-intensity aerobic exercise. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 122(1), 29–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-021-04802-5</u>
- Careau, V., Halsey, L. G., Pontzer, H., Ainslie, P. N., Andersen, L. F., Anderson, L. J., Arab, L., Baddou, I., Bedu-Addo, K., Blaak, E. E., Blanc, S., Bonomi, A. G., Bouten, C. V. C., Buchowski, M. S., Butte, N. F., Camps, S. G. J. A., Close, G. L., Cooper, J. A., Das, S. K., ... IAEA DLW database group. (2021). Energy compensation and adiposity in humans. *Current Biology*, 31(20), 4659-4666.e2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.08.016</u>
- Carpentier, A. C., Blondin, D. P., Virtanen, K. A., Richard, D., Haman, F., & Turcotte, É. E. (2018). Brown adipose tissue energy metabolism in humans. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 9, 447. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00447
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: Definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Reports*, 100(2), 126–131.
- Castelli, W. P., Garrison, R. J., Wilson, P. W., Abbott, R. D., Kalousdian, S., & Kannel, W. B. (1986). Incidence of coronary heart disease and lipoprotein cholesterol levels. The Framingham Study. *JAMA*, 256(20), 2835–2838.

- Chaput, J.-P., McHill, A. W., Cox, R. C., Broussard, J. L., Dutil, C., da Costa, B. G. G., Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., & Wright, K. P. (2023). The role of insufficient sleep and circadian misalignment in obesity. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 19, 82–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-022-00747-7</u>
- Chen, Z., Bassford, T., Green, S. B., Cauley, J. A., Jackson, R. D., LaCroix, A. Z., Leboff, M., Stefanick, M. L., & Margolis, K. L. (2005). Postmenopausal hormone therapy and body composition – A substudy of the estrogen plus progestin trial of the Women's Health Initiative. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 82(3), 651–656. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn.82.3.651
- Cheng, Z., Tseng, Y., & White, M. F. (2010). Insulin signaling meets mitochondria in metabolism. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 21(10), 589–598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2010.06.005</u>
- Chester, R. C., Kling, J. M., & Manson, J. E. (2018). What the Women's Health Initiative has taught us about menopausal hormone therapy. *Clinical Cardiology*, 41(2), 247–252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/clc.22891</u>
- Chiesa, S. T., Charakida, M., Georgiopoulos, G., Roberts, J. D., Stafford, S. J., Park, C., Mykkänen, J., Kähönen, M., Lehtimäki, T., Ala-Korpela, M., Raitakari, O., Pietiäinen, M., Pussinen, P., Muthurangu, V., Hughes, A. D., Sattar, N., Timpson, N. J., & Deanfield, J. E. (2022). Glycoprotein acetyls: A novel inflammatory biomarker of early cardiovascular risk in the young. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 11(4), e024380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.121.024380</u>
- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Edinburgh, R. M., Betts, J. A., Stokes, K. A., & Gonzalez, J. T. (2018). Evaluation of a graded exercise test to determine peak fat oxidation in individuals with low cardiorespiratory fitness. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 43*(12), 1288–1297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0098</u>
- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Edinburgh, R. M., Smith, E., Thomas, M. P., Walhin, J.-P., Koumanov, F., Williams, S., Betts, J. A., & Gonzalez, J. T. (2021). Resting skeletal muscle ATGL and CPT1b are associated with peak fat oxidation rates in men and women but do not explain observed sexdifferences. *Experimental Physiology*, 106(5), 1208-1223. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP089431
- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Edinburgh, R. M., Thomas, M. P., Haralabidis, N., Williams, S., Betts, J. A., & Gonzalez, J. T. (2020). The day-to-day reliability of peak fat oxidation and FATMAX. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 120(8), 1745–1759. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-020-04397-</u> <u>3</u>
- Chrzanowski-Smith, O. J., Edinburgh, R. M., Thomas, M. P., Hengist, A., Williams, S., Betts, J. A., & Gonzalez, J. T. (2021). Determinants of peak fat oxidation rates during cycling in healthy men and women. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 31(3), 227-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/ijsnem.2020-0262</u>

- Churuangsuk, C., Hall, J., Reynolds, A., Griffin, S. J., Combet, E., & Lean, M. E. J. (2022). Diets for weight management in adults with type 2 diabetes: An umbrella review of published meta-analyses and systematic review of trials of diets for diabetes remission. *Diabetologia*, *65*(1), 14–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-021-05577-2</u>
- Claessens-van Ooijen, A. M. J., Westerterp, K. R., Wouters, L., Schoffelen, P. F. M., van Steenhoven, A. A., & van Marken Lichtenbelt, W. D. (2006). Heat production and body temperature during cooling and rewarming in overweight and lean men. *Obesity*, *14*(11), 1914–1920. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2006.223
- Clayton, G. L., Soares, A. G., Kilpi, F., Fraser, A., Welsh, P., Sattar, N., Nelson, S. M., Tilling, K., & Lawlor, D. A. (2022). Cardiovascular health in the menopause transition: A longitudinal study of up to 3892 women with up to four repeated measures of risk factors. *BMC Medicine*, 20(1), 299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-022-02454-6</u>
- Clemmensen, K. K. B., Quist, J. S., Vistisen, D., Witte, D. R., Jonsson, A., Pedersen, O., Hansen, T., Holst, J. J., Lauritzen, T., Jørgensen, M. E., Torekov, S., & Færch, K. (2020). Role of fasting duration and weekday in incretin and glucose regulation. *Endocrine Connections*, 9(4), 279–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1530/EC-20-0009</u>
- Coimbra, S., Reis, F., Ferreira, C., Nunes, S., Viana, S., Catarino, A., Rocha-Pereira, P., Belo, L., Monteiro, L., Catarino, C., & Santos-Silva, A. (2019). Weight loss achieved by bariatric surgery modifies high-density lipoprotein subfractions and low-density lipoprotein oxidation towards atheroprotection. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 63, 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2018.10.007
- Collins, K. A., Kraus, W. E., Rogers, R. J., Hauser, E. R., Lang, W., Jiang, R., Schelbert, E. B., Huffman, K. M., & Jakicic, J. M. (2023). Effect of behavioral weight-loss program on biomarkers of cardiometabolic disease risk: Heart Health Study randomized trial. *Obesity*, 31(2), 338– 349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.23618</u>
- Cooper, J. A., Manini, T. M., Paton, C. M., Yamada, Y., Everhart, J. E., Cummings, S., Mackey, D. C., Newman, A. B., Glynn, N. W., Tylavsky, F., Harris, T., Schoeller, D. A., & Health ABC study. (2013). Longitudinal change in energy expenditure and effects on energy requirements of the elderly. *Nutrition Journal*, 12, 73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-12-</u> 73
- Cordain, L., Gotshall, R. W., Eaton, S. B., & Eaton, S. B. (1998). Physical activity, energy expenditure and fitness: An evolutionary perspective. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 19(5), 328–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-971926</u>
- Costello, L. C., & Franklin, R. B. (2016). Plasma citrate homeostasis: how it is regulated; and its physiological and clinical implications. An important, but neglected, relationship in medicine. *Journal of Human Endocrinology*, *1*(1).

- Cotter, D. G., Schugar, R. C., & Crawford, P. A. (2013). Ketone body metabolism and cardiovascular disease. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 304(8), H1060-1076. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00646.2012
- Creber, C., Cooper, R. S., Plange-Rhule, J., Bovet, P., Lambert, E. V., Forrester, T. E., Schoeller, D., Riesen, W., Korte, W., Cao, G., Luke, A., & Dugas, L. R. (2018). Independent association of resting energy expenditure with blood pressure: Confirmation in populations of the African diaspora. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, 18(1), 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-017-0737-5</u>
- Dadson, P., Rebelos, E., Honka, H., Juárez-Orozco, L. E., Kalliokoski, K. K., Iozzo, P., Teuho, J., Salminen, P., Pihlajamäki, J., Hannukainen, J. C., & Nuutila, P. (2020). Change in abdominal, but not femoral subcutaneous fat CT-radiodensity is associated with improved metabolic profile after bariatric surgery. *Nutrition, Metabolism, and Cardiovascular Diseases,* 30(12), 2363–2371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2020.07.010</u>
- Dalton, D. (2022). How evolutionary biology can explain why human and a few marine mammal females are the only ones that are menopausal. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 543, 111123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2022.111123
- Dam, T. V., Dalgaard, L. B., Ringgaard, S., Johansen, F. T., Bisgaard Bengtsen, M., Mose, M., Lauritsen, K. M., Ørtenblad, N., Gravholt, C. H., & Hansen, M. (2020). Transdermal estrogen therapy improves gains in skeletal muscle mass after 12 weeks of resistance training in early postmenopausal women. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 11, 596130. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.596130</u>
- Dam, T. V., Dalgaard, L. B., Thomsen, C. B., Hjortebjerg, R., Ringgaard, S., Johansen, F. T., Bengtsen, M. B., Mose, M., Lauritsen, K. M., Søndergaard, E., Gravholt, C. H., & Hansen, M. (2021). Estrogen modulates metabolic risk profile after resistance training in early postmenopausal women: A randomized controlled trial. *Menopause*, 28(11), 1214–1224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.000000000001841</u>
- Dandanell, S., Meinild-Lundby, A.-K., Andersen, A. B., Lang, P. F., Oberholzer, L., Keiser, S., Robach, P., Larsen, S., Rønnestad, B. R., & Lundby, C. (2018). Determinants of maximal whole-body fat oxidation in elite crosscountry skiers: Role of skeletal muscle mitochondria. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 28(12), 2494–2504. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.13298
- Dandanell, S., Præst, C. B., Søndergård, S. D., Skovborg, C., Dela, F., Larsen, S., & Helge, J. W. (2017). Determination of the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation in individuals with obesity. *Applied Physiology*, *Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 42(4), 405–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2016-0518</u>

- Davis, S. R., & Baber, R. J. (2022). Treating menopause MHT and beyond. *Nature Reviews. Endocrinology*, *18*(8), 490–502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-022-00685-4</u>
- Davis, S. R., Castelo-Branco, C., Chedraui, P., Lumsden, M. A., Nappi, R. E., Shah, D., Villaseca, P., & Writing Group of the International Menopause Society for World Menopause Day 2012. (2012). Understanding weight gain at menopause. *Climacteric*, 15(5), 419–429. https://doi.org/10.3109/13697137.2012.707385
- Davis, S. R., Lambrinoudaki, I., Lumsden, M., Mishra, G. D., Pal, L., Rees, M., Santoro, N., & Simoncini, T. (2015). Menopause. *Nature Reviews. Disease Primers*, 1, 15004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.4</u>
- Day, D. S., Gozansky, W. S., Van Pelt, R. E., Schwartz, R. S., & Kohrt, W. M. (2005). Sex hormone suppression reduces resting energy expenditure and beta-adrenergic support of resting energy expenditure. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90(6), 3312–3317. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-1344
- Dirlewanger, M., di Vetta, V., Guenat, E., Battilana, P., Seematter, G., Schneiter, P., Jéquier, E., & Tappy, L. (2000). Effects of short-term carbohydrate or fat overfeeding on energy expenditure and plasma leptin concentrations in healthy female subjects. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders*, 24(11), 1413–1418. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801395
- do Carmo, J. M., da Silva, A. A., Moak, S. P., Browning, J. R., Dai, X., & Hall, J. E. (2018). Increased sleep time and reduced energy expenditure contribute to obesity after ovariectomy and a high fat diet. *Life Sciences*, 212, 119–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2018.09.034</u>
- Do, K. A., Green, A., Guthrie, J. R., Dudley, E. C., Burger, H. G., & Dennerstein, L. (2000). Longitudinal study of risk factors for coronary heart disease across the menopausal transition. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 151(6), 584–593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a010246</u>
- dos Reis, C. M. R. F., de Melo, N. R., Meirelles, E. S., Vezozzo, D. P., & Halpern, A. (2003). Body composition, visceral fat distribution and fat oxidation in postmenopausal women using oral or transdermal oestrogen. *Maturitas*, 46(1), 59–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-5122(03)00159-2</u>
- Durstine, J. L., Grandjean, P. W., Davis, P. G., Ferguson, M. A., Alderson, N. L., & DuBose, K. D. (2001). Blood lipid and lipoprotein adaptations to exercise: A quantitative analysis. *Sports Medicine*, 31(15), 1033–1062. <u>https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200131150-00002</u>
- Duval, K., Prud'homme, D., Rabasa-Lhoret, R., Strychar, I., Brochu, M., Lavoie, J.-M., & Doucet, E. (2013). Effects of the menopausal transition on energy expenditure: A MONET Group Study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 67(4), 407–411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.33</u>
- Duval, K., Prud'homme, D., Rabasa-Lhoret, R., Strychar, I., Brochu, M., Lavoie, J.-M., & Doucet, E. (2014). Effects of the menopausal transition on dietary

intake and appetite: A MONET Group Study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *68*(2), 271–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.171</u>

- Eaton, S. B., Konner, M., & Shostak, M. (1988). Stone agers in the fast lane: Chronic degenerative diseases in evolutionary perspective. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 84(4), 739–749. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-</u> <u>9343(88)90113-1</u>
- El Khoudary, S. R., Aggarwal, B., Beckie, T. M., Hodis, H. N., Johnson, A. E., Langer, R. D., Limacher, M. C., Manson, J. E., Stefanick, M. L., Allison, M. A., & American Heart Association Prevention Science Committee of the Council on Epidemiology and Prevention; and Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing. (2020). Menopause transition and cardiovascular disease risk: Implications for timing of early prevention: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 142(25), e506–e532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000000912</u>
- El Khoudary, S. R., Chen, X., Nasr, A., Billheimer, J., Brooks, M. M., McConnell, D., Orchard, T. J., Crawford, S. L., Matthews, K. A., & Rader, D. J. (2021).
  HDL (high-density lipoprotein) subclasses, lipid content, and function trajectories across the menopause transition: SWAN-HDL study. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *41*(2), 951–961. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.315355
- Elia, M. (1991). Energy equivalents of CO2 and their importance in assessing energy expenditure when using tracer techniques. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 260(1 Pt 1), E75-88. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1991.260.1.E75
- Elia, M. (1992). Organ and Tissue Contribution to Metabolic Rate. In J. M. Kinney & H. N. Tucker (Eds.), *Energy metabolism: Tissue determinants and cellular corollaries* (pp. 61–79). Raven Press.
- Elliott-Sale, K. J., Minahan, C. L., de Jonge, X. A. K. J., Ackerman, K. E., Sipilä, S., Constantini, N. W., Lebrun, C. M., & Hackney, A. C. (2021).
  Methodological considerations for studies in sport and exercise science with women as participants: A working guide for standards of practice for research on women. *Sports Medicine*, *51*(5), 843–861.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-021-01435-8</u>
- Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Di Angelantonio, E., Sarwar, N., Perry, P., Kaptoge, S., Ray, K. K., Thompson, A., Wood, A. M., Lewington, S., Sattar, N., Packard, C. J., Collins, R., Thompson, S. G., & Danesh, J. (2009). Major lipids, apolipoproteins, and risk of vascular disease. *JAMA*, 302(18), 1993–2000. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.1619</u>
- Emwas, A.-H., Roy, R., McKay, R. T., Tenori, L., Saccenti, E., Gowda, G. A. N., Raftery, D., Alahmari, F., Jaremko, L., Jaremko, M., & Wishart, D. S. (2019). NMR spectroscopy for metabolomics research. *Metabolites*, 9(7), 123. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo9070123</u>
- Ettinger, B., Wang, S. M., Leslie, R. S., Patel, B. V., Boulware, M. J., Mann, M. E., & McBride, M. (2018). Evolution of postmenopausal hormone therapy

between 2002 and 2009. *Menopause*, 25(11), 1306–1312. https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.00000000001233

- Ference, B. A., Ginsberg, H. N., Graham, I., Ray, K. K., Packard, C. J., Bruckert, E., Hegele, R. A., Krauss, R. M., Raal, F. J., Schunkert, H., Watts, G. F., Borén, J., Fazio, S., Horton, J. D., Masana, L., Nicholls, S. J., Nordestgaard, B. G., van de Sluis, B., Taskinen, M.-R., ... Catapano, A. L. (2017). Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. 1. Evidence from genetic, epidemiologic, and clinical studies. A consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. *European Heart Journal*, *38*(32), 2459–2472. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx144
- Finnish Medicines Agency Fimea. (2021). *Finnish statistics on medicines* 2020. https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/143552
- Fischer, K., Kettunen, J., Würtz, P., Haller, T., Havulinna, A. S., Kangas, A. J., Soininen, P., Esko, T., Tammesoo, M.-L., Mägi, R., Smit, S., Palotie, A., Ripatti, S., Salomaa, V., Ala-Korpela, M., Perola, M., & Metspalu, A. (2014). Biomarker profiling by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy for the prediction of all-cause mortality: An observational study of 17,345 persons. *PLoS Medicine*, *11*(2), e1001606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001606</u>
- Fisher-Wellman, K. H., & Neufer, P. D. (2012). Linking mitochondrial bioenergetics to insulin resistance via redox biology. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 23(3), 142–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2011.12.008
- Fletcher, G., Eves, F. F., Glover, E. I., Robinson, S. L., Vernooij, C. A., Thompson, J. L., & Wallis, G. A. (2017). Dietary intake is independently associated with the maximal capacity for fat oxidation during exercise. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 105(4), 864–872. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.116.133520
- Fletcher, J. A., Deja, S., Satapati, S., Fu, X., Burgess, S. C., & Browning, J. D. (2019). Impaired ketogenesis and increased acetyl-CoA oxidation promote hyperglycemia in human fatty liver. *JCI Insight*, 5(11), e127737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.127737</u>
- Fogle, R. H., Stanczyk, F. Z., Zhang, X., & Paulson, R. J. (2007). Ovarian androgen production in postmenopausal women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 92(8), 3040–3043. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2007-0581
- Ford, K., Huggins, E., & Sheean, P. (2022). Characterising body composition and bone health in transgender individuals receiving gender-affirming hormone therapy. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jhn.13027</u>
- Fothergill, E., Guo, J., Howard, L., Kerns, J. C., Knuth, N. D., Brychta, R., Chen, K. Y., Skarulis, M. C., Walter, M., Walter, P. J., & Hall, K. D. (2016). Persistent metabolic adaptation 6 years after 'The Biggest Loser'

competition. *Obesity*, 24(8), 1612–1619. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21538

- Fragala, M. S., Kenny, A. M., & Kuchel, G. A. (2015). Muscle quality in aging: A multi-dimensional approach to muscle functioning with applications for treatment. *Sports Medicine*, 45(5), 641–658. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-015-0305-z
- Frandsen, J., Amaro-Gahete, F. J., Landgrebe, A., Dela, F., Ruiz, J. R., Helge, J. W., & Larsen, S. (2021). The influence of age, sex and cardiorespiratory fitness on maximal fat oxidation rate. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2021-0080</u>
- Frandsen, J., Hansen, I. M. D., Wismann, J. F., Olsen, M. H., Brage-Andersen, M. R., Sahl, R. E., Hansen, M., Ingersen, A., Modvig, J. L., Schmücker, M., Grauslund, C. H., Dela, F., Larsen, S., & Helge, J. W. (2021). Maximal fat oxidation rate is higher in fit women and unfit women with obesity, compared to normal-weight unfit women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 106(11), e4389–e4399. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab473
- Frandsen, J., Pistoljevic, N., Quesada, J. P., Amaro-Gahete, F. J., Ritz, C., Larsen, S., Dela, F., & Helge, J. W. (2020). Menstrual cycle phase does not affect whole body peak fat oxidation rate during a graded exercise test. *Journal* of Applied Physiology, 128(3), 681–687. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00774.2019
- Frandsen, J., Vest, S. D., Ritz, C., Larsen, S., Dela, F., & Helge, J. W. (2019). Plasma free fatty acid concentration is closely tied to whole body peak fat oxidation rate during repeated exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 126(6), 1563–1571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00995.2018</u>
- Frangos, S. M., Bishop, D. J., & Holloway, G. P. (2021). Revisiting the contribution of mitochondrial biology to the pathophysiology of skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *The Biochemical Journal*, 478(21), 3809–3826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20210145</u>
- Frayn, K. N. (1983). Calculation of substrate oxidation rates in vivo from gaseous exchange. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 55(2), 628–634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1983.55.2.628</u>
- Fuentes, N., & Silveyra, P. (2019). Estrogen receptor signaling mechanisms. *Advances in Protein Chemistry and Structural Biology*, 116, 135–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.apcsb.2019.01.001</u>
- Fullmer, S., Benson-Davies, S., Earthman, C. P., Frankenfield, D. C., Gradwell, E., Lee, P. S. P., Piemonte, T., & Trabulsi, J. (2015). Evidence analysis library review of best practices for performing indirect calorimetry in healthy and non-critically ill individuals. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 115(9), 1417-1446.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2015.04.003
- Furman, D., Campisi, J., Verdin, E., Carrera-Bastos, P., Targ, S., Franceschi, C., Ferrucci, L., Gilroy, D. W., Fasano, A., Miller, G. W., Miller, A. H., Mantovani, A., Weyand, C. M., Barzilai, N., Goronzy, J. J., Rando, T. A.,

Effros, R. B., Lucia, A., Kleinstreuer, N., & Slavich, G. M. (2019). Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. *Nature Medicine*, 25(12), 1822–1832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0675-0</u>

- Galgani, J. E., & Fernández-Verdejo, R. (2021). Pathophysiological role of metabolic flexibility on metabolic health. *Obesity Reviews*, 22(2), e13131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13131</u>
- Gallagher, E. J., & LeRoith, D. (2015). Obesity and diabetes: The increased risk of cancer and cancer-related mortality. *Physiological Reviews*, 95(3), 727–748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00030.2014</u>
- Ganeshan, K., & Chawla, A. (2017). Warming the mouse to model human diseases. *Nature Reviews. Endocrinology*, 13(8), 458–465. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.48
- Garvey, W. T., Kwon, S., Zheng, D., Shaughnessy, S., Wallace, P., Hutto, A., Pugh, K., Jenkins, A. J., Klein, R. L., & Liao, Y. (2003). Effects of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes on lipoprotein subclass particle size and concentration determined by nuclear magnetic resonance. *Diabetes*, 52(2), 453–462. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.2.453</u>
- Gavin, K. M., Melanson, E. L., Hildreth, K. L., Gibbons, E., Bessesen, D. H., & Kohrt, W. M. (2020). A randomized controlled trial of ovarian suppression in premenopausal women: No change in free-living energy expenditure. *Obesity*, *28*(11), 2125–2133. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22978
- Geisler, C., Braun, W., Pourhassan, M., Schweitzer, L., Glüer, C.-C., Bosy-Westphal, A., & Müller, M. J. (2016a). Age-dependent changes in resting energy expenditure (REE): Insights from detailed body composition analysis in normal and overweight healthy caucasians. *Nutrients*, 8(6), E322. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8060322</u>
- Geisler, C., Braun, W., Pourhassan, M., Schweitzer, L., Glüer, C.-C., Bosy-Westphal, A., & Müller, M. J. (2016b). Gender-specific associations in age-related changes in resting energy expenditure (REE) and MRI measured body composition in healthy caucasians. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 71(7), 941–946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glv211</u>
- Giles, E. D., Jackman, M. R., Johnson, G. C., Schedin, P. J., Houser, J. L., & MacLean, P. S. (2010). Effect of the estrous cycle and surgical ovariectomy on energy balance, fuel utilization, and physical activity in lean and obese female rats. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 299(6), R1634-1642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00219.2010</u>
- Ginsberg, H. N., Packard, C. J., Chapman, M. J., Borén, J., Aguilar-Salinas, C. A., Averna, M., Ference, B. A., Gaudet, D., Hegele, R. A., Kersten, S., Lewis, G. F., Lichtenstein, A. H., Moulin, P., Nordestgaard, B. G., Remaley, A. T., Staels, B., Stroes, E. S. G., Taskinen, M.-R., Tokgözoğlu, L. S., ... Catapano, A. L. (2021). Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and their remnants: Metabolic insights, role in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, and

emerging therapeutic strategies-a consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society. *European Heart Journal*, 42(47), 4791–4806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehab551</u>

- Giorgio, A., Santelli, L., Tomassini, V., Bosnell, R., Smith, S., Stefano, N. D., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2010). Age-related changes in grey and white matter structure throughout adulthood. *Neuroimage*, 51(3–2), 943. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.004</u>
- Godsland, I. F. (2001). Effects of postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy on lipid, lipoprotein, and apolipoprotein (a) concentrations: Analysis of studies published from 1974-2000. *Fertility and Sterility*, 75(5), 898–915. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0015-0282(01)01699-5</u>
- Goodpaster, B. H., He, J., Watkins, S., & Kelley, D. E. (2001). Skeletal muscle lipid content and insulin resistance: Evidence for a paradox in endurance-trained athletes. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 86(12), 5755–5761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.86.12.8075</u>
- Goodpaster, B. H., & Sparks, L. M. (2017). Metabolic flexibility in health and disease. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(5), 1027–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.015
- Goris, A. H., & Westerterp, K. R. (2000). Postabsorptive respiratory quotient and food quotient-an analysis in lean and obese men and women. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54(7), 546–550. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601052
- Gould, L. M., Gordon, A. N., Cabre, H. E., Hoyle, A. T., Ryan, E. D., Hackney, A. C., & Smith-Ryan, A. E. (2022). Metabolic effects of menopause: A cross-sectional characterization of body composition and exercise metabolism. *Menopause*, 29(4), 377–389. https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.00000000001932
- Grant, L. K., Coborn, J. E., Cohn, A., Nathan, M. D., Scheer, F. A. J. L., Klerman, E. B., Kaiser, U. B., Harder, J., Abramson, M., Elguenaoui, E., Russell, J. A., Wiley, A., Rahman, S. A., & Joffe, H. (2022). Sleep fragmentation and estradiol suppression decrease fat oxidation in premenopausal women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 107(8), e3167–e3176. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgac313
- Gravholt, C. H., Riis, A. L., Møller, N., & Christiansen, J. S. (2007). Protein metabolism in Turner syndrome and the impact of hormone replacement therapy. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 67(3), 413–418. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.02902.x
- Greendale, G. A., Sternfeld, B., Huang, M., Han, W., Karvonen-Gutierrez, C., Ruppert, K., Cauley, J. A., Finkelstein, J. S., Jiang, S.-F., & Karlamangla, A. S. (2019). Changes in body composition and weight during the menopause transition. *JCI Insight*, 4(5). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.124865
- Grisotto, G., Raguindin, P. F., Glisic, M., Bally, L., Bano, A., Franco, O. H., Marques-Vidal, P., & Muka, T. (2021). Menopausal transition is not

associated with dietary change in swiss women. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 151(5), 1269–1276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxab003</u>

- Guo, C., Li, Q., Tian, G., Liu, Y., Sun, X., Yin, Z., Li, H., Chen, X., Liu, X., Zhang, D., Cheng, C., Liu, L., Liu, F., Zhou, Q., Wang, C., Li, L., Wang, B., Zhao, Y., Liu, D., ... Hu, D. (2019). Association of age at menopause and type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Primary Care Diabetes*, *13*(4), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2019.02.001
- Gurven, M. D., Trumble, B. C., Stieglitz, J., Yetish, G., Cummings, D., Blackwell, A. D., Beheim, B., Kaplan, H. S., & Pontzer, H. (2016). High resting metabolic rate among Amazonian forager-horticulturalists experiencing high pathogen burden. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 161(3), 414–425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.23040</u>
- Hall, J. E. (2016). Guyton and Hall textbook of medical physiology (13th ed., p. 925). Elsevier.
- Halsey, L. G. (2021). The Mystery of Energy Compensation. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 94(6), 380–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/716467</u>
- Han, X., Guan, Z., Xu, M., Zhang, Y., Yao, H., Meng, F., Zhuo, Y., Yu, G., Cao, X., Du, X., Bu, G., Kong, F., Huang, A., & Zeng, X. (2020). A novel follicle-stimulating hormone vaccine for controlling fat accumulation. *Theriogenology*, 148, 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2020.03.005
- Harlow, S. D., Gass, M., Hall, J. E., Lobo, R., Maki, P., Rebar, R. W., Sherman, S., Sluss, P. M., de Villiers, T. J., & STRAW 10 Collaborative Group. (2012). Executive summary of the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop + 10: Addressing the unfinished agenda of staging reproductive aging. *Menopause*, 19(4), 387–395. https://doi.org/10.1097/gme.0b013e31824d8f40
- Harris, J. A., & Benedict, F. G. (1918). A biometric study of human basal metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 4(12), 370–373. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.4.12.370
- Hawkes, K. (2003). Grandmothers and the evolution of human longevity. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 15(3), 380–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.10156</u>
- Hawkes, K., O'Connell, J. F., & Blurton Jones, N. G. (1997). Hadza women's time allocation, offspring provisioning, and the evolution of long postmenopausal life spans. *Current Anthropology*, 38(4), 551–577. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/204646</u>
- Hawley, J. A. (2002). Effect of increased fat availability on metabolism and exercise capacity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 34(9), 1485–1491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200209000-00014</u>
- Hellström, L., Blaak, E., & Hagström-Toft, E. (1996). Gender differences in adrenergic regulation of lipid mobilization during exercise. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 17(6), 439–447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-972875</u>

- Henderson, M. E. T., & Halsey, L. G. (2022). The metabolic upper critical temperature of the human thermoneutral zone. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *110*, 103380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2022.103380</u>
- Henry, C. J. K. (2005). Basal metabolic rate studies in humans: Measurement and development of new equations. *Public Health Nutrition*, 8(7A), 1133– 1152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/phn2005801</u>
- Herrmann, S. D., Willis, E. A., Honas, J. J., Lee, J., Washburn, R. A., & Donnelly, J. E. (2015). Energy intake, nonexercise physical activity, and weight loss in responders and nonresponders: The Midwest Exercise Trial 2. *Obesity*, 23(8), 1539–1549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21073</u>
- Heymsfield, S. B., Smith, B., Chung, E. A., Watts, K. L., Gonzalez, M. C., Yang, S., Heo, M., Thomas, D. M., Turner, D., Bosy-Westphal, A., & Müller, M. J. (2022). Phenotypic differences between people varying in muscularity. *Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle*, 13(2), 1100–1112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12959</u>
- Heymsfield, S. B., Smith, B., Dahle, J., Kennedy, S., Fearnbach, N., Thomas, D.
  M., Bosy-Westphal, A., & Müller, M. J. (2021). Resting energy expenditure: from cellular to whole-body level, a mechanistic historical perspective. *Obesity*, 29(3), 500–511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.23090</u>
- Hodson, L., Harnden, K., Banerjee, R., Real, B., Marinou, K., Karpe, F., & Fielding, B. A. (2014). Lower resting and total energy expenditure in postmenopausal compared with premenopausal women matched for abdominal obesity. *Journal of Nutritional Science*, *3*, e3. https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2013.38
- Hodson, L., Skeaff, C. M., & Fielding, B. A. (2008). Fatty acid composition of adipose tissue and blood in humans and its use as a biomarker of dietary intake. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 47(5), 348–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2008.03.003
- Holeček, M. (2020). Why are branched-chain amino acids increased in starvation and diabetes? *Nutrients*, 12(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12103087</u>
- Holloszy, J. O. (2009). Skeletal muscle 'mitochondrial deficiency' does not mediate insulin resistance. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 89(1), 463S-6S. <u>https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2008.26717C</u>
- Holmes, M. V., Millwood, I. Y., Kartsonaki, C., Hill, M. R., Bennett, D. A., Boxall, R., Guo, Y., Xu, X., Bian, Z., Hu, R., Walters, R. G., Chen, J., Ala-Korpela, M., Parish, S., Clarke, R. J., Peto, R., Collins, R., Li, L., Chen, Z., & China Kadoorie Biobank Collaborative Group. (2018). Lipids, lipoproteins, and metabolites and risk of myocardial infarction and stroke. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 71(6), 620–632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.12.006</u>
- Horton, T. J., & Hill, J. O. (2001). Prolonged fasting significantly changes nutrient oxidation and glucose tolerance after a normal mixed meal. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 90(1), 155–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2001.90.1.155</u>

- Huffman, K. M., Parker, D. C., Bhapkar, M., Racette, S. B., Martin, C. K., Redman, L. M., Das, S. K., Connelly, M. A., Pieper, C. F., Orenduff, M., Ross, L. M., Ramaker, M. E., Dorling, J. L., Rosen, C. J., Shalaurova, I., Otvos, J. D., Kraus, V. B., Kraus, W. E., & CALERIE<sup>TM</sup> Investigators. (2022). Calorie restriction improves lipid-related emerging cardiometabolic risk factors in healthy adults without obesity: Distinct influences of BMI and sex from CALERIE<sup>TM</sup> a multicentre, phase 2, randomised controlled trial. *EClinicalMedicine*, 43, 101261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101261
- Hulmán, A., Færch, K., Vistisen, D., Karsai, J., Nyári, T. A., Tabák, A. G., Brunner, E. J., Kivimäki, M., & Witte, D. R. (2013). Effect of time of day and fasting duration on measures of glycaemia: Analysis from the Whitehall II Study. *Diabetologia*, 56(2), 294–297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-012-2770-3
- Hwaung, P., Bosy-Westphal, A., Muller, M. J., Geisler, C., Heo, M., Thomas, D. M., Kennedy, S., & Heymsfield, S. B. (2019). Obesity tissue: Composition, energy expenditure, and energy content in adult humans. *Obesity*, 27(9), 1472–1481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22557</u>
- Hyvärinen, M., Juppi, H.-K., Taskinen, S., Karppinen, J. E., Karvinen, S., Tammelin, T. H., Kovanen, V., Aukee, P., Kujala, U. M., Rantalainen, T., Sipilä, S., & Laakkonen, E. K. (2021). Metabolic health, menopause, and physical activity – A 4-year follow-up study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 46(3), 544–554. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-01022-x</u>
- Hyvärinen, M., Sipilä, S., Kulmala, J., Hakonen, H., Tammelin, T. H., Kujala, U. M., Kovanen, V., & Laakkonen, E. K. (2020). Validity and reliability of a single question for leisure-time physical activity assessment in middle-aged women. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 28(2), 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2019-0093
- Isacco, L., Ennequin, G., & Boisseau, N. (2020). Effect of fat mass localization on fat oxidation during endurance exercise in women. *Frontiers in Physiology*. 11:585137. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.585137</u>
- Isola, V., Hulmi, J. J., Petäjä, P., Helms, E. R., Karppinen, J. E., & Ahtiainen, J. P. (2023). Weight loss induces changes in adaptive thermogenesis in female and male physique athletes. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2022-0372</u>
- Jacka, F. N. (2017). Nutritional psychiatry: Where to next? *EBioMedicine*, 17, 24–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.02.020
- Janssen, I., Powell, L. H., Crawford, S., Lasley, B., & Sutton-Tyrrell, K. (2008). Menopause and the metabolic syndrome: The Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *168*(14), 1568–1575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.168.14.1568</u>
- Javed, A. A., Mayhew, A. J., Shea, A. K., & Raina, P. (2019). Association between hormone therapy and muscle mass in postmenopausal women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(8), e1910154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.10154</u>

- Jensen, J., Nilas, L., & Christiansen, C. (1990). Influence of menopause on serum lipids and lipoproteins. *Maturitas*, 12(4), 321–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5122(90)90012-u</u>
- Jeukendrup, A. E., & Wallis, G. A. (2005). Measurement of substrate oxidation during exercise by means of gas exchange measurements. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 26 Suppl 1, S28-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-830512</u>
- Johnson, L. G., Kraemer, R. R., Kraemer, G. R., Haltom, R. W., Cordill, A. E., Welsch, M. A., Durand, R. J., & Castracane, V. D. (2002). Substrate utilization during exercise in postmenopausal women on hormone replacement therapy. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 88(3), 282– 287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-002-0686-1</u>
- Johnston, N., Schenck-Gustafsson, K., & Lagerqvist, B. (2011). Are we using cardiovascular medications and coronary angiography appropriately in men and women with chest pain? *European Heart Journal*, 32(11), 1331– 1336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehr009</u>
- Jones, P. R., Rajalahti, T., Resaland, G. K., Aadland, E., Steene-Johannessen, J., Anderssen, S. A., Bathen, T. F., Andreassen, T., Kvalheim, O. M., & Ekelund, U. (2022). Associations of lipoprotein particle profile and objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time in schoolchildren: A prospective cohort study. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 19(1), 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-022-01244-w</u>
- Jones, T. E., Pories, W. J., Houmard, J. A., Tanner, C. J., Zheng, D., Zou, K., Coen, P. M., Goodpaster, B. H., Kraus, W. E., & Dohm, G. L. (2019). Plasma lactate as a marker of metabolic health: Implications of elevated lactate for impairment of aerobic metabolism in the metabolic syndrome. *Surgery*, *166*(5), 861–866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2019.04.017</u>
- Jørgensen, S. W., Brøns, C., Bluck, L., Hjort, L., Færch, K., Thankamony, A., Gillberg, L., Friedrichsen, M., Dunger, D. B., & Vaag, A. A. (2015). Metabolic response to 36 hours of fasting in young men born small vs appropriate for gestational age. *Diabetologia*, 58(1), 178–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3406-6</u>
- Juárez-Rojas, J. G., Torre-Villalvazo, I., Medina-Urrutia, A. X., Reyes-Barrera, J., Sainz-Escárrega, V. H., Posadas-Romero, C., Macías-Cruz, A., & Jorge-Galarza, E. (2020). Participation of white adipose tissue dysfunction on circulating HDL cholesterol and HDL particle size in apparently healthy humans. *International Journal of Obesity*, 44(4), 920–928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-019-0493-y</u>
- Juppi, H.-K., Sipilä, S., Cronin, N. J., Karvinen, S., Karppinen, J. E., Tammelin, T. H., Aukee, P., Kovanen, V., Kujala, U. M., & Laakkonen, E. K. (2020).
  Role of menopausal transition and physical activity in loss of lean and muscle mass: A follow-up study in middle-aged Finnish women. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(5), E1588. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9051588</u>

- Juppi, H.-K., Sipilä, S., Fachada, V., Hyvärinen, M., Cronin, N., Aukee, P., Karppinen, J. E., Selänne, H., Kujala, U. M., Kovanen, V., Karvinen, S., & Laakkonen, E. K. (2022). Total and regional body adiposity increases during menopause-evidence from a follow-up study. *Aging Cell*, 21(6), e13621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13621</u>
- Kalhan, S. C., Mahajan, S., Burkett, E., Reshef, L., & Hanson, R. W. (2001). Glyceroneogenesis and the source of glycerol for hepatic triacylglycerol synthesis in humans. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(16), 12928– 12931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M006186200</u>
- Kang, J., Hasan, S. B., Ellis, N. A., Vought, I. T., Ratamess, N. A., Bush, J. A., & Faigenbaum, A. D. (2020). Effects of exercise with and without energy replacement on substrate utilization in the fasting state. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 39(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2019.1605549
- Kannel, W. B., Hjortland, M. C., McNamara, P. M., & Gordon, T. (1976). Menopause and risk of cardiovascular disease: The Framingham study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 85(4), 447–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-85-4-447</u>
- Karjalainen, A., Heikkinen, J., Savolainen, M. J., Bäckström, A. C., & Kesäniemi, Y. A. (2000). Mechanisms regulating LDL metabolism in subjects on peroral and transdermal estrogen replacement therapy. *Arteriosclerosis*, *Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 20(4), 1101–1106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.20.4.1101</u>
- Karjalainen, M. K., Holmes, M. V., Wang, Q., Anufrieva, O., Kähönen, M., Lehtimäki, T., Havulinna, A. S., Kristiansson, K., Salomaa, V., Perola, M., Viikari, J. S., Raitakari, O. T., Järvelin, M.-R., Ala-Korpela, M., & Kettunen, J. (2020). Apolipoprotein A-I concentrations and risk of coronary artery disease: A Mendelian randomization study. *Atherosclerosis*, 299, 56–63.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2020.02.002

- Karvinen, S., Jergenson, M. J., Hyvärinen, M., Aukee, P., Tammelin, T., Sipilä, S., Kovanen, V., Kujala, U. M., & Laakkonen, E. K. (2019). Menopausal status and physical activity are independently associated with cardiovascular risk factors of healthy middle-aged women: Crosssectional and longitudinal evidence. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00589</u>
- Kashiwazaki, H., Dejima, Y., & Suzuki, T. (1990). Influence of upper and lower thermoneutral room temperatures (20 degrees C and 25 degrees C) on fasting and post-prandial resting metabolism under different outdoor temperatures. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 44(5), 405–413.
- Katzmarzyk, P. T., Friedenreich, C., Shiroma, E. J., & Lee, I.-M. (2022). Physical inactivity and non-communicable disease burden in low-income, middle-income and high-income countries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 56(2), 101–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2020-103640</u>

- Kelley, D. E., Goodpaster, B., Wing, R. R., & Simoneau, J. A. (1999). Skeletal muscle fatty acid metabolism in association with insulin resistance, obesity, and weight loss. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 277(6), E1130-1141. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1999.277.6.E1130
- Kelley, D. E., & Simoneau, J. A. (1994). Impaired free fatty acid utilization by skeletal muscle in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 94(6), 2349–2356. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117600
- Kenny, G. P., Notley, S. R., & Gagnon, D. (2017). Direct calorimetry: A brief historical review of its use in the study of human metabolism and thermoregulation. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 117(9), 1765– 1785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-017-3670-5</u>
- Khan, S. U., Yedlapati, S. H., Lone, A. N., Khan, M. S., Wenger, N. K., Watson, K. E., Gulati, M., Hays, A. G., & Michos, E. D. (2022). A comparative analysis of premature heart disease- and cancer-related mortality in women in the USA, 1999-2018. *European Heart Journal. Quality of Care & Clinical Outcomes*, 8(3), 315–323. https://doi.org/10.1093/ehjqcco/qcaa099
- Klein, K. O., Rosenfield, R. L., Santen, R. J., Gawlik, A. M., Backeljauw, P. F., Gravholt, C. H., Sas, T. C. J., & Mauras, N. (2018). Estrogen replacement in turner syndrome: Literature review and practical considerations. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 103(5), 1790–1803. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-02183</u>
- Knight, M. G., Anekwe, C., Washington, K., Akam, E. Y., Wang, E., & Stanford, F. C. (2021). Weight regulation in menopause. *Menopause*, 28(8), 960–965. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.00000000001792</u>
- Kotronen, A., Velagapudi, V. R., Yetukuri, L., Westerbacka, J., Bergholm, R., Ekroos, K., Makkonen, J., Taskinen, M.-R., Oresic, M., & Yki-Järvinen, H. (2009). Serum saturated fatty acids containing triacylglycerols are better markers of insulin resistance than total serum triacylglycerol concentrations. *Diabetologia*, 52(4), 684–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-009-1282-2
- Kovanen, V., Aukee, P., Kokko, K., Finni, T., Tarkka, I. M., Tammelin, T., Kujala, U. M., Sipilä, S., & Laakkonen, E. K. (2018). Design and protocol of Estrogenic Regulation of Muscle Apoptosis (ERMA) study with 47 to 55-year-old women's cohort: Novel results show menopause-related differences in blood count. *Menopause*, 25(9), 1020–1032. https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.00000000001117
- Kraynak, M., Colman, R. J., Flowers, M. T., Abbott, D. H., & Levine, J. E. (2019). Ovarian estradiol supports sexual behavior but not energy homeostasis in female marmoset monkeys. *International Journal of Obesity*, 43(5), 1034– 1045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-018-0156-4</u>
- Kujala, U. M., Kaprio, J., Sarna, S., & Koskenvuo, M. (1998). Relationship of leisure-time physical activity and mortality: The Finnish twin cohort. *JAMA*, 279(6), 440–444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.279.6.440</u>

Kujala, U. M., Mäkinen, V.-P., Heinonen, I., Soininen, P., Kangas, A. J., Leskinen, T. H., Rahkila, P., Würtz, P., Kovanen, V., Cheng, S., Sipilä, S., Hirvensalo, M., Telama, R., Tammelin, T., Savolainen, M. J., Pouta, A., O'Reilly, P. F., Mäntyselkä, P., Viikari, J., ... Ala-Korpela, M. (2013). Long-term leisure-time physical activity and serum metabolome. *Circulation*, 127(3), 340–348.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.105551

- Kujala, U. M., Vaara, J. P., Kainulainen, H., Vasankari, T., Vaara, E., & Kyröläinen, H. (2019). Associations of aerobic fitness and maximal muscular strength with metabolites in young men. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(8), e198265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.8265</u>
- Kumahara, H., Tanaka, H., & Schutz, Y. (2010). Physical activity under confinement and free-living conditions. *Physiology & Behavior*, 100(4), 350–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.03.015</u>
- Kunz, I., Schorr, U., Klaus, S., & Sharma, A. M. (2000). Resting metabolic rate and substrate use in obesity hypertension. *Hypertension*, 36(1), 26–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.hyp.36.1.26</u>
- Laakkonen, E. K., Kulmala, J., Aukee, P., Hakonen, H., Kujala, U. M., Lowe, D. A., Kovanen, V., Tammelin, T., & Sipilä, S. (2017). Female reproductive factors are associated with objectively measured physical activity in middle-aged women. *PloS One*, *12*(2), e0172054. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172054
- Laakkonen, E. K., Soliymani, R., Karvinen, S., Kaprio, J., Kujala, U. M., Baumann, M., Sipilä, S., Kovanen, V., & Lalowski, M. (2017). Estrogenic regulation of skeletal muscle proteome: A study of premenopausal women and postmenopausal MZ cotwins discordant for hormonal therapy. *Aging Cell*, 16(6), 1276–1287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12661</u>
- Lakka, T. A., & Salonen, J. T. (1992). Intra-person variability of various physical activity assessments in the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 21(3), 467–472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/21.3.467</u>
- Lambrinoudaki, I., Paschou, S. A., Armeni, E., & Goulis, D. G. (2022). The interplay between diabetes mellitus and menopause: Clinical implications. *Nature Reviews. Endocrinology*, 18(10), 608–622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-022-00708-0</u>
- Lanzi, S., Codecasa, F., Cornacchia, M., Maestrini, S., Salvadori, A., Brunani, A., & Malatesta, D. (2014). Fat oxidation, hormonal and plasma metabolite kinetics during a submaximal incremental test in lean and obese adults. *PloS One*, 9(2), e88707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088707</u>
- Lee, C. G., Carr, M. C., Murdoch, S. J., Mitchell, E., Woods, N. F., Wener, M. H., Chandler, W. L., Boyko, E. J., & Brunzell, J. D. (2009). Adipokines, inflammation, and visceral adiposity across the menopausal transition: A prospective study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 94(4), 1104–1110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-0701</u>

- Leeners, B., Geary, N., Tobler, P. N., & Asarian, L. (2017). Ovarian hormones and obesity. *Human Reproduction Update*, 23(3), 300–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmw045</u>
- Lehtovirta, M., Wu, F., Rovio, S. P., Heinonen, O. J., Laitinen, T. T., Niinikoski, H., Lagström, H., Viikari, J. S. A., Rönnemaa, T., Jula, A., Ala-Korpela, M., Raitakari, O. T., & Pahkala, K. (2022). Association of physical activity with metabolic profile from adolescence to adulthood. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.14261
- Levine, J. A. (2004). Nonexercise activity thermogenesis (NEAT): Environment and biology. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 286(5), E675-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00562.2003</u>
- Lieberman, D. E., Kistner, T. M., Richard, D., Lee, I.-M., & Baggish, A. L. (2021). The active grandparent hypothesis: Physical activity and the evolution of extended human healthspans and lifespans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(50), e2107621118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2107621118</u>
- Liu, P., Ji, Y., Yuen, T., Rendina-Ruedy, E., DeMambro, V. E., Dhawan, S., Abu-Amer, W., Izadmehr, S., Zhou, B., Shin, A. C., Latif, R., Thangeswaran, P., Gupta, A., Li, J., Shnayder, V., Robinson, S. T., Yu, Y. E., Zhang, X., Yang, F., ... Zaidi, M. (2017). Blocking FSH induces thermogenic adipose tissue and reduces body fat. *Nature*, 546(7656), 107–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22342</u>
- Liu, X., & Locasale, J. W. (2017). Metabolomics: A primer. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 42(4), 274–284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2017.01.004</u>
- Loomba, R., Friedman, S. L., & Shulman, G. I. (2021). Mechanisms and disease consequences of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Cell*, *184*(10), 2537–2564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.04.015</u>
- Lovejoy, J. C., Champagne, C. M., de Jonge, L., Xie, H., & Smith, S. R. (2008). Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. *International Journal of Obesity*, 32(6), 949–958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2008.25</u>
- Lowell, B. B., & Shulman, G. I. (2005). Mitochondrial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. *Science*, *307*(5708), 384–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1104343</u>
- Luke, A., Adeyemo, A., Kramer, H., Forrester, T., & Cooper, R. S. (2004). Association between blood pressure and resting energy expenditure independent of body size. *Hypertension*, 43(3), 555–560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000118020.44335.20</u>
- Luoto, R., Kaprio, J., & Uutela, A. (1994). Age at natural menopause and sociodemographic status in Finland. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 139(1), 64–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116936</u>
- Luukkonen, P. K., Qadri, S., Ahlholm, N., Porthan, K., Männistö, V., Sammalkorpi, H., Penttilä, A. K., Hakkarainen, A., Lehtimäki, T. E., Gaggini, M., Gastaldelli, A., Ala-Korpela, M., Orho-Melander, M., Arola,

J., Juuti, A., Pihlajamäki, J., Hodson, L., & Yki-Järvinen, H. (2021). Distinct contributions of metabolic dysfunction and genetic risk factors in the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Journal of Hepatology*, *76*(3), 526–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2021.10.013</u>

- Lwin, R., Darnell, B., Oster, R., Lawrence, J., Foster, J., Azziz, R., & Gower, B. A. (2008). Effect of oral estrogen on substrate utilization in postmenopausal women. *Fertility and Sterility*, 90(4), 1275–1278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.07.1317
- Lyu, K., Zhang, D., Song, J., Li, X., Perry, R. J., Samuel, V. T., & Shulman, G. I. (2021). Short-term overnutrition induces white adipose tissue insulin resistance through sn-1,2-diacylglycerol/PKCε/insulin receptor Thr1160 phosphorylation. *JCI Insight*, 6(4), e139946. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.139946
- Maas, A. H. E. M., Rosano, G., Cifkova, R., Chieffo, A., van Dijken, D., Hamoda, H., Kunadian, V., Laan, E., Lambrinoudaki, I., Maclaran, K., Panay, N., Stevenson, J. C., van Trotsenburg, M., & Collins, P. (2021).
  Cardiovascular health after menopause transition, pregnancy disorders, and other gynaecologic conditions: A consensus document from European cardiologists, gynaecologists, and endocrinologists. *European Heart Journal*, 42(10), 967–984.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa1044
- Macdonald, H. M., New, S. A., & Reid, D. M. (2005). Longitudinal changes in dietary intake in Scottish women around the menopause: Changes in dietary pattern result in minor changes in nutrient intake. *Public Health Nutrition*, *8*(4), 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1079/phn2005705
- MacKenzie-Shalders, K., Kelly, J. T., So, D., Coffey, V. G., & Byrne, N. M. (2020). The effect of exercise interventions on resting metabolic rate: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 38(14), 1635–1649. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2020.1754716
- Madsen, C. M., Varbo, A., & Nordestgaard, B. G. (2017). Extreme high highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol is paradoxically associated with high mortality in men and women: Two prospective cohort studies. *European Heart Journal*, 38(32), 2478–2486. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx163
- Magnus-Levy, A. (1947). Energy metabolism in health and disease. *Journal of the History of Medicine and Allied Sciences*, 2(3), 307–320. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhmas/ii.3.307
- Mahendran, Y., Cederberg, H., Vangipurapu, J., Kangas, A. J., Soininen, P., Kuusisto, J., Uusitupa, M., Ala-Korpela, M., & Laakso, M. (2013).
  Glycerol and fatty acids in serum predict the development of hyperglycemia and type 2 diabetes in finnish men. *Diabetes Care*, 36(11), 3732–3738. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-0800</u>
- Mahendran, Y., Jonsson, A., Have, C. T., Allin, K. H., Witte, D. R., Jørgensen, M. E., Grarup, N., Pedersen, O., Kilpeläinen, T. O., & Hansen, T. (2017).Genetic evidence of a causal effect of insulin resistance on branched-

chain amino acid levels. *Diabetologia*, 60(5), 873–878. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4222-6

- Manson, J. E., Aragaki, A. K., Rossouw, J. E., Anderson, G. L., Prentice, R. L., LaCroix, A. Z., Chlebowski, R. T., Howard, B. V., Thomson, C. A., Margolis, K. L., Lewis, C. E., Stefanick, M. L., Jackson, R. D., Johnson, K. C., Martin, L. W., Shumaker, S. A., Espeland, M. A., Wactawski-Wende, J., & WHI Investigators. (2017). Menopausal hormone therapy and longterm all-cause and cause-specific mortality: The Women's Health Initiative randomized trials. *JAMA*, *318*(10), 927–938. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.11217</u>
- Manson, J. E., Chlebowski, R. T., Stefanick, M. L., Aragaki, A. K., Rossouw, J. E., Prentice, R. L., Anderson, G., Howard, B. V., Thomson, C. A., LaCroix, A. Z., Wactawski-Wende, J., Jackson, R. D., Limacher, M., Margolis, K. L., Wassertheil-Smoller, S., Beresford, S. A., Cauley, J. A., Eaton, C. B., Gass, M., ... Wallace, R. B. (2013). Menopausal hormone therapy and health outcomes during the intervention and extended poststopping phases of the Women's Health Initiative randomized trials. *JAMA*, 310(13), 1353– 1368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.278040</u>
- Marinou, K., Adiels, M., Hodson, L., Frayn, K. N., Karpe, F., & Fielding, B. A. (2011). Young women partition fatty acids towards ketone body production rather than VLDL-TAG synthesis, compared with young men. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 105(6), 857–865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510004472</u>
- Marjoribanks, J., Farquhar, C., Roberts, H., Lethaby, A., & Lee, J. (2017). Longterm hormone therapy for perimenopausal and postmenopausal women. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 1, CD004143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004143.pub5</u>
- Marlatt, K. L., Lovre, D., Beyl, R. A., Tate, C. R., Hayes, E. K., Burant, C. F., Ravussin, E., & Mauvais-Jarvis, F. (2020). Effect of conjugated estrogens and bazedoxifene on glucose, energy and lipid metabolism in obese postmenopausal women. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 183(4), 439– 452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-20-0619</u>
- Martin, C. K., Johnson, W. D., Myers, C. A., Apolzan, J. W., Earnest, C. P., Thomas, D. M., Rood, J. C., Johannsen, N. M., Tudor-Locke, C., Harris, M., Hsia, D. S., & Church, T. S. (2019). Effect of different doses of supervised exercise on food intake, metabolism, and non-exercise physical activity: The E-MECHANIC randomized controlled trial. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *110*(3), 583–592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqz054</u>
- Masip, G., Keski-Rahkonen, A., Pietiläinen, K. H., Kujala, U. M., Rottensteiner, M., Väisänen, K., Kaprio, J., & Bogl, L. H. (2019). Development of a foodbased diet quality score from a short FFQ and associations with obesity measures, eating styles and nutrient intakes in Finnish twins. *Nutrients*, 11(11), 256. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11112561</u>

- Matsuda, M., & DeFronzo, R. A. (1999). Insulin sensitivity indices obtained from oral glucose tolerance testing: Comparison with the euglycemic insulin clamp. *Diabetes Care*, 22(9), 1462–1470. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.22.9.1462
- Matthews, K. A., Crawford, S. L., Chae, C. U., Everson-Rose, S. A., Sowers, M. F., Sternfeld, B., & Sutton-Tyrrell, K. (2009). Are changes in cardiovascular disease risk factors in midlife women due to chronological aging or to the menopausal transition? *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 54(25), 2366–2373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2009.10.009
- Matthews, K. A., X, C., E, B.-M., Mm, B., Ca, D., S, H., Ea, J., Rc, T., & Sr, E. K. (2021). Age at menopause in relationship to lipid changes and subclinical carotid disease across 20 years: Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 10(18). https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.121.021362
- Mattick, L. J., Bea, J. W., Singh, L., Hovey, K. M., Banack, H. R., Wactawski-Wende, J., Manson, J. E., Funk, J. L., & Ochs-Balcom, H. M. (2022). Serum follicle-stimulating hormone and 5-year change in adiposity in healthy postmenopausal women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 107(8), e3455–e3462. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgac238
- Maunder, E., Plews, D. J., & Kilding, A. E. (2018). Contextualising maximal fat oxidation during exercise: Determinants and normative values. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *9*, 599. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00599</u>
- Mauvais-Jarvis, F., Clegg, D. J., & Hevener, A. L. (2013). The role of estrogens in control of energy balance and glucose homeostasis. *Endocrine Reviews*, 34(3), 309–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2012-1055</u>
- Melanson, E. L. (2017). The effect of exercise on non-exercise physical activity and sedentary behavior in adults. *Obesity Reviews*, 18 Suppl 1, 40–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12507</u>
- Melanson, E. L., Gavin, K. M., Shea, K. L., Wolfe, P., Wierman, M. E., Schwartz, R. S., & Kohrt, W. M. (2015). Regulation of energy expenditure by estradiol in premenopausal women. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 119(9), 975–981. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00473.2015</u>
- Melanson, E. L., MacLean, P. S., & Hill, J. O. (2009). Exercise improves fat metabolism in muscle but does not increase 24-h fat oxidation. *Exercise* and Sport Sciences Reviews, 37(2), 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1097/JES.0b013e31819c2f0b
- Miles-Chan, J. L., Dulloo, A. G., & Schutz, Y. (2015). Fasting substrate oxidation at rest assessed by indirect calorimetry: Is prior dietary macronutrient level and composition a confounder? *International Journal of Obesity*, 39(7), 1114–1117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.29</u>
- Mohanty, S. S., & Mohanty, P. K. (2021). Obesity as potential breast cancer risk factor for postmenopausal women. *Genes & Diseases*, 8(2), 117–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2019.09.006</u>

- Monda, V., Salerno, M., Fiorenzo, M., Villano, I., Viggiano, A., Sessa, F., Triggiani, A. I., Cibelli, G., Valenzano, A., Marsala, G., Zammit, C., Ruberto, M., Messina, G., Monda, M., De Luca, V., & Messina, A. (2017). Role of sex hormones in the control of vegetative and metabolic functions of middle-aged women. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *8*, 773. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00773</u>
- Monteleone, P., Mascagni, G., Giannini, A., Genazzani, A. R., & Simoncini, T. (2018). Symptoms of menopause – Global prevalence, physiology and implications. *Nature Reviews. Endocrinology*, 14(4), 199–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.180</u>
- Moreau, K. L., Hildreth, K. L., Meditz, A. L., Deane, K. D., & Kohrt, W. M. (2012). Endothelial function is impaired across the stages of the menopause transition in healthy women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 97(12), 4692–4700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-2244</u>
- Morze, J., Wittenbecher, C., Schwingshackl, L., Danielewicz, A., Rynkiewicz, A., Hu, F. B., & Guasch-Ferré, M. (2022). Metabolomics and type 2 diabetes risk: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Diabetes Care*, 45(4), 1013–1024. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc21-1705
- Moskvina, V., & Schmidt, K. M. (2008). On multiple-testing correction in genome-wide association studies. *Genetic Epidemiology*, 32(6), 567–573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gepi.20331</u>
- Muka, T., Asllanaj, E., Avazverdi, N., Jaspers, L., Stringa, N., Milic, J., Ligthart, S., Ikram, M. A., Laven, J. S. E., Kavousi, M., Dehghan, A., & Franco, O. H. (2017). Age at natural menopause and risk of type 2 diabetes: A prospective cohort study. *Diabetologia*, 60(10), 1951–1960. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4346-8
- Muka, T., Oliver-Williams, C., Kunutsor, S., Laven, J. S. E., Fauser, B. C. J. M., Chowdhury, R., Kavousi, M., & Franco, O. H. (2016). Association of age at onset of menopause and time since onset of menopause with cardiovascular outcomes, intermediate vascular traits, and all-cause mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Cardiology*, 1(7), 767–776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2016.2415</u>
- Müller, M. J., Bosy-Westphal, A., Klaus, S., Kreymann, G., Lührmann, P. M., Neuhäuser-Berthold, M., Noack, R., Pirke, K. M., Platte, P., Selberg, O., & Steiniger, J. (2004). World Health Organization equations have shortcomings for predicting resting energy expenditure in persons from a modern, affluent population: Generation of a new reference standard from a retrospective analysis of a German database of resting energy expenditure. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 80(5), 1379–1390. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/80.5.1379
- Müller, M. J., Geisler, C., Hübers, M., Pourhassan, M., Braun, W., & Bosy-Westphal, A. (2018). Normalizing resting energy expenditure across the

life course in humans: Challenges and hopes. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72(5), 628–637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41430-018-0151-9</u>

- Müller, M. J., Heymsfield, S. B., & Bosy-Westphal, A. (2021). Are metabolic adaptations to weight changes an artefact? *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 114(4), 1386–1395. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/ngab184
- Müller, T. D., Klingenspor, M., & Tschöp, M. H. (2021). Revisiting energy expenditure: How to correct mouse metabolic rate for body mass. *Nature Metabolism*, 3(9), 1134–1136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s42255-021-00451-2</u>
- Muoio, D. M., & Neufer, P. D. (2012). Lipid-induced mitochondrial stress and insulin action in muscle. *Cell Metabolism*, *15*(5), 595–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.04.010
- Mustelin, L., Latvala, A., Pietiläinen, K. H., Piirilä, P., Sovijärvi, A. R., Kujala, U. M., Rissanen, A., & Kaprio, J. (2011). Associations between sports participation, cardiorespiratory fitness, and adiposity in young adult twins. *Journal of Applied Physiology (Bethesda, Md.: 1985), 110*(3), 681–686. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00753.2010
- Mutie, P. M., Pomares-Milan, H., Atabaki-Pasdar, N., Coral, D., Fitipaldi, H., Tsereteli, N., Tajes, J. F., Franks, P. W., & Giordano, G. N. (2023). Investigating the causal relationships between excess adiposity and cardiometabolic health in men and women. *Diabetologia*, 66(2), 321–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-022-05811-5</u>
- Nappi, R. E., Chedraui, P., Lambrinoudaki, I., & Simoncini, T. (2022). Menopause: A cardiometabolic transition. *The Lancet. Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 10(6), 442–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00076-6
- Nasr, A., Matthews, K., Janssen, I., Brooks, M. M., Barinas-Mitchell, E., Orchard, T. J., Billheimer, J., Wang, N. C., McConnell, D., Rader, D. J., & El Khoudary, S. R. (2022). Associations of abdominal and cardiovascular adipose tissue depots with HDL metrics in midlife women: The SWAN study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 107(6), e2245– e2257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgac148</u>
- Nattrass, S., Croft, D. P., Ellis, S., Cant, M. A., Weiss, M. N., Wright, B. M., Stredulinsky, E., Doniol-Valcroze, T., Ford, J. K. B., Balcomb, K. C., & Franks, D. W. (2019). Postreproductive killer whale grandmothers improve the survival of their grandoffspring. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(52), 26669–26673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1903844116</u>
- Newgard, C. B., An, J., Bain, J. R., Muehlbauer, M. J., Stevens, R. D., Lien, L. F., Haqq, A. M., Shah, S. H., Arlotto, M., Slentz, C. A., Rochon, J., Gallup, D., Ilkayeva, O., Wenner, B. R., Yancy, W. S., Eisenson, H., Musante, G., Surwit, R. S., Millington, D. S., ... Svetkey, L. P. (2009). A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. *Cell Metabolism*, 9(4), 311– 326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2009.02.002</u>

- Nordby, P., Rosenkilde, M., Ploug, T., Westh, K., Feigh, M., Nielsen, N. B., Helge, J. W., & Stallknecht, B. (2015). Independent effects of endurance training and weight loss on peak fat oxidation in moderately overweight men: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 118(7), 803–810. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00715.2014</u>
- Nordic Council of Ministers. (2012). *Nordic nutrition recommendations* 2012: *Integrating nutrition and physical activity* (5th ed.). <u>https://doi.org/10.6027/Nord2014-002</u>
- Numao, S., Hayashi, Y., Katayama, Y., Matsuo, T., & Tanaka, K. (2009). Sex differences in substrate oxidation during aerobic exercise in obese men and postmenopausal obese women. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, *58*(9), 1312–1319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2009.04.015</u>
- Nunes, C. L., Casanova, N., Francisco, R., Bosy-Westphal, A., Hopkins, M., Sardinha, L. B., & Silva, A. M. (2022). Does adaptive thermogenesis occur after weight loss in adults? A systematic review. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 127(3), 451–469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114521001094</u>
- O'Driscoll, R., Turicchi, J., Beaulieu, K., Scott, S., Matu, J., Deighton, K., Finlayson, G., & Stubbs, J. (2020). How well do activity monitors estimate energy expenditure? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the validity of current technologies. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54(6), 332–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-099643</u>
- Ojanen, X., Cheng, R., Törmäkangas, T., Rappaport, N., Wilmanski, T., Wu, N., Fung, E., Nedelec, R., Sebert, S., Vlachopoulos, D., Yan, W., Price, N. D., Cheng, S., & Wiklund, P. (2021). Towards early risk biomarkers: Serum metabolic signature in childhood predicts cardio-metabolic risk in adulthood. *EBioMedicine*, 72, 103611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103611
- Oosthuyse, T., Strauss, J. A., & Hackney, A. C. (2022). Understanding the female athlete: Molecular mechanisms underpinning menstrual phase differences in exercise metabolism. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-022-05090-3
- O'Sullivan, A. J., Crampton, L. J., Freund, J., & Ho, K. K. (1998). The route of estrogen replacement therapy confers divergent effects on substrate oxidation and body composition in postmenopausal women. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 102(5), 1035–1040. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI2773
- Otvos, J. D., Shalaurova, I., Wolak-Dinsmore, J., Connelly, M. A., Mackey, R. H., Stein, J. H., & Tracy, R. P. (2015). GlycA: A composite nuclear magnetic resonance biomarker of systemic inflammation. *Clinical Chemistry*, 61(5), 714–723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2014.232918</u>
- Overlie, I., Moen, M. H., Morkrid, L., Skjaeraasen, J. S., & Holte, A. (1999). The endocrine transition around menopause – A five years prospective study with profiles of gonadotropines, estrogens, androgens and SHBG among healthy women. *Acta Obstetricia Et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 78(7), 642– 647.

- Packard, C. J., Boren, J., & Taskinen, M.-R. (2020). Causes and Consequences of Hypertriglyceridemia. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11, 252. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00252</u>
- Pafili, K., Paschou, S. A., Armeni, E., Polyzos, S. A., Goulis, D. G., & Lambrinoudaki, I. (2022). Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease through the female lifespan: The role of sex hormones. *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, 45(9), 1609–1623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-022-01766-x</u>
- Pakarinen, M., Raitanen, J., Kaaja, R., & Luoto, R. (2010). Secular trend in the menopausal age in Finland 1997-2007 and correlation with socioeconomic, reproductive and lifestyle factors. *Maturitas*, 66(4), 417– 422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2010.04.005</u>
- Palmer, N. D., Stevens, R. D., Antinozzi, P. A., Anderson, A., Bergman, R. N., Wagenknecht, L. E., Newgard, C. B., & Bowden, D. W. (2015). Metabolomic profile associated with insulin resistance and conversion to diabetes in the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 100(3), E463-468. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-2357
- Paneni, F., Beckman, J. A., Creager, M. A., & Cosentino, F. (2013). Diabetes and vascular disease: Pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: part I. *European Heart Journal*, 34(31), 2436–2443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/eht149</u>
- Parini, P., Angelin, B., & Rudling, M. (1997). Importance of estrogen receptors in hepatic LDL receptor regulation. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 17(9), 1800–1805. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.17.9.1800</u>
- Paschou, S. A., Anagnostis, P., Goulis, D. G., & Lambrinoudaki, I. (2018). Androgen excess and post-reproductive health. *Maturitas*, 115, 115–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2018.04.005</u>
- Pedersen, B. K., & Saltin, B. (2015). Exercise as medicine Evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 25 Suppl 3, 1–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12581</u>
- Pellegrino, A., Tiidus, P. M., & Vandenboom, R. (2022). Mechanisms of estrogen influence on skeletal muscle: Mass, regeneration, and mitochondrial function. *Sports Medicine*, 52(12), 2853–2869. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-022-01733-9
- Péronnet, F., & Haman, F. (2019). Low capacity to oxidize fat and body weight. *Obesity Reviews*, 20(10), 1367–1383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12910</u>
- Péronnet, F., & Massicotte, D. (1991). Table of nonprotein respiratory quotient: An update. *Canadian Journal of Sport Sciences*, 16(1), 23–29.
- Peters, S. A. E., Huxley, R. R., & Woodward, M. (2014). Diabetes as risk factor for incident coronary heart disease in women compared with men: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 64 cohorts including 858,507 individuals and 28,203 coronary events. *Diabetologia*, 57(8), 1542–1551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3260-6</u>

- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Deepayan, S., Heisterkamp, S., Van Willigen, B., & Ranke, J. (2022). *nlme: Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models* (3.1-157). <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nlme</u>
- Pontzer, H. (2018). Energy constraint as a novel mechanism linking exercise and health. *Physiology*, 33(6), 384–393. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00027.2018
- Pontzer, H., Raichlen, D. A., Gordon, A. D., Schroepfer-Walker, K. K., Hare, B., O'Neill, M. C., Muldoon, K. M., Dunsworth, H. M., Wood, B. M., Isler, K., Burkart, J., Irwin, M., Shumaker, R. W., Lonsdorf, E. V., & Ross, S. R. (2014). Primate energy expenditure and life history. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(4), 1433– 1437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1316940111</u>
- Pontzer, H., Raichlen, D. A., Wood, B. M., Mabulla, A. Z. P., Racette, S. B., & Marlowe, F. W. (2012). Hunter-gatherer energetics and human obesity. *PloS One*, *7*(7), e40503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040503</u>
- Pontzer, H., Wood, B. M., & Raichlen, D. A. (2018). Hunter-gatherers as models in public health. *Obesity Reviews*, 19 Suppl 1, 24–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12785
- Pontzer, H., Yamada, Y., Sagayama, H., Ainslie, P. N., Andersen, L. F., Anderson, L. J., Arab, L., Baddou, I., Bedu-Addo, K., Blaak, E. E., Blanc, S., Bonomi, A. G., Bouten, C. V. C., Bovet, P., Buchowski, M. S., Butte, N. F., Camps, S. G., Close, G. L., Cooper, J. A., ... IAEA DLW Database Consortium. (2021). Daily energy expenditure through the human life course. *Science*, 373(6556), 808–812. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abe5017
- Prince, S. A., Adamo, K. B., Hamel, M. E., Hardt, J., Connor Gorber, S., & Tremblay, M. (2008). A comparison of direct versus self-report measures for assessing physical activity in adults: A systematic review. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 5, 56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-5-56</u>
- Psychogios, N., Hau, D. D., Peng, J., Guo, A. C., Mandal, R., Bouatra, S., Sinelnikov, I., Krishnamurthy, R., Eisner, R., Gautam, B., Young, N., Xia, J., Knox, C., Dong, E., Huang, P., Hollander, Z., Pedersen, T. L., Smith, S. R., Bamforth, F., ... Wishart, D. S. (2011). The human serum metabolome. *PloS One*, 6(2), e16957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016957</u>
- Purdom, T., Kravitz, L., Dokladny, K., & Mermier, C. (2018). Understanding the factors that effect maximal fat oxidation. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 15, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12970-018-0207-1</u>
- R Core Team. (2022). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Raichlen, D. A., Pontzer, H., Harris, J. A., Mabulla, A. Z. P., Marlowe, F. W., Josh Snodgrass, J., Eick, G., Colette Berbesque, J., Sancilio, A., & Wood, B. M. (2017). Physical activity patterns and biomarkers of cardiovascular disease risk in hunter-gatherers. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 29(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.22919

- Ravi, S., Love, J., & Dropmann, D. (2020). *jmv: The 'jamovi' analyses* (1.2.23.). <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=jmv</u>
- Rege, J., Nakamura, Y., Satoh, F., Morimoto, R., Kennedy, M. R., Layman, L. C., Honma, S., Sasano, H., & Rainey, W. E. (2013). Liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry analysis of human adrenal vein 19-carbon steroids before and after ACTH stimulation. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 98(3), 1182–1188. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-2912
- Reimer, R. A., Debert, C. T., House, J. L., & Poulin, M. J. (2005). Dietary and metabolic differences in pre- versus postmenopausal women taking or not taking hormone replacement therapy. *Physiology & Behavior*, 84(2), 303–312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.12.011</u>
- Revelle, W. (2022). *psych: Procedures for psychological, psychometric, and personality Research* (2.2.5). <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=psych</u>
- Richardson, S. J., Senikas, V., & Nelson, J. F. (1987). Follicular depletion during the menopausal transition: Evidence for accelerated loss and ultimate exhaustion. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 65(6), 1231–1237. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-65-6-1231
- Richardson, T. G., Sanderson, E., Palmer, T. M., Ala-Korpela, M., Ference, B. A., Davey Smith, G., & Holmes, M. V. (2020). Evaluating the relationship between circulating lipoprotein lipids and apolipoproteins with risk of coronary heart disease: A multivariable Mendelian randomisation analysis. *PLoS Medicine*, *17*(3), e1003062. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003062

Riou, M.-È., Jomphe-Tremblay, S., Lamothe, G., Stacey, D., Szczotka, A., & Doucet, É. (2015). Predictors of energy compensation during exercise interventions: A systematic review. *Nutrients*, 7(5), 3677–3704.

https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7053677

- Robinson, S. L., Chambers, E. S., Fletcher, G., & Wallis, G. A. (2016). Lipolytic markers, insulin and resting fat oxidation are associated with maximal fat oxidation. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, *37*(8), 607–613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0042-100291</u>
- Robinson, S. L., Hattersley, J., Frost, G. S., Chambers, E. S., & Wallis, G. A. (2015). Maximal fat oxidation during exercise is positively associated with 24-hour fat oxidation and insulin sensitivity in young, healthy men. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *118*(11), 1415–1422. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00058.2015
- Roden, M., & Shulman, G. I. (2019). The integrative biology of type 2 diabetes. *Nature*, 576(7785), 51–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1797-8</u>
- Rogers, N. H., Perfield, J. W., Strissel, K. J., Obin, M. S., & Greenberg, A. S. (2009). Reduced energy expenditure and increased inflammation are early events in the development of ovariectomy-induced obesity. *Endocrinology*, 150(5), 2161–2168. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-1405
- Romijn, J. A., Coyle, E. F., Sidossis, L. S., Gastaldelli, A., Horowitz, J. F., Endert, E., & Wolfe, R. R. (1993). Regulation of endogenous fat and carbohydrate

metabolism in relation to exercise intensity and duration. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 265(3 Pt 1), E380-391. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1993.265.3.E380

- Ronkainen, P. H. A., Kovanen, V., Alén, M., Pöllänen, E., Palonen, E.-M., Ankarberg-Lindgren, C., Hämäläinen, E., Turpeinen, U., Kujala, U. M., Puolakka, J., Kaprio, J., & Sipilä, S. (2009). Postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy modifies skeletal muscle composition and function: A study with monozygotic twin pairs. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 107(1), 25–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.91518.2008</u>
- Ronkainen, P. H. A., Pöllänen, E., Alén, M., Pitkänen, R., Puolakka, J., Kujala, U. M., Kaprio, J., Sipilä, S., & Kovanen, V. (2010). Global gene expression profiles in skeletal muscle of monozygotic female twins discordant for hormone replacement therapy. *Aging Cell*, 9(6), 1098–1110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00636.x</u>
- Rosenkilde, M., Nordby, P., Nielsen, L. B., Stallknecht, B. M., & Helge, J. W. (2010). Fat oxidation at rest predicts peak fat oxidation during exercise and metabolic phenotype in overweight men. *International Journal of Obesity*, 34(5), 871–877. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.11</u>
- Rosenkilde, M., Reichkendler, M. H., Auerbach, P., Bonne, T. C., Sjödin, A., Ploug, T., & Stallknecht, B. M. (2015). Changes in peak fat oxidation in response to different doses of endurance training. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 25(1), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12151
- Rosner, W., Hankinson, S. E., Sluss, P. M., Vesper, H. W., & Wierman, M. E. (2013). Challenges to the measurement of estradiol: An endocrine society position statement. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 98(4), 1376–1387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-3780</u>
- Rossouw, J. E., Anderson, G. L., Prentice, R. L., LaCroix, A. Z., Kooperberg, C., Stefanick, M. L., Jackson, R. D., Beresford, S. A. A., Howard, B. V., Johnson, K. C., Kotchen, J. M., Ockene, J., & Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators. (2002). Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: Principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 288(3), 321–333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.288.3.321</u>
- Rottensteiner, M., Leskinen, T., Niskanen, E., Aaltonen, S., Mutikainen, S., Wikgren, J., Heikkilä, K., Kovanen, V., Kainulainen, H., Kaprio, J., Tarkka, I. M., & Kujala, U. M. (2015). Physical activity, fitness, glucose homeostasis, and brain morphology in twins. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 47(3), 509–518.

```
https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000437
```

Roubenoff, R., Hughes, V. A., Dallal, G. E., Nelson, M. E., Morganti, C., Kehayias, J. J., Singh, M. A., & Roberts, S. (2000). The effect of gender and body composition method on the apparent decline in lean mass-adjusted resting metabolic rate with age. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A*, *Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *55*(12), M757-760. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/55.12.m757

- Ruegsegger, G. N., Creo, A. L., Cortes, T. M., Dasari, S., & Nair, K. S. (2018). Altered mitochondrial function in insulin-deficient and insulin-resistant states. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 128(9), 3671–3681. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI120843</u>
- Salpeter, S. R., Walsh, J. M. E., Ormiston, T. M., Greyber, E., Buckley, N. S., & Salpeter, E. E. (2006). Meta-analysis: Effect of hormone-replacement therapy on components of the metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women. *Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism, 8*(5), 538–554. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1326.2005.00545.x
- Sangwung, P., Petersen, K. F., Shulman, G. I., & Knowles, J. W. (2020). Mitochondrial dysfunction, insulin resistance, and potential genetic implications. *Endocrinology*, 161(4), bqaa017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/endocr/bqaa017</u>
- Santosa, S., Khosla, S., McCready, L. K., & Jensen, M. D. (2010). Effects of estrogen and testosterone on resting energy expenditure in older men. *Obesity*, *18*(12), 2392–2394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2010.98</u>
- Sarin, H. V., Lee, J. H., Jauhiainen, M., Joensuu, A., Borodulin, K., Männistö, S., Jin, Z., Terwilliger, J. D., Isola, V., Ahtiainen, J. P., Häkkinen, K., Kristiansson, K., Hulmi, J. J., & Perola, M. (2019). Substantial fat mass loss reduces low-grade inflammation and induces positive alteration in cardiometabolic factors in normal-weight individuals. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 3450. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40107-6
- Sarzynski, M. A., Burton, J., Rankinen, T., Blair, S. N., Church, T. S., Després, J.-P., Hagberg, J. M., Landers-Ramos, R., Leon, A. S., Mikus, C. R., Rao, D. C., Seip, R. L., Skinner, J. S., Slentz, C. A., Thompson, P. D., Wilund, K. R., Kraus, W. E., & Bouchard, C. (2015). The effects of exercise on the lipoprotein subclass profile: A meta-analysis of 10 interventions. *Atherosclerosis*, 243(2), 364–372.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.10.018

- Sarzynski, M. A., Rice, T. K., Després, J.-P., Pérusse, L., Tremblay, A., Stanforth, P. R., Tchernof, A., Barber, J. L., Falciani, F., Clish, C., Robbins, J. M., Ghosh, S., Gerszten, R. E., Leon, A. S., Skinner, J. S., Rao, D. C., & Bouchard, C. (2022). The HERITAGE family study: A review of the effects of exercise training on cardiometabolic health, with insights into molecular transducers. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 54(5S), S1–S43. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0000000002859
- Sasaki, J. E., John, D., & Freedson, P. S. (2011). Validation and comparison of ActiGraph activity monitors. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 14(5), 411–416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2011.04.003</u>
- Scharhag-Rosenberger, F., Meyer, T., Walitzek, S., & Kindermann, W. (2010). Effects of one year aerobic endurance training on resting metabolic rate and exercise fat oxidation in previously untrained men and women.
Metabolic endurance training adaptations. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 31(7), 498–504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1249621</u>

- Schattinger, C. M., Leonard, J. T., Pappas, C. L., Ormsbee, M. J., & Panton, L. B. (2021). The effects of pre-sleep consumption of casein protein on nextmorning measures of RMR and appetite compared between sedentary pre- and postmenopausal women. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 125(2), 121–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114520001506</u>
- Schmidt, M. I., Duncan, B. B., Bang, H., Pankow, J. S., Ballantyne, C. M., Golden, S. H., Folsom, A. R., Chambless, L. E., & Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Investigators. (2005). Identifying individuals at high risk for diabetes: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. *Diabetes Care*, 28(8), 2013–2018. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.28.8.2013</u>
- Schoeller, D. A., & Hnilicka, J. M. (1996). Reliability of the doubly labeled water method for the measurement of total daily energy expenditure in freeliving subjects. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 126(1), 348S-354S.
- Schoeller, D. A., Ravussin, E., Schutz, Y., Acheson, K. J., Baertschi, P., & Jéquier, E. (1986). Energy expenditure by doubly labeled water: Validation in humans and proposed calculation. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 250(5 Pt 2), R823-830. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1986.250.5.R823</u>
- Schoenaker, D. A. J. M., Jackson, C. A., Rowlands, J. V., & Mishra, G. D. (2014). Socioeconomic position, lifestyle factors and age at natural menopause: A systematic review and meta-analyses of studies across six continents. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 43(5), 1542–1562. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyu094
- Seah, J. Y. H., Hong, Y., Cichońska, A., Sabanayagam, C., Nusinovici, S., Wong, T. Y., Cheng, C.-Y., Jousilahti, P., Lundqvist, A., Perola, M., Salomaa, V., Tai, E. S., Würtz, P., van Dam, R. M., & Sim, X. (2022). Circulating metabolic biomarkers are consistently associated with type 2 diabetes risk in asian and european populations. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 107(7), e2751–e2761. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgac212
- Sevastianova, K., Santos, A., Kotronen, A., Hakkarainen, A., Makkonen, J., Silander, K., Peltonen, M., Romeo, S., Lundbom, J., Lundbom, N., Olkkonen, V. M., Gylling, H., Fielding, B. A., Rissanen, A., & Yki-Järvinen, H. (2012). Effect of short-term carbohydrate overfeeding and long-term weight loss on liver fat in overweight humans. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 96(4), 727–734. <u>https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.112.038695</u>
- Sharrett, A. R., Ballantyne, C. M., Coady, S. A., Heiss, G., Sorlie, P. D., Catellier, D., Patsch, W., & Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study Group. (2001). Coronary heart disease prediction from lipoprotein cholesterol levels, triglycerides, lipoprotein(a), apolipoproteins A-I and B, and HDL density subfractions: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *Circulation*, 104(10), 1108–1113. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc3501.095214

- Shaw, C. S., Swinton, C., Morales-Scholz, M. G., McRae, N., Erftemeyer, T., Aldous, A., Murphy, R. M., & Howlett, K. F. (2020). Impact of exercise training status on the fiber type-specific abundance of proteins regulating intramuscular lipid metabolism. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 128(2), 379–389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00797.2019</u>
- Shifren, J. L., Gass, M. L. S., & NAMS Recommendations for Clinical Care of Midlife Women Working Group. (2014). The North American Menopause Society recommendations for clinical care of midlife women. *Menopause*, 21(10), 1038–1062. https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.00000000000319
- Siervo, M., Oggioni, C., Lara, J., Celis-Morales, C., Mathers, J. C., Battezzati, A., Leone, A., Tagliabue, A., Spadafranca, A., & Bertoli, S. (2015). Agerelated changes in resting energy expenditure in normal weight, overweight and obese men and women. *Maturitas*, 80(4), 406–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.12.023
- Sipilä, S., Taaffe, D. R., Cheng, S., Puolakka, J., Toivanen, J., & Suominen, H. (2001). Effects of hormone replacement therapy and high-impact physical exercise on skeletal muscle in post-menopausal women: A randomized placebo-controlled study. *Clinical Science*, 101(2), 147–157.
- Siri-Tarino, P. W., Chiu, S., Bergeron, N., & Krauss, R. M. (2015). Saturated fats versus polyunsaturated fats versus carbohydrates for cardiovascular disease prevention and treatment. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 35, 517– 543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071714-034449</u>
- Skinner, J. S., Wilmore, K. M., Jaskolska, A., Jaskolski, A., Daw, E. W., Rice, T., Gagnon, J., Leon, A. S., Wilmore, J. H., Rao, D. C., & Bouchard, C. (1999). Reproducibility of maximal exercise test data in the HERITAGE family study. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 31(11), 1623–1628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199911000-00020</u>
- Smith, C. D., Lin, C.-T., McMillin, S. L., Weyrauch, L. A., Schmidt, C. A., Smith, C. A., Kurland, I. J., Witczak, C. A., & Neufer, P. D. (2021). Genetically increasing flux through β-oxidation in skeletal muscle increases mitochondrial reductive stress and glucose intolerance. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 320(5), E938–E950. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00010.2021</u>
- Smith, G. I., Reeds, D. N., Okunade, A. L., Patterson, B. W., & Mittendorfer, B. (2014). Systemic delivery of estradiol, but not testosterone or progesterone, alters very low density lipoprotein-triglyceride kinetics in postmenopausal women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 99(7), E1306–E1310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-4470</u>
- Smith, G. I., Yoshino, J., Reeds, D. N., Bradley, D., Burrows, R. E., Heisey, H. D., Moseley, A. C., & Mittendorfer, B. (2014). Testosterone and progesterone, but not estradiol, stimulate muscle protein synthesis in postmenopausal women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 99(1), 256– 265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-2835</u>

- Sniderman, A. D., Thanassoulis, G., Glavinovic, T., Navar, A. M., Pencina, M., Catapano, A., & Ference, B. A. (2019). Apolipoprotein B particles and cardiovascular disease: A narrative review. *JAMA Cardiology*, 4(12), 1287– 1295. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2019.3780
- Soares, A. G., Kilpi, F., Fraser, A., Nelson, S. M., Sattar, N., Welsh, P. I., Tilling, K., & Lawlor, D. A. (2020). Longitudinal changes in reproductive hormones through the menopause transition in the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC). *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 21258. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77871-9
- Soininen, P., Kangas, A. J., Würtz, P., Suna, T., & Ala-Korpela, M. (2015). Quantitative serum nuclear magnetic resonance metabolomics in cardiovascular epidemiology and genetics. *Circulation. Cardiovascular Genetics*, 8(1), 192–206.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.114.000216

- Song, J. D., Alves, T. C., Befroy, D. E., Perry, R. J., Mason, G. F., Zhang, X.-M., Munk, A., Zhang, Y., Zhang, D., Cline, G. W., Rothman, D. L., Petersen, K. F., & Shulman, G. I. (2020). Dissociation of muscle insulin resistance from alterations in mitochondrial substrate preference. *Cell Metabolism*, 32(5), 726-735.e5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.09.008</u>
- Sowers, M., Zheng, H., Tomey, K., Karvonen-Gutierrez, C., Jannausch, M., Li, X., Yosef, M., & Symons, J. (2007). Changes in body composition in women over six years at midlife: Ovarian and chronological aging. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 92(3), 895–901. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-1393
- Speakman, J. R., & Hambly, C. (2016). Using doubly-labelled water to measure free-living energy expenditure: Some old things to remember and some new things to consider. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A, Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 202, 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.03.017
- Sriram, N., Hunter, G. R., Fisher, G., & Brock, D. W. (2014). Resting energy expenditure and systolic blood pressure relationships in women across 4.5 years. *Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, 16(3), 172–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jch.12256</u>
- Statistics Finland. (2022). *Deaths by Underlying cause of death (time series classification)*. Retrieved 14 Oct. 2022, from <a href="https://pxdata.stat.fi:443/PxWeb/sq/da40eb01-0b87-449b-b83e-60db37361b31">https://pxdata.stat.fi:443/PxWeb/sq/da40eb01-0b87-449b-b83e-60db37361b31</a>
- Stisen, A. B., Stougaard, O., Langfort, J., Helge, J. W., Sahlin, K., & Madsen, K. (2006). Maximal fat oxidation rates in endurance trained and untrained women. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 98(5), 497–506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-006-0290-x</u>
- Strath, S. J., Kaminsky, L. A., Ainsworth, B. E., Ekelund, U., Freedson, P. S., Gary, R. A., Richardson, C. R., Smith, D. T., Swartz, A. M., & American Heart Association Physical Activity Committee of the Council on Lifestyle and Cardiometabolic Health and Cardiovascular, Exercise,

Cardiac Rehabilitation and Prevention Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology, and Council. (2013). Guide to the assessment of physical activity: Clinical and research applications: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 128(20), 2259–2279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000435708.67487.da</u>

Sullivan, E. L., Shearin, J., Koegler, F. H., & Cameron, J. L. (2012). Selective estrogen receptor modulator promotes weight loss in ovariectomized female rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta) by decreasing food intake and increasing activity. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 302(7), E759-767. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00327.2011

Sun, H., Saeedi, P., Karuranga, S., Pinkepank, M., Ogurtsova, K., Duncan, B. B., Stein, C., Basit, A., Chan, J. C. N., Mbanya, J. C., Pavkov, M. E., Ramachandaran A. Wild S. H. James S. Herman W. H. Zhang P.

- Ramachandaran, A., Wild, S. H., James, S., Herman, W. H., Zhang, P., Bommer, C., Kuo, S., Boyko, E. J., & Magliano, D. J. (2022). IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global, regional and country-level diabetes prevalence estimates for 2021 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, *183*, 109119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2021.109119</u>
- Tanner, J. M. (1949). Fallacy of per-weight and per-surface area standards, and their relation to spurious correlation. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 2(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1949.2.1.1</u>
- Thurber, C., Dugas, L. R., Ocobock, C., Carlson, B., Speakman, J. R., & Pontzer, H. (2019). Extreme events reveal an alimentary limit on sustained maximal human energy expenditure. *Science Advances*, 5(6), eaaw0341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaw0341</u>
- Tikkanen, E., Jägerroos, V., Holmes, M. V., Sattar, N., Ala-Korpela, M., Jousilahti, P., Lundqvist, A., Perola, M., Salomaa, V., & Würtz, P. (2021). Metabolic biomarker discovery for risk of peripheral artery disease compared with coronary artery disease: Lipoprotein and metabolite profiling of 31 657 individuals from 5 prospective cohorts. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 10(23), e021995. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.121.021995
- Tooze, J. A., Schoeller, D. A., Subar, A. F., Kipnis, V., Schatzkin, A., & Troiano, R. P. (2007). Total daily energy expenditure among middle-aged men and women: The OPEN Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 86(2), 382–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/86.2.382</u>
- Torres, M. J., Kew, K. A., Ryan, T. E., Pennington, E. R., Lin, C.-T., Buddo, K. A., Fix, A. M., Smith, C. A., Gilliam, L. A., Karvinen, S., Lowe, D. A., Spangenburg, E. E., Zeczycki, T. N., Shaikh, S. R., & Neufer, P. D. (2018). 17β-estradiol directly lowers mitochondrial membrane microviscosity and improves bioenergetic function in skeletal muscle. *Cell Metabolism*, 27(1), 167-179.e7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.10.003</u>
- Torres, M. J., Ryan, T. E., Lin, C.-T., Zeczycki, T. N., & Neufer, P. D. (2018). Impact of 17β-estradiol on complex I kinetics and H2O2 production in

liver and skeletal muscle mitochondria. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(43), 16889–16898. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.005148</u>

- Torres-Santiago, L., Mericq, V., Taboada, M., Unanue, N., Klein, K. O., Singh, R., Hossain, J., Santen, R. J., Ross, J. L., & Mauras, N. (2013). Metabolic effects of oral versus transdermal 17β-estradiol (E<sub>2</sub>): A randomized clinical trial in girls with Turner syndrome. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 98(7), 2716–2724. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-4243
- Urlacher, S. S., Snodgrass, J. J., Dugas, L. R., Sugiyama, L. S., Liebert, M. A., Joyce, C. J., & Pontzer, H. (2019). Constraint and trade-offs regulate energy expenditure during childhood. *Science Advances*, 5(12), eaax1065. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax1065</u>
- Vaara, J. P., Kyröläinen, H., Vasankari, T., Kainulainen, H., Raitanen, J., & Kujala, U. M. (2022). Accelerometer-based sedentary time, physical activity, and serum metabolome in young men. *Metabolites*, 12(8), 700. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/metabol2080700</u>
- van Moorsel, D., Hansen, J., Havekes, B., Scheer, F. A. J. L., Jörgensen, J. A., Hoeks, J., Schrauwen-Hinderling, V. B., Duez, H., Lefebvre, P., Schaper, N. C., Hesselink, M. K. C., Staels, B., & Schrauwen, P. (2016). Demonstration of a day-night rhythm in human skeletal muscle oxidative capacity. *Molecular Metabolism*, 5(8), 635–645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2016.06.012
- Van Pelt, R. E., Gavin, K. M., & Kohrt, W. M. (2015). Regulation of body composition and bioenergetics by estrogens. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America*, 44(3), 663–676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecl.2015.05.011</u>
- Van Pelt, R. E., Jones, P. P., Davy, K. P., Desouza, C. A., Tanaka, H., Davy, B. M., & Seals, D. R. (1997). Regular exercise and the age-related decline in resting metabolic rate in women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 82(10), 3208–3212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.82.10.4268</u>
- Vanweert, F., de Ligt, M., Hoeks, J., Hesselink, M. K. C., Schrauwen, P., & Phielix, E. (2021). Elevated plasma branched-chain amino acid levels correlate with type 2 diabetes-related metabolic disturbances. *The Journal* of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 106(4), e1827–e1836. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgaa751
- Vanweert, F., Schrauwen, P., & Phielix, E. (2022). Role of branched-chain amino acid metabolism in the pathogenesis of obesity and type 2 diabetesrelated metabolic disturbances BCAA metabolism in type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition & Diabetes*, 12(1), 35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41387-022-</u> 00213-3
- Vaz, M., Pereira, S. S., & Monteiro, M. P. (2022). Metabolomic signatures after bariatric surgery – A systematic review. *Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders*, 23(3), 503–519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11154-021-09695-5</u>
- Vellinga, R. E., van Bakel, M., Biesbroek, S., Toxopeus, I. B., de Valk, E., Hollander, A., van 't Veer, P., & Temme, E. H. M. (2022). Evaluation of

foods, drinks and diets in the Netherlands according to the degree of processing for nutritional quality, environmental impact and food costs. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 877. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13282-x</u>

- Venables, M. C., Achten, J., & Jeukendrup, A. E. (2005). Determinants of fat oxidation during exercise in healthy men and women: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 98(1), 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00662.2003
- Venables, W. N., & Ripley, B. D. (2002). *Modern Applied Statistics with S.* Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21706-2</u>
- Vergès, B. (2015). Pathophysiology of diabetic dyslipidaemia: Where are we? *Diabetologia*, 58(5), 886–899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-015-3525-8</u>
- Vieira-Potter, V. J., Padilla, J., Park, Y.-M., Welly, R. J., Scroggins, R. J., Britton, S. L., Koch, L. G., Jenkins, N. T., Crissey, J. M., Zidon, T., Morris, E. M., Meers, G. M. E., & Thyfault, J. P. (2015). Female rats selectively bred for high intrinsic aerobic fitness are protected from ovariectomy-associated metabolic dysfunction. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 308*(6), R530-542. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00401.2014
- Voight, B. F., Peloso, G. M., Orho-Melander, M., Frikke-Schmidt, R., Barbalic, M., Jensen, M. K., Hindy, G., Hólm, H., Ding, E. L., Johnson, T., Schunkert, H., Samani, N. J., Clarke, R., Hopewell, J. C., Thompson, J. F., Li, M., Thorleifsson, G., Newton-Cheh, C., Musunuru, K., ... Kathiresan, S. (2012). Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: A mendelian randomisation study. *Lancet*, 380(9841), 572–580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60312-2</u>
- von Eckardstein, A., Nordestgaard, B. G., Remaley, A. T., & Catapano, A. L. (2022). High-density lipoprotein revisited: Biological functions and clinical relevance. *European Heart Journal*, ehac605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehac605</u>
- Wagner, J., Niemeyer, M., Infanger, D., Hinrichs, T., Streese, L., Hanssen, H., Myers, J., Schmidt-Trucksäss, A., & Knaier, R. (2020). New data-based cutoffs for maximal exercise criteria across the lifespan. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 52(9), 1915-1923. <u>https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000002344</u>
- Wang, Q., Ferreira, D. L. S., Nelson, S. M., Sattar, N., Ala-Korpela, M., & Lawlor, D. A. (2018). Metabolic characterization of menopause: Crosssectional and longitudinal evidence. *BMC Medicine*, 16(1), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1008-8</u>
- Wang, Q., Holmes, M. V., Davey Smith, G., & Ala-Korpela, M. (2017). Genetic support for a causal role of insulin resistance on circulating branchedchain amino acids and inflammation. *Diabetes Care*, 40(12), 1779–1786. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-1642</u>
- Wang, Y., O'Neil, A., Jiao, Y., Wang, L., Huang, J., Lan, Y., Zhu, Y., & Yu, C. (2019). Sex differences in the association between diabetes and risk of

cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all-cause and cause-specific mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 5,162,654 participants. *BMC Medicine*, 17(1), 136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1355-0</u>

- Wang, Z., Ying, Z., Bosy-Westphal, A., Zhang, J., Schautz, B., Later, W., Heymsfield, S. B., & Müller, M. J. (2010). Specific metabolic rates of major organs and tissues across adulthood: Evaluation by mechanistic model of resting energy expenditure. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 92(6), 1369–1377. <u>https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2010.29885</u>
- Warren, J. M., Ekelund, U., Besson, H., Mezzani, A., Geladas, N., Vanhees, L., & Experts Panel. (2010). Assessment of physical activity a review of methodologies with reference to epidemiological research: A report of the exercise physiology section of the European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation*, 17(2), 127–139. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJR.0b013e32832ed875
- Weir, J. B. (1990). New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. 1949. *Nutrition*, 6(3), 213–221.
- Westerterp, K. R. (2018). Exercise, energy expenditure and energy balance, as measured with doubly labelled water. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 77(1), 4–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665117001148</u>
- Westerterp, K. R., Meijer, G. A., Janssen, E. M., Saris, W. H., & Ten Hoor, F. (1992). Long-term effect of physical activity on energy balance and body composition. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 68(1), 21–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn19920063</u>
- White, P. J., Lapworth, A. L., McGarrah, R. W., Kwee, L. C., Crown, S. B., Ilkayeva, O., An, J., Carson, M. W., Christopher, B. A., Ball, J. R., Davies, M. N., Kjalarsdottir, L., George, T., Muehlbauer, M. J., Bain, J. R., Stevens, R. D., Koves, T. R., Muoio, D. M., Brozinick, J. T., ... Newgard, C. B. (2020). Muscle-liver trafficking of BCAA-derived nitrogen underlies obesity-related glycine depletion. *Cell Reports*, 33(6), 108375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108375</u>
- White, P. J., McGarrah, R. W., Herman, M. A., Bain, J. R., Shah, S. H., & Newgard, C. B. (2021). Insulin action, type 2 diabetes, and branchedchain amino acids: A two-way street. *Molecular Metabolism*, 52, 101261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2021.101261</u>
- Wildman, R. P., & Sowers, M. R. (2011). Adiposity and the menopausal transition. Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America, 38(3), 441– 454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2011.05.003</u>
- Willis, E. A., Herrmann, S. D., Honas, J. J., Lee, J., Donnelly, J. E., & Washburn, R. A. (2014). Nonexercise energy expenditure and physical activity in the Midwest Exercise Trial 2. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 46(12), 2286–2294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000354</u>
- Wilmore, J. H., Stanforth, P. R., Hudspeth, L. A., Gagnon, J., Daw, E. W., Leon, A. S., Rao, D. C., Skinner, J. S., & Bouchard, C. (1998). Alterations in

resting metabolic rate as a consequence of 20 wk of endurance training: The HERITAGE Family Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68(1), 66–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/68.1.66</u>

- Wilson, P. W. F., Meigs, J. B., Sullivan, L., Fox, C. S., Nathan, D. M., & D'Agostino, R. B. (2007). Prediction of incident diabetes mellitus in middle-aged adults: The Framingham Offspring Study. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 167(10), 1068–1074. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.167.10.1068
- Witte, M. M., Resuehr, D., Chandler, A. R., Mehle, A. K., & Overton, J. M. (2010). Female mice and rats exhibit species-specific metabolic and behavioral responses to ovariectomy. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 166(3), 520–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.01.006
- Wolfe, R. R., Peters, E. J., Klein, S., Holland, O. B., Rosenblatt, J., & Gary, H. (1987). Effect of short-term fasting on lipolytic responsiveness in normal and obese human subjects. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 252(2 Pt 1), E189-196. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1987.252.2.E189
- Woods, N. F., Carr, M. C., Tao, E. Y., Taylor, H. J., & Mitchell, E. S. (2006). Increased urinary cortisol levels during the menopausal transition. *Menopause*, 13(2), 212–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.gme.0000198490.57242.2e</u>
- Woods, N. F., & Mitchell, E. S. (2005). Symptoms during the perimenopause: Prevalence, severity, trajectory, and significance in women's lives. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 118 Suppl 12B, 14–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.09.031
- Wu, S. A., Kersten, S., & Qi, L. (2021). Lipoprotein Lipase and Its Regulators: An Unfolding Story. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 32(1), 48–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2020.11.005</u>
- Würtz, P., Havulinna, A. S., Soininen, P., Tynkkynen, T., Prieto-Merino, D., Tillin, T., Ghorbani, A., Artati, A., Wang, Q., Tiainen, M., Kangas, A. J., Kettunen, J., Kaikkonen, J., Mikkilä, V., Jula, A., Kähönen, M., Lehtimäki, T., Lawlor, D. A., Gaunt, T. R., ... Salomaa, V. (2015). Metabolite profiling and cardiovascular event risk: A prospective study of 3 population-based cohorts. *Circulation*, 131(9), 774–785. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013116
- Würtz, P., Kangas, A. J., Soininen, P., Lawlor, D. A., Davey Smith, G., & Ala-Korpela, M. (2017). Quantitative serum nuclear magnetic resonance metabolomics in large-scale epidemiology: A primer on -omic technologies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 186(9), 1084–1096. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx016</u>
- Würtz, P., Mäkinen, V.-P., Soininen, P., Kangas, A. J., Tukiainen, T., Kettunen, J., Savolainen, M. J., Tammelin, T., Viikari, J. S., Rönnemaa, T., Kähönen, M., Lehtimäki, T., Ripatti, S., Raitakari, O. T., Järvelin, M.-R., & Ala-Korpela, M. (2012). Metabolic signatures of insulin resistance in 7,098

young adults. *Diabetes*, 61(6), 1372–1380. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-1355</u>

- Yi, S.-W., Park, S.-J., Yi, J.-J., Ohrr, H., & Kim, H. (2021). High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and all-cause mortality by sex and age: A prospective cohort study among 15.8 million adults. *International Journal* of Epidemiology, 50(3), 902–913. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyaa243
- Yki-Järvinen, H., Luukkonen, P. K., Hodson, L., & Moore, J. B. (2021). Dietary carbohydrates and fats in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Nature Reviews*. *Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 18(11), 770–786. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-021-00472-y
- Zhu, D., Chung, H. F., Dobson, A. J., Pandeya, N., Giles, G. G., Bruinsma, F., Brunner, E. J., Kuh, D., Hardy, R., Avis, N. E., Gold, E. B., Derby, C. A., Matthews, K. A., Cade, J. E., Greenwood, D. C., Demakakos, P., Brown, D. E., Sievert, L. L., Anderson, D., ... Mishra, G. D. (2019). Age at natural menopause and risk of incident cardiovascular disease: A pooled analysis of individual patient data. *The Lancet Public Health*, 4(11), e553– e564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30155-0</u>
- Zidon, T. M., Padilla, J., Fritsche, K. L., Welly, R. J., McCabe, L. T., Stricklin, O. E., Frank, A., Park, Y., Clegg, D. J., Lubahn, D. B., Kanaley, J. A., & Vieira-Potter, V. J. (2020). Effects of ERβ and ERα on OVX-induced changes in adiposity and insulin resistance. *The Journal of Endocrinology*, 245(1), 165–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-19-0321</u>
- Zitting, K.-M., Vujovic, N., Yuan, R. K., Isherwood, C. M., Medina, J. E., Wang, W., Buxton, O. M., Williams, J. S., Czeisler, C. A., & Duffy, J. F. (2018).
  Human resting energy expenditure varies with circadian phase. *Current Biology*, 28(22), 3685-3690.e3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.10.005</u>

## **ORIGINAL PAPERS**

Ι

## MENOPAUSE MODULATES THE CIRCULATING METABOLOME: EVIDENCE FROM A PROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY

by

Karppinen, J.E., Törmäkangas, T., Kujala, U.M., Sipilä, S., Laukkanen, J., Aukee, P., Kovanen, V. & Laakkonen, E.K. 2022

European Journal of Preventive Cardiology vol 29 (10): 1448-1459

https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjpc/zwac060

Reproduced with kind permission by Oxford University Press.



# Menopause modulates the circulating metabolome: evidence from a prospective cohort study<sup>†</sup>

## Jari E. Karppinen ()<sup>1</sup>, Timo Törmäkangas ()<sup>2</sup>, Urho M. Kujala ()<sup>1</sup>, Sarianna Sipilä ()<sup>2</sup>, Jari Laukkanen ()<sup>1,3,4</sup>, Pauliina Aukee ()<sup>5</sup>, Vuokko Kovanen ()<sup>2</sup>, and Eija K. Laakkonen ()<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland; <sup>2</sup>Gerontology Research Center and Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland; <sup>3</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Central Finland Health Care District, Jyväskylä, Finland; <sup>4</sup>Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland; and <sup>5</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Pelvic Floor Research and Therapy Unit, Central Finland Health Care District, Jyväskylä, Finland; Finland; Finland

Received 26 January 2022; revised 22 February 2022; accepted 17 March 2022

Aims	We studied the changes in the circulating metabolome and their relation to the menopausal hormonal shift in 17β-oes- tradiol and follicle-stimulating hormone levels among women transitioning from perimenopause to early postmenopause.
Methods and results	We analysed longitudinal data from 218 Finnish women, 35 of whom started menopausal hormone therapy during the study. The menopausal transition was monitored with menstrual diaries and serum hormone measurements. The median follow-up was 14 months (interquartile range: 8–20). Serum metabolites were quantified with targeted nuclear magnetic resonance metabolomics. The model results were adjusted for age, follow-up duration, education, lifestyle, and multiple comparisons. Menopause was associated with 85 metabolite measures. The concentration of apoB (0.17 standard deviation [SD], 99.5% confidence interval [CI] 0.03–0.31), very-low-density lipoprotein triglycerides (0.25 SD, CI 0.05–0.45) and particles (0.21 SD, CI 0.05–0.36), low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol (0.17 SD, CI 0.01–0.34) and particles (0.17 SD, CI 0.03–0.31), high-density lipoprotein (HDL) triglycerides (0.24 SD, CI 0.02–0.46), glycerol (0.32 SD, CI 0.07–0.58) and leucine increased (0.25 SD, CI 0.02–0.49). Citrate ( $-0.36$ SD, CI $-0.57$ to $-0.14$ ) and 3-hydroxybutyrate concentrations decreased ( $-0.46$ SD, CI $-0.75$ to $-0.17$ ). Most metabolite changes were associated with the menopausal hormonal shift. This explained 11% and 9% of the LDL cholesterol and particle concentration increase, respectively. Menopausal hormone therapy was associated with increased medium-to-large HDL particle count and decreased small-to-medium LDL particle and glycine concentration.
Conclusions	Menopause is associated with proatherogenic circulating metabolome alterations. Female sex hormones levels are con- nected to the alterations, highlighting their impact on women's cardiovascular health.

© The Author(s) 2022. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of European Society of Cardiology.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel: +358408053588, Email: eija.k.laakkonen@jyu.fi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>+</sup> The work was performed at Gerontology Research Center and Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

#### **Graphical Abstract**



**Keywords** 

Menopause • Hormone replacement therapy • Cardiovascular diseases • Metabolomics • Oestradiol

## Introduction

Most women face menopause at the age of 48–52 years,<sup>1</sup> resulting from the cessation of ovarian follicular activity and diagnosed 12 months after the final menstrual period.<sup>2</sup> The characteristic menopausal hormonal shift consists of a decline in 17β-oestradiol (E2) and a concomitant increase in follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) levels.<sup>1</sup> Oestrogen-containing menopausal hormone therapy (MHT) alleviates menopausal symptoms and restores systemic E2 without lowering FSH to premenopausal levels.<sup>3</sup>

Menopause is thought to predispose women to atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ACVD) since they develop obstructive coronary artery disease 7–10 years later than men, and this risk rises after menopause.<sup>4</sup> Also, premature menopause is associated with an increased ACVD risk.<sup>5</sup> The causality between these phenomena is difficult to prove, as the menopause-driven metabolic changes may predispose women to present ACVD at an older age, making it difficult to distinguish their effects from other ageing-related changes.<sup>6</sup> Moreover, as it is generally not possible to predict the timing of menopause, establishing appropriate longitudinal study settings is challenging. Perimenopause (the menopausal transition phase) also differs in timing and duration among individuals.<sup>1</sup> Therefore, individual information on menopause progression benefits the investigation of menopausal effects.

Research on clinical biomarkers supports the relationship between menopause and ACVD risk. In longitudinal studies, menopause is associated with increases in circulating triglyceride and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels. However, the effect of menopause on high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol concentration and its direction is controversial.<sup>7–10</sup> The biomarker changes may result directly from the menopausal hormonal shift or indirectly via increased adiposity.<sup>11</sup> The role of female sex hormones is strengthened by studies on MHT in postmenopausal women. Oestrogen-only MHT lowers LDL cholesterol and increases HDL cholesterol concentrations accompanied by a rise in triglyceride levels when administered orally.<sup>12</sup> In combination with MHT, the effects on HDL cholesterol are modulated by selected progestogen.<sup>12</sup> MHT may also improve blood glucose regulation,<sup>13</sup> reflecting broad systemic effects on metabolism.

Compared with clinical methods, metabolomics offer a wider lens to investigate menopausal effects on the circulating metabolome. Two population-level nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) metabolomics studies on menopause have been conducted. The cross-sectional study by Auro *et al.*<sup>14</sup> examined associations between age, sex, and menopause and the circulating metabolome in 26 065 Finnish and Estonian individuals, including 10 083 women. Later, Wang *et al.*<sup>15</sup> investigated cross-sectional associations in the UK among 3312 women, with 1492 longitudinal samples taken 2.5 years apart. Their results were similar; menopause was associated with a proatherogenic shift in lipoprotein measurements and non-lipid metabolites, such as amino acids.<sup>14,15</sup> Both studies relied on self-reported menopausal status and did not associate the findings to the female sex hormone levels.

Therefore, here, we investigated whether the menopause-related hormonal shift modulates the circulating metabolome in a longitudinal design, where the follow-up of the menopausal transition progression was individualized and monitored with repeated FSH level measurements. The premise was that menopause has an identifiable metabolomic fingerprint resulting from the shift of female sex hormone levels.

## **Methods**

#### Study design and participants

This study used data from the Estrogenic Regulation of Muscle Apoptosis (ERMA) prospective cohort study<sup>16</sup> and was approved by the ethics committee of the Central Finland Health Care District (KSSHP Dnro 8U/2014). The study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki, and participants gave informed consent.

The recruitment was carried out from 2014 to 2015. The sample was randomly drawn from the Population Information System. An invitation and a prequestionnaire were sent to 6878 women aged 47–55 living in the Jyväskylä area, of whom 3229 (47%) responded. Based on the prequestionnaire data, 1627 women were invited to menopausal status determination. Exclusion criteria were self-reported body mass index >35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and medical conditions or use of medication affecting the ovaries, the hormone or inflammatory profile, or daily functioning. The menopausal status of 1393 women was determined, and 1158 women were called to the Health and Sports Laboratory of the University of Jyväskylä for physiological and psychological measurements.

The ERMA study aimed to create a cohort for the investigation of menopausal effects with a minimum influence of ageing. Therefore, 381 perimenopausal women were invited to participate in the longitudinal Core-ERMA study (*Figure 1*). The first measurements were performed during 2015 and 2016. Women kept a menstrual diary during follow-up and visited the laboratory for the measurement of FSH levels every 3 or 6 months until early postmenopause. The follow-up was scheduled according to the participant's menopausal transition progression. The final last measurements were performed in December 2018.

Of the 381 participants, the follow-up was completed by 234 women. One participant died, and 26 dropped out. Three women reported inconsistent MHT use and 117 women did not reach postmenopause or their menopausal status was uncertain at the last measurement, leading to exclusion. From this study, we excluded 12 women using lipid or glucose-lowering medication and 4 women diagnosed with cancer. Therefore, the metabolomics analyses were performed for 218 participants, with 35 (15%) starting MHT during follow-up.

#### Hormone and metabolites profile

Blood samples were collected between 7 and 10 a.m. after overnight fasting and processed for serum collection with a standard procedure. The samples were aliquoted and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until analysis. E2 and FSH levels were measured with IMMULITE 2000 XPi (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, UK). Metabolites were analysed with a targeted proton nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H-NMR) spectroscopy platform (Nightingale Health Ltd., Helsinki, Finland; biomarker quantification version 2020).<sup>17</sup> The technical details of the method have been reported previously.<sup>18</sup> The platform quantifies 250 metabolite measures and 180 were selected as outcomes. We left the 70 lipoprotein lipid ratios out from the analyses due to the limited sample size and as they mostly provide overlapping information with absolute lipid concentrations.

## Menopausal status and menopausal hormone therapy use

The 2011 Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop (STRAW+10) guidelines were used to determine the menopausal status.<sup>2</sup> An exception was that the participants kept a menstrual diary for at least 3 months before the first blood sampling. Perimenopausal women were required to have



Figure 1 Study flowchart and statistical analysis approach.

irregular or no menstrual bleeding and FSH levels of 17–30 IU/L. During follow-up, women were determined postmenopausal after two consecutive FSH measurements of >30 IU/L and 6 months of amenorrhoea. The criterion differs from the guidelines where postmenopause begins after 12 months of amenorrhoea due to practical limitations. We decided to compromise the length of the follow-up period to maximize the number of women with valid end measurements inside a limited project funding period. The median amenorrhoea duration was 8.1 months (interquartile range: 6.5–10.4). However, the absence of menses was <6 months in 28 participants. To account for the protocol deviation, we performed a sensitivity analysis without these participants. The postmenopausal status of 25 participants was determined solely based on FSH levels because of prior hysterectomy (n = 11) or ambiguity in menstrual diary reporting (n = 14). The FSH levels were measured again at the last measurement.

MHT was queried at each follow-up meeting, and MHT participants were invited to the last measurement 6 months after the initiation of the treatment to allow the medication to exert its effects. One woman reported starting MHT 17 days before and another participant 2 days before the last measurement. We only classified the former as an MHT user

because her 2-day use of low dose transdermal E2 was unlikely to affect the studied outcomes substantially. Her metabolite levels did not significantly differ from the other participants' levels. Of the 35 MHT starters, 27 used oral products containing either E2-only (n = 7), E2 in combination with dydrogesterone (n = 16) or norethisterone acetate (n = 4). Concerning the E2-only MHT starters, five were users of levonorgestrelreleasing intrauterine devices, and two did not need progestogen because of past hysterectomy. The rest of the sample (n = 8) used transdermal MHT, seven of whom used E2-gel with a levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine device and one E2 and norethisterone acetate patches. In 2020, 12% of Finnish women aged  $\geq$ 45 years used MHT.<sup>19</sup> Therefore, the ratio of MHT users in our sample (15%) reflects frequency of MHT use in the Finnish general population.

## Education level, lifestyle factors, and body composition

Supplementary material online, *Method Supplement* includes a detailed description of the study covariates. Briefly, the education level (primary,

secondary, or tertiary) and lifestyle factors were recorded with structured questionnaires. Due to the low number of participants with primary education, primary and secondary were combined in the statistical analyses. Smoking status was classified as 'never', 'quitter', or 'current smoker'. As the number of current smokers was low, dummy variables were created to describe whether the participant had ever smoked and smoked currently. Alcohol use was calculated as portions per week. Physical activity was calculated as metabolic equivalent hours per day (MET-h/d) by assessing the duration, frequency, and intensity of leisure-time physical activity and the time spent on active commuting.<sup>20</sup> Use of common foods in Finnish food culture were recorded with a 45-item food-frequency questionnaire and the diet quality was measured with an 11-element diet quality sum score (DQS) adapted from a validated tool,<sup>21</sup> where a higher score reflects a healthier diet. Height was measured with a stadiometer at the first measurement. Body mass and body fat percentage were measured with InBody720 (Biospace, Seoul, Korea).

#### **Statistical analyses**

The statistical analyses are described in detail in the Supplementary material online, *Method Supplement*. Questionnaire-based data were missing from one participant at the first and two participants at the last measurement. We completed the missing values by inspecting participants' answers from other visits or mean imputation. Metabolite data were nearly complete, and we did not impute the rare missing values. R version 4.0.0 or newer was used for statistical analyses unless stated otherwise.

The primary results are the associations between menopause and metabolite measurements in 183 women experiencing natural menopause, i.e. who did not start MHT during follow-up (*Figure 1*). Analyses were performed using linear mixed-effect models with random intercept after metabolite Box-Cox transformation and standardization with respect to the first measurements. The metabolites were treated as outcomes and the menopausal status as exposure. Two adjusted models were built in addition to a crude model. The first adjusted model (the main study results) included the covariates of age at the first measurement, follow-up duration, education level, and lifestyle factors. In the second adjusted model, the body fat percentage (potential mediator between menopause and metabolites) was included as a covariate. The Keff-Šidák correction was used to account for multiple testing. We also performed a sensitivity analysis where we excluded the participants whose amenorrhoea duration was less than 6 months before the last measurements.

Two exploratory analyses were performed. First, the direct and indirect associations (via body fat percentage change) between the menopausal hormonal shift and metabolite changes in the women experiencing natural menopause (n = 183) were investigated using latent change score modelling. Both E2 and FSH were included in the model simultaneously because this combination better characterizes an individual's sex hormone profile as E2 levels fluctuate during perimenopause. The used model (Supplementary material online, Method Supplement Figure S1) can be seen as an extension of the paired t-test, where change is controlled for metabolite concentrations at the first measurement. The calculated effect sizes are interpreted similarly to squared semipartial correlations and indicate how much of the metabolite change is explained by the menopausal hormonal shift. Mplus version 7.4 was used to estimate the model parameters. False discovery rate adjustment was used to correct for multiple testing. The association of MHT initiation during follow-up with the metabolite measurements was studied in the whole sample (N = 218,  $n_{\text{MHT starters}}$  = 35) using menopausal status and MHT interaction as the exposure. The model structures and multiple testing corrections were performed as in the primary analysis.

## Results

Participant characteristics can be found in *Table 1*. The mean age of participants was 51.7 (SD = 1.9) at the first measurement. Hypertension was the most commonly diagnosed condition in the cohort. Participants did not use lipid-lowering agents, even though more than half had elevated LDL cholesterol levels (>3 mmol/L). MHT starters were younger than non-users at the first measurement. Moreover, they had lower FSH levels and systolic/diastolic blood pressure. As for the rest of the variables, the groups showed similar characteristics at the beginning of the study.

The median follow-up duration was 14 months (interquartile range: 8–20), ranging from 4 months to 3.5 years. Expectedly, E2 decreased and FSH increased in women not using MHT during follow-up. Among MHT starters, E2 increased without an apparent change in FSH levels. As for lifestyle factors, alcohol use decreased in both groups and body fat percentage increased by 1% for the total sample with a similar trend in both groups.

#### Menopause and metabolite associations

In Supplementary material online, Result Supplement Table S1, the absolute metabolite concentrations during the study and the unstandardized metabolite change scores of the 183 women experiencing natural menopause are shown. Menopause was associated with a statistically significant change in 85 metabolite measures (Supplementary material online, Result Supplement Table S3; the key findings are summarized in Figure 2). The apolipoprotein B (apoB)-containing particle count increased by 0.17 SD (99.95% confidence interval [CI] 0.03-0.31), resulting from the increased very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL; 0.21 SD, CI 0.05-0.36) and LDL particle counts (0.17 SD, CI 0.03–0.31). The VLDL increase favoured the increase of VLDL particle size (0.22 SD, CI 0.03-0.41). The apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I) and total HDL particle counts did not change markedly. However, it is uncertain whether small HDL subclass is affected by menopause (0.19 SD, Cl -0.01 to 0.40). From the lipid measurements, cholesterol concentrations in all apoB-containing lipoprotein classes increased from 0.17 to 0.20 SD. The increase in VLDL triglyceride (0.25 SD, CI 0.05-0.45) and HDL triglyceride concentrations (0.24 SD, Cl 0.02–0.46) was even more pronounced. Total serum fatty acid concentration did not change but the fatty acid profile shifted from polyunsaturated to saturated direction. As for the other metabolites, citrate concentration decreased by -0.36 SD (CI -0.57 to -0.14) and glycerol concentration increased by 0.32 SD (CI 0.07–0.58). Glutamine concentration decreased by -0.46 SD (Cl -0.72 to -0.20) and leucine concentration increased by 0.25 SD (CI 0.02-0.49). Acetoacetate and 3-hydroxybutyrate levels decreased by -0.44 SD (Cl -0.72 to -0.15) and -0.46 (Cl -0.75 to -0.17), respectively. When body fat percentage was included as a covariate, the association sizes of lipoprotein, lipid, glycerol, and amino acid concentrations were roughly 0.03–0.05 SD smaller (Supplementary material online, Result Supplement Table S3). The adjustment had a negligible effect on the associations of menopause with citrate and ketone levels.

The results were very similar in the sensitivity analysis where the 28 participants with <6 months of amenorrhoea were excluded; however, almost all found associations became slightly more robust (Supplementary material online, *Result Supplement Table S6*).

	Natural menopause (n = 183)		MHT starters (n = 35)		
	Perimenopause	Postmenopause	Perimenopause	Postmenopause	
Age (years)	51.9 (1.9)	53.1 (1.9)	50.6 (1.8)	52.0 (1.9)	
Follow-up (days)	_	397 (243–603)	_	464 (334–707)	
HT use (days)	-	-	-	220 (191–242)	
Sex hormones					
E2 (nmol/L)	0.25 (0.17-0.41)	0.16 (0.11-0.27)	0.25 (0.18-0.42)	0.28 (0.20-0.61)	
FSH (IU/L)	30.0 (23.4-48.5)	69.8 (46.8–89.7)	23.0 (16.5–36.1)	36.1 (18.4–60.0)	
Education					
Primary	5 (3%)	5 (3%)	1 (3%)	1 (3%)	
Secondary	100 (55%)	100 (55%)	15 (43%)	15 (43%)	
Tertiary	78 (42%)	78 (43%)	19 (54%)	19 (54%)	
Body composition					
Height (cm)	165.1 (5.7)	-	166.3 (5.5)	-	
Body mass (kg)	69.5 (11.3)	70.2 (11.6)	70.4 (10.2)	70.5 (10.8)	
Body mass index categories					
Healthy weight (<25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	92 (50%)	85 (46%)	20 (57%)	19 (54%)	
Overweight (25–29.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	66 (36%)	71 (39%)	10 (29%)	12 (34%)	
Obesity ( $\geq$ 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	25 (14%)	27 (15%)	5 (14%)	4 (11%)	
Per cent body fat (%)	30.9 (8.3)	32.1 (8.0)	30.5 (7.1)	31.4 (6.3)	
Smoking					
Never	122 (67%)	122 (67%)	26 (74%)	26 (74%)	
Quitter	49 (27%)	50 (28%)	6 (17%)	5 (14%)	
Smoker	12 (7%)	11 (6%)	3 (9%)	4 (11%)	
Alcohol use (portions/week)	3.0 (1.0–5.0)	2.5 (1.0-5.0)	4.5 (2.5–5.8)	2.5 (1.0-4.9)	
<b>Diet quality score</b> (0–11)	5.7 (2.3)	5.5 (2.1)	5.5 (2.4)	5.6 (2.4)	
Physical activity (MET-h/d)	3.6 (1.7–4.8)	3.8 (2.3–5.6)	4.5 (1.8–7.5)	4.8 (2.5–7.5)	
Blood pressure					
Diastolic (mmHg)	85 (10)	82 (10)	80 (9)	77 (11)	
Systolic (mmHg)	134 (19)	131 (18)	126 (16)	121 (14)	
Diagnosed hypertension	24 (13%)	29 (16%)	4 (11%)	4 (11%)	
ATC1 class C medication	25 (14%)	34 (19%)	5 (14%)	6 (17%)	
Dyslipidaemia and blood glucos	e				
LDL cholesterol $>3$ mmol/L <sup>a</sup>	99 (54%)	119 (65%)	22 (62%)	20 (57%)	
HDL cholesterol <1.2 mmol/L	5 (3%)	4 (2%)	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	
Triglycerides					
Optimal (<1.2 mmol/L)	123 (67%)	107 (58%)	24 (69%)	24 (69%)	
Elevated (>1.7 mmol/L)	22 (12%)	27 (15%)	1 (3%)	5 (14%)	
Fasting glucose >6 mmol/L	8 (4%)	12 (7%)	2 (6%)	3 (9%)	

Table 1	Characteristics of	f the participants at	: the first and last measuremen	its
---------	--------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------------	-----

Data as means (standard deviation), medians (interquartile range), or counts (%).

<sup>a</sup>Calculated with Friedewald formula.

E2, 17β-oestradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; MET, metabolic equivalent of task; MHT, menopausal hormone therapy.

Notably, the association between menopause and small HDL particle count was statistically significant (0.24 SD, Cl 0.01–0.47).

# Menopausal hormonal shift and metabolite changes

The menopausal hormonal shift directly explained the change in 64 of the 85 metabolites identified as menopause-responsive in the primary analysis, with effect sizes ranging from 2.1 to 11.2%

(Supplementary material online, Result Supplement Table S4). Based on the size of the standardized regression estimates of the two hormones included in the model, the decline of E2 levels had more impact on the results than the increased FSH levels. The hormonal shift was not associated with indirect metabolite changes since the shift was not associated with body fat percentage change.

The key findings are summarized in *Figure 3*. The menopausal hormonal shift directly explained the concentration increase in apoB



**Figure 2** The associations of the menopausal transition and key metabolite measurements in women experiencing natural menopause (*n* = 183) adjusted for age at the first measurement, follow-up duration, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, physical activity, and diet quality. The figure describes the standardized change (expressed as standard deviation [SD] units) in the metabolite levels during follow-up with respect to the first measurement values, allowing the comparison between metabolite measures with different units and concentrations. Apo, apolipoprotein; BCAA, branched-chain amino acids; CI, confidence interval; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; IDL, intermediate-density lipoprotein; LA, linoleic acid; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; SFA, saturated fatty acids; TG/PG, triglyceride/phosphoglyceride; VLDL, very-low-density lipoprotein.

(7.4%), LDL particles (8.5%), and LDL cholesterol (10.6%). The effect sizes concerning the total VLDL particle count (4.0%) and triglyceride levels (2.9%) were more modest. Even though the association of menopause and the increased small HDL particle count was inconclusive in the primary analysis, the exploratory analysis strongly linked them with an effect size of 10.9%. From the results concerning the association of non-lipoprotein and lipid with menopause in the primary analysis, a direct association with the hormonal shift was confirmed for glutamine (2.4%), citrate (5.0%), 3-hydroxybutyrate (4.4%), and acetoacetate (3.4%) concentrations. The largest effect size of the hormonal shift was found for tyrosine concentration (7.8%), although menopause and tyrosine



**Figure 3** The associations of menopausal hormonal change (the decline in oestradiol and increase in follicle-stimulating hormone levels) with key metabolite changes. The colours and their intensity show the association direction and the effect size. The models were adjusted for age at the first measurement, follow-up duration, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, physical activity, and diet quality. False discovery corrected *P*-values:  $* \le 0.05$ ;  $** \le 0.01$ . 3-OHB, 3-hydroxybutyrate; Ala, alanine; Apo, apolipoprotein; BCAA, branched-chain amino acids; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; Gln, glutamine; Gly, glycine; GlycA, glycoprotein acetyls; His, histidine; IDL, intermediate-density lipoprotein; Ile, isoleucine; LA, linoleic acid; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; Leu, leucine; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; Val, valine; PG, phosphoglycerides; Phe, phenylalanine; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; SFA, saturated fatty acids; TG/PG, triglyceride/phosphoglyceride ratio; Tyr, tyrosine; VLDL, very-low-density lipoprotein.

level association did not remain statistically significant in the primary analysis after multiple comparison corrections.

## Menopausal hormone therapy and metabolite changes

In Supplementary material online, Result Supplement Table S2, the absolute metabolite concentrations for MHT starters during the study including the unstandardized change scores are presented. MHT initiation during follow-up was characterized by a decreased apoB/ apoA-I ratio (Supplementary material online, Result Supplement Table S5; the key statistically significant findings are summarized in Table 2), resulting from the increased particle count in medium and large HDL subclasses and the decreased small and medium LDL subclass particle counts. VLDL was less affected by MHT than LDL and HDL. As for non-lipid metabolites, we found an inverse association between MHT and glycine concentration. Adjusting for body fat percentage did not influence these associations.

## Discussion

This study investigated the associations of menopause and circulating metabolome in 183 women transitioning from perimenopause to early postmenopause. The study also explored whether the menopausal hormonal shift explains the observed changes and whether MHT initiated during the follow-up (n = 35) was associated with metabolite changes. The results showed that menopause-induced hormonal shift is associated with a proatherogenic metabolomic fingerprint. MHT specifically influences LDL, HDL, and glycine metabolism. These findings broadly agree with earlier metabolomics studies on menopause,<sup>14,15</sup> and now connect the previous and present observations to the female sex hormone levels.

### Menopause modulates lipoprotein and lipid metabolism towards a proatherogenic profile

apoB-containing lipoproteins cause ACVD,<sup>22</sup> with LDL being the primary disease driver.<sup>23</sup> Studies using both clinical methods and metabolomics have identified LDL as one of the most menopause-responsive biomarkers.<sup>8,9,14,15</sup> In agreement with this, we report increased apoB and LDL cholesterol and particle concentration, 7–11% of which are directly explained by the menopausal hormonal shift. The underlying mechanism is probably the well-established oestrogen-mediated LDL receptor modulation,<sup>24,25</sup> influencing LDL clearance from the circulation.<sup>26</sup> However, similar to Auro et al.<sup>14</sup> but contrary to Wang et al.<sup>15</sup> menopause did not alter LDL size distribution in our study. MHT was associated with decreased particle counts in medium and small LDL subclasses, providing further evidence that female sex hormones regulate LDL

		Crude model			Adjusted model <sup>a</sup>	
Metabolite	Interaction	99.95% CI	Р	Interaction	99.95% CI	Р
apoB/apoA-I ratio	-0.54	-0.86 to -0.21	<0.001	-0.55	-0.88 to -0.22	<0.001
apoA-I	0.51	0.08 to 0.93	0.005	0.55	0.13 to 0.97	0.001
Glycine	-0.46	-0.80 to -0.11	0.001	-0.46	-0.80 to -0.12	0.001
Medium HDL particles	0.54	0.10 to 0.97	0.003	0.58	0.15 to 1.01	0.001
Large HDL particles	0.35	0.06 to 0.64	0.004	0.36	0.07 to 0.66	0.002
HDL cholesterol	0.36	0.02 to 0.70	0.028	0.39	0.05 to 0.74	0.008
HDL diameter	0.35	0.05 to 0.65	0.007	0.35	0.04 to 0.74	0.009
Small LDL particles	-0.41	-0.76 to -0.05	0.005	-0.44	-0.83 to -0.05	0.011
LDL particles	0.31	-0.76 to -0.05	0.010	-0.39	-0.75 to -0.03	0.020
Medium LDL particles	-0.39	-0.74 to -0.03	0.017	-0.37	-0.77 to -0.01	0.039

Table 2	Menopause and i	menopausal h	hormone therapy	y interactions w	ith key	y metabolite	measurements
---------	-----------------	--------------	-----------------	------------------	---------	--------------	--------------

<sup>a</sup>Age at the first measurement, follow-up duration, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, physical activity, and diet quality.

apo, apolipoprotein; CI, confidence interval; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein.

The confidence intervals and P-values were Keff-Šidák-corrected for multiple comparisons.

metabolism. These observations support the clinical guidelines to initiate MHT early into menopause as this timing offers the greatest cardioprotective benefits.<sup>4</sup>

Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins also contribute to the ACVD risk.<sup>27</sup> Menopause was associated with an increased VLDL particle count, favouring larger particles possibly in the range of VLDL1 size. Moreover, VLDL triglyceride and cholesterol concentrations increased. The observed pattern was similar to the results of Auro *et al.*<sup>14</sup> but different from Wang *et al.*<sup>15</sup> Our findings also agree with a recent study<sup>28</sup> on the sex differences in plasma metabolites at multiple life stages that identified VLDL triglycerides as the most menopause-responsive lipid measurement.

The menopause and VLDL associations observed in this study were robust against body fat percentage adjustment. Still, only  $\sim$ 4% of the VLDL changes were directly explained by the menopausal hormonal shift. Therefore, the potential causal pathway between menopause and VLDL increase probably entails mediators like insulin resistance, as overproduction of VLDL particles and hypertriglyceridaemia are hallmarks of chronically elevated insulin levels.<sup>27</sup> VLDL was less affected by MHT than the LDL variables, possibly resulting from the effect on the liver caused by the use of oral products (the majority of MHT starters in this study).<sup>26</sup>

Unlike apoB-containing lipoproteins, total HDL particle and cholesterol concentrations are associated with reduced ACVD risk in observational studies, but their causal role is debatable.<sup>29</sup> Consistent with previous metabolomic studies,<sup>14,15</sup> the apoA-I count and the HDL particle or cholesterol concentrations did not decrease during follow-up. However, in our previous study,<sup>7</sup> using data obtained with clinical immunoassay from the same serum samples, HDL cholesterol levels increased. HDL cholesterol increase was also observed during a 4-year follow-up in premenopausal women transitioning into postmenopause.<sup>10</sup> This discrepancy could result from the different measurement methods.

However, based on the present metabolomics analyses, the effects of menopause on HDL metabolism do not favour cardiovascular health. First, menopause was associated with increased HDL

triglyceride concentration that, contrary to HDL cholesterol levels, is associated with a higher risk of coronary heart disease.<sup>30</sup> Furthermore, the menopausal hormonal shift was associated with a particle count increase in the small HDL subclass, whereas MHT was associated with a particle count increase in medium and large HDL subclasses. HDL subclasses relate differently to ACVD risk as only larger particles are protective.<sup>31</sup> Moreover, HDL size distribution is linked to insulin resistance as smaller particles accumulate when glucose tolerance worsens.<sup>32</sup> Our results agree with the longitudinal The Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN) study, where menopause was associated with an increase in the small HDL particle and HDL triglyceride concentrations.<sup>33</sup> In the future, examining menopause-associated structural and functional HDL changes will provide more insight into the phenomenon.

## Menopause is associated with a metabolic signature indicative of deteriorating insulin sensitivity

Our findings from other metabolite classes link menopause to a broader deterioration of cardiovascular and metabolic health. Blood glucose levels did not increase during follow-up. However, glucose homeostasis is tightly regulated, and insulin sensitivity changes may influence other metabolites more rapidly. For example, menopause was associated with increased glycerol and decreased 3-hydro-xybutyrate and acetoacetate concentrations. Glycerol levels are inversely associated with insulin sensitivity and predict type 2 diabetes.<sup>34</sup> Conversely, ketone levels are positively associated with insulin sensitivity in sensitivity in non-diabetic subjects<sup>35</sup> like our participants. The menopause-associated decrease in ketone production fits into the picture with the observed VLDL triglyceride increase, indicating that fatty acids are rather esterified into triglycerides than used for oxidation in the liver after menopause.

Moreover, we noticed that the serum fatty acid profile changed from polyunsaturated to saturated, relating to elevated type 2 diabetes risk.<sup>36</sup> One explanation for this profile change is increased *de* 

*novo* lipogenesis.<sup>37</sup> Insulin resistance increases hepatic fatty acid synthesis, upscaling VLDL production.<sup>38</sup> Altered diet is another explanation. Based on the diet assessment, participants' dietary habits were stable during the follow-up. However, this method provides only a crude estimation of the overall diet quality and does not capture possible changes in energy intake.

Furthermore, menopause was associated with amino acid changes, as previously reported.<sup>14,15,28</sup> Leucine concentration increased during follow-up, and the menopausal hormonal shift was associated with increased tyrosine levels. Elevated aromatic amino acids and branched-chained amino acid concentrations follow insulin resistance<sup>37,39,40</sup> and predict type 2 diabetes risk.<sup>41</sup> Higher levels of branched-chained amino acids were associated with higher ACVD risk in women.<sup>42</sup> Conversely, higher glycine and glutamine concentrations predict a decreased risk of type 2 diabetes.<sup>37,41</sup> In line with our other findings, glutamine concentration decreased during follow-up, contradicting previous observations.<sup>14,15</sup> Even though ovariectomy in rats did not alter skeletal muscle glutamine synthetase expression or activity,<sup>43</sup> the glutamine concentration decrease may be due to the reduced branched-chained amino acid catabolism because the primary nitrogen acceptor,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate, is initially converted to glutamate and, then, partially to glutamine.<sup>44</sup> We did not find a statistically significant association between menopause and glycine levels. However, MHT was associated with decreased glycine concentration, similar to previous mass spectrometry studies using randomized controlled trial samples.<sup>45,46</sup> Therefore, all MHT effects may not favour cardiovascular health.

### Menopause-associated changes in the circulating metabolome are linked to bone health but not increased inflammation

Oestrogen receptors exist throughout the body, with menopause causing broad systemic effects on multiple organ systems.<sup>47</sup> The decreased citrate concentration during follow-up is a notable finding that links the circulating metabolome possibly to the skeletal system, where about 90% of body citrate resides.<sup>48</sup> In mice, ovariectomy led to bone mineral density loss and decreased bone and plasma citrate levels.<sup>49</sup> This decrease may result from reduced citrate synthesis due to osteoblast loss and increased citrate consumption by osteoclasts and lipid synthesis.<sup>50</sup> As menopause relates to a bone mass decrease,<sup>51</sup> serum citrate concentration could be a novel imaging-free biomarker of bone health in the population. An alternative explanation for the citrate association is that the observed change results from the potential deterioration of insulin sensitivity, as citrate levels were associated with insulin resistance among Finnish bariatric surgery patients.<sup>52</sup> MHT did not influence citrate levels in this study.

Concerning the rest of the quantified metabolites, we found no or inconsistent evidence on their relationship with menopause. Contrary to Wang *et al.*,<sup>15</sup> we did not observe a positive association between menopause or the menopausal hormonal shift and the inflammation marker GlycA. Moreover, we did not observe an inverse association between MHT and GlycA levels as Auro *et al.* did.<sup>14</sup> Our findings indicate that at least the short observation time around the final menstrual period (the median follow-up was 14 months) do not reveal a sharp increase in systemic inflammation. Although

menopause was previously associated with increased albumin concentration,<sup>15</sup> and MHT users had lower albumin levels than non-users,<sup>14</sup> neither menopause nor MHT was significantly associated with albumin concentration in this study. Nevertheless, the menopausal hormonal shift was still related to increased albumin levels.

### **Strengths and limitations**

The key strengths of this study are the longitudinal design and the detailed menopausal transition monitoring by repeated hormone measurements. Moreover, we focused on changes occurring around the final menstrual period. Hence, we individualized the follow-up time for each woman to ensure they were at the same early postmenopausal state at the last measurement instead of using a standard follow-up time for all the participants.

The main study limitation is the relatively small sample size for a metabolomics study, probably leading to the detection of the most notable associations only. Additionally, the NMR metabolomics platform focuses on lipoprotein and lipid measurements and does not capture all ACVD-relevant metabolites, such as clotting factors. In the exploratory analysis, we also divided participants into MHT nonstarters and starters post hoc. We recommend caution when interpreting the findings as women who start MHT may differ from women not requiring medical assistance with menopausal symptoms. Moreover, the whole-body fat percentage was considered the adiposity variable for indirect associations between menopausal hormonal shift and metabolite changes. The hormonal shift did not associate with the body fat percentage change and, therefore, the indirect link with metabolite changes was discarded. In this aspect, visceral fat mass quantification might have been more informative. Our study is also vulnerable to reverse causality, residual confounding, and selection bias. The metabolite levels may have changed already before menopause. Moreover, our statistical approach cannot fully control the influence of measured and unmeasured confounders. Last, our sample of homogeneous and generally healthy Finnish women is unlikely fully representative of the study population, and generalizability of our findings is somewhat limited.

In conclusion, menopause is associated with a proatherogenic circulating metabolome change that relates to the induced hormonal shift and is partially modified by MHT. These findings highlight the impact of female sex hormones on women's cardiovascular health.

## **Supplementary material**

Supplementary material is available at European Journal of Preventive Cardiology.

## Acknowledgements

We thank the ERMA women for their participation and the Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences staff for their contribution to the data collection. Structured graphical abstract and *Figure 1* were created with BioRender.com.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the Academy of Finland [275323 to V.K. and 309504, 314181 and 335249 to E.K.L.].

Conflict of interest: None declared.

## **Authors' Contributions**

J.E.K., T.T., U.M.K., and E.K.L. contributed to the conception and design of the work. U.M.K., S.S., P.A., V.K., and E.K.L. contributed to the conception of the ERMA cohort. J.L. offered medical expertise and guidance. J.E.K. drafted the manuscript. All other authors critically revised the manuscript. All approved the final version of the manuscript.

### **Data availability**

The data underlying this article cannot be shared publicly for the privacy of the participants. The data will be shared upon request to the corresponding author.

#### References

- Davis SR, Lambrinoudaki I, Lumsden M, Mishra GD, Pal L, Rees M, Santoro N, Simoncini T. Menopause. Nat Rev Dis Primer 2015;1:15004.
- Harlow SD, Gass M, Hall JE, Lobo R, Maki P, Rebar RW, Sherman S, Sluss PM, de Villiers TJ; STRAW 10 Collaborative Group. Executive summary of the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop + 10: addressing the unfinished agenda of staging reproductive aging. *Menopause N Y N* 2012;**19**:387–395.
- Powers MS, Schenkel L, Darley PE, Good WR, Balestra JC, Place VA. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of transdermal dosage forms of 17 beta-estradiol: comparison with conventional oral estrogens used for hormone replacement. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1985;152:1099–1106.
- 4. Maas AHEM, Rosano G, Cifkova R, Chieffo A, van Dijken D, Hamoda H, Kunadian V, Laan E, Lambrinoudaki I, Maclaran K, Panay N, Stevenson JC, van Trotsenburg M, Collins P. Cardiovascular health after menopause transition, pregnancy disorders, and other gynaecologic conditions: a consensus document from European cardiologists, gynaecologists, and endocrinologists. *Eur Heart J* 2021;**42**:967–984.
- 5. Zhu D, Chung H-F, Dobson AJ, Pandeya N, Giles GG, Bruinsma F, Brunner EJ, Kuh D, Hardy R, Avis NE, Gold EB, Derby CA, Matthews KA, Cade JE, Greenwood DC, Demakakos P, Brown DE, Sievert LL, Anderson D, Hayashi K, Lee JS, Mizunuma H, Tillin T, Simonsen MK, Adami HO, Weiderpass E, Mishra GD. Age at natural menopause and risk of incident cardiovascular disease: a pooled analysis of individual patient data. *Lancet Public Health* 2019;**4**:e553–e564.
- Bittner V. Menopause, age, and cardiovascular risk: a complex relationship. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:2374–2375.
- Karvinen S, Jergenson MJ, Hyvärinen M, Aukee P, Tammelin T, Sipilä S, Kovanen V, Kujala UM, Laakkonen EK. Menopausal status and physical activity are independently associated with cardiovascular risk factors of healthy middle-aged women: crosssectional and longitudinal evidence. *Front Endocrinol* 2019;**10**:589.
- Matthews KA, Crawford SL, Chae CU, Everson-Rose SA, Sowers MF, Sternfeld B, Sutton-Tyrrell K. Are changes in cardiovascular disease risk factors in midlife women due to chronological aging or to the menopausal transition? J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 54:2366–2373.
- Do KA, Green A, Guthrie JR, Dudley EC, Burger HG, Dennerstein L. Longitudinal study of risk factors for coronary heart disease across the menopausal transition. *Am J Epidemiol* 2000;**151**:584–593.
- Hyvärinen M, Juppi H-K, Taskinen S, Karppinen JE, Karvinen S, Tammelin TH, Kovanen V, Aukee P, Kujala UM, Rantalainen T, Sipilä S, Laakkonen EK. Metabolic health, menopause, and physical activity—a 4-year follow-up study. *Int J Obes* 2021;46:544–554.
- Carr MC. The emergence of the metabolic syndrome with menopause. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:2404–2411.
- Godsland IF. Effects of postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy on lipid, lipoprotein, and apolipoprotein (a) concentrations: analysis of studies published from 1974-2000. *Fertil Steril* 2001;**75**:898–915.
- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Manson JE, Stevenson JC, Fonseca VA. Menopausal hormone therapy and type 2 diabetes prevention: evidence, mechanisms, and clinical implications. *Endocr Rev* 2017;38:173–188.

- Auro K, Joensuu A, Fischer K, Kettunen J, Salo P, Mattsson H, Niironen M, Kaprio J, Eriksson JG, Lehtimäki T, Raitakari O, Jula A, Tiitinen A, Jauhiainen M, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Kähönen M, Havulinna AS, Ala-Korpela M, Salomaa V, Metspalu A, Perola M. A metabolic view on menopause and ageing. *Nat Commun* 2014; 5: 4708.
- Wang Q, Ferreira DLS, Nelson SM, Sattar N, Ala-Korpela M, Lawlor DA. Metabolic characterization of menopause: cross-sectional and longitudinal evidence. BMC Med 2018;16:17.
- Kovanen V, Aukee P, Kokko K, Finni T, Tarkka IM, Tammelin T, Kujala UM, Sipilä S, Laakkonen EK. Design and protocol of Estrogenic Regulation of Muscle Apoptosis (ERMA) study with 47 to 55-year-old women's cohort: novel results show menopause-related differences in blood count. *Menopause N Y N* 2018;25: 1020–1032.
- Tikkanen E, Jägerroos V, Rodosthenous R, Holmes MV, Sattar N, Ala-Korpela M, Jousilahti P, Lundqvist A, Perola M, Salomaa V, Würtz P. Metabolic biomarker discovery for risk of peripheral artery disease compared with coronary artery disease: lipoprotein and metabolite profiling of 31 657 individuals from 5 prospective cohorts. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021;10:e021995.
- Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Würtz P, Suna T, Ala-Korpela M. Quantitative serum nuclear magnetic resonance metabolomics in cardiovascular epidemiology and genetics. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* 2015;8:192–206.
- Finnish statistics on medicines 2020. https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/143552 (17 February 2022).
- Kujala UM, Kaprio J, Sarna S, Koskenvuo M. Relationship of leisure-time physical activity and mortality: the Finnish twin cohort. JAMA 1998;279:440–444.
- Masip G, Keski-Rahkonen A, Pietiläinen KH, Kujala UM, Rottensteiner M, Väisänen K, Kaprio J, Bogl LH. Development of a food-based diet quality score from a short FFQ and associations with obesity measures, eating styles and nutrient intakes in Finnish twins. *Nutrients* 2019;11:2561
- Ference BA, Kastelein JJP, Ray KK, Ginsberg HN, Chapman MJ, Packard CJ, Laufs U, Oliver-Williams C, Wood AM, Butterworth AS, Angelantonio ED, Danesh J, Nicholls SJ, Bhatt DL, Sabatine MS, Catapano AL. Association of triglyceridelowering LPL variants and LDL-C–lowering LDLR variants with risk of coronary heart disease. JAMA 2019;**321**:364–373.
- 23. Borén J, Chapman MJ, Krauss RM, Packard CJ, Bentzon JF, Binder CJ, Daemen MJ, Demer LL, Hegele RA, Nicholls SJ, Nordestgaard BG, Watts GF, Bruckert E, Fazio S, Ference BA, Graham I, Horton JD, Landmesser U, Laufs U, Masana L, Pasterkamp G, Raal FJ, Ray KK, Schunkert H, Taskinen M-R, van de Sluis B, Wiklund O, Tokgozoglu L, Catapano AL, Ginsberg HN. Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: pathophysiological, genetic, and therapeutic insights: a consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. *Eur Heart J* 2020;**41**:2313–2330.
- Parini P, Angelin B, Rudling M. Importance of estrogen receptors in hepatic LDL receptor regulation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997;17:1800–1805.
- Karjalainen A, Heikkinen J, Savolainen MJ, Bäckström AC, Kesäniemi YA. Mechanisms regulating LDL metabolism in subjects on peroral and transdermal estrogen replacement therapy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000;20:1101–1106.
- Walsh BW, Schiff I, Rosner B, Greenberg L, Ravnikar V, Sacks FM. Effects of postmenopausal estrogen replacement on the concentrations and metabolism of plasma lipoproteins. N Engl J Med 1991;**325**:1196–1204.
- 27. Ginsberg HN, Packard CJ, Chapman MJ, Borén J, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Averna M, Ference BA, Gaudet D, Hegele RA, Kersten S, Lewis GF, Lichtenstein AH, Moulin P, Nordestgaard BG, Remaley AT, Staels B, Stroes ESG, Taskinen M-R, Tokgözoğlu LS, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Stock JK, Catapano AL. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and their remnants: metabolic insights, role in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, and emerging therapeutic strategies-a consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society. *Eur Heart J* 2021;**42**:4791–4806.
- Bell JA, Santos Ferreira DL, Fraser A, Soares ALG, Howe LD, Lawlor DA, Carslake D, Davey Smith G, O'Keeffe LM. Sex differences in systemic metabolites at four life stages: cohort study with repeated metabolomics. *BMC Med* 2021;**19**:58.
- Rosenson RS, Brewer HB, Barter PJ, Björkegren JLM, Chapman MJ, Gaudet D, Kim DS, Niesor E, Rye K-A, Sacks FM, Tardif J-C, Hegele RA. HDL and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: genetic insights into complex biology. *Nat Rev Cardiol* 2018; 15:9–19.
- Kettunen J, Holmes MV, Allara E, Anufrieva O, Ohukainen P, Oliver-Williams C, Wang Q, Tillin T, Hughes AD, Kähönen M, Lehtimäki T, Viikari J, Raitakari OT, Salomaa V, Järvelin M-R, Perola M, Davey Smith G, Chaturvedi N, Danesh J, Di Angelantonio E, Butterworth AS, Ala-Korpela M. Lipoprotein signatures of cholesteryl ester transfer protein and HMG-CoA reductase inhibition. *PLoS Biol* 2019; 17:e3000572.
- Mora S, Otvos JD, Rifai N, Rosenson RS, Buring JE, Ridker PM. Lipoprotein particle profiles by nuclear magnetic resonance compared with standard lipids and

apolipoproteins in predicting incident cardiovascular disease in women. *Circulation* 2009;**119**:931–939.

- Wang J, Stančáková A, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Paananen J, Kuusisto J, Ala-Korpela M, Laakso M. Lipoprotein subclass profiles in individuals with varying degrees of glucose tolerance: a population-based study of 9399 Finnish men. J Intern Med 2012;272: 562–572.
- 33. El Khoudary SR, Chen X, Nasr A, Billheimer J, Brooks MM, McConnell D, Orchard TJ, Crawford SL, Matthews KA, Rader DJ. HDL (high-density lipoprotein) subclasses, lipid content, and function trajectories across the menopause transition: SWAN-HDL study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2021;41:951–961.
- 34. Mahendran Y, Cederberg H, Vangipurapu J, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Kuusisto J, Uusitupa M, Ala-Korpela M, Laakso M. Glycerol and fatty acids in serum predict the development of hyperglycemia and type 2 diabetes in Finnish men. *Diabetes Care* 2013;**36**:3732–3738.
- 35. Mahendran Y, Vangipurapu J, Cederberg H, Stancáková A, Pihlajamäki J, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Paananen J, Civelek M, Saleem NK, Pajukanta P, Lusis AJ, Bonnycastle LL, Morken MA, Collins FS, Mohlke KL, Boehnke M, Ala-Korpela M, Kuusisto J, Laakso M. Association of ketone body levels with hyperglycemia and type 2 diabetes in 9,398 Finnish men. *Diabetes* 2013;**62**:3618–3626.
- Rhee EP, Cheng S, Larson MG, Walford GA, Lewis GD, McCabe E, Yang E, Farrell L, Fox CS, O'Donnell CJ, Carr SA, Vasan RS, Florez JC, Clish CB, Wang TJ, Gerszten RE. Lipid profiling identifies a triacylglycerol signature of insulin resistance and improves diabetes prediction in humans. *J Clin Invest* 2011;**121**:1402–1411.
- Roberts LD, Koulman A, Griffin JL. Towards metabolic biomarkers of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes: progress from the metabolome. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* 2014;2:65–75.
- Smith GI, Shankaran M, Yoshino M, Schweitzer GG, Chondronikola M, Beals JW, Okunade AL, Patterson BW, Nyangau E, Field T, Sirlin CB, Talukdar S, Hellerstein MK, Klein S. Insulin resistance drives hepatic de novo lipogenesis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest 2020;**130**:1453–1460.
- Mahendran Y, Jonsson A, Have CT, Allin KH, Witte DR, Jørgensen ME, Grarup N, Pedersen O, Kilpeläinen TO, Hansen T. Genetic evidence of a causal effect of insulin resistance on branched-chain amino acid levels. *Diabetologia* 2017;60:873–878.
- Wang Q, Holmes MV, Davey Smith G, Ala-Korpela M. Genetic support for a causal role of insulin resistance on circulating branched-chain amino acids and inflammation. *Diabetes Care* 2017;40:1779–1786.

- Guasch-Ferré M, Hruby A, Toledo E, Clish CB, Martínez-González MA, Salas-Salvadó J, Hu FB. Metabolomics in prediabetes and diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 2016;**39**:833–846.
- Tobias DK, Lawler PR, Harada PH, Demler OV, Ridker PM, Manson JE, Cheng S, Mora S. Circulating branched-chain amino acids and incident cardiovascular disease in a prospective cohort of US women. *Circ Genomic Precis Med* 2018;11:e002157.
- Verdier L, Boirie Y, Van Drieesche S, Mignon M, Begue R-J, Meynial-Denis D. Do sex steroids regulate glutamine synthesis with age? *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2002; 282:E215–E221.
- Holeček M. Why are branched-chain amino acids increased in starvation and diabetes? Nutrients 2020;12:3087.
- Zang H, Moritz T, Norstedt G, Hirschberg AL, Tollet-Egnell P. Effects of oestrogen and testosterone therapy on serum metabolites in postmenopausal women. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 2012;77:288–295.
- Stevens VL, Wang Y, Carter BD, Gaudet MM, Gapstur SM. Serum metabolomic profiles associated with postmenopausal hormone use. *Metabolomics Off J Metabolomic* Soc 2018;**14**:97.
- Clegg D, Hevener AL, Moreau KL, Morselli E, Criollo A, Van Pelt RE, Vieira-Potter VJ. Sex hormones and cardiometabolic health: role of estrogen and estrogen receptors. *Endocrinology* 2017;**158**:1095–1105.
- Costello LC, Franklin RB. Plasma citrate homeostasis: how it is regulated; and its physiological and clinical implications. An important, but neglected, relationship in medicine. HSOA J Hum Endocrinol 2016;1:005.
- Chen H, Wang Y, Dai H, Tian X, Cui Z-K, Chen Z, Hu L, Song Q, Liu A, Zhang Z, Xiao G, Yang J, Jiang Y, Bai X. Bone and plasma citrate is reduced in osteoporosis. *Bone* 2018;**114**:189–197.
- Granchi D, Baldini N, Ulivieri FM, Caudarella R. Role of citrate in pathophysiology and medical management of bone diseases. *Nutrients* 2019;11:2576.
- Sipilä S, Törmäkangas T, Sillanpää E, Aukee P, Kujala UM, Kovanen V, Laakkonen EK. Muscle and bone mass in middle-aged women: role of menopausal status and physical activity. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2020;11:698–709.
- 52. Luukkonen PK, Qadri S, Ahlholm N, Porthan K, Männistö V, Sammalkorpi H, Penttilä AK, Hakkarainen A, Lehtimäki TE, Gaggini M, Gastaldelli A, Ala-Korpela M, Orho-Melander M, Arola J, Juuti A, Pihlajamäki J, Hodson L, Yki-Järvinen H. Distinct contributions of metabolic dysfunction and genetic risk factors in the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2021;**76**:526–535.

Π

## AGE BUT NOT MENOPAUSAL STATUS IS LINKED TO LOWER RESTING ENERGY EXPENDITURE

by

Karppinen, J.E., Wiklund, P., Ihalainen, J.K., Juppi, H-K, Isola, V., Hyvärinen, M., Ahokas, E.K., Kujala, U.M., Laukkanen, J., Hulmi, J.J., Ahtiainen, J.P., Cheng, S. & Laakkonen, E.K.

Manuscript submitted for publication.

Preprint available from https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.12.16.520683

## 1 Age but not menopausal status is linked to lower resting energy expenditure

2 3 4 5	Jari E. Karppinen <sup>1</sup> , Petri Wiklund <sup>2</sup> , Johanna K. Ihalainen <sup>1</sup> , Hanna-Kaarina Juppi <sup>1,3</sup> , Ville Isola <sup>1</sup> , Matti Hyvärinen <sup>1,3</sup> , Essi K. Ahokas <sup>1</sup> , Urho M. Kujala <sup>1</sup> , Jari Laukkanen <sup>4,5</sup> , Juha J. Hulmi <sup>1</sup> , Juha P. Ahtiainen <sup>1</sup> , Sulin Cheng <sup>1,6</sup> & Eija K. Laakkonen <sup>1,3</sup>
6	<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Finland
7 8	<sup>2</sup> Huawei Helsinki Research Center, Huawei Technologies Oy (Finland) Co. Ltd, Helsinki, Finland.
9	<sup>3</sup> Gerontology Research Center, University of Jyväskylä, Finland
10	<sup>4</sup> Central Finland Health Care District, Jyväskylä, Finland,
11	<sup>5</sup> Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland
12	<sup>6</sup> Exercise Translational Medicine Centre, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China.
13	
14	Keywords: resting energy expenditure, menopause, estrogen, hormone replacement therapy
15	Corresponding author: Jari E. Karppinen, jari.e.j.karppinen@jyu.fi, Rautpohjankatu 8, 40700
16	Jyväskylä, Finland. ORCID: 0000-0002-9886-9067
17	Supported by the Academy of Finland grants 309504, 314181, 335249 (to EKL) and 135038
18	(to SC) and by the Ministry of Education and Culture of Finland grants OKM/54/627/2006,
19	OKM/77/627/2008 (to SC) and OKM/10/626/2021 (to JKI). The manuscript preparation was
20	supported by the Academy of Finland grant 330281 (to EKL). The contents of this article are
21	solely the responsibility of the authors.
22	Author disclosures: The authors report no conflicts of interest.
23	
24	
25	

#### 26 ABSTRACT

#### 27 Context

28 It remains uncertain whether aging before late adulthood and menopause are associated with

29 fat-free mass and fat mass-adjusted resting energy expenditure (REE<sub>adj</sub>).

#### **30 Objectives**

- 31 We investigated whether REE<sub>adj</sub> differs between middle-aged and younger women and
- between middle-aged women with different menopausal statuses. We repeated the age group
- 33 comparison between middle-aged mothers and their daughters to partially control for
- 34 genotype. We also explored whether serum estradiol and follicle-stimulating hormone
- 35 concentrations explain REE<sub>adj</sub> in midlife.

#### 36 Methods

- We divided 120 women, including 16 mother–daughter pairs, into age groups; group I (*n*=26)
- consisted of participants aged 17–21, group II (n=35) of those aged 22–38 and group III
- 39 (n=59) of those aged 41–58 years. The women in group III were further categorized as pre- or
- 40 perimenopausal (n=19), postmenopausal (n=30) or postmenopausal hormone therapy users
- 41 (*n*=10). REE was assessed using indirect calorimetry, body composition using dual-energy X-
- 42 ray absorptiometry and hormones using immunoassays.

#### 43 **Results**

- 44 The REE<sub>adj</sub> of group I was 126 kcal/d (95% CI: 93–160) higher than that of group III, and the
- 45 REE<sub>adj</sub> of group II was 88 kcal/d (95% CI: 49–127) higher. Furthermore, daughters had a 100
- 46 kcal/d (95% CI: 63–138 kcal/d) higher REE<sub>adj</sub> than their middle-aged mothers (all P < 0.001).
- 47 In group III, REE<sub>adi</sub> was not lower in postmenopausal women and did not vary by sex
- 48 hormone concentrations.

#### 49 Conclusions

We demonstrated that REE<sub>adj</sub> declines with age in women before late adulthood, also when
controlling partially for genetic background, and that menopause may not contribute to this
decline.

53

### 54 Introduction

55 Energy expenditure is often assumed to begin declining in early to middle adulthood, but Pontzer et al. (1) challenged this assumption by showing that fat-free mass (FFM) and fat 56 mass (FM)-adjusted total energy expenditure (TEE<sub>adj</sub>) were stable between the ages of 20 and 57 58 63. However, they found that similarly adjusted resting energy expenditure ( $REE_{adj}$ ) stabilizes at adult levels at age 18 and declines from age 46 onwards, although the limited numbers of 59 middle-aged participants with a measured REE prevented the authors from making definitive 60 61 inferences about the onset of REE<sub>adj</sub> decline, leading to a conclusion that age does not affect 62 energy expenditure in adults before the age of 60 (1). Nevertheless, previous studies are 63 consistent with an earlier turning point for REE<sub>adj</sub> (2-4), and we therefore sought to assess whether REE<sub>adi</sub> declines before late adulthood. Our dataset also included mother-daughter 64 dyads, some of which had TEE measured with doubly labeled water, enabling us to partly 65 control the analyses for genetic background and to explore whether increasing age showed 66 67 similar associations with TEE<sub>adj</sub> as it does with REE<sub>adj</sub>.

Like aging, menopause is widely believed to reduce REE<sub>adj</sub>, and the topic has broad interest because many women gain FM during the menopausal transition (5,6) and associate the change in body composition with slowing metabolism. During the menopausal transition, ovarian follicular activity ceases, causing a striking shift in women's sex hormone

72	profile. The decline in systemic estradiol (E2) concentration in particular is thought to
73	decrease $REE_{adj}$ , potentially via both central (7) and peripheral (8) mechanisms, while the
74	increase in follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) secretion may also play a role (9,10).
75	Menopausal hormone therapy (MHT) can restore E2 and decrease FSH levels to some extent,
76	which should reverse the potential menopause-associated decline in $\text{REE}_{adj}$ . However,
77	whether menopause truly decreases $REE_{adj}$ is still uncertain because longitudinal studies
78	following women over the menopausal transition (11,12), cross-sectional studies comparing
79	women with different menopausal states (13-16) and MHT interventions (15,17-19) have
80	been inconclusive. Therefore, in addition to investigating whether $\text{REE}_{adj}$ differs between
81	young and middle-aged women, we also assessed whether $\text{REE}_{adj}$ differs between middle-
82	aged women with different menopause statuses. We restricted the menopause analysis to
83	middle-aged participants to limit the confounding effects of age. We also explored whether
84	serum E2 and FSH concentrations explain REE <sub>adj</sub> in midlife.

85

#### **Materials and Methods** 86

#### **Participants** 87

The participants were 120 women who had taken part in one of four studies performed at the 88 Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences of the University of Jyväskylä (Figure 1). They were 89 required to be healthy and not taking medications that could affect metabolism, although 90 hormonal contraception and MHT use were allowed. 91

The Calex study (data collection 2008–2011) investigated whether lifestyle 92 93 factors influence muscle and adipose tissues (20). The current study used data from 17 middle-aged and 21 younger women with measured REE. This dataset included 16 mother-94 daughter pairs; ten pairs also had their TEEs measured. The data has been partly used in an 95

96	earlier validation study (21). The EsmiRs study (Estrogen and microRNAs as Modulators of
97	Women's Metabolism, 2019–2020) examined resting and exercise metabolism in middle-aged
98	women (22), and we included all 42 participants with measured REEs from that study. The
99	Physique study (23) investigated the effects of competition weight loss in normal-weight
100	participants; here, we used the baseline data from 23 young women collected before their
101	weight loss. Finally, the Athletic Performance and Nutrition study (NO RED-S, 2021,
102	Ihalainen et al. unpublished) studied the health of winter sports athletes; from that study, we
103	used baseline data from 17 young women, measured after the transition season when their
104	training load was the lowest and under ten weekly hours for all participants.
105	Studies were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki and approved
106	by the Ethics Committee of the Central Finland Health Care District (Calex; memo 22/8/2008
107	and 5/2009, EsmiRs; 9U/2018, Physique; 19U/2018) or the Ethics Committee of the
108	University of Jyväskylä (NO RED-S 514/13.00.04.00/2021). Participants gave informed
109	consent.
110	***Figure 1***

111

### 112 Age categorization

113 We used age as a continuous variable and categorized the participants into three age groups,

based on previous findings. REE<sub>adj</sub> plateaued at age 18.0 (95% CI: 16.8–19.2) and started to

decline at age 46.5 (95% CI: 40.6–52.4), while TEE<sub>adj</sub> plateaued at 20.5 (95% CI: 19.8–21.2)

and started to decline at 63.0 years (95% CI: 60.1–65.9) (1). We therefore assigned

participants aged 18~21 years to group I, 22~39 years to group II and 40~60 years to group
III.

119

#### 120 Hormonal and menopausal status

Participants in groups I and II were either naturally menstruating women at different 121 122 menstrual cycle phases or hormonal contraception users. Whether REE varies slightly 123 according to menstrual cycle phase is still questionable (24). In group I, 12 participants reported using combination oral contraceptives, one participant used a hormonal ring, and 124 125 detailed information on contraceptive use was not available for five participants. In group II, 126 eight participants used combination oral contraceptives, three used progestin-only oral 127 contraception, and three used a hormonal intrauterine device. Based on primarily cross-128 sectional evidence, there appears to be no clear association between hormonal contraceptive 129 use and REE (25).

130 We determined the menopausal status of group III women with the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop (STRAW) + 10 guidelines (26) using menstrual and serum 131 132 FSH data: 11 were premenopausal (PRE), eight were perimenopausal (PERI), 30 were 133 postmenopausal (POST) and ten were postmenopausal MHT users (MHT). We combined the 134 PRE and PERI women into a PRE/PERI group to represent women with meaningful ovarian E2 production but performed a sensitivity analysis without the PERI women because E2 135 136 levels decline in perimenopause. One PRE/PERI woman used a hormonal intrauterine device. 137 In the MHT group, seven participants used oral E2 in combination with dydrogesterone (n =138 5) or norethisterone acetate (n = 2). Two participants used an E2 patch containing also 139 norethisterone acetate or combined with oral dydrogesterone, and one participant used an E2-140 only patch. All participants had used MHT for at least four months, with most having used it 141 for years. Details concerning menopausal status determination and MHT preparations used by 142 the women are in Supplemental Methods.

143

#### 144 Sex hormones

145 For sex hormone assessment, the serum was separated from fasting venous blood samples

- 146 according to standard procedures and stored at -80°C. E2 and FSH concentrations were
- 147 measured for group III participants using enzyme-amplified chemiluminescence
- 148 immunoassays (IMMULITE 2000 XPi, Siemens Medical Solution Diagnostics, Los Angeles,
- 149 CA, USA). The analytical sensitivity for the E2 kit (Catalog # L2KE22, RRID: AB\_2936944)
- is 0.055 nmol/l with an accurate reportable range of 0.073–7.342 nmol/l. The coefficient of
- variation in our lab using control samples has been 15%. We compared the used
- immunoassay method with liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (HUSLAB, Helsinki
- 153 University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland) and found a good correlation in all test samples (n =
- 154 166, r = 0.91). However, when the comparison was restricted to samples with E2
- 155 concentrations less than 0.1 nmol/l, as determined by with liquid chromatography-mass
- spectrometry, the correlation between methods was lower (n = 76, r = 0.42). The analytical
- sensitivity of the FSH kit (Catalog # L2KFS2, RRID: AB\_2756389) is 0.1 IU/l, and the
- 158 coefficient of variation in our lab has been 5%.

159

#### 160 **Body composition**

- 161 Body composition was assessed with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA; DXA
- 162 Prodigy, GE Lunar Corp., Madison, WI, USA). We calculated the appendicular lean mass
- 163 index (ALMI) by scaling appendicular lean mass (kg) to height (m) squared to estimate the
- 164 level of muscularity among participants.

165

#### 167 Resting and total energy expenditure

REE was measured in all studies using the same Vmax Encore 92 metabolic cart 168 169 (Sensormedics, Yorba Linda, CA, USA) and ventilated hood in the same thermoneutral 170 laboratory; the cart was calibrated accordingly before each measurement. The REE 171 assessment details are in Supplemental Methods. Measurements were performed in the morning after overnight fasting, with resting periods of 0-30 min and measurement periods of 172 15-30 min. We excluded at least the first 5 min of measurement data; for all participants, we 173 located a steady-state period of at least 5 min during which the coefficient of variation was 174 175 10% or less for  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$ , and we calculated REE with the modified Weir equation (27). We made REE comparable between different-sized participants using residuals-the 176 177 differences between measured and predicted values-from a linear regression model generated using the data of the study sample (Supplemental Table 1): 178 REE (kcal/d) =  $413.4 + 20.2 \times FFM$  (kg) +  $1.7 \times FM$  (kg) 179 Herein, we refer to residual REE as REE<sub>adj</sub>. We also built three alternative explanatory 180 models (Supplemental Table 1): the first included age as a covariate with FFM and FM; the 181 second added ALMI to account for differences in muscularity (28); and in the third, we added 182

the study data collection period as a covariate to examine potential biases introduced by

184 including data from two different time periods.

To assess TEE in the Calex study, the overnight fasting participants gave a urine sample and ingested a doubly labeled water dose of 1 g per kg of body mass (21). A second urine sample was collected after 4–6 h, and a third 14 days later. The samples were analyzed in triplicate using mass spectrometry (Metabolic Solutions Inc., Merrimack, NH, USA) at the University of Alabama. TEE was calculated as in Schoeller et al. (29).

#### 191 Statistical analyses

We performed the statistical analyses using R 4.2.1 (30). The analytic code is available without restriction at <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7684731</u>. We report descriptive statistics as means with standard deviations or as medians with first and third quartiles, but we did not test group differences in order to preserve statistical power. We verified the model's assumptions before accepting the results and used an alpha level of 0.05 for statistical significance.

We estimated the association between age and REE<sub>adi</sub> and compared the 198 199 measured REE and REE<sub>adj</sub> between the age groups with linear mixed-effect models using the 200 nlme package (31), with family identification as a random effect. We also performed a 201 sensitivity analysis using FFM, FM and ALMI-adjusted REE residuals as the outcome. For 202 the mother-daughter pairs, we first compared the REE<sub>adj</sub> and then TEE using the measured TEE as the outcome and FFM and FM as covariates. We estimated intraclass correlation 203 204 coefficients using the *psych* package (32) with one-way random-effects models—intraclass 205 correlation compares within- and between-pair variations, thereby expressing how strongly 206 the mothers and daughters resemble each other.

Last, we used linear regression to compare the measured REE and REE<sub>adj</sub> between the menopause groups using the POST group as the reference. Given that body composition parameters may explain REE differently among women of different ages, we performed supporting analyses using measured REE as the outcome, menopause status or sex hormone concentrations as the explanatory variable, and FFM, FM and age as covariates in separate regression models.

213

	215	Res	ults
--	-----	-----	------

#### 216 **Participant characteristics**

Table 1 shows participant characteristics and energy expenditures across age and menopause groups, and Supplemental Table 2 shows the same in the mother–daughter pairs. Based on the descriptive statistics, group II women had higher FFM and lower FM. In group III, sex hormone concentrations varied between the menopause groups, as expected. As groups I and II included naturally menstruating women in different menstrual cycle phases and hormonal contraceptive users, we did not compare hormone levels between age groups.

223 \*\*\***Table 1**\*\*\*

224

### 225 Age and energy expenditure

FFM and FM explained 47% of the REE variance, while the inclusion of age increased the

adjusted  $R^2$  to 68%. Figure 2 illustrates how age impacts REE estimation by presenting the

228 relationships between the predicted and measured REE values. Neither the ALMI nor

information on the study data collection period improved the explanatory value.

230 **Supplemental Table 1** presents the full results.

## 231 \*\*\*Figure 2\*\*\*

Age was inversely associated with REE<sub>adj</sub> (B = -3.9; 95% CI: -4.8 to -3.1; P <

233 0.001). Group I had 140 kcal/d (95% CI: 82–199) higher measured REE and 126 kcal/d (95%

- CI: 93–160) higher REE<sub>adj</sub> (Figure 3A) than group III, while group II had 187 kcal/d (95%
- CI: 133–240) higher measured REE and 88 kcal/d (95% CI: 49–127) higher REE<sub>adj</sub> (P <
- 236 0.001 for all). The group differences in the FFM, FM and ALMI-adjusted REE were slightly
- 237 smaller (Supplemental Table 3).

In the 16 mother–daughter pairs, the daughters had 100 kcal/d (95% CI: 63–138; P < 0.001) higher REE<sub>adj</sub> than their mothers (**Figure 3C**). In the ten pairs with REE and TEE measurements, the daughters had 85 kcal/d (95% CI: 45–125; P = 0.003) higher REE<sub>adj</sub> than their mothers, but there was no significant difference in TEE<sub>adj</sub> (B = 26 kcal/d; 95% CI: -128– 180; P = 0.75, **Figure 3D**). Intraclass correlation coefficients were 0.05 (95% CI: -0.43–0.52; P = 0.42) for REE<sub>adj</sub>, 0.83 (95% CI: 0.49–0.96; P < 0.001) for TEE and 0.92 (95% CI: 0.71– 0.98; P < 0.001) for TEE<sub>adj</sub> (**Supplemental Figure 1**).

245 \*\*\***Figure 3**\*\*\*

246

#### 247 Resting energy expenditure in midlife

248 Compared with the POST group, the measured REE was not significantly different in either

249 the PRE/PERI (B = 46 kcal/d; 95% CI: -26–119; P = 0.21) or MHT groups (B = -27 kcal/d;

250 95% CI: -118–63; P = 0.55); neither was REE<sub>adj</sub> (PRE/PERI; B = 7 kcal/d; 95% CI: -42–55; P

251 = 0.78; MHT: B = -31 kcal/d; 95% CI: -91–30; P = 0.31, Figure 3B). The exclusion of PERI

women did not alter the results (data not shown). In the specific models generated for the

253 middle-aged subsample that controlled for FFM, FM and age, the MHT group had a lower

REE than the POST group (Table 2). Furthermore, neither E2 nor FSH showed a statistically

significant association with REE.

256 \*\*\***Table 2**\*\*\*

257

#### 258 **Discussion**

Aging through adulthood and menopause are thought to slow basal metabolism, potentially

260 predisposing women to obesity. This study demonstrates that increasing age is associated with

a decline in REE<sub>adj</sub> among young and middle-aged women, also after partly controlling for
genetic background. However, menopause did not contribute to the age-associated decline in
REE<sub>adj</sub>. Furthermore, E2 or FSH concentrations were not related to REE<sub>adj</sub> in middle-aged
women.

265 The decline in age-associated REE<sub>adj</sub> aligns with previous cross-sectional studies by Pontzer et al. (1), Geisler et al. (3) and Siervo et al. (4), in which the decline began in 266 267 women at 46.5, 35.2 and 47 years of age, respectively. The turning point for REE<sub>adi</sub> therefore 268 may occur before 60 years of age (1), but whether the phenomenon represents an actual 269 slowing of cellular metabolism remains unclear. Low metabolic rate organs contribute more 270 to FFM as we age (33), but aging also causes tissue quality changes; for example, the brain 271 grey-white matter ratio (34) and skeletal muscle density (35) decline from young to middle 272 adulthood, meaning that each kilogram of the brain or muscle tissue has fewer metabolically active cells as aging proceeds. Current body composition assessment methods, like DXA, 273 274 cannot detect such changes (33), so FFM adjustments that assume FFM composition and 275 quality are constant may overestimate the age-associated decline in REE<sub>adj.</sub> Indeed, Roubenoff 276 et al. (36) found no association between age and FFM-adjusted REE when assessing FFM 277 using total body potassium analysis, which directly estimates cell mass. Therefore, the direct 278 influence of age on REE<sub>adi</sub> may be less impactful than initially observed, but it may enhance 279 REE estimation (as shown in Figure 2B) by enabling adjustments for age-related changes in 280 body composition within the model. If slowing cellular metabolism contributes to the 281 observed decline in REE<sub>adj</sub>, it may result from altered systemic hormone and cytokine 282 stimulation (33), with intrinsic changes in hormone responsiveness, protein synthesis, 283 maintenance of membrane potentials and mitochondrial function (37). We also compared the TEE<sub>adj</sub> of middle-aged mothers and their daughters and 284

found that they were similar, despite differences in their  $REE_{adj}$ , indicating that TEE is highly

heritable (38). This also suggests that the possible age-associated decline in  $REE_{adj}$  may have a negligible effect on TEE before late adulthood, as also reported by Pontzer et al. (1).

288 Our findings concur with previous research that menopausal status and sex hormone levels do not robustly determine REEadj during midlife. Although ovarian hormone 289 290 suppression studies in premenopausal women have shown some yet not fully convincing 291 evidence of a REE<sub>adj</sub> decline (39,40), MHT interventions show no clear effect on REE in 292 postmenopause (15,17,18). In the present study, the MHT users had even lower REE than 293 postmenopausal women who did not use MHT after adjusting for FFM, FM and age. 294 However, given that the MHT group was the smallest in our study, this difference is unlikely 295 to be attributed to MHT use per se. Observational evidence also indicates that menopause has 296 a minimal impact on REE<sub>adi</sub>. For instance, Lovejoy et al. (11) found that sleeping energy 297 expenditure and TEE<sub>adj</sub> decreased in women transitioning from premenopause to postmenopause during a four-year follow-up, but the changes were no different from 298 299 participants who remained premenopausal, which suggests that the decreases were related to 300 aging, not menopause. Furthermore, the menopausal transition was not associated with REE 301 in the longitudinal MONET study (12), and cross-sectional studies have shown no association 302 between menopausal status and measured REE (14,16), FFM-adjusted REE (13,15) or FFM-303 adjusted TEE (41), while a study that did show a higher REE in MHT users than non-users (14) failed to adjust the analyses for differing tissue masses. Finally, Pontzer et al. (1) found 304 305 no differences in REE<sub>adj</sub> and TEE<sub>adj</sub> trajectories between middle-aged women and men, 306 indicating that sex specific changes in energy expenditure are not observed during midlife. 307 The lack of a clear association between menopause and  $REE_{adj}$  is unexpected

because the cessation of reproductive functions and altered hormonal profile should decrease
basal metabolism. There are at least three potential explanations; first, with the limitations of
body composition assessment and indirect calorimetry methods (33), the energy expenditure
311 of female reproductive processes may be so small relative to other functions contributing to REE that its loss is difficult to detect. The second explanation is that the effects of menopause 312 313 cannot be disentangled from the effects of aging, especially because aging progresses 314 differently between individuals, although this is insufficient to explain why MHT 315 interventions do not increase REE (15,17,19). The third, more speculative explanation is that 316 women reallocate energy during menopause from reproduction to other purposes; Hazda 317 hunter-gatherer women, for example, increase the time spent on gathering resources for their 318 offspring (42), potentially reallocating the freed energy to movement and maintenance of the 319 locomotor system (43). Women in industrialized nations live differently and may therefore 320 use the energy to build energy reserves and bodily defense mechanisms, reallocating the freed 321 energy inside the REE component (43). Increased FM, especially to the trunk, may further 322 promote metabolic deterioration (44), inflammation (45) and sympathetic nervous system 323 activity (46), thereby further elevating the REE (47–50). Such trade-offs could explain why 324 women's REE<sub>adj</sub> does not decline and their cardiometabolic risk profile worsens after menopause in industrialized societies (51). 325

326 Finally, it should be mentioned that a decrease in absolute REE following 327 skeletal muscle loss could also contribute to menopause-associated FM accumulation if 328 women do not match the drop by reducing energy intake. We previously reported that a perito postmenopausal transition during a mean follow-up of 14 months resulted in a 0.2 kg lean 329 330 mass loss, likely from skeletal muscle (52); but, assuming that the mass-specific metabolic 331 rate of skeletal muscle is 13 kcal/d at rest (53), the loss would reduce REE by 2.6 kcal/d, 332 which cannot explain the 0.8 kg increase in FM (6), especially as the tissue changes happen 333 gradually.

The main limitations of this study are its cross-sectional and secondary nature. We pooled existing studies to generate a sufficiently large sample and cannot entirely exclude 336 a clustering effect. Considering the impact of sex hormones, we did not control for the use of 337 hormonal products or menstrual cycle phases. Furthermore, serum E2 concentrations were 338 analyzed with immunoassays, whose accuracy is limited for the low E2 levels seen post-339 menopause. While we could not adjust the results for differences in physical activity levels 340 due to the lack of a uniform assessment method, we can assume that participants in group II 341 had the highest physical activity levels. Long-term physical activity is hypothesized to lower REE (54); however, this response has not been clearly identified (55). Even if physical 342 activity would reduce REE, group II still had higher REE than group III, suggesting that 343 344 physical activity differences are unlikely to impact the robustness of our conclusions. 345

In conclusion, REE adjusted for DXA-measured FFM and FM declines in women from young to middle adulthood, likely due to aging rather than menopause, but whether falling cellular metabolic rates contribute is unclear. Current evidence does not support the inference that menopause reduces REE. Longitudinal data from middle-aged women with differing sex hormone trajectories are needed to reconcile whether menopause truly affects REE in a meaningful way.

351

# 352 Acknowledgments

We thank the participants for their time and effort and the staff of the Faculty of Sport andHealth Sciences of the University of Jyväskylä.

355 The authors' responsibilities were as follows—JEK conducted EsmiRs study measurements,

356 gave guidance for the Physique and NO RED-S studies, analyzed data, and wrote the

357 manuscript. EKL led and designed the EsmiRs study with the help of JEK, H-KJ, MH, UMK,

- and JL. PW conducted Calex study measurements and gave guidance for the EsmiRs study.
- 359 SC led and designed the Calex study with help from PW. JPA and JH led and designed the

360	Physique study with the help of VI, who also participated in data collection. JKI led,
361	designed, and conducted data in the NO RED-S study with the help of EKA. All authors
362	revised the manuscript and approved its final version.
363	
364	Data availability
365	Datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are not publicly available
366	but are available from the principal investigators of each study (Calex: CS and EKL, EsmiRs
367	[doi.10.17011/jyx/dataset/83491]: EKL, Physique: JPA, and NO RED-S: JKI) on reasonable
368	request.
369	
370	
371	
372	
373	
374	
375	
376	
377	
378	
379	
380	

# 381 **REFERENCES**

- Pontzer H, Yamada Y, Sagayama H, et al. Daily energy expenditure through the human life course. *Science*. 2021;373(6556):808-812. doi:10.1126/science.abe5017
- Müller MJ, Bosy-Westphal A, Klaus S, et al. World Health Organization equations have shortcomings for predicting resting energy expenditure in persons from a modern, affluent population: generation of a new reference standard from a retrospective analysis of a German database of resting energy expenditure. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2004;80(5):1379-1390. doi:10.1093/ajcn/80.5.1379
- Geisler C, Braun W, Pourhassan M, et al. Gender-Specific Associations in Age-Related Changes in Resting Energy Expenditure (REE) and MRI Measured Body Composition in Healthy Caucasians. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2016;71(7):941-946.
   doi:10.1093/gerona/glv211
- Siervo M, Oggioni C, Lara J, et al. Age-related changes in resting energy expenditure in normal weight, overweight and obese men and women. *Maturitas*. 2015;80(4):406-413. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.12.023
- Greendale GA, Sternfeld B, Huang M, et al. Changes in body composition and weight
   during the menopause transition. *JCI Insight*. 2019;4(5). doi:10.1172/jci.insight.124865
- Juppi HK, Sipilä S, Fachada V, et al. Total and regional body adiposity increases during
  menopause-evidence from a follow-up study. *Aging Cell*. 2022;21(6):e13621.
  doi:10.1111/acel.13621
- Xu Y, López M. Central regulation of energy metabolism by estrogens. *Mol Metab*.
  2018;15:104-115. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2018.05.012
- Klinge CM. Estrogenic control of mitochondrial function. *Redox Biol.* 2020;31:101435.
   doi:10.1016/j.redox.2020.101435
- 405 9. Liu P, Ji Y, Yuen T, et al. Blocking FSH induces thermogenic adipose tissue and reduces body fat. *Nature*. 2017;546(7656):107-112. doi:10.1038/nature22342
- Mattick LJ, Bea JW, Singh L, et al. Serum Follicle-Stimulating Hormone and 5-Year
  Change in Adiposity in Healthy Postmenopausal Women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.*2022;107(8):e3455-e3462. doi:10.1210/clinem/dgac238
- Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. *Int J Obes*.
  2008;32(6):949-958. doi:10.1038/ijo.2008.25
- 413 12. Duval K, Prud'homme D, Rabasa-Lhoret R, et al. Effects of the menopausal transition
  414 on energy expenditure: a MONET Group Study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2013;67(4):407-411.
  415 doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.33
- Hodson L, Harnden K, Banerjee R, et al. Lower resting and total energy expenditure in postmenopausal compared with premenopausal women matched for abdominal obesity.
   *J Nutr Sci.* 2014;3:e3. doi:10.1017/jns.2013.38

419 420 421	14.	Monda V, Salerno M, Fiorenzo M, et al. Role of Sex Hormones in the Control of Vegetative and Metabolic Functions of Middle-Aged Women. <i>Front Physiol.</i> 2017;8:773. doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00773
422 423 424	15.	Bessesen DH, Cox-York KA, Hernandez TL, et al. Postprandial triglycerides and adipose tissue storage of dietary fatty acids: impact of menopause and estradiol. <i>Obesity</i> . 2015;23(1):145-153. doi:10.1002/oby.20935
425 426 427	16.	Gould LM, Gordon AN, Cabre HE, et al. Metabolic effects of menopause: a cross- sectional characterization of body composition and exercise metabolism. <i>Menopause</i> . 2022;29(4):377-389. doi:10.1097/GME.00000000001932
428 429 430	17.	Marlatt KL, Lovre D, Beyl RA, et al. Effect of conjugated estrogens and bazedoxifene on glucose, energy and lipid metabolism in obese postmenopausal women. <i>Eur J Endocrinol</i> . 2020;183(4):439-452. doi:10.1530/EJE-20-0619
431 432 433 434	18.	Anderson EJ, Lavoie HB, Strauss CC, Hubbard JL, Sharpless JL, Hall JE. Body composition and energy balance: lack of effect of short-term hormone replacement in postmenopausal women. <i>Metabolism</i> . 2001;50(3):265-269. doi:10.1053/meta.2001.21015
435 436 437	19.	Lwin R, Darnell B, Oster R, et al. Effect of oral estrogen on substrate utilization in postmenopausal women. <i>Fertil Steril</i> . 2008;90(4):1275-1278. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.07.1317
438 439 440	20.	Ojanen X, Cheng R, Törmäkangas T, et al. Towards early risk biomarkers: serum metabolic signature in childhood predicts cardio-metabolic risk in adulthood. <i>EBioMedicine</i> . 2021;72:103611. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103611
441 442 443	21.	Yu Z, Völgyi E, Wang R, et al. Comparison of heart rate monitoring with indirect calorimetry for energy expenditure evaluation. <i>Journal of Sport and Health Science</i> . 2012;1(3):178-183. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2012.07.004
444 445 446	22.	Karppinen JE, Juppi HK, Hintikka J, et al. Associations of resting and peak fat oxidation with sex hormone profile and blood glucose control in middle-aged women. <i>Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.</i> 2022;32(9):2157-2167. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2022.06.001
447 448 449	23.	Isola V, Hulmi JJ, Petäjä P, Helms ER, Karppinen JE, Ahtiainen JP. Weight loss induces changes in adaptive thermogenesis in female and male physique athletes. <i>Appl Physiol Nutr Metab</i> . Published online January 16, 2023. doi:10.1139/apnm-2022-0372
450 451 452	24.	Benton MJ, Hutchins AM, Dawes JJ. Effect of menstrual cycle on resting metabolism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. <i>PLoS One</i> . 2020;15(7):e0236025. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0236025
453 454 455	25.	Metz L, Isacco L, Redman LM. Effect of oral contraceptives on energy balance in women: A review of current knowledge and potential cellular mechanisms. <i>Metabolism</i> . 2022;126:154919. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2021.154919
456 457 458	26.	Harlow SD, Gass M, Hall JE, et al. Executive summary of the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop + 10: addressing the unfinished agenda of staging reproductive aging. <i>Menopause</i> . 2012;19(4):387-395. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31824d8f40

27. Weir JB. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein 459 metabolism. 1949. Nutrition. 1990;6(3):213-221. 460 28. Heymsfield SB, Smith B, Chung EA, et al. Phenotypic differences between people 461 varving in muscularity. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2022;13(2):1100-1112. 462 doi:10.1002/jcsm.12959 463 Schoeller DA, Ravussin E, Schutz Y, Acheson KJ, Baertschi P, Jéquier E. Energy 464 29. expenditure by doubly labeled water: validation in humans and proposed calculation. Am 465 J Physiol. 1986;250(5 Pt 2):R823-830. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.1986.250.5.R823 466 30. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Published 467 online 2022. 468 31. Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, et al. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. 469 470 Published online March 25, 2022. Accessed May 16, 2022. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=nlme 471 32. Revelle W. psych: Procedures for Psychological, Psychometric, and Personality 472 Research. Published online May 10, 2022. Accessed May 16, 2022. https://CRAN.R-473 project.org/package=psych 474 475 33. Müller MJ, Geisler C, Hübers M, Pourhassan M, Braun W, Bosy-Westphal A. Normalizing resting energy expenditure across the life course in humans: challenges and 476 hopes. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2018;72(5):628-637. doi:10.1038/s41430-018-0151-9 477 478 34. Giorgio A, Santelli L, Tomassini V, et al. Age-related changes in grey and white matter structure throughout adulthood. Neuroimage. 2010;51(3-2):943. 479 doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.004 480 481 35. Lauretani F, Bandinelli S, Bartali B, et al. Axonal degeneration affects muscle density in older men and women. Neurobiology of Aging. 2006;27(8):1145-1154. 482 doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.06.009 483 Roubenoff R, Hughes VA, Dallal GE, et al. The effect of gender and body composition 484 36. method on the apparent decline in lean mass-adjusted resting metabolic rate with age. J 485 Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2000;55(12):M757-760. doi:10.1093/gerona/55.12.m757 486 37. Heymsfield SB, Smith B, Dahle J, et al. Resting Energy Expenditure: From Cellular to 487 488 Whole-Body Level, a Mechanistic Historical Perspective. Obesity. 2021;29(3):500-511. doi:10.1002/oby.23090 489 38. Joosen AMCP, Gielen M, Vlietinck R, Westerterp KR. Genetic analysis of physical 490 activity in twins. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;82(6):1253-1259. doi:10.1093/ajcn/82.6.1253 491 Melanson EL, Gavin KM, Shea KL, et al. Regulation of energy expenditure by estradiol 492 39. in premenopausal women. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015;119(9):975-981. 493 doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00473.2015 494 495 40. Gavin KM, Melanson EL, Hildreth KL, Gibbons E, Bessesen DH, Kohrt WM. A Randomized Controlled Trial of Ovarian Suppression in Premenopausal Women: No 496

497 498		Change in Free-Living Energy Expenditure. <i>Obesity</i> . 2020;28(11):2125-2133. doi:10.1002/oby.22978
499 500 501	41.	Tooze JA, Schoeller DA, Subar AF, Kipnis V, Schatzkin A, Troiano RP. Total daily energy expenditure among middle-aged men and women: the OPEN Study. <i>Am J Clin Nutr</i> . 2007;86(2):382-387. doi:10.1093/ajcn/86.2.382
502 503 504	42.	Hawkes K, O'Connell JF, Blurton Jones NG. Hadza Women's Time Allocation, Offspring Provisioning, and the Evolution of Long Postmenopausal Life Spans. <i>Current</i> <i>Anthropology</i> . 1997;38(4):551-577. doi:10.1086/204646
505 506 507 508	43.	Lieberman DE, Kistner TM, Richard D, Lee IM, Baggish AL. The active grandparent hypothesis: Physical activity and the evolution of extended human healthspans and lifespans. <i>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</i> . 2021;118(50):e2107621118. doi:10.1073/pnas.2107621118
509 510 511	44.	Carey VJ, Walters EE, Colditz GA, et al. Body fat distribution and risk of non-insulin- dependent diabetes mellitus in women. The Nurses' Health Study. <i>Am J Epidemiol</i> . 1997;145(7):614-619. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009158
512 513 514	45.	Timpson NJ, Nordestgaard BG, Harbord RM, et al. C-reactive protein levels and body mass index: elucidating direction of causation through reciprocal Mendelian randomization. <i>Int J Obes</i> . 2011;35(2):300-308. doi:10.1038/ijo.2010.137
515 516 517	46.	Scherrer U, Randin D, Tappy L, Vollenweider P, Jéquier E, Nicod P. Body fat and sympathetic nerve activity in healthy subjects. <i>Circulation</i> . 1994;89(6):2634-2640. doi:10.1161/01.cir.89.6.2634
518 519 520	47.	Geisler C, Braun W, Pourhassan M, et al. Age-Dependent Changes in Resting Energy Expenditure (REE): Insights from Detailed Body Composition Analysis in Normal and Overweight Healthy Caucasians. <i>Nutrients</i> . 2016;8(6):E322. doi:10.3390/nu8060322
521 522 523 524	48.	Bosy-Westphal A, Wolf A, Bührens F, et al. Familial influences and obesity-associated metabolic risk factors contribute to the variation in resting energy expenditure: the Kiel Obesity Prevention Study. <i>Am J Clin Nutr.</i> 2008;87(6):1695-1701. doi:10.1093/ajcn/87.6.1695
525 526 527	49.	Calton EK, Pathak K, Soares MJ, et al. Vitamin D status and insulin sensitivity are novel predictors of resting metabolic rate: a cross-sectional analysis in Australian adults. <i>Eur J Nutr</i> . 2016;55(6):2075-2080. doi:10.1007/s00394-015-1021-z
528 529 530 531	50.	Soares MJ, Zhao Y, Calton EK, Pathak K. Triglycerides and systolic blood pressure negatively mediate the direct relationship of vitamin D status to resting energy expenditure: A cross sectional analysis. <i>Diabetes Metab Syndr</i> . 2022;16(12):102664. doi:10.1016/j.dsx.2022.102664
532 533 534 535	51.	Maas AHEM, Rosano G, Cifkova R, et al. Cardiovascular health after menopause transition, pregnancy disorders, and other gynaecologic conditions: a consensus document from European cardiologists, gynaecologists, and endocrinologists. <i>Eur Heart J</i> . 2021;42(10):967-984. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa1044

- 52. Juppi HK, Sipilä S, Cronin NJ, et al. Role of Menopausal Transition and Physical
  Activity in Loss of Lean and Muscle Mass: A Follow-Up Study in Middle-Aged Finnish
  Women. *J Clin Med.* 2020;9(5):E1588. doi:10.3390/jcm9051588
- 53. Elia M. Organ and Tissue Contribution to Metabolic Rate. In: *Energy Metabolism:* 540 *Tissue Determinants and Cellular Corollaries*. Raven Press; 1992:61-79.
- 54. Pontzer H. Energy Constraint as a Novel Mechanism Linking Exercise and Health. *Physiology*. 2018;33(6):384-393. doi:10.1152/physiol.00027.2018
- 543 55. MacKenzie-Shalders K, Kelly JT, So D, Coffey VG, Byrne NM. The effect of exercise
  544 interventions on resting metabolic rate: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Sports*545 *Sci.* 2020;38(14):1635-1649. doi:10.1080/02640414.2020.1754716

		Age groups $(N = 120)$		Menopause groups (n = 59)		
	Ι	II	III	PRE/PERI	MHT	POST
Variable	<i>n</i> = 26	<i>n</i> = 35	<i>n</i> = 59	<i>n</i> = 19	<i>n</i> = 10	n=30
Age, y	19.8 (1.1)	28.2 (4.3)	53.8 (3.5)	50.7 (4.3)	55.1 (1.7)	55.3 (1.9)
Sex hormone concentrations						
E2, nmol/l				0.29 (0.18-0.55)	0.29 (0.17–0.38)	0.09 (0.06-0.12)
FSH, IU/l				8 (7–25)	38 (34–61)	80 (71–102)
Anthropometrics						
Height, cm	165.6 (5.6)	165.3 (5.8)	166.4 (5.0)	168.1 (4.6)	166.5 (5.6)	165.3 (4.8)
Body mass, kg	65.0 (10.5)	64.5 (7.9)	68.5 (9.1)	69.1 (9.0)	71.3 (12.3)	67.1 (7.9)
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.7 (3.5)	23.6 (2.0)	24.7 (3.1)	24.5 (3.2)	25.7 (4.2)	24.5 (2.7)
Fat-free mass, kg	44.2 (5.0)	49.8 (5.3)	44.2 (4.2)	45.6 (4.1)	43.4 (4.2)	43.6 (4.1)
Fat mass, kg	20.9 (8.2)	14.7 (5.8)	24.2 (7.3)	23.6 (7.8)	27.9 (8.4)	23.4 (6.4)
Appendicular lean mass, kg	18.5 (2.6)	21.8 (2.7)	17.9 (1.9)	18.4 (2.0)	17.6 (1.9)	17.6 (1.9)
Appendicular lean mass index	6.7 (0.7)	8.0 (0.8)	6.5 (0.6)	6.5 (0.5)	6.4 (0.6)	6.4 (0.6)
Body fat percentage, %	31 (8)	23 (7)	36 (7)	35 (8)	40 (5)	36 (6)
Resting energy expenditure						
Measured, kcal/d	1,430 (110)	1,474 (146)	1,286 (124)	1,323 (105)	1,249 (143)	1,276 (128)
Predicted <sub>FFM &amp; FM</sub> , kcal/d	1,339 (104)	1,442 (107)	1,345 (87)	1,372 (84)	1,335 (98)	1,332 (85)
$Predicted_{FFM, FM \& age}, kcal/d$	1,440 (103)	1,467 (94)	1,286 (92)	1,322 (86)	1,283 (115)	1,264 (84)
Total energy expenditure	<i>n</i> = 10		<i>n</i> = 10			
Measured, kcal/d	2,162 (310)		2,148 (236)			

# 546 **TABLE 1.** Participant characteristics and energy expenditures according to age and menopause groups

Data as means (SD) or medians (IQR), # n = 19

E2, estradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; MHT, menopausal hormone therapy; PRE/PERI, pre- or perimenopause; POST, postmenopause

547

548	TABLE 2. The associations between body composition, age, menopausal status, serum sex hormone concentrations, and resting energy
549	expenditure in midlife ( $n = 59$ )

	Mass	and age	Menop	ause status		E2		FSH
	В	P-value	В	P-value	В	P-value	В	P-value
Intercept	850.1	< 0.001	976.3	< 0.001	838.6	< 0.001	881.4	< 0.001
Fat-free mass, kg	17.2	< 0.001	17.2	< 0.001	17.2	< 0.001	17.4	< 0.001
Fat mass, kg	6.6	< 0.001	7.3	< 0.001	6.7	< 0.001	6.8	< 0.001
Age, y	-9.0	0.001	-11.2	< 0.001	-8.9	0.005	-10.1	0.001
Menopause status								
PRE/PERI			-39.7	0.11				
MHT			-58.4	0.025				
E2, nmol/l					5.2	0.89		
FSH, IU/l							0.2	0.43
$R^2$ /adjusted $R^2$	0.70/0.6	8	0.73/0.7	/1	0.70/0.6	8	0.70/0.68	3

E2, estradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; MHT, menopausal hormone therapy; PRE/PERI, pre- or perimenopause; POST, postmenopause







558 FIGURE 2. The relationship between measured REE and predicted REE among the 120 participants. (A) REE predicted with fat-free mass

<sup>559 (</sup>FFM) and fat mass (FM), and (B) also with age.



**FIGURE 3.** The association of age and fat-free mass and fat mass-adjusted resting energy expenditure (REE<sub>adj</sub>) and total energy expenditure (TEE<sub>adj</sub>). (A) REE<sub>adj</sub> across age groups, (B) REE<sub>adj</sub> across menopause groups, (C) REE<sub>adj</sub> in 16 mother-daughter pairs, (D) TEE<sub>adj</sub> in 10 mother-daughter pairs. The boxplots show the mean and SD of each group.

# **Supplemental Information**

# Menopausal status determination

The determination of menopausal status followed the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop (STRAW) + 10 guidelines, relying on menstrual cycle data collected through structured questionnaires and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) concentration measurements. The general method has been previously reported by Kovanen et al. (1).

In the Calex study, participants were first asked about their current menstrual status, then provided information about their menstrual history over the past year, including changes in cycle duration and time since the last period. They also reported any prior hysterectomies/oophorectomies and the use of hormonal products. FSH concentrations were measured from single fasting serum samples.

In the EsmiRs study, participants self-reported their menopausal status using given information about menopause-related menstrual cycle changes. They also reported the time since their last period, the regularity of their cycles, and any prior hysterectomies/oophorectomies or use of hormonal products. FSH concentrations were measured on three separate days and the data collected on the same day as the REE measurement was used for statistical analysis.

The determination of menopausal status was as follows:

- 1. **Premenopausal (PRE,** n = 10): Participants reported no changes in menstrual cycles, and FSH concentrations ranged from 2.9 to 14.6 IU/l. One participant had a prior hysterectomy and her menopause status was determined based on FSH measurement. One woman used a hormonal intrauterine device.
- 2. **Perimenopausal (PERI,** n = 9): Participants reported menstrual irregularities, and FSH concentrations ranged from 7.4 to 114.0 IU/l. The participant with the lowest FSH concentration had notably higher levels at other EsmiRs measurement points. The participant with the highest FSH concentration reported having 7 to 9 periods in the past year and her last period was 35 to 59 days ago. One woman did not report menstrual cycle information and one participant had a prior hysterectomy, and their statuses were determined based on FSH measurements.
- 3. **Postmenopausal (POST,** n = 30): Participants reported not menstruating anymore or that it had been at least 6 months since their last period and had high FSH concentrations ranging from 27.1 to 137 IU/l. One EsmiRs study participant had an FSH concentration of less than 30 IU/l but had notably higher levels at other measurement points. Another participant did not have menstrual cycle information, and another had a prior hysterectomy, with their statuses determined using FSH measurements.
- 4. Postmenopausal menopausal hormone therapy users (MHT, n = 10): Nine women in the group used combination MHT and one used E2-only MHT. Seven participants took oral MHT with one of the following combinations: 1-mg estradiol hemihydrate and 5-mg dydrogesterone (n = 5, Femoston-Conti), 1-mg estradiol valerate and 0.5-mg norethisterone acetate (n = 1, Cliovelle), or 2-mg estradiol hemihydrate and 1-mg norethisterone acetate (n = 1, Kliogest). Two participants used transdermal patches containing either 3.2-mg estradiol hemihydrate and 11.2-mg norethisterone acetate (n = 1, Evorel Conti) or 0.585-mg estradiol hemihydrate and 5-mg oral dydrogesterone (n = 1, Estradot and Terolut). One participant used transdermal patch containing 0.39-mg estradiol hemihydrate (Estradot).

# Assessment of resting energy expenditure

**Calex**. Participants were instructed to avoid strenuous physical activity and to refrain from consuming fatty and protein-rich foods the night before. They arrived at the laboratory by car after an overnight fast and rested for 30 minutes before a 30-minute measurement period. The first 10 minutes of  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$  data were excluded, and the longest steady-state segment (the coefficients of variation  $[CV] \leq 10\%$  for  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$ ) was used to calculate resting energy expenditure (REE).

**EsmiRs.** Participants were instructed to refrain from moderate-to-vigorous physical activity for two days before measurements, limit physical activity on the measurement day, and arrive at the laboratory by car. They were also instructed to avoid alcohol for 48 hours and caffeine for 12 hours before measurements and to have a light evening meal. Measurements were performed after an overnight fast, following the same protocol as in the Calex study. REE calculations were also done using the same method as previously described. Three women were excluded from a previous study on fat oxidation (2) due to higher RER values (0.91–0.94), as the calculation of substrate use is extremely sensitive even to minor hyperventilation. However, they were included in the present study because the calculation of REE is less sensitive to such effects.

**Physique.** Participants were instructed to abstain from exercise for 24 hours before measurements and to avoid physical activity on the morning of the measurement. They were also advised to avoid alcohol and caffeine for 12 hours prior and to fast overnight. They rested while the metabolic cart was being prepared, followed by a 20-minute measurement period, with the first 5 minutes of data excluded from analyses. The 5-minute steady state period ( $CV \le 10\%$  for  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$ ) with the lowest CV for  $\dot{V}O_2$  and  $\dot{V}CO_2$  was used to calculate REE.

**NO RED-S.** Participants were instructed to avoid exercising on the previous day and to refrain from alcohol use 12 hours before measurements. After an overnight fast, they arrived at the laboratory and rested for 30 minutes before a measurement period of 15-30 minutes, varying slightly between individuals depending on how quickly they reached a steady state. The first 5 minutes of data were excluded, and the longest period with  $\dot{VO}_2$  and  $\dot{VCO}_2$  CVs  $\leq$  10% was used to calculate REE.

# References

- Kovanen V, Aukee P, Kokko K, Finni T, Tarkka IM, Tammelin T, et al. Design and protocol of Estrogenic Regulation of Muscle Apoptosis (ERMA) study with 47 to 55-year-old women's cohort: novel results show menopause-related differences in blood count. Menopause. 2018;25(9):1020–32.
- 2. Karppinen JE, Juppi HK, Hintikka J, Wiklund P, Haapala EA, Hyvärinen M, et al. Associations of resting and peak fat oxidation with sex hormone profile and blood glucose control in middle-aged women. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2022 Sep;32(9):2157–67.

**Supplemental Tables** 

Supplemental Table 1. Results of resting energy expenditure explanatory models

	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3		Model 4	
	B (95% CI)	P-value	B (95% CI)	P-value	B (95% CI)	P-value	B (95% CI)	P-value
Intercept	413.4 (221.9 – 604.9)	<0.001	658.5 (500.8 - 816.2)	<0.001	647.0 (480.0 - 814.1)	<0.001	630.1 (458.0 - 802.3)	<0.001
Fat-free mass, kg	20.2 (16.3 – 24.0)	<0.001	17.7 (14.6 - 20.7)	<0.001	16.8 (11.8 – 21.8)	<0.001	18.1 (14.9 – 21.3)	<0.001
Fat mass, kg	1.7 (-0.9 to 4.2)	0.195	4.9 (2.8 – 7.0)	<0.001	5.0 (2.9 – 7.1)	<0.001	4.6 (2.5 – 6.8)	<0.001
Age, y			-5.0 (-6.2 to -3.9)	<0.001	-5.0 (-6.2 to -3.8)	<0.001	-4.9 (-6.1 to -3.6)	<0.001
ALMI					6.6 (-24.1 to 37.3)	0.671		
Data collection period (Calex study = 1; Esmi	Rs, Physique and <b>N</b>	VO RED-S	studies $= 0$ )				16.0 (-22.6 to 54.7)	0.413
R <sup>2</sup> / R <sup>2</sup> adjusted	0.477 / 0.468		0.690 / 0.682		0.691 / 0.680		0.692 / 0.681	

ALMI, appendicular lean mass index

	<b>Resting energ</b>	y expenditure	Total energy	expenditure
	Mothers	Daughters	Mothers	Daughters
Variable	<i>n</i> = 16	<i>n</i> = 16	<i>n</i> = 10	<i>n</i> = 10
Age, y	49.4 (3.6)	19.5 (1.0)	48.7 (4.0)	19.3 (1.0)
Anthropometrics				
Height, cm	167.6 (5.2)	165.0 (6.2)	168.4 (4.9)	165.2 (7.0)
Body mass, kg	70.5 (11.4)	65.3 (11.5)	73.8 (10.7)	65.4 (9.3)
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	25.2 (4.4)	24.0 (3.8)	26.2 (4.5)	23.9 (2.5)
Fat-free mass, kg	45.8 (4.4)	42.9 (3.7)	46.7 (4.5)	42.5 (3.8)
Fat mass, kg	24.7 (10.1)	22.5 (9.3)	27.1 (10.2)	22.8 (7.1)
Appendicular lean mass, kg	18.5 (2.2)	17.9 (2.3)	18.9 (2.3)	17.6 (2.6)
Appendicular lean mass index	6.6 (0.6)	6.6 (0.7)	6.6 (0.6)	6.4 (0.7)
Body fat percentage, %	35 (10)	33 (9)	37 (9)	34 (7)
Resting energy expenditure				
Measured, kcal/d	1,371 (107)	1,408 (101)	1,377 (111)	1,371 (84)
$Predicted_{FFM \& FM}, kcal/d$	1,379 (92)	1,315 (83)	1,400 (92)	1,309 (83)
$Predicted_{FFM, FM & age}, kcal/d$	1,339 (96)	1,427 (95)	1,369 (84)	1,369 (84)
Total energy expenditure				
Measured, kcal/d			2,148 (236)	2,162 (310)

Supplemental Table 2. Characteristics and energy expenditures in the mother-daughter pairs

Data as means (SD)

**Supplemental Table 3.** Adjusted resting energy expenditure (REE) in age groups I and II compared with group III. In the primary analysis, the outcome was REE residuals adjusted for fat-free mass (FFM) and fat mass (FM). The REE residuals were also adjusted for appendicular lean mass index (ALMI) in the sensitivity analysis.

	REE <sub>FFM</sub> , 1	FM	REE <sub>FFM</sub> , FM, ALMI		
	<i>B</i> (95% CI)	P-value	<i>B</i> (95% CI)	P-value	
Intercept	-56.8 (-80.3 to -33.3)	< 0.001	-46.5 (-70.2 to -22.7)	< 0.001	
Group I	126.5 (93.1 – 159.9)	< 0.001	118.4 (82.5 – 154.4)	< 0.001	
Group II	88.4 (49.2 – 127.5)	< 0.001	60.1 (20.8 – 99.3)	0.003	

# **Supplemental Figure**



**Supplemental Figure 1.** The similarity of mothers and daughters in fat-free mass and fat massadjusted A) resting energy expenditure (REE<sub>adj</sub>) and B) total energy expenditure (TEE<sub>adj</sub>). The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) describes how strongly the family members resemble each other. The pairs are ordered by the mother's age, from the youngest to the oldest. The colors show the mother's menopausal status.



# FAT OXIDATION AT REST AND DURING EXERCISE IN MALE MONOZYGOTIC TWINS

by

Karppinen, J.E., Rottensteiner, M., Wiklund, P., Hämäläinen, K., Laakkonen, E.K., Kaprio, J., Kainulainen, H. & Kujala U.M. 2019

European Journal of Applied Physiology vol 119 (11–12): 2711–2722

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-019-04247-x

Reproduced with kind permission by Springer.

**ORIGINAL ARTICLE** 



# Fat oxidation at rest and during exercise in male monozygotic twins

Jari E. Karppinen<sup>1,2</sup> · Mirva Rottensteiner<sup>1,3</sup> · Petri Wiklund<sup>1,4,5</sup> · Kaisa Hämäläinen<sup>6</sup> · Eija K. Laakkonen<sup>1,2</sup> · Jaakko Kaprio<sup>7,8</sup> · Heikki Kainulainen<sup>1</sup> · Urho M. Kujala<sup>1</sup>

Received: 29 January 2019 / Accepted: 24 October 2019 © The Author(s) 2019

### Abstract

**Purpose** We aimed to investigate if hereditary factors, leisure-time physical activity (LTPA) and metabolic health interact with resting fat oxidation (RFO) and peak fat oxidation (PFO) during ergometer cycling.

**Methods** We recruited 23 male monozygotic twin pairs (aged 32–37 years) and determined their RFO and PFO with indirect calorimetry for 21 and 19 twin pairs and for 43 and 41 twin individuals, respectively. Using physical activity interviews and the Baecke questionnaire, we identified 10 twin pairs as LTPA discordant for the past 3 years. Of the twin pairs, 8 pairs participated in both RFO and PFO measurements, and 2 pairs participated in either of the measurements. We quantified the participants' metabolic health with a 2-h oral glucose tolerance test.

**Results** Fat oxidation within co-twins was correlated at rest [intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC)=0.54, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.15–0.78] and during exercise (ICC=0.67, 95% CI 0.33–0.86). The LTPA-discordant pairs had no pairwise differences in RFO or PFO. In the twin individual-based analysis, PFO was positively correlated with the past 12-month LTPA (r=0.26, p=0.034) and the Baecke score (r=0.40, p=0.022) and negatively correlated with the area under the curve of insulin (r=-0.42, p=0.015) and glucose (r=-0.31, p=0.050) during the oral glucose tolerance test.

**Conclusions** Hereditary factors were more important than LTPA for determining fat oxidation at rest and during exercise. Additionally, PFO, but not RFO, was associated with better metabolic health.

Keywords Twins · Exercise · Lipid metabolism · Oral glucose tolerance

Co	mmunicated by Philip D Chilibeck.
	Jari E. Karppinen jari.e.j.karppinen@jyu.fi
1	Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland
2	Gerontology Research Center, Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland
3	Department of Medicine, Central Finland Health Care District, Jyväskylä, Finland
4	

- <sup>4</sup> Exercise Translational Medicine Center and Shanghai Center for Systems Biomedicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China
- <sup>5</sup> Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Centre for Environment and Health, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, London, UK
- <sup>6</sup> FirstBeat Technologies Ltd, Jyväskylä, Finland
- <sup>7</sup> Department of Public Health, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland
- <sup>8</sup> Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

#### **Abbreviations**

AUC	Area under the curve
DXA	Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
LBM	Lean body mass
LTPA	Leisure-time physical activity
MET	Metabolic equivalent of task
MZ	Monozygotic
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PFO	Peak fat oxidation
REE	Resting energy expenditure
RER	Respiratory exchange ratio
RFO	Resting fat oxidation
$VCO_2$	Volume of carbon dioxide
VO <sub>2</sub>	Volume of oxygen
VO <sub>2peak</sub>	Peak oxygen uptake

# Introduction

Fat oxidation rates at rest (Goedecke et al. 2000; Robinson et al. 2016) and during exercise (Venables et al. 2005; Randell et al. 2016; Fletcher et al. 2017) vary among individuals. The key determinants of resting fat oxidation (RFO) are not precisely identified in the scientific literature. During exercise, the main determinant of substrate use is exercise intensity (Romijn et al. 1993). The peak fat oxidation (PFO) rate is usually achieved at moderate exercise intensities (~40–60% of maximal oxygen uptake) (Venables et al. 2005; Randell et al. 2016; Fletcher et al. 2017), and the rate can be regarded as the highest systemic capacity to oxidise fat. The exercise intensity, where PFO is reached, is called  $FAT_{MAX}$ (Achten et al. 2002). As reviewed by Maunder et al. (2018), the most important determinants of PFO are training status and testing modality, biological sex, as well as habitual and acute nutrition. Large cross-sectional studies have accounted for only 34–47% of the variance in PFO (Venables et al. 2005; Randell et al. 2016; Fletcher et al. 2017). Thus, a large part of the inter-individual variability in PFO remains unexplained. Genetic differences likely play an important role because several physical and performance traits, including maximal oxygen uptake (Bouchard et al. 1998), lean body mass (LBM), muscle strength (Arden and Spector 1997) and skeletal muscle fiber-type proportion (Simoneau and Bouchard 1995) have significant genetic components. Studies investigating the respiratory exchange ratio (RER) at rest and during exercise have demonstrated that the relative use of fatty acids in both conditions show familial resemblance (Bouchard et al. 1989; Toubro et al. 1998). However, to our knowledge, no researcher has studied the absolute fat oxidation rates at rest and during exercise among monozygotic (MZ) twins.

Previous observational studies (Venables et al. 2005; Randell et al. 2016; Fletcher et al. 2017) have highlighted the influence of modifiable lifestyle factors, such as physical activity, on the capacity to oxidise fats. As genes also affect physical activity participation (Stubbe et al. 2006; Mustelin et al. 2012; Aaltonen et al. 2013), observational studies possibly overestimate the influence of physical activity. Experimental studies can provide evidence on the cause-and-effect relationship; however, long-term exercise training trials investigating fat oxidation are rare because they are expensive and arduous to perform. An option to counteract the shortcomings and the difficulties of both study designs is to compare the fat oxidation capacity of MZ co-twins who are discordant in long-term physical activity. This study design controls for genetic predisposition and mostly for the impact of the childhood environment. Therefore, the possible difference between co-twins likely results from different physical activity habits.

Besides investigating the determinants of fat oxidation capacity, researchers have been interested in understanding whether fat oxidation capacity interacts with metabolic health. This seems plausible as efficient utilization of fatty acids could protect from e.g. insulin resistance (Phielix et al. 2012). Indeed, some studies have found an association between systemic fat oxidation and better metabolic health status (Hall et al. 2010; Rosenkilde et al. 2010; Robinson et al. 2015). However, obesity-related increase in fatty acid availability has also been linked to higher fat oxidation levels (Perseghin et al. 2002; Hodson et al. 2010; Ara et al. 2011; Dandanell et al. 2017a). Thus, it remains debated whether higher fat oxidation capacity is beneficial to metabolic health and more research is needed.

In this study, our goal was to investigate the influence of internal (genetics) and external (physical activity) factors on fat oxidation at rest and during exercise. Additionally, we aimed to examine the association between fat oxidation capacity and oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)-induced metabolic response.

# **Materials and methods**

# Participants and study design

This study is part of the FITFATTWIN study, whose purpose was to identify possible pairwise differences in health and fitness parameters between male MZ co-twins (aged 32–37 years). The recruitment process was previously reported in detail (Rottensteiner et al. 2015). In short, the studied MZ twin pairs were identified from the longitudinal FinnTwin16 cohort, which follows Finnish twins born from October 1974 to December 1979. The co-twins from 202 male MZ pairs provided data on their physical activities in an online survey, which formed the fifth wave of the FinnTwin16 study data collection. This data was used to identify co-twins who were potentially discordant in leisuretime physical activity (LTPA). From the whole population, 39 twin pairs met the initial selection criteria and were selected to participate in a telephone interview, consisting of questions about their physical activities and health habits. Based on the interview, 20 twin pairs were invited to participate in the study; of these, 17 twin pairs accepted the invitation. Additionally, 6 twin pairs who were identified as concordant in LTPA were recruited from the FinnTwin16 cohort. These pairs were selected to represent varying physical activity levels, from sedentary to athletic. Thus, a total of 23 twin pairs participated in the laboratory measurements performed on 2 consecutive days. The complete timetable of the measurements was reported earlier as supplementary material in Rottensteiner et al. (2015).

Of the 23 twin pairs, 19 pairs participated in the exercise test and 22 pairs participated in the resting metabolism measurement (18 pairs took part in both measurements). One twin individual's resting metabolism measurement was excluded due to hyperventilation. Thus, the analyses of genetic influence on PFO and RFO were conducted among 19 and 21 twin pairs, respectively. In total, PFO and RFO were determined for 41 and 43 twin individuals, respectively, and the twin individual-based analyses were conducted in these groups. One twin pair declined to participate in the OGTT, and the analyses between PFO or RFO and OGTT variables were performed in groups of 39 and 41 twin individuals, respectively.

Based on detailed LTPA interviews and a questionnaire (see the next subsection), 10 of the 23 twin pairs were identified as LTPA-discordant for the past 3 years. The determination of discordance was thoroughly explained by Rottensteiner et al. (2015). Of the 10 LTPA-discordant twin pairs, 8 pairs participated in both metabolism measurements, and 2 pairs took part in one of the measurements. Therefore, a pairwise comparison on the effect of LTPA on PFO or RFO was performed between 9 twin pairs, respectively.

### Leisure-time physical activity (LTPA)

The LTPA level was determined with two separate interviews and the Baecke questionnaire. A brief retrospective interview (Waller et al. 2008; Leskinen et al. 2009; Rottensteiner et al. 2015), including structured questions on the LTPA's average frequency, duration, and intensity, as well as the average frequency and duration of commuting, was used to estimate the total LTPA volume at 1-year intervals over the past 6 years. The LTPA volume was calculated by multiplying the activity's monthly frequency, minute duration and metabolic equivalent of task (MET)-intensity and commuting physical activity was calculated by multiplying the standard 4-MET intensity with the daily commuting minute duration and the weekly frequency (5 times a week). The total LTPA volume was expressed as the sum score of the daily MET-hours, and the mean LTPA (MET-h/day) over the past 3 years (3-year LTMET index) was used to describe each participant's activity level.

A more thorough interview was used to estimate the past 12-month LTMET index. The interview was based on the Kuopio Ischemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study Questionnaire (Lakka and Salonen 1997), with additional physical activities. The participants were asked about the number of times per month (and the average duration) they participated in 20 different types of physical activities or other physical activities specified by each respondent. The participants were also asked to classify the intensity of each activity based on a 4-level scale. Like the past 3-year LTMET index, the 12-month LTMET index was calculated as MET-h/day. The participants also completed a 16-item Baecke questionnaire, which measured their recent work, sports and LTPA (Baecke et al. 1982). The total sum score was used for the twin individual-based analysis.

# Peak oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2peak</sub>) and peak fat oxidation (PFO)

A graded incremental exercise test with a gas-exchange analysis was performed on the first day of the laboratory visit. The participants were instructed to avoid vigorous exercise and alcohol use 48 h and avoid eating 2 h prior to testing. The exercise test was performed with an electrically braked bicycle ergometer (Ergoselect 200, Ergoline GmbH, Germany). The testing began with a 2-min stage at 20 W, followed by a 2-min stage at 25 W. Next, the work rate increased by 25 W every 2 min until volitional exhaustion. The breath-by-breath gas exchange was recorded with a Vmax Encore 29 metabolic cart (Sensormedics, Yorba Linda, CA, USA), which was calibrated according to the manufacturer's instructions before each measurement. The volume of oxygen (VO<sub>2</sub>) inspired and the volume of carbon dioxide (VCO<sub>2</sub>) expired were averaged at 30-s intervals for the whole test duration. The  $\mathrm{VO}_{\mathrm{2peak}}$  was determined as the average of the two highest consecutive VO<sub>2</sub>-measurements. Fat oxidation was calculated for each exercise stage from the last 30-s period with Frayn's (1983) equation, assuming that the urinary nitrogen excretion was negligible. The highest calculated fat oxidation rate was selected as the PFO and the corresponding exercise intensity as the FAT<sub>MAX</sub> (%VO<sub>2peak</sub>). Each participant's heart rate and cardiac function were monitored continuously with a 12-lead electrocardiography system (CardioSoft v.5.02 GE Medical System Corina, GE Medical System Inc., USA). The rating of perceived exertion (RPE) was determined at the end of each stage with the Borg (6-20) scale (Borg 1982). The exercise test was classified as maximal if the RPE was 19-20/20 or the RER was > 1.1 at the end of the test. The exercise test protocol was submaximal for 4 subjects. Among the participants tested with the submaximal protocol, their fat oxidation rates declined before their last performed exercise stage. Thus, their PFO results were included in the study, and their VO<sub>2peak</sub> was extrapolated based on the submaximal results.

#### **Body composition**

Each participant's body composition was measured in the morning of the second measurement day, following overnight fasting. For the body mass and height measurements, the participants were barefoot and wore light outfits. Their body mass and height were respectively measured using an electronic scale with a 0.1-kg accuracy and a stadiometer with a 0.5-cm accuracy. Their total mass, LBM, fat mass and body fat percentage were measured with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (DXA Prodigy, GE Lunar Corp., Madison, WI, USA).

# **Resting metabolism**

Each participant's resting metabolism was measured (after the DXA measurement) in a dimly light room. Similar to the exercise test, the same Vmax Encore 29 metabolic cart was used and calibrated accordingly. First, the participants rested 10 min in a supine position. Then, their gas exchange was recorded for 16 min using the ventilated canopy method, and their VO<sub>2</sub> and VCO<sub>2</sub> were averaged at 1-min intervals. First 5 min measurement data were excluded. Resting metabolism variables were calculated from a steady-state measurement period (VO<sub>2</sub> and VCO<sub>2</sub> coefficient of variation  $\leq 10\%$ between minutes). The average steady-state duration was  $9.2 \pm 2.7$  min. The resting energy expenditure (REE) was calculated with the modified Weir equation (Weir 1949; Mansell and Macdonald 1990), and Frayn's (1983) equation was used to calculate the RFO. A protein correction factor of 0.11 mg/kg/min was applied to take into account the nitrogen exertion (Flatt et al. 1985; Hall et al. 2010; Robinson et al. 2016).

# **Metabolic health**

A standard 2-h OGTT followed the resting metabolism measurement. After the collection of their fasted blood samples, the participants ingested a 75-g glucose solution (GlucosePro, Comed LLC, Tampere, Finland). Next, their blood samples were collected at 30-min, 1-h and 2-h intervals post-ingestion. All blood samples were collected from each participant's antecubital vein when he was in a supine position. The plasma glucose concentration was analysed with Konelab 20 XT (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland) and the serum insulin concentration was analysed using IMMULITE® 1000 (Siemens Medical Solution Diagnostics, Los Angeles, CA, USA). The Matsuda index was determined based on the equation: 10,000/square root of [(fasting glucose  $\times$  fasting insulin)  $\times$  (mean glucose  $\times$ mean insulin during OGTT)] (Matsuda and DeFrozo 1991). Additionally, the area under the curve (AUC) was calculated for insulin and glucose with the trapezoidal method.

# **Ethical approval**

Good clinical and scientific practices and guidelines, as well as the Declaration of Helsinki, were followed while conducting the study. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Central Finland Health Care District (Dnro 4U/2011). All participants provided their written informed consent before the laboratory measurements.

### **Statistical analysis**

Statistical analysis was carried out with IBM SPSS Statistics 24.0 and Stata 15.0. A one-way random model was used to calculate the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) between the MZ co-twins. An ICC compares within-pair variation with between-pair variation and thus explains how similar the co-twins are when compared with the other pairs. Pairwise correlations and differences were analysed with Pearson correlation coefficient and paired-sample t test, respectively. Twin individual-based correlations were analysed with simple linear regression, and the within-pair dependency was taken into account (Williams 2000) with the clustering option of Stata. In all regression analyses, RFO or PFO was treated as the dependent variable. All the variables or the regression analysis residuals were determined normally distributed with the Shapiro-Wilk test or with the visual inspection of the histograms and the normality plots. The p value 0.05 was selected to represent statistical significance. For clarity, RFO or PFO without a unit symbol is used in the text when the statistical significance persists both when using absolute or LBM relative values in the analysis.

# Results

### **Participant characteristics**

Table 1 presents the participant characteristics. Overall, the study population consisted of healthy men (aged 32–37 years) with varying physical activity, body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness levels.

# Hereditary factors and metabolism at rest and during exercise

The calculated ICCs of the resting metabolism variables and PFO showed significant resemblance between co-twins (Table 2). We also categorised the co-twins as more active or less active based on their 12-month LTMET index to calculate pairwise correlations (Figs. 1 and 2). This division did not lead to significant mean differences between the groups in RFO (0.001 g/min, p=0.68) or PFO (0.02 g/ min, p=0.47).

## LTPA and metabolism at rest and during exercise

Table 3 presents the results of the pairwise comparison between the LTPA-discordant co-twins (n = 9-10). Figure 3 illustrates individual RFO and PFO results and

#### European Journal of Applied Physiology

**Table 1** Characteristics of the participants (n = 46)

	Mean $\pm$ SD	Minimum	Maximum
Age	$34.5 \pm 1.5$	32	37
Body composition			
Height (cm)	$178 \pm 7$	157	190
Body mass (kg)	$76.7 \pm 9.8$	51.5	96.2
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$24.1 \pm 2.7$	19.8	33.6
Lean body mass (kg)	$56.8 \pm 7.0$	40.4	73.2
Fat mass (kg)	$16.7 \pm 6.7$	5.2	31.6
Body fat percentage (%)	$21.4 \pm 6.7$	7.6	36.0
Physical activity			
3-year-LTMET index (MET-h/day)	$4.7 \pm 4.6$	0.2	18.3
12-month-LTMET index (MET-h/day)	$4.2 \pm 4.6$	0.1	27.7
Baecke questionnaire (score)	$8.3 \pm 1.3$	5.6	12.1
Cardiorespiratory fitness <sup>a</sup>			
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (l/min)	$3.2 \pm 0.6$	2.3	4.6
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg/min)	41±9	29	66
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg LBM/min)	$55 \pm 8$	40	75
Resting metabolism <sup>b</sup>			
REE (kcal/d)	$1.685 \pm 190$	1 297	2 074
RER	$0.82 \pm 0.04$	75	89
RFO (g/min)	$0.06 \pm 0.02$	0.02	0.09
RFO (mg/kg LBM/min)	$1.0 \pm 0.3$	0.5	1.6
Fat oxidation during exercise <sup>a</sup>			
PFO (g/min)	$0.39 \pm 0.14$	0.13	0.81
PFO (mg/kg LBM/min)	$6.8 \pm 2.2$	2.4	13.7
FAT <sub>MAX</sub> (%VO <sub>2peak</sub> )	$40 \pm 10$	26	72
Metabolic health			
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	$5.5 \pm 0.5$	4.7	6.6
Fasting insulin (IU/ml)	$3.9 \pm 3.2$	0.2	14.6
2-h OGTT glucose (mmol/l) <sup>c</sup>	$5.1 \pm 1.1$	3.1	7.6
Matsuda index <sup>c</sup>	$18.4 \pm 17.8$	2.3	64.6
Insulin AUC (IU/ml/h) <sup>c</sup>	$66.1 \pm 38.4$	17.6	186.8
Glucose AUC (mmol/l/h) <sup>c</sup>	$11.7 \pm 2.4$	8.2	19.4

AUC area under the curve, *BMI* body mass index, *LBM* lean body mass, *MET* metabolic equivalent of task, *OGTT* oral glucose tolerance test, *PFO* peak fat oxidation, *REE* resting energy expenditure, *RER* respiratory exchange ratio, *RFO* resting fat oxidation, *VO*<sub>2peak</sub> peak oxygen uptake

 $a_{n=41}$ 

# ${}^{\rm b}n = 43$

 $^{c}n = 44$  participants

within-pair relationships. As reported earlier (Rottensteiner et al. 2015), long-term LTPA-discordant co-twins had different body fat percentage and cardiorespiratory fitness levels. However, there were no differences in REE, RER at rest or RFO between active and inactive co-twins. On average, the active co-twins tended to have higher PFO rates and lower FAT<sub>MAX</sub> when compared with the inactive co-twins, but the differences were not statistically significant. In the twin individual-based analysis (Table 4), only PFO (g/min) was positively correlated with the 12-month LTMET index (r=0.26, p=0.034), the Baecke score (r = 0.40, p = 0.022) and VO<sub>2peak</sub> (l/min) (r = 0.51, p = 0.028).

# Fat oxidation at rest and during exercise and metabolic health

RFO or PFO were not correlated with fasting glucose, fasting insulin or the Matsuda index in the twin individual-based analysis (Table 4). PFO (g/min) negatively correlated with the AUC of insulin (r = -0.42, p = 0.015) and the AUC of glucose (r = -0.31, p = 0.050). In contrast, RFO positively

Table 2 The intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) between MZ co-twins

Variable	ICC	95% CI	p value
Resting metabolism <sup>a</sup>			
REE (kcal/day)	0.58	(0.21 to 0.80)	0.002
RER	0.51	(0.12 to 0.77)	0.007
RFO (g/min)	0.54	(0.15 to 0.78)	0.004
RFO (mg/kg LBM/min)	0.57	(0.20 to 0.80)	0.003
Fat oxidation during exercise	b		
PFO (g/min)	0.67	(0.33 to 0.86)	< 0.001
PFO (mg/kg LBM/min)	0.59	(0.21 to 0.82)	0.002
FAT <sub>MAX</sub> (%VO <sub>2peak</sub> )	0.51	(0.09 to 0.77)	0.010

*PFO* peak fat oxidation, *REE* resting energy expenditure, *RER* respiratory exchange ratio, *RFO* resting fat oxidation

 $a_n = 21$  MZ twin pairs

 $^{b}n = 19$  MZ twin pairs

correlated (r = 0.31, p = 0.019) with glucose AUC when expressed relative to LBM.

### Discussion

For the first time, our study data showed that fat oxidation rates at rest and during exercise were similar between MZ co-twins, even though the study group was enriched with pairs who had discordant LTPA habits. The co-twins also exhibited similar  $FAT_{MAX}$  values and thus tended to reach PFO at the same absolute exercise intensities. Although we were unable to confirm the effect of long-term LTPA on fat

oxidation capacity in our small sub-population of long-term LTPA-discordant MZ co-twins, PFO (g/min) was associated with LTPA in the twin individual-based analysis. We also observed that PFO (g/min), but not RFO, was associated with a favourable response to glucose loading.

This study's major finding is that hereditary factors influence fat oxidation capacity. The finding supports those of Toubro et al. (1998) and Bouchard et al. (1989), who reported that RER at rest and during low-intensity cycling showed significant familial resemblance. In a study involving male MZ twin pairs (Bouchard et al. 1989), the ICCs of RER ranged from 0.63 to 0.54 during cycling at low intensities (50 W and 100 W, respectively). As the researchers also investigated the substrate use of dizygotic twins, they were able to control their analysis for the common environmental effect. Their calculated heritability estimates ranged from 0.40 to 0.62. However, as RER only describes the relative use of energy substrates, this study broadens the concept by showing that absolute fat oxidation rates behave accordingly and supports the earlier suggestion that genes play a role in determining fat oxidation capacity during exercise (Jeukendrup and Wallis 2005; Randell et al. 2016). This assumption seems evident, as the large cross-sectional studies investigating fat oxidation during exercise have been able to describe only partly the observed inter-individual variability in PFO (Venables et al. 2005; Randell et al. 2016; Fletcher et al. 2017).

We identified a subpopulation of MZ twin pairs, where the co-twins differed in their past 3-year LTPA. As reported earlier (Rottensteiner et al. 2015, 2016; Tarkka et al. 2016; Hautasaari et al. 2017), the LTPA discordance created diet-independent differences between active and inactive



Fig. 1 Pairwise correlations of a absolute and b lean body mass (LBM) relative resting fat oxidation (RFO) in 21 MZ twin pairs



Fig. 2 Pairwise correlations of a absolute and b lean body mass (LBM) relative peak fat oxidation (PFO) during exercise in 19 MZ twin pairs

Table 3	Characteristics	of the	long-term-di	scordant	ΜZ	twin	pairs
---------	-----------------	--------	--------------	----------	----	------	-------

Variable	Active $(n=10)$	Inactive $(n=10)$	Mean difference (95% CI)	p value
Physical activity*				
3-year-LTMET index (MET-h/day)	$5.0 \pm 2.7$	$1.7 \pm 1.3$	3.3 (1.9 to 4.8)	0.001
12-month-LTMET index (MET-h/day)	$3.9 \pm 1.2$	$1.2 \pm 0.9$	2.8 (2.0 to 3.5)	< 0.001
Body composition*				
Lean body mass (kg)	$56.9 \pm 4.8$	$55.5 \pm 6.1$	1.4 (-0.3 to 3.0)	0.094
Fat mass (kg)	$16.0 \pm 4.5$	$19.2 \pm 6.6$	-3.3 (-6.7 to 0.2)	0.059
Body fat percentage (%)	$20.7 \pm 4.0$	$24.0 \pm 4.6$	-3.3 (-6.2  to  -0.4)	0.029
Cardiorespiratory fitness <sup>a</sup>				
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (l/min)	$3.3 \pm 0.3$	$2.9 \pm 0.5$	0.4 (0.2 to 0.6)	0.001
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg LBM/min)	$58\pm5$	$52 \pm 5$	7 (3 to 10)	0.001
Metabolism at rest <sup>b</sup>				
REE (kcal/day)	$1735 \pm 187$	$1675 \pm 191$	59 (-48 to 166)	0.24
RER	$0.82 \pm 0.03$	$0.80 \pm 0.03$	0.02 (-0.01 to 0.04)	0.16
RFO (g/min)	$0.06 \pm 0.02$	$0.06 \pm 0.02$	0.00 (-0.01 to 0.01)	0.52
RFO (mg/kg LBM/min)	$1.0 \pm 0.3$	$1.1 \pm 0.3$	-0.1 (-0.3 to 0.1)	0.35
Fat oxidation during exercise <sup>a</sup>				
PFO (g/min)	$0.46 \pm 0.20$	$0.38 \pm 0.12$	0.08 (-0.02 to 0.18)	0.11
PFO (mg/kg LBM/min)	$8.0 \pm 3.1$	$6.9 \pm 1.8$	1.1 (-0.7 to 2.9)	0.18
FAT <sub>MAX</sub> (%VO <sub>2peak</sub> )	$40 \pm 9$	$43\pm 8$	-4 (-8 to 1)	0.077

*LBM* lean body mass, *MET* metabolic equivalent of task, *OGTT* oral glucose tolerance test, *PFO* peak fat oxidation, *REE* resting energy expenditure, RER: respiratory exchange ratio, *RFO* resting fat oxidation, *VO*<sub>2peak</sub> peak oxygen uptake

<sup>\*</sup>Data reported earlier (Rottensteiner et al. 2015)

 $a_n = 9$  MZ twin pairs

 ${}^{b}n = 9$  MZ twin pairs, one pair is different than in the exercise test-based variables

co-twins in cardiorespiratory fitness, intra-abdominal adiposity, glucose homeostasis, and brain morphology and function. In this study, we found no differences between the co-twins in their systemic energy metabolism at rest or during exercise. In the twin individual-based analysis, only PFO (g/min) was associated with LTPA. In previous



**Fig.3** a Resting fat oxidation (RFO) and b peak fat oxidation (PFO) during exercise in the leisure-time physical activity discordant MZ twin pairs (n=9, 8 pairs successfully participated in both measure-

observational studies, PFO was associated with self-reported physical activity (Venables et al. 2005; Fletcher et al. 2017), and trained subjects (Nordby et al. 2006) or athletes (Dandanell et al. 2018) exhibited superior PFO compared with controls. However, it is highly likely that physical activity participation and fat oxidation capacity have shared genetic factors, and the relationship noted in observational studies is partly genetically mediated. In experimental studies, endurance-training interventions commonly increased PFO, at least in untrained populations (reviewed by Maunder et al. 2018). Earlier mechanistic evidence from our laboratory also supports the role of physical activity as a modulator of PFO. In same-sex twin pairs, an over 30-year long physical activity discordance led to significant differences in myocellular gene expression related to oxidative phosphorylation and lipid metabolism (Leskinen et al. 2010). The effects of physical activity on RFO have been investigated less, with mixed results. A modest increase in fat oxidation rates at rest has been reported in some (Barwell et al. 2009; Whyte et al. 2010) but not in all (Scharhag-Rosenberger et al. 2010) trials. When the current scientific evidence is taken together with our results, physical activity seems to be able to influence PFO, while its effect on RFO is questionable.

In the twin individual-based analysis, we observed that PFO (g/min) was associated with a favourable response to glucose loading. The observed inverse association between PFO (g/min) and insulin concentration during the OGTT was especially convincing. However, we found no association between PFO and the Matsuda index, our main surrogate of insulin sensitivity. As explained in the methods section, the Matsuda index is influenced by fasting values, which were not associated with PFO in our study. Previously, Robinson et al. (2015) showed that PFO was inversely



ments). Figures include group means and standard deviations. Colours represent the same twin pairs in both charts. Note the different scale in the y-axis

associated with a fasting-based QUICKI index. As Robinson et al. (2015) had a larger sample size (n = 53) and measured the PFO in the fasting state, they were more able to find the associations between the PFO and the fasting-based values, which generally vary less among healthy individuals when compared with the responses to glucose loading. Here, we show that probably an even more noticeable inverse association exists between PFO (g/min) and the insulin response to the OGTT. However, it should be mentioned that PFO does not always seem to be associated with a healthier metabolic phenotype because an obesity-related increase in fatty acid availability has also been linked to higher PFO (Ara et al. 2011; Dandanell et al. 2017a).

In contrary to PFO, RFO was not associated with a healthy metabolic response to the OGTT. Previous studies have noted mixed findings. Rosenkilde et al. (2010) reported that in a population of overweight but otherwise healthy men, the group with low RER at rest had higher PFO and a healthier metabolic profile when compared with the group with high RER. However, there were no differences in fasting glucose or insulin levels between the groups. Some case-control studies (Perseghin et al. 2002; Hodson et al. 2010) have shown an elevated RFO in obese subjects when compared with their lean counterparts. An elevated RFO could potentially function as a protective mechanism against insulin resistance (Perseghing et al. 2002) and liver fat accumulation (Hodson et al. 2010) when lipid availability increases. Overall, further research is needed to clarify the interaction between systemic fat oxidation and metabolic health.

Our study has both strengths and limitations. A key strength was our ability to measure RFO and PFO in 21 and 19 MZ twin pairs, respectively. This enabled us to investigate

#### Table 4 Results of the twin individual-based analysis

	PFO (g/min)	PFO (mg/kg LBM/min)	RFO (g/min)	RFO (mg/kg LBM/min)
Body composition				
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	r = 0.12 p = 0.53	r = 0.054 p = 0.76	r = 0.16 p = 0.25	r = 0.079 p = 0.58
Lean body mass (kg)	r = 0.41 p = 0.007		r = 0.33 p = 0.12	
Fat mass (kg)	r = -0.13 p = 0.57	r = -0.091 p = 0.66	r = 0.08 p = 0.63	r = 0.10 p = 0.48
Self-reported leisure time physical activity				
12-month LTMET-index (MET-h/day)	r = 0.26 p = 0.034	r = 0.10 p = 0.41	r = 0.14 p = 0.23	r = -0.08 p = 0.46
3-year-LTMET-index (MET-h/day)	r = 0.30 p = 0.081	r = 0.20 p = 0.26	r = 0.22 p = 0.13	r = 0.05 p = 0.32
Baecke questionnaire (score)	r = 0.40 p = 0.022	r = 0.25 p = 0.13	r = 0.002 r = 0.98	r = -0.15 p = 0.24
Cardiorespiratory fitness				
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (l/min)	r = 0.51 p = 0.028		r = 0.21 p = 0.30	
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg LBM/min)		r = 0.36 p = 0.085		r = -0.006 p = 0.97
Fat oxidation during exercise				
PFO (g/min)			r = 0.30 p = 0.14	
PFO (mg/kg LBM/min)				r = 0.29 p = 0.12
Glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity				
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	r = -0.11 p = 0.42	r = -0.16 p = 0.26	r = 0.084 p = 0.60	r = 0.05 p = 0.80
Fasting insulin (µU/l)	r = -0.17 p = 0.33	r = -0.13 p = 0.48	r = -0.10 p = 0.59	r = -0.079 p = 0.63
Matsuda index	r = 0.10 p = 0.60	r = 0.026 p = 0.91	r = 0.18 p = 0.29	r = 0.067 p = 0.67
Insulin AUC (µU/l/h)	r = -0.42 p = 0.015	r = -0.35 p = 0.055	r = -0.04 p = 0.85	r = 0.12 p = 0.58
Glucose AUC (mmol/l/h)	r = -0.31 p = 0.050	r = -0.27 p = 0.11	r = 0.21 p = 0.082	r = 0.31 p = 0.019

AUC area under the curve, BMI body mass index, LBM lean body mass, MET metabolic equivalent of task, OGTT oral glucose tolerance test, PFO peak fat oxidation, REE resting energy expenditure, RER respiratory exchange ratio, RFO resting fat oxidation, VO<sub>2peak</sub> peak oxygen uptake

the influence of hereditary factors on RFO and PFO in a reasonably sized study group. The calculated ICCs represent the upper bound of heritability, as differences between MZ twins are due to non-genetic factors. However, as MZ twin pairs share also many aspects of their development and environment, the actual heritability of the trait may be lower. A more precise estimation of heritability would require several kinds of relatives (for quantitative trait modeling) or very large study population (for measurement of all genetic variation by whole genome sequencing). Despite our systematic nationwide search, we could only recruit 10 MZ twin pairs, where the co-twins were long-term LTPA-discordant, which weakened our study's power to find significant pairwise differences. Furthermore, the participants' MZ twin status made it more difficult to find significant twin individualbased correlations because clustering was necessary to take into account the within-pair dependency. Additionally, since our study included only males, the results cannot be generalised to females.

Another strength of our study was our protocol's inclusion of an OGTT; we did not depend on using fastingbased values. This enabled us to conduct a more in-depth examination of the possible associations between fat oxidation and metabolic health. However, our study protocol was not optimal for PFO determination, which should be considered when interpreting the results. Nutrition intake the day before (Støa et al. 2016) and on the same day (Achten and Jeukendrup 2003; Edinburgh et al. 2018) will alter substrate use. In this study, we did not control for the nutrition intake before the exercise test. For example, this could partially explain why we did not find any association between RFO and PFO, as previously shown by Robinson et al. (2016). Moreover, we used 2-min exercise stages during PFO testing. The 2-min stages might be too short to reach a steady-state, especially for the subjects with lower cardiorespiratory fitness (Dandanell et al. 2017b; Chrzanowski-Smith et al. 2018). To assess whether the stage duration excessively affected the results, we compared VO<sub>2</sub> and VCO<sub>2</sub> between intervals 90-105 s and 105-120 s of the PFO-stage. There were no systematic differences in VO<sub>2</sub> or VCO<sub>2</sub> between the intervals. Mean coefficients of variation were  $4 \pm 4\%$  and  $4 \pm 4\%$  for VO<sub>2</sub> and VCO<sub>2</sub>, respectively. Coefficient of variation of VO<sub>2</sub>, VCO<sub>2</sub> or both exceeded 10% in 3 out of 41 participants. Removing these participants from the analyses did not materially change the results. Therefore, the influence of the stage duration was considered acceptable. Also, the measured PFO (g/min) results were associated with the most important determinants described in the literature, and as expected, correlated between the MZ co-twins. Thus, the measurements seemed to reflect the PFO of our study participants.

In conclusion, we show that fat oxidation rates at rest and during exercise are similar between MZ co-twins. Our results support the suggestion that hereditary factors influence fat oxidation capacity. The internal factors likely set the baseline for fat oxidation capacity that the external factors can modulate. In our study, the role of physical activity seemed smaller, especially concerning RFO. Furthermore, we observed that only higher capacity to utilize fatty acids during exercise associated with better metabolic health.

Acknowledgements Open access funding provided by University of Jyväskylä (JYU).

Author contributions JEK, MR, PW and UMK conceived and designed research. MR, PW, KH and UMK conducted experiments. JK was responsible for the creation and maintenance of the base cohort from which the study sample was recruited. JEK analysed data and drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the interpretation of data and critical revision of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

**Funding** The FITFATTWIN study was supported by the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture (OKM/56/626/2013 to UMK), META-PREDICT (within the European Union Seventh Framework Programme, HEALTH-F2-2012–277936 to UMK). Data collection for the FT16 study was supported by the National Institute of Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (grants AA-12502, AA-00145, and AA-09203 to RJ Rose) and the Academy of Finland (grants 100499, 205585, 118555, 141054, 264146, 308248 and 312073 to JK).

# **Compliance with ethical standards**

**Conflict of interest** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

# References

- Aaltonen S, Ortega-Alonso A, Kujala UM, Kaprio J (2013) Genetic and environmental influences on longitudinal changes in leisure-time physical activity from adolescence to young adulthood. Twin Res Hum Genet. 16(2):535–543. https://doi.org/10.1017/thg.2013.9
- Achten J, Jeukendrup AE (2003) The effect of pre-exercise carbohydrate feedings on the intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation. J Sports Sci 21(12):1017–1024
- Achten J, Gleeson M, Jeukendrup AE (2002) Determination of the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation. Med Sci Sports Exerc 34(1):92–97
- Ara I, Larsen S, Stallknecht B, Guerra B, Morales-Alamo D, Andersen JL, Ponce-Gonzalez JG, Guadalupe-Grau A, Galbo H, Calbet JA, Helge JW (2011) Normal mitochondrial function and increased fat oxidation capacity in leg and arm muscles in obese humans. Int J Obes 35(1):99–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.123
- Arden NK, Spector TD (1997) Genetic influences on muscle strength, lean body mass, and bone mineral density: a twin study. J Bone Miner Res 12(12):2076–2081
- Baecke JA, Burema J, Frijters JE (1982) A short questionnaire for the measurement of habitual physical activity in epidemiological studies. Am J Clin Nutr 36(5):936–942
- Barwell ND, Malkova D, Leggate M, Gill JMR (2009) Individual responsiveness to exercise-induced fat loss is associated with change in resting substrate utilization. Metabolism 58(9):1320– 1328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2009.04.016
- Borg GA (1982) Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med Sci Sports Exerc 14(5):377–381
- Bouchard C, Tremblay A, Nadeau A, Després JP, Thériault G, Boulay MR, Lortie G, Leblanc C, Fournier G (1989) Genetic effect in resting and exercise metabolic rates. 3 Metabolism 8(4):364–370
- Bouchard C, Daw EW, Rice T, Pérusse L, Gagnon J, Province MA, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS, Wilmore JH (1998) Familial resemblance for VO2max in the sedentary state: the HERITAGE family study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 30(2):252–258
- Chrzanowski-Smith OJ, Edinburgh RM, Betts JA, Stokes KA, Gonzalez JT (2018) Evaluation of a graded exercise test to determine peak fat oxidation in individuals with low cardiorespiratory fitness. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 43(12):1288–1297. https://doi. org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0098
- Dandanell S, Husted K, Amdisen S, Vigelsø A, Dela F, Larsen S, Helge JW (2017a) Influence of maximal fat oxidation on long-term weight loss maintenance in humans. J Appl Physiol 123(1):267– 274. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00270.2017
- Dandanell S, Søndergård SD, Helge JW, Dela F, Larsen S, Præst CB, Skovborg C (2017b) Determination of the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation in individuals with obesity. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 42(4):405–412. https://doi.org/10.1139/ apnm-2016-0518

- Dandanell S, Meinild-Lundby AK, Andersen AB, Lang PF, Oberholzer L, Keiser S, Robach P, Larsen S, Rønnestad BR, Lundby C (2018) Determinants of maximal whole-body fat oxidation in elite crosscountry skiers: role of skeletal muscle mitochondria. Scand J Med Sci Sports 28(12):2494–2504. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.13298
- Edinburgh RM, Hengist A, Smith HA, Travers RL, Koumanov F, Betts JA, Thompson D, Walhin J, Wallis GA, Hamilton DL, Stevenson EJ, Tipton KD, Gonzalez JT (2018) Pre-exercise breakfast ingestion versus extended overnight fasting increases postprandial glucose flux after exercise in healthy men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 315(5):E1062–E1074. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpen do.00163.2018
- Flatt JP, Ravussin E, Acheson KJ, Jéquier E (1985) Effects of dietary fat on postprandial substrate oxidation and on carbohydrate and fat balances. J Clin Invest 76(3):1019–1024
- Fletcher G, Eves FF, Glover EI, Robinson SL, Vernooij CA, Thompson JL, Wallis GA (2017) Dietary intake is independently associated with the maximal capacity for fat oxidation during exercise. Am J Clin Nutr 105(4):864–872. https://doi.org/10.3945/ ajcn.116.133520
- Frayn KN (1983) Calculation of substrate oxidation rates in vivo from gaseous exchange. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol 55(2):628–634
- Goedecke JH, St Clair Gibson A, Grobler L, Collins M, Noakes TD, Lambert EV (2000) Determinants of the variability in respiratory exchange ratio at rest and during exercise in trained athletes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 279(6):E1325–E1334
- Hall LML, Moran CN, Milne GR, Wilson J, MacFarlane NG, Forouhi NG, Hariharan N, Salt IP, Sattar N, Gill JMR (2010) Fat oxidation, fitness and skeletal muscle expression of oxidative/lipid metabolism genes in South Asians: implications for insulin resistance? PLoS ONE 5(12):e14197. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pone.0014197
- Hautasaari P, Savić AM, Loberg O, Niskanen E, Kaprio J, Kujala UM, Tarkka IM (2017) Somatosensory brain function and gray matter regional volumes differ according to exercise history: evidence from monozygotic twins. Brain Topogr 30(1):77–86. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10548-016-0531-1
- Hodson L, McQuaid SE, Humphreys SM, Milne R, Fielding BA, Frayn KN, Karpe F (2010) Greater dietary fat oxidation in obese compared with lean men: an adaptive mechanism to prevent liver fat accumulation? Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 299(4):E584– E592. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00272.2010
- Jeukendrup AE, Wallis GA (2005) Measurement of substrate oxidation during exercise by means of gas exchange measurements. Int J Sports Med Suppl 1:S28–37
- Lakka TA, Salonen JT (1997) The physical activity questionnaires of the Kuopio Ischemic Heart Disease Study (KIHD). A collection of physical activity questionnaires for health-related research. Med Sci Sports Exerc 29:S46–S58
- Leskinen T, Waller K, Mutikainen S, Aaltonen S, Ronkainen PHA, Alén M, Sipilä S, Kovanen V, Perhonen M, Pietiläinen KH, Cheng S, Suominen H, Kainulainen H, Kaprio J, Kujala UM (2009) Effects of 32-year leisure time physical activity discordance in twin pairs on health (TWINACTIVE study): aims, design and results for physical fitness. Twin Res Hum Genet 12(1):108–117. https://doi.org/10.1375/twin.12.1.108
- Leskinen T, Rinnankoski-Tuikka R, Rintala M, Seppänen-Laakso T, Pöllänen E, Alen M, Sipilä S, Kaprio J, Kovanen V, Rahkila P, Oresic M, Kainulainen H, Kujala UM (2010) Differences in muscle and adipose tissue gene expression and cardio-metabolic risk factors in the members of physical activity discordant twin pairs. PLoS 5:e12609. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0012609
- Mansell PI, Macdonald IA (1990) Reappraisal of the Weir equation for calculation of metabolic rate. Am J Physiol 258(6):1347–1354

- Matsuda M, DeFrozo RA (1991) Insulin sensitivity indices obtained from oral glucose tolerance testing. Comparison with the euglycemic insulin clamp. Diabetes Care 22(9):1462–1470
- Maunder E, Plews DJ, Kilding AE (2018) Contextualising Maximal Fat Oxidation During Exercise: Determinants and Normative Values. Front Physiol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00599
- Mustelin L, Joutsi J, Latvala A, Pietiläinen KH, Rissanen A, Kaprio J (2012) Genetic influences on physical activity in young adults: a twin study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 44(7):1293–1301. https://doi. org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182479747
- Nordby P, Saltin B, Helge JW (2006) Whole-body fat oxidation determined by graded exercise and indirect calorimetry: a role for muscle oxidative capacity? Scand J Med Sci Sports 16(3):209–214
- Perseghin G, Scifo P, Danna M, Battezzati A, Benedini S, Meneghini E, Del Maschio A, Luzi L (2002) Normal insulin sensitivity and IMCL content in overweight humans are associated with higher fasting lipid oxidation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 283(3):556–564
- Phielix E, Meex R, Ouwens DM, Sparks L, Hoeks J, Schaart G, Moonen-Kornips E, Hesselink MK, Schrauwen P (2012) High oxidative capacity due to chronic exercise training attenuates lipid-induced insulin resistance. Diabetes 61(10):2472–2478
- Randell R, Rollo I, Roberts T, Dalrymple K, Jeukendrup A, Carter J (2016) Maximal fat oxidation rates in an athletic population. Med Sci Sports Exerc 49(1):133–140. https://doi.org/10.1249/ MSS.000000000001084
- Robinson SL, Hattersley J, Frost GS, Chambers ES, Wallis GA (2015) Maximal fat oxidation during exercise is positively associated with 24-hour fat oxidation and insulin sensitivity in young, healthy men. J Appl Physiol 118(11):1415–1422. https://doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.00058.2015
- Robinson SL, Chambers ES, Fletcher G, Wallis GA (2016) Lipolytic markers, insulin and resting fat oxidation are associated with maximal fat oxidation. Int J Sports Med 37(8):607–613. https:// doi.org/10.1055/s-0042-100291
- Romijn JA, Coyle EF, Sidossis LS, Gastaldelli A, Horowitz JF, Endert E, Wolfe RR (1993) Regulation of endogenous fat and carbohydrate metabolism in relation to exercise intensity and duration. Am J Physiol 265(3 Pt 1):E380–E391
- Rosenkilde M, Nordby P, Nielsen LB, Stallknecht BM, Helge JW (2010) Fat oxidation at rest predicts peak fat oxidation during exercise and metabolic phenotype in overweight men. Int J Obes 34(5):871–877. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.11
- Rottensteiner M, Leskinen T, Niskanen E, Aaltonen S, Mutikainen S, Wikgren J, Heikkilä K, Kovanen V, Kainulainen H, Kaprio J, Tarkka I, Kujala U (2015) Physical activity, fitness, glucose homeostasis, and brain morphology in twins. Med Sci Sports Exerc 47(3):509–518. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000437
- Rottensteiner M, Leskinen T, Järvelä-Reijonen E, Väisänen K, Aaltonen S, Kaprio J, Kujala UM (2016) Leisure-time physical activity and intra-abdominal fat in young adulthood: a monozygotic co-twin control study. Obesity 24(5):1185–1191. https://doi. org/10.1002/oby.21465
- Scharhag-Rosenberger F, Meyer T, Walitzek S, Kindermann W (2010) Effects of one year aerobic endurance training on resting metabolic rate and exercise fat oxidation in previously untrained men and women. Metabolic endurance training adaptations. Int J Sports Med. 31(7):498. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1249621
- Simoneau JA, Bouchard C (1995) Genetic determinism of fiber type proportion in human skeletal muscle. FASEB J 9(11):1091–1095
- Støa EM, Nyhus L, Børresen SC, Nygaard C, Hovet ÅM, Bratland-Sanda S, Helgerud J, Støren Ø (2016) Day to day variability in fat oxidation and the effect after only 1 day of change in diet composition. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 41(4):397–404. https:// doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0334

- Stubbe JH, Boomsma DI, Vink JM, Cornes BK, Martin NG, Skytthe A, Kyvik KO, Rose RJ, Kujala UM, Kaprio J, Harris JR, Pedersen NL, Hunkin J, Spector TD, de Geus EJ (2006) 2006 Genetic influences on exercise participation in 37,051 twin pairs from seven countries. PLoS ONE 1:e22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pone.0000022
- Tarkka IM, Savić A, Pekkola E, Rottensteiner M, Leskinen T, Kaprio J, Kujala UM (2016) Long-term physical activity modulates brain processing of somatosensory stimuli: evidence from young male twins. Biol Psychol 117:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biops ycho.2016.02.001
- Toubro S, Sørensen TI, Hindsberger C, Christensen NJ, Astrup A (1998) Twenty-four-hour respiratory quotient: the role of diet and familial resemblance. J Clin Endocrinol Metabs 83(8):2758–2764
- Venables MC, Achten J, Jeukendrup AE (2005) Determinants of fat oxidation during exercise in healthy men and women: a crosssectional study. J Appl Physiol 98(1):160–167. https://doi. org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00662.2003

- Waller K, Kaprio J, Kujala UM (2008) Associations between long-term physical activity, waist circumference and weight gain: a 30-year longitudinal twin study. Int J Obes 32(2):353–361. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803692
- Weir JB (1949) New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J Physiol 109(1–2):1–9
- Whyte LJ, Gill JMR, Cathcart AJ (2010) Effect of 2 weeks of sprint interval training on health-related outcomes in sedentary overweight/obese men. Metab Clin Exp 59(10):1421–1428. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2010.01.002
- Williams RL (2000) A note on robust variance estimation for clustercorrelated data. Biometrics 56(2):645–646

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



IV

# ASSOCIATIONS OF RESTING AND PEAK FAT OXIDATION WITH SEX HORMONE PROFILE AND BLOOD GLUCOSE CONTROL IN MIDDLE-AGED WOMEN

by

Karppinen, J.E., Juppi, H.K., Hintikka, J., Wiklund, P., Haapala, E.A., Hyvärinen, M., Tammelin, T.H., Aukee, P., Kujala, U.M., Laukkanen, J. & Laakkonen, E.K. 2022

Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases vol 32 (9): 2157-2167

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2022.06.001

Reproduced with kind permission by Elsevier.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

# Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/nmcd



# Associations of resting and peak fat oxidation with sex hormone profile and blood glucose control in middle-aged women

Jari E. Karppinen <sup>a,\*</sup>, Hanna-Kaarina Juppi <sup>b</sup>, Jukka Hintikka <sup>a</sup>, Petri Wiklund <sup>c,d</sup>, Eero A. Haapala <sup>a,e</sup>, Matti Hyvärinen <sup>b</sup>, Tuija H. Tammelin <sup>f</sup>, Pauliina Aukee <sup>g</sup>, Urho M. Kujala <sup>a</sup>, Jari Laukkanen <sup>a,h,i</sup>, Eija K. Laakkonen <sup>b</sup>

<sup>b</sup> Gerontology Research Center and Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland

<sup>e</sup> Exercise Translational Medicine Center, Shanghai Center for Systems Biomedicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

<sup>d</sup> Huawei Helsinki R&D Center, Huawei Technologies Ltd, Helsinki, Finland

<sup>e</sup> Institute of Biomedicine, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

<sup>h</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Central Finland Healthcare District, Jyväskylä, Finland

<sup>i</sup> Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

Received 8 February 2022; received in revised form 31 May 2022; accepted 1 June 2022 Handling Editor: A. Siani

Available online 8 June 2022

**KEYWORDS** Fat oxidation; Menopause; Estradiol; Glucose tolerance; Insulin sensitivity **Abstract** *Background and aims:* Menopause may reduce fat oxidation. We investigated whether sex hormone profile explains resting fat oxidation (RFO) or peak fat oxidation (PFO) during incremental cycling in middle-aged women. Secondarily, we studied associations of RFO and PFO with glucose regulation.

Method and results: We measured RFO and PFO of 42 women (age 52–58 years) with indirect calorimetry. Seven participants were pre- or perimenopausal, 26 were postmenopausal, and nine were postmenopausal hormone therapy users. Serum estradiol (E2), follicle-stimulating hormone, progesterone, and testosterone levels were quantified with immunoassays. Insulin sensitivity (Matsuda index) and glucose tolerance (area under the curve) were determined by glucose tolerance testing. Body composition was assessed with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry; physical activity with self-report and accelerometry; and diet, with food diaries. Menopausal status or sex hormone levels were not associated with the fat oxidation outcomes. RFO determinants were fat mass ( $\beta = 0.44$ , P = 0.006) and preceding energy intake ( $\beta = -0.40$ , P = 0.019). Cardiorespiratory fitness ( $\beta = 0.59$ , P = 0.002), lean mass ( $\beta = 0.49$ , P = 0.002) and physical activity (self-reported  $\beta = 0.37$ , P = 0.020; accelerometer-measured  $\beta = 0.35$ , P = 0.024) explained PFO. RFO and PFO were not related to insulin sensitivity. Higher RFO was associated with poorer glucose tolerance ( $\beta = 0.52$ , P = 0.002).

*Conclusion:* Among studied middle-aged women, sex hormone profile did not explain RFO or PFO, and higher fat oxidation capacity did not indicate better glucose control.

© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of The Italian Diabetes Society, the Italian Society for the Study of Atherosclerosis, the Italian Society of Human Nutrition and the Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Federico II University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

*Abbreviations:* AUC, area under the curve; COVID-19, coronavirus disease; E2, estradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; HT, hormone therapy; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acids; OGTT, oral glucose tolerance test; PFO, peak fat oxidation; POST, postmenopause; PRE/PERI, preor perimenopause; RER, respiratory exchange ratio; RFO, resting fat oxidation.

\* Corresponding author. Rautpohjankatu 8, 40700 Jyväskylä, Finland.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2022.06.001

0939-4753/© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of The Italian Diabetes Society, the Italian Society for the Study of Atherosclerosis, the Italian Society of Human Nutrition and the Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Federico II University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup>JAMK University of Applied Sciences, LIKES, Jyväskylä, Finland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>g</sup> Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Central Finland Health Care District, Jyväskylä, Finland

E-mail address: jari.e.j.karppinen@jyu.fi (J.E. Karppinen).

### 1. Introduction

Menopause follows the loss of ovarian follicular activity and leads to circulating  $17\beta$ -estradiol (E2) decline with concomitant follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) increase [1]. The E2 deficiency has been thought to reduce fat oxidation capacity [2,3]. Premenopausal women depend more on fat oxidation than men during exercise [4–7] but not necessarily at rest [8]. Whether the sex-related difference is lost [9,10] or not [11] after menopause is uncertain. However, E2 supplementation increases fat oxidation in men [12,13], and estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  regulates myocellular fatty acid metabolism [14], supporting the role of E2 as a fat oxidation capacity determinant.

Only a few human studies have directly investigated whether fat oxidation responds to menopause. Lovejoy et al. [15] found that 24-h fat oxidation decreased in women who transitioned from premenopause to postmenopause during a 4-year follow-up. However, they could not show that the decrease differed from women who were still premenopausal at the time of the end measurements. In contrast, Albildgaard et al. [16] reported premenopausal women to use fatty acids more than postmenopausal participants while cycling for 45 min at 50% of the VO<sub>2MAX</sub> intensity and the FSH levels to negatively correlate with fat oxidation rate. Notably, the relative exercise intensity at which individuals reach their peak fat oxidation (PFO) rates varies [4-7]. Using incremental exercise testing may therefore improve the assessment of fat oxidation capacity compared with single-stage testing [17]. To our knowledge, this approach has not been used to study associations between sex hormone profile and fat oxidation in middle-aged women.

The E2 levels can be raised with menopausal hormone therapy (HT). Nevertheless, fat oxidation did not differ between HT users and non-users during a 30-min treadmill test performed at 80% of VO<sub>2MAX</sub> intensity [18]. The effects of HT on resting fat oxidation (RFO) have been suggested to depend on the administration route. Dos Reis et al. [19] reported lower RFO in women taking oral conjugated estrogens than in transdermal E2 users, perhaps because of the liver first-pass effect. However, randomized controlled crossover trials could not confirm this observation when conjugated estrogens were compared with transdermal E2 [20] or placebo [21] treatments. Moreover, whether administered orally or transdermally, E2-therapy did not affect RFO in hypogonadal girls with Turner syndrome [22].

Poor fat oxidation capacity may induce lipid intermediate accumulation and impaired insulin signaling in oxidative tissues [23]. Menopause is associated with disturbances in blood glucose regulation [24]. Therefore, investigating the relationship between fat oxidation and glucose control is especially relevant in middle-aged women. Both RFO [25] and PFO [26] have been associated with insulin sensitivity in other populations. However, the findings are not universal [7,27,28], and the studies have relied on fasting-based outcomes.

Aging is a confounder in menopause-related studies. Therefore, our primary aim was to investigate whether sex hormone profile is related to fat oxidation in women of similar ages but varying menopausal states. Our premise was that circulating E2 would be positively associated and FSH would be negatively associated with fat oxidation, especially during exercise. We also presumed that women with higher E2 levels, due to endogenous production or HT use, would exhibit higher fat oxidation than postmenopausal women. Our secondary aim was to investigate whether RFO and PFO are associated with blood glucose control during glucose challenge. We expected higher PFO to be associated with lower insulin release.

#### 2. Methods

A detailed description of the study methodology is in **the Supplement**. The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Central Finland Health Care District (KSSHP Dnro 9U/2018) and complied with the Declaration of Helsinki. The participants provided informed consent.

# 2.1. Study population

We recruited participants from the ERMA (The Estrogenic Regulation of Muscle Apoptosis) cohort [29] during its fourth-year follow-up, the EsmiRs (Estrogen and micro-RNAs as Modulators of Women's Metabolism) study. In total, 304 women participated in the basic EsmiRs measurements at the Health and Sports Laboratory of the University of Jyväskylä between January 2019 and March 2020. The measurements ended prematurely because of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic.

For this EsmiRs Metabolism substudy, we recruited women who were either premenopausal or perimenopausal (PRE/PERI), postmenopausal (POST), or postmenopausal HT users (HT). The exclusion criteria were: 1) body mass index <18 or >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, 2) oophorectomy or hysterectomy, 3) disease or medication use affecting metabolism, 4) hormonal contraception, and 5) regular smoking. A study nurse checked the participants' eligibility and group allocation during the basic EsmiRs measurements. We expected the PRE/PERI and HT groups to have higher systemic E2 levels and, therefore, higher PFO than the POST group. Using the data of Abildgaard et al. [16], we performed an *a priori* power calculation showing that 12 participants per group would be needed to detect a between-group difference in lean mass adjusted PFO with an alpha level of 0.05 and 80% power.

This substudy included two laboratory visits (Supplementary Fig. 1). At the first visit, the focus was on resting metabolism and glucose tolerance, and at the second visit, on exercise metabolism. The median (interquartile range) duration between the visits was 2 weeks (1–3 weeks).

# 2.2. Participants' hormonal status and final group assignments

Our sample was 13 PRE/PERI, 20 POST, and nine HT participants when the recruitment prematurely ended. In the final menopausal status determination, the participants' self-reported menstrual data were supplemented with FSH measurements to ensure correct status assignment defined by the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop +10 guidelines [30]. During the process, we needed to reclassify six PRE/PERI women to be postmenopausal owing to their high FSH levels. Of the remaining seven PRE/PERI women, two were premenopausal, three were early perimenopausal, and two were late perimenopausal. Four POST women had extreme mean E2 levels ranging from 0.27 to 0.54 nmol/l, more than four times over the third quartile of 0.09 nmol/l. As we aimed to study the influence of E2 deficiency, we excluded these participants from the group comparisons. Of the HT users, seven used oral and two transdermal HT containing E2 and progestogen (see the Supplement for details). We considered combining women using different HT administration routes acceptable as oral E2 did not seem to limit RFO in a previous randomised controlled trial [22] or our sample (Supplementary Fig. 2).

We did not fully reach our recruitment goal owing to the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, we also performed an explorative analysis to test whether pooling the PRE/PERI (n = 7) and HT groups (n = 9) into a larger HIGH E2 group (n = 16) for comparison against the E2 deficient postmenopausal women (LOW E2 group, n = 22) would change our inferences from the primary analyses.

#### 2.3. Diet and physical activity

We instructed the participants to avoid lifestyle changes during the study, abstain from exercise and alcohol for 48 h and caffeine for 12 h, and eat the last meal between 8:00 and 10:00 p.m. before the measurements. The participants drank 100 ml and 150 ml of water after waking up and after the body composition measurements, respectively. They minimised activities in the morning on the day of the measurements and arrived at the laboratory by car. The participants declared that they had followed the instructions.

Leisure-time physical activity was assessed with a structured questionnaire [31] and with a seven-day Acti-Graph accelerometer (Pensacola, Florida, USA) wear between the basic EsmiRs and first substudy measurements [32,33]. The participants kept food diaries for 2 days and matched their diet 24 h before the substudy measurements. The intraclass correlation coefficients for energy intake and food quotient, the metabolisable respiratory quotient of the diet reflecting its macronutrient distribution, were 0.71 and 0.92, respectively (P < 0.001 for both).

#### 2.4. Body composition

At the basic EsmiRs measurements, body composition was assessed using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA Prodigy, GE Lunar Corp., Madison, WI, USA). Body composition was also assessed with InBody720 (Biospace, Seoul, Korea) at each visit.

#### 2.5. Resting metabolism

Indirect calorimetry data were collected with a Vmax Encore 92 metabolic cart (Sensormedics, Yorba Linda, CA, USA). First, the participants rested for 30 min. Gas exchange was then measured for 30 min with the canopy method. The data collected during the first 10 min were discarded. Steady-state periods were determined as segments at which the coefficients of variation between the subsequent minutes and during the segments were  $\leq 10\%$  for VO<sub>2</sub> and VCO<sub>2</sub>, and  $\leq 5\%$  for respiratory exchange ratio (RER). The median (interquartile range) steady-state duration was 20 min (13–20 min). RFO was calculated with the Frayn [34] equation, assuming that the urinary nitrogen excretion was negligible. The measurement of RFO was unreliable in three participants (PRE/PERI, n = 2; POST, n = 1) on the basis of high RER ( $\geq 0.91$ ) values [35].

#### 2.6. Exercise metabolism

The exercise testing was performed with an Ergoselect 200 bicycle ergometer (Ergoline GmbH, Germany) with a cycling cadence of 70  $\pm$  5 rpm. The protocol included the PFO and VO<sub>2PEAK</sub> phases. Venous blood samples were drawn before and after the test.

The PFO phase started at 20 W. The workload was increased by 20 W every 4 min until RER reached 1.0 or the seventh test stage. Two participants completed the PFO phase without reaching a RER of 1.0., but their fat oxidation had started to decline before the last stage. Gas exchange was measured breath by breath and recorded as rolling 30-s averages. Fat oxidation for the last minute of each stage was calculated with the Frayn equation [34]. PFO was determined as the highest calculated fat oxidation rate; and FAT<sub>MAX</sub> (%VO<sub>2PEAK</sub>), as the exercise intensity at which PFO was reached.

The VO<sub>2PEAK</sub> phase directly followed the PFO phase. The phase started at 100 W, and the workload was increased by 1 W/3 s. Gas exchange was recorded as 10-s rolling averages. We determined the VO<sub>2PEAK</sub> as the highest VO<sub>2</sub> average during a 30-s period and  $W_{MAX}$  as the highest workload reached. The exercise test ended with a 5-min cooldown at 50 W. The gas exchange data were unreliable in two HT participants because of metabolic cart failure or mask-wearing difficulties. One PRE/PERI participant could not continue to the VO<sub>2PEAK</sub> phase due to fatigue resulting from low energy diet.

#### 2.7. Blood glucose control and biomarkers

An oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) followed the resting metabolism measurement. Venepuncture samples were drawn before and 30, 60, 90, and 120 min after ingestion of a 75-g glucose solution (GlucosePro 250 ml, Comed Oy, Ylöjärvi, Finland). The plasma glucose levels were analyzed with Konelab 20 XT (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland); and the serum insulin levels, with IMMULITE 2000 (Siemens Medical Solution Diagnostics, Los Angeles, CA, USA). We determined insulin sensitivity with the
Matsuda index and glucose tolerance by calculating the total glucose area under the curve (AUC). We also calculated fasting-based homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) index and AUC for insulin.

For the quantification of other biomarkers, serum was stored at -80 °C. The levels of sex hormones (E2, FSH, progesterone, and testosterone) and sex hormone-binding globulin were analyzed with IMMULITE 2000. Nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA) levels were analyzed with Indiko (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland). Glycerol and 3-hydroxybutyrate levels were measured using nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (Nightingale Health Ltd., Helsinki, Finland) [36].

#### 2.8. Statistical analyses

We used the R statistical environment (version 4.0.5) for analyses. The code is available at https://osf.io/afmu7. We performed analyses using linear regression, analysis of variance, or analysis of covariance, confirmed the model assumptions before accepting the results, and used an alpha level of 0.05 for statistical significance (detailed description in the Supplement). The main models included lean mass as a covariate to control the analyses for the oxidative tissue mass. We refrained from using ratio scaling as it misrepresents the relationship between the numerator and denominator [37,38].

First, we identified the RFO and PFO determinants by using the fat oxidation measures as the outcomes and the variable of interest as the exposures. We also constructed multivariable explanatory models on the basis of previous research. Next, we tested the associations between sex hormone levels and fat oxidation measures and whether the sex hormones improved the explanatory models. We then compared RFO and PFO between the menopausal groups. We also performed an explorative analysis by comparing the HIGH E2 and LOW E2 groups.

Lastly, we studied the associations between fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation by using OGTT measures as the outcomes and RFO or PFO as the exposure. The OGTT measures were log-transformed to improve residual normality. We also performed sensitivity analyses by excluding participants with incomplete OGTT data or including NEFA levels as a covariate. NEFA levels were used as a proxy for participants' energy balance and metabolic state.

**Table 1** Participant characteristics in the whole study sample and in the pre- or perimenopausal (PRE/PERI), postmenopausal (POST), and postmenopausal hormone therapy user (HT) groups. Four POST women were excluded from group comparisons for having high estradiol levels.

	Full sample ( $N = 42$ )	PRE/PERI ( $n = 7$ )	POST $(n = 22)$	HT $(n = 9)$
Age, years	55.3 (1.6)	54.9 (1.5)	55.6 (1.6)	55.4 (1.4)
Sex hormones, mean of two me	easurements			
E2, nmol/l	0.11 (0.06-0.25)	0.18 (0.15-0.22)	0.06 (0.05-0.09)	0.27 (0.25-0.42)
FSH, IU/l	66.0 (37.4)	20.8 (14.2)	89.2 (31.5)	49.8 (25.7)
Progesterone, nmol/l	0.35 (0.23-0.57)	3.27 (1.23-7.55)	0.31 (0.17-0.39)	0.35 (0.26-0.39)
Testosterone, nmol/l	0.54 (0.30)	0.61 (0.29)	0.47 (0.29)	0.65 (0.33)
SHBG, nmol/l	75.2 (33.1)	72.3 (14.4)	69.0 (29.2)	93.4 (47.4)
Body composition				
Height, cm	166.0 (4.9)	166.7 (4.6)	165.8 (5.0)	166.6 (6.0)
Body mass, kg	67.8 (8.1)	69.9 (8.9)	67.2 (7.7)	68.9 (10.1)
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	24.6 (2.5)	25.1 (2.8)	24.4 (2.4)	24.8 (3.2)
Lean mass, kg	41.2 (3.8)	42.4 (3.0)	40.9 (3.6)	40.2 (3.7)
Fat mass, kg	24.1 (6.1)	24.8 (6.4)	23.8 (6.1)	26.2 (6.6)
Percent body fat, %	36.5 (5.5)	36.4 (5.1)	36.3 (5.8)	38.9 (4.4)
Leisure-time physical activity				
Self-reported, MET-h/d	4.5 (2.3-7.5)	4.5 (3.4-6.8)	4.4 (2.3-7.5)	2.9 (1.5-4.5)
Accelerometry, MVPA min/d <sup>a</sup>	49.0(26.0), n = 40	71.5 (28.8), <i>n</i> = 5	49.2 (23.6)	32.4 (15.8)
Glucose tolerance				
Fasting glucose, mmol/l	5.3 (5.1-5.5)	5.5 (5.2-5.7)	5.2 (5.0-5.5)	5.4 (5.2-5.5)
2-h glucose, mmol/l	5.6 (4.7–6.9), $n = 41$	6.1 (5.3-7.0)	5.1 (4.7–6.3), $n = 21$	7.4 (6.0-7.8)
Fasting insulin, IU/l	4.0 (2.4–5.7)	3.1 (1.5-4.4)	4.3 (2.2–7.0)	3.8 (3.2-8.0)
2-h insulin, IU/l	45.4(38.5-57.9), n = 41	41.0 (36.6-52.2)	44.6 (35.0–51.6), $n = 21$	57.9 (49.0-72.5)
HOMA-IR	0.85 (0.49-1.36)	0.81 (0.37-1.06)	0.75 (0.46-1.44)	0.91 (0.62-1.94)
Glucose AUC, mmol/l/h	12.9 (11.3–14.5)	13.8 (12.0-15.0)	12.3 (10.8–13.5)	16.0 (13.8-16.4)
Insulin AUC, IU/l/h	75.7 (66.8–112.2)	75.8 (64.2-101.2)	72.0 (61.4–114.9)	106.7 (76.1-131.2)
Matsuda index	7.3 (5.4–9.4), $n = 41$	8.5 (6.9-10.7)	7.2 (5.4 $-11.1$ ), $n = 21$	6.3 (3.7-8.8)
Cardiorespiratory fitness				
VO <sub>2PEAK</sub> , l/min	2.1 (0.3), n = 39	2.2(0.4), n = 6	2.2 (0.3)	2.0(0.3), n = 7
VO <sub>2PEAK</sub> , ml/kg/min	31.7 (5.1), <i>n</i> = 39	31.3(4.0), n = 6	32.5 (5.3)	27.7 (3.5), $n = 7$
VO <sub>2PEAK</sub> , ml/kg LM/min	51.9 (6.9), $n = 39$	51.2 (5.4), $n = 6$	53.0 (7.7)	48.3 (6.4), <i>n</i> = 7
W <sub>MAX</sub> , W	183 (26), <i>n</i> = 41	188 (23), <i>n</i> = 6	185 (24)	167 (29)

Data as means (standard deviation) or medians (interquartile range).

AUC, area under the curve; BMI, body mass index; E2, 17 $\beta$ -estradiol; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance; LM, lean mass; MET, metabolic equivalent of task; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin; VO<sub>2PEAK</sub>, peak oxygen uptake,  $W_{MAX}$ , maximal workload.

<sup>a</sup> moderate-to-vigorous intensity leisure-time physical activity minutes per day.

### 3. Results

The participants were 52- to 58-year-old women, free of chronic diseases and metabolism affecting medication verified by a medical examination performed at the first visit (Table 1). On the basis of OGTT, two HT users had elevated fasting glucose levels (>6.0 mmol/l), and five women (POST, n = 2; HT, n = 3) had impaired glucose tolerance (2-h glucose measurement value, 7.8–11.0 mmol/l).

Age (P = 0.56), percent body fat (P = 0.46), and self-reported leisure-time physical activity (P = 0.74) did not significantly differ across the menopausal groups (Supplementary Table 1). As expected, the PRE/PERI and

HT groups had higher E2 levels and lower FSH levels than the POST group (Fig. 1). Testosterone (P = 0.25) and sex hormone-binding globulin levels (P = 0.39) did not differ between the groups; however, the PRE/PERI group had higher progesterone levels compared with the POST group (P = 0.002) and the HT group (P = 0.026) (Supplementary Table 1).

# **3.1.** Resting and peak fat oxidation determinants and mediators

The indirect calorimetry, dietary, and metabolite data are shown in Table 2. Fat mass was positively, and prior energy



**Figure 1** The associations of log-transformed E2 levels with adjusted resting fat oxidation residuals (RFO; Fig. 1A) and peak fat oxidation residuals (PFO; Fig. 1B), and comparison of female sex hormone levels (Fig. 1C and D) and adjusted RFO and PFO residuals (Fig. 1E and F) between the menopausal groups. The adjusted residuals represent the difference between the measured fat oxidation and the fat oxidation predicted by the linear regression when adjusted for fat oxidation main determinants (RFO: lean mass, fat mass, and energy intake; PFO: lean mass, cardiorespiratory fitness, and self-reported leisure-time physical activity).

intake was negatively associated with RFO (Table 3). The explanatory model including lean mass ( $\beta = 0.26$ ; P = 0.075), fat mass ( $\beta = 0.47$ ; P = 0.002) and energy intake ( $\beta = -0.43$ ; P = 0.005) explained 40% of the RFO variance (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.35$ , P < 0.001). NEFA and 3-hydroxybutyrate levels were positively associated with RFO (Table 3).

RFO and PFO, measured on separate days, were not significantly associated with each other ( $\beta = 0.10$ , P = 0.53). VO<sub>2PEAK</sub>,  $W_{MAX}$ , FATMAX, and self-reported and accelerometer-measured leisure-time physical activity were positively associated with PFO (Table 3). In the explanatory model, lean mass ( $\beta = 0.16$ ; P = 0.33),  $W_{MAX}$  ( $\beta = 0.46$ ; P = 0.032) and self-reported leisure-time physical activity ( $\beta = 0.21$ ; P = 0.23) explained 43% of the PFO variance (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.39$ ; P < 0.001). Pre-exercise NEFA and pre- and post-exercise glycerol levels were positively associated with PFO when post-exercise analyses were adjusted for metabolite pre-exercise concentration (Table 3).

# 3.2. Sex hormone profile associations with resting and peak fat oxidation

Neither E2 (Fig. 1) nor the other sex hormone levels (Supplementary Fig. 3) were significantly associated with RFO or PFO. Moreover, they did not contribute to RFO or

PFO explanation when included in the explanatory models with the main fat oxidation determinants (Table 4).

We could not show that women with different menopausal statuses differed in absolute (F [2,32] = 1.46, P = 0.25,  $\eta^2 p$  = 0.08) or lean mass adjusted (F[2,31] = 1.68, P = 0.25,  $\eta^2 p$  = 0.10) RFO. The lack of group differences appeared even more clear when we included the main RFO determinants as covariates (F [2,29] = 0.25, P = 0.78,  $\eta^2 p$  = 0.02) (Fig. 1). Neither did the menopausal groups differ in PFO (F [2,33] = 0.32, P = 0.73,  $\eta^2 p$  = 0.02), whether adjusted for lean mass (F[2,32] = 0.18, P = 0.84,  $\eta^2 p$  = 0.01), or the main PFO determinants (F [2,29] = 0.01, P = 0.99,  $\eta^2 p$  = 0.00) (Fig. 1). The explorative analyses pararelled the results from primary analyses and did not reveal significant RFO or PFO differences between the HIGH E2 and LOW E2 groups (Supplementary Table 2).

# **3.3.** Associations of resting and peak fat oxidation with blood glucose regulation

Neither RFO nor PFO was significantly associated with Matsuda on HOMA-IR indexes (Table 5, Supplementary Fig. 4). However, RFO was positively associated with glucose and insulin AUCs. The associations between RFO and glucose AUC ( $\beta = 0.50$ ; P = 0.007) and insulin AUC ( $\beta = 0.39$ ; P = 0.042) remained significant when adjusted

**Table 2** Fat oxidation, preceding diet, and lipolysis-related metabolites in the whole study sample and in the pre- or perimenopausal (PRE/PERI), postmenopausal (POST), and postmenopausal hormone therapy user (HT) groups. Four POST women were excluded from group comparisons for having high estradiol levels.

	Full sample	PRE/PERI	POST	HT	
Resting metabolism	n = 39	<i>n</i> = 5	<i>n</i> = 21	<i>n</i> = 9	
RER	0.83 (0.03)	0.83 (0.03)	0.84 (0.03)	0.81 (0.02)	
RFO, g/min	0.050 (0.010)	0.053 (0.009)	0.048 (0.010)	0.054 (0.009)	
RFO, mg/kg LM/min	1.22 (0.23)	1.25 (0.19)	1.18 (0.25)	1.34 (0.18)	
Diet two days before testing					
Energy intake, kcal/d	1795 (394)	1884 (324)	1853 (458)	1595 (197)	
Energy intake, kcal/kg/d	27 (6)	26 (5)	28 (6)	23 (2)	
Food quotient	0.86 (0.03)	0.83 (0.05)	0.86 (0.02)	0.87 (0.01)	
Metabolites					
Non-esterified fatty acids, µmol/l	351 (255-493)	216 (213-256)	379 (255–489)	482 (325-727)	
Glycerol, µmol/l	123 (92 $-150$ ), $n = 36$	89 (82 $-$ 95), $n = 4$	123 (94–153), <i>n</i> = 19	129 (125-166)	
3-hydroxybutyrate, μmol/l	47 (23–83)	93 (38-168)	35 (19–54)	73 (58–117)	
Exercise metabolism	n = 40	n = 7	n = 22	n = 7	
PFO, g/min	0.22 (0.07)	0.23 (0.10)	0.22 (0.06)	0.21 (0.05)	
PFO, mg/kg LM/min	5.3 (1.4)	5.4 (2.1)	5.3 (1.3)	5.0 (1.2)	
FAT <sub>MAX</sub> , %VO <sub>2PEAK</sub>	34 (9)	37 (15), <i>n</i> = 6	33 (8)	33 (5)	
Diet two days before testing					
Energy intake, kcal/d	1887 (360)	1984 (388)	1898 (356)	1624 (224)	
Energy intake, kcal/kg/d	28 (6)	29 (5)	28 (6)	23 (2)	
Food quotient	0.86 (0.03)	0.85 (0.04)	0.86 (0.03)	0.88 (0.03)	
Metabolites pre-exercise					
Non-esterified fatty acids, µmol/l	408 (319-566)	336 (277–553)	400 (266-531)	444 (382-724)	
Glycerol, µmol/l	99 (84–136), <i>n</i> = 34	93 (86–112), <i>n</i> = 6	103 (89–142), <i>n</i> = 19	103 (84–164), <i>n</i> = 6	
3-hydroxybuturate, μmol/l	61 (24-102), n = 39	46 (28-213)	42 (22 $-78$ ), $n = 21$	74 (37–138)	
Metabolites post-exercise					
Non-esterified fatty acids, µmol/l	503 (428–817), n = 38	601 (463-659)	486 (429–861), <i>n</i> = 21	688 (427–927), $n = 6$	
Glycerol, µmol/l	269 (219–315), <i>n</i> = 34	240 (201–265), <i>n</i> = 6	278 (221–323), <i>n</i> = 21	304 (259–338), <i>n</i> = 6	
3-hydroxybuturate, μmol/l	102 (83–128), <i>n</i> = 38	107 (94–167)	94 (82–117), <i>n</i> = 21	125 (83–152), <i>n</i> = 6	

Data as means (standard deviation) or medians (interquartile range).

LM, lean mass; PFO, peak fat oxidation; RER, respiratory exchange ratio; RFO, resting fat oxidation.

for NEFA levels. Excluding participants with incomplete OGTT data did not influence the association of RFO and glucose AUC ( $\beta = 0.51$ ; P = 0.007). The association with insulin AUC did not remain significant ( $\beta = 0.31$ ; P = 0.12).

### 4. Discussion

This study investigated the associations between sex hormone profile and fat oxidation in middle-aged women. We were unable to show that menopausal status or sex hormone levels explain RFO or PFO in the study sample. We also examined the associations of RFO and PFO with blood glucose regulation during glucose challenge. Higher fat oxidation at rest or during exercise did not relate to insulin sensitivity; however, higher RFO preceded poorer glucose tolerance.

#### 4.1. Sex hormone profile and resting fat oxidation

Fasting substrate use depends on the energy balance and diet composition [39,40]. In agreement, the RFO determinants in this study were variables describing tissue mass and energy intake. NEFA and 3-hydroxybutyrate levels were also positively associated with RFO, further linking RFO to lipolysis rate and energy balance. Therefore unsurprisingly, we did not observe associations between sex hormone levels and RFO. Previous studies also questioned the relationship between E2 levels and RFO in premenopausal [41] and postmenopausal women [42].

Ultimately, menopause will unlikely affect RFO directly. In this study, RFO was indeed very similar between the menopausal or HIGH and LOW E2 groups, especially after confounder adjustment. The laws of conservation of mass and energy also make it challenging to accept that the menopause-associated increase in fat mass [44,45] results from decreased fat oxidation ability [39].

#### 4.2. Sex hormone profile and peak fat oxidation

The sex hormone levels or menopausal and E2 group statuses were not associated with PFO. Therefore, we could not reproduce the findings of Abildgaard et al. [16] by using incremental testing. Besides the testing approaches, a key difference between the studies is that our study did not have a pure premenopausal group. Our results agree with those reported by Johnson et al. [18], who observed similar fat oxidation rates in HT users and non-users, although, their selected testing intensity (80% of VO<sub>2MAX</sub>) likely influenced their results [46].

Factors other than female sex hormone levels seem to determine PFO in women of all ages. The menstrual cycle phase or circulating E2 levels were not associated with PFO in reproductive women [47]. Moreover, controlling for the menstrual cycle phase did not improve the day-to-day reliability of PFO assessment [48]. In this study, PFO was associated with its known determinants: cardiorespiratory

using linear regression models adjusted for lean mass.									
	Restin	Resting fat oxidation			Peak fat oxidation				
	β	95% CI	<i>P</i> -value	n	β	95% CI	P-value	n	
Universiable model									

Table 3 Associations between potential fat oxidation determinants, mediators, and resting fat oxidation or peak fat oxidation during exercise

	Resting							
	β	95% CI	P-value	n	β	95% CI	P-value	n
Univariable model								
Lean mass, kg	0.24	-0.08 to 0.56	0.132	39	0.49	0.20-0.79	0.002	40
Multivariable models with le	ean mass as	a covariate						
Fat mass, kg	0.44	0.14-0.75	0.006	39	-0.03	-0.33 to 0.27	0.855	40
Leisure-time physical activity	у							
Self-reported, MET-h/d	-0.17	-0.50 to 0.16	0.300	39	0.37	0.06-0.68	0.020	40
Accelerometery, min/d	0.11	-0.24 to 0.45	0.530	39	0.35	0.05-0.65	0.024	38
Diet two days before the asse	essment							
Energy intake, kcal/d	-0.40	-0.73 to -0.07	0.019	39	0.05	-0.28 to 0.37	0.760	40
Food quotient	-0.09	-0.41 to 0.24	0.600	39	0.07	-0.22 to 0.37	0.613	40
Exercise test outcomes								
VO <sub>2PEAK</sub> , l/min	-0.13	-0.53 to 0.28	0.526	36	0.47	0.14-0.79	0.006	39
W <sub>MAX</sub> , W	-0.03	-0.44 to 0.37	0.864	38	0.59	0.23-0.94	0.002	39
FAT <sub>MAX</sub> , %VO <sub>2PEAK</sub>	-0.16	-0.53 to 0.20	0.364	36	0.33	0.03-0.62	0.033	39
Lipolysis-related metabolites	s at rest or p	re-exercise						
NEFA, µmol/l	0.46	0.16-0.75	0.003	39	0.33	0.05-0.61	0.024	40
Glycerol	0.26	-0.07 to 0.59	0.122	36	0.31	0.04-0.57	0.024	34
3-hydroxybuturate, μmol/l	0.52	0.24-0.81	0.001	39	0.19	-0.10 to 0.47	0.189	39
Lipolysis-related metabolites	s post-exerci	se, also adjusted for	metabolite pr	e-exercis	e concentra	tion		
NEFA, µmol/l					0.19	-0.12 to 0.50	0.222	38
Glycerol					0.42	0.16-0.68	0.003	34
3-hydroxybutyrate, μmol/l					0.37	-0.05 to 0.80	0.084	36

P-values < 0.05 are in bold.

β, standardized regression estimate; CI, confidence interval; MET, metabolic equivalent of task; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acids; Std, standardized; VO<sub>2PEAK</sub>, peak oxygen uptake; W<sub>MAX</sub>, maximal workload.

fitness, lean mass, and leisure-time physical activity [4–7]. Genetic pleiotropy contributes to the associations, and higher PFO does not result solely from an active lifestyle [28,49]. Still, 12-week endurance-focused training increased fat oxidation during exercise but not at rest in postmenopausal women [50], showing that fat oxidation capacity can be improved in E2 deficiency.

Overall, we could not show that the sex hormone profile influences PFO in middle-aged women. Our finding possesses uncertainty, and more work is needed to clarify whether menopause modifies fat oxidation during exercise and, if so, whether the effect has clinical significance. Cross-sectional designs may not be sensitive enough to accomplish this task. Ideally, longitudinal fat oxidation changes over the menopausal transition or after HT initiation should be measured. Duplicate measurements would benefit PFO assessment [7,48].

#### 4.3. Fat oxidation and blood glucose regulation

The role of RFO as a metabolic health marker is controversial [51]. Some [25] but not all [52] studies have reported that RFO is inversely associated with fasting insulin levels. The relationship is believable as insulin levels decline and fat oxidation increases according to fasting duration [53]. However, these findings are likely caused by differences in metabolic status rather than metabolic health. In this study, higher RFO preceded poorer glucose tolerance when OGTT followed the RFO assessment, as in our previous study in Because 30-year-old men [28]. NEFA and 3hydroxybutyrate levels were positively associated with RFO, we thought the observed association resulted from fat oxidation-induced inhibition of glucose use [54]. However, we could not explain the association by NEFA adjustment.

The rationale for PFO as a metabolic health marker is more robust compared with RFO because it reflects fiber

type distribution [55], concentrations of lipid handling proteins [55–57], and mitochondrial volume density [58] in skeletal muscles. PFO has been shown to be associated with fasting insulin sensitivity surrogates [26,52], although the findings are not unanimous [7,27]. PFO was not associated with insulin sensitivity or glucose tolerance in our present or earlier study [28]. However, PFO was associated with lower insulin AUC in the previous study in men, but we could not replicate the finding in the present study in women. Besides participant characteristics, a difference between our studies was OGTT timing. In the study in men, OGTT was performed the day after the PFO assessment, and in this study in women, 1-3 weeks before PFO testing. As PFO [48] and OGTT outcomes [59] exhibit significant day-to-day variability, their association may be time-dependent. Song et al. [60] recently challenged the concept of metabolic flexibility by showing that insulin resistance does not result from mitochondrial substrate preference, and our results follow their finding.

#### 4.4. Limitations

Our study has several limitations. First, we had to discontinue the participant recruitment early and did not reach our recruitment goal. Therefore, our study may have lacked the power to detect significant group differences between the menopausal groups. We pooled PRE/PERI and HT women into a HIGH E2 group for explorative analyses with larger group sizes to counteract this limitation. This strategy has important limitations as cyclical endogenous hormone production and daily exogenous HT likely affect metabolism differently. For example, besides the apparent difference in how the hormones enter circulation, the two also have discordant temporal kinetics. Second, HT use was not standardized and reflected real-life differences in HT

**Table 4** Associations between serum sex hormone levels and resting fat oxidation (RFO) or peak fat oxidation (PFO) during exercise in the whole study sample, with the adjusted  $R^2$  values representing the variance proportions the explanatory variables explain together and the P-values in the last column showing the statistical significance of the whole model adjusted for fat oxidation main determinants.

<b>RFO</b> $(n = 39)$	Lean mass adjusted				Adjusted for main determinants <sup>a</sup>					
	β	95% CI	P-value	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> adj	β	95% CI	P-value	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> adj	P-value	
Model without the sex hormone				0.03				0.35	0.0004	
logE2	0.22	-0.10 to 0.53	0.170	0.06	0.10	-0.17 to 0.37	0.439	0.34	0.0010	
FSH	-0.21	-0.54 to 0.12	0.200	0.05	-0.09	-0.38 to 0.19	0.504	0.34	0.0011	
$_{log}P4, n = 34$	0.20	-0.15 to 0.56	0.251	0.01	0.13	-0.17 to 0.43	0.381	0.32	0.0038	
Testosterone	0.27	-0.06 to 0.59	0.105	0.08	0.12	-0.17 to 0.40	0.412	0.34	0.0010	
SHBG	0.07	-0.26 to $0.40$	0.667	0.01	-0.03	-0.34 to 0.27	0.821	0.33	0.0013	
<b>PFO</b> $(n = 40)$	β	95% CI	P-value	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> adj	β	95% CI	P-value	R <sup>2</sup> adj	P-value	
Model without t	he sex horr	none		0.21				0.39	0.0002	
logE2	0.01	-0.28 to 0.30	0.949	0.19	0.04	-0.22 to 0.31	0.736	0.37	0.0005	
FSH	0.16	-0.13 to 0.44	0.278	0.22	0.14	-0.11 to 0.40	0.266	0.39	0.0003	
logP4	0.24	-0.03 to 0.51	0.085	0.25	0.19	-0.06 to 0.44	0.130	0.41	0.0002	
Testosterone	0.18	-0.11 to 0.46	0.217	0.22	0.20	-0.05 to 0.45	0.116	0.41	0.0002	
SHBG	0.01	-0.28 to $0.31$	0.927	0.19	0.01	-0.25 to 0.27	0.940	0.37	0.0005	

 $\beta$ , standardized regression estimate; CI, confidence interval; E2,17 $\beta$ -estradiol, FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; P4, progesterone; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin.

<sup>a</sup> RFO: lean mass, fat mass, and energy intake; PFO: lean mass,  $W_{MAX}$ , and self-reported physical activity.

**Table 5** Lean mass adjusted associations between resting fat oxidation (RFO, n = 39) or peak fat oxidation (PFO, n = 40) and oral glucose tolerance test outcomes, with adjusted  $R^2$  values representing the variance proportions that lean mass and the fat oxidation measure explain together and the P-values in the last column showing the statistical significance of the whole model.

	β	95% CI	P-value	R <sup>2</sup> adj	P-value
HOMA-IR					
RFO	0.21	-0.15 to 0.56	0.244	0.04	0.496
PFO, <i>n</i> = 39	-0.37	-0.79 to 0.06	0.092	0.10	0.154
Matsuda inde	х				
RFO, <i>n</i> = 38	-0.33	-0.68 to $0.02$	0.063	0.10	0.165
PFO, <i>n</i> = 38	0.26	-0.19 to 0.72	0.249	0.04	0.507
Glucose AUC					
RFO	0.52	0.21-0.82	0.002	0.27	0.004
PFO	0.02	-0.34 to 0.38	0.913	0.01	0.786
Insulin AUC					
RFO	0.42	0.10-0.75	0.012	0.18	0.027
PFO	-0.06	-0.44 to 0.32	0.752	0.04	0.451

*P*-values < 0.05 are in bold.

AUC, total area under the curve;  $\beta$ , standardized regression estimate; CI, confidence interval; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance.

prescription. Third, even though we standardized the participant preparation between the two laboratory visits, the metabolic states of the participants may have varied to some extent. The interindividual variation in metabolic states may have also influenced the assessment of the associations between sex hormone levels and fat oxidation.

# 5. Conclusions

In this study in middle-aged women, sex hormone profile did not explain fat oxidation at rest or during exercise. Higher fat oxidation in either condition did not indicate better blood glucose control. RFO was mainly related to energy balance and PFO to cardiorespiratory fitness. Therefore, we encourage middle-aged women interested in improving their fat oxidation capacity to engage in regular leisure-time physical activity.

# Funding

This study was supported by the Academy of Finland (grants 309504, 314181, and 335249 to E.K.L).

#### **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors have nothing to disclose.

### Acknowledgments

We thank the EsmiRs women for their participation. We also thank Eeva-Maija Palonen, Anja Ahlgren, Mervi Matero, Bettina Hutz, Hanne Tähti, and Sini Jokinen for their help with the data collection.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2022.06.001.

## References

- Davis SR, Lambrinoudaki I, Lumsden M, Mishra GD, Pal L, Rees M, et al. Menopause. Nat Rev Dis Primer 2015;1:15004. https: //doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.4.
- [2] Lundsgaard A-M, Kiens B. Gender differences in skeletal muscle substrate metabolism - molecular mechanisms and insulin sensitivity. Front Endocrinol 2014;5:195. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo. 2014.00195.
- [3] Isacco L, Miles-Chan JL. Gender-specific considerations in physical activity, thermogenesis and fat oxidation: implications for obesity management. Obes Rev Off J Int Assoc Study Obes 2018;19(Suppl 1):73–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12779.
- [4] Fletcher Gareth, Eves FF, Glover EI, Robinson SL, Vernooij CA, Thompson JL, et al. Dietary intake is independently associated with the maximal capacity for fat oxidation during exercise. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105:864–72. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.116. 133520.
- [5] Venables MC, Achten J, Jeukendrup AE. Determinants of fat oxidation during exercise in healthy men and women: a cross-sectional study. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2005;98:160–7. https: //doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00662.2003.
- [6] Randell RK, Rollo I, Roberts TJ, Dalrymple KJ, Jeukendrup AE, Carter JM. Maximal fat oxidation rates in an athletic population. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2017;49:133–40. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS. 0000000000001084.
- [7] Chrzanowski-Smith OJ, Edinburgh RM, Thomas MP, Hengist A, Williams S, Betts JA, et al. Determinants of peak fat oxidation rates during cycling in healthy men and women. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metabol 2021:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijsnem.2020-0262.
- [8] Levadoux E, Morio B, Montaurier C, Puissant V, Boirie Y, Fellmann N, et al. Reduced whole-body fat oxidation in women and in the elderly. Int J Obes 2001;25:39–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo. 0801530.
- [9] Frandsen J, Amaro-Gahete FJ, Landgrebe A, Dela F, Ruiz JR, Helge JW, et al. The influence of age, sex and cardiorespiratory fitness on maximal fat oxidation rate. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab Physiol Appl Nutr Metab 2021. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2021-0080.
- [10] Toth MJ, Gardner AW, Arciero PJ, Calles-Escandon J, Poehlman ET. Gender differences in fat oxidation and sympathetic nervous system activity at rest and during submaximal exercise in older individuals. Clin Sci Lond Engl 1979 1998;95:59–66.
- [11] Numao S, Hayashi Y, Katayama Y, Matsuo T, Tanaka K. Sex differences in substrate oxidation during aerobic exercise in obese men and postmenopausal obese women. Metabolism 2009;58:1312–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2009.04.015.
- [12] Hamadeh MJ, Devries MC, Tarnopolsky MA. Estrogen supplementation reduces whole body leucine and carbohydrate oxidation and increases lipid oxidation in men during endurance exercise. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:3592–9. https: //doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-1743.
- [13] Devries MC, Hamadeh MJ, Graham TE, Tarnopolsky MA. 17betaestradiol supplementation decreases glucose rate of appearance and disappearance with no effect on glycogen utilization during moderate intensity exercise in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:6218–25. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-0926.
- [14] Hevener AL, Ribas V, Moore TM, Zhou Z. The impact of skeletal muscle ERα on mitochondrial function and metabolic health. Endocrinology 2020;161. https://doi.org/10.1210/endocr/bqz017.
- [15] Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int J Obes 2005 2008;32:949–58. https: //doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2008.25.
- [16] Abildgaard J, Pedersen AT, Green CJ, Harder-Lauridsen NM, Solomon TP, Thomsen C, et al. Menopause is associated with decreased whole body fat oxidation during exercise. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2013;304:E1227–36. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajpendo.00492.2012.

- [17] Achten J, Gleeson M, Jeukendrup AE. Determination of the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002;34:92–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200201000-00015.
- [18] Johnson LG, Kraemer RR, Kraemer GR, Haltom RW, Cordill AE, Welsch MA, et al. Substrate utilization during exercise in postmenopausal women on hormone replacement therapy. Eur J Appl Physiol 2002;88:282–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-002-0686-1.
- [19] dos Reis CMRF, de Melo NR, Meirelles ES, Vezozzo DP, Halpern A. Body composition, visceral fat distribution and fat oxidation in postmenopausal women using oral or transdermal oestrogen. Maturitas 2003;46:59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-5122(03)00159-2.
- [20] O'Sullivan AJ, Crampton LJ, Freund J, Ho KK. The route of estrogen replacement therapy confers divergent effects on substrate oxidation and body composition in postmenopausal women. J Clin Invest 1998;102:1035–40. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl2773.
- [21] Marlatt KL, Lovre D, Beyl RA, Tate CR, Hayes EK, Burant CF, et al. Effect of conjugated estrogens and bazedoxifene on glucose, energy and lipid metabolism in obese postmenopausal women. Eur J Endocrinol 2020;183:439–52. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-20-0619.
- [22] Torres-Santiago L, Mericq V, Taboada M, Unanue N, Klein KO, Singh R, et al. Metabolic effects of oral versus transdermal 17βestradiol (E<sub>2</sub>): a randomized clinical trial in girls with Turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:2716–24. https: //doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-4243.
- [23] Bilet L, Phielix E, van de Weijer T, Gemmink A, Bosma M, Moonen-Kornips E, et al. One-leg inactivity induces a reduction in mitochondrial oxidative capacity, intramyocellular lipid accumulation and reduced insulin signalling upon lipid infusion: a human study with unilateral limb suspension. Diabetologia 2020;63:1211–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05128-1.
- [24] Clegg D, Hevener AL, Moreau KL, Morselli E, Criollo A, Van Pelt RE, et al. Sex hormones and cardiometabolic health: role of estrogen and estrogen receptors. Endocrinology 2017;158:1095–105. https: //doi.org/10.1210/en.2016-1677.
- [25] Amaro-Gahete FJ, Jurado-Fasoli L, Ruiz JR, Castillo MJ. Association of basal metabolic rate and nutrients oxidation with cardiometabolic risk factors and insulin sensitivity in sedentary middle-aged adults. Nutrients 2020;12. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12041186.
- [26] Robinson SL, Hattersley J, Frost GS, Chambers ES, Wallis GA. Maximal fat oxidation during exercise is positively associated with 24-hour fat oxidation and insulin sensitivity in young, healthy men. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2015;118:1415–22. https: //doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00058.2015.
- [27] Amaro-Gahete FJ, Sanchez-Delgado G, Jurado-Fasoli L, Ruiz JR. Uncertain association between maximal fat oxidation during exercise and cardiometabolic risk factors in healthy sedentary adults. Eur J Sport Sci 2021:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17461391.2021.1895894.
- [28] Karppinen JE, Rottensteiner M, Wiklund P, Hämäläinen K, Laakkonen EK, Kaprio J, et al. Fat oxidation at rest and during exercise in male monozygotic twins. Eur J Appl Physiol 2019;119: 2711–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-019-04247-x.
- [29] Kovanen V, Aukee P, Kokko K, Finni T, Tarkka IM, Tammelin T, et al. Design and protocol of Estrogenic Regulation of Muscle Apoptosis (ERMA) study with 47 to 55-year-old women's cohort: novel results show menopause-related differences in blood count. Menopause News N 2018;25:1020–32. https://doi.org/10.1097/ GME.000000000001117.
- [30] Harlow SD, Gass M, Hall JE, Lobo R, Maki P, Rebar RW, et al. Executive summary of the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop + 10: addressing the unfinished agenda of staging reproductive aging. Menopause News N 2012;19:387–95. https: //doi.org/10.1097/gme.0b013e31824d8f40.
- [31] Kujala UM, Kaprio J, Sarna S, Koskenvuo M. Relationship of leisuretime physical activity and mortality: the Finnish twin cohort. JAMA 1998;279:440–4. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.279.6.440.
- [32] Sasaki JE, John D, Freedson PS. Validation and comparison of ActiGraph activity monitors. J Sci Med Sport 2011;14:411–6. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2011.04.003.
- [33] Laakkonen EK, Kulmala J, Aukee P, Hakonen H, Kujala UM, Lowe DA, et al. Female reproductive factors are associated with

objectively measured physical activity in middle-aged women. PLoS One 2017;12:e0172054. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0172054.

- [34] Frayn KN. Calculation of substrate oxidation rates in vivo from gaseous exchange. J Appl Physiol 1983;55:628–34. https: //doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1983.55.2.628.
- [35] Fullmer S, Benson-Davies S, Earthman CP, Frankenfield DC, Gradwell E, Lee PSP, et al. Evidence analysis library review of best practices for performing indirect calorimetry in healthy and noncritically ill individuals. J Acad Nutr Diet 2015;115:1417–46. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2015.04.003. e2.
- [36] Tikkanen E, Jägerroos V, Rodosthenous R, Holmes M, Sattar N, Ala-Korpela M, et al. Metabolic biomarker discovery for risk of peripheral artery disease compared with coronary artery disease: lipoprotein and metabolite profiling of 31 657 individuals from 5 prospective cohorts. J Am Heart Assoc 2021;10. https://doi.org/10. 1161/JAHA.121.021995.
- [37] Tanner JM. Fallacy of per-weight and per-surface area standards, and their relation to spurious correlation. J Appl Physiol 1949;2: 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1949.2.1.1.
- [38] Curran-Everett D. Explorations in statistics: the analysis of ratios and normalized data. Adv Physiol Educ 2013;37:213–9. https: //doi.org/10.1152/advan.00053.2013.
- [39] Péronnet F, Haman F. Low capacity to oxidize fat and body weight. Obes Rev Off J Int Assoc Study Obes 2019;20:1367–83. https: //doi.org/10.1111/obr.12910.
- [40] Miles-Chan JL, Dulloo AG, Schutz Y. Fasting substrate oxidation at rest assessed by indirect calorimetry: is prior dietary macronutrient level and composition a confounder? Int J Obes 2005 2015; 39:1114–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.29.
- [41] Toth MJ, Sites CK, Poehlman ET. Hormonal and physiological correlates of energy expenditure and substrate oxidation in middleaged, premenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999;84: 2771–5. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.84.8.5926.
- [42] de Souza Santos R, Feijó da Silva Santos A, Clegg DJ, Iannetta O, Marchini JS, Marques Miguel Suen V. Overweight postmenopausal women with different plasma estradiol concentrations present with a similar pattern of energy expenditure and substrate oxidation rate before and after a fatty meal challenge. Clin Nutr ESPEN 2016;15:21–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnesp. 2016.05.003.
- [43] Lwin R, Darnell B, Oster R, Lawrence J, Foster J, Azziz R, et al. Effect of oral estrogen on substrate utilization in postmenopausal women. Fertil Steril 2008;90:1275–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2007.07.1317.
- [44] Greendale GA, Sternfeld B, Huang M, Han W, Karvonen-Gutierrez C, Ruppert K, et al. Changes in body composition and weight during the menopause transition. JCI Insight 2019;4. https: //doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.124865.
- [45] Hyvärinen M, Juppi H-K, Taskinen S, Karppinen JE, Karvinen S, Tammelin TH, et al. Metabolic health, menopause, and physical activity—a 4-year follow-up study. Int J Obes 2021:1–11. https: //doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-01022-x.
- [46] Jeukendrup AE, Wallis GA. Measurement of substrate oxidation during exercise by means of gas exchange measurements. Int J Sports Med 2005;26(Suppl 1):S28–37. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-830512.
- [47] Frandsen J, Pistoljevic N, Quesada JP, Amaro-Gahete FJ, Ritz C, Larsen S, et al. Menstrual cycle phase does not affect whole body peak fat oxidation rate during a graded exercise test. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2020;128:681–7. https://doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.00774.2019.
- [48] Chrzanowski-Smith OJ, Edinburgh RM, Thomas MP, Haralabidis N, Williams S, Betts JA, et al. The day-to-day reliability of peak fat oxidation and FATMAX. Eur J Appl Physiol 2020;120:1745–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-020-04397-3.
- [49] Bouchard C, Tremblay A, Nadeau A, Després JP, Thériault G, Boulay MR, et al. Genetic effect in resting and exercise metabolic rates. Metabolism 1989;38:364–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(89)90126-1.
- [50] Dupuit M, Rance Mé, Morel C, Bouillon P, Pereira B, Bonnet A, et al. Moderate-intensity continuous training or high-intensity interval training with or without resistance training for altering body composition in postmenopausal women. Med Sci Sports Exerc 20 20;52:736–45. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000002162.

- [51] Galgani JE, Fernández-Verdejo R. Pathophysiological role of metabolic flexibility on metabolic health. Obes Rev Off J Int Assoc Study Obes 2021;22:e13131. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13131.
- [52] Robinson SL, Chambers ES, Fletcher G, Wallis GA. Lipolytic markers, insulin and resting fat oxidation are associated with maximal fat oxidation. Int J Sports Med 2016;37:607–13. https: //doi.org/10.1055/s-0042-100291.
- [53] Horton TJ, Hill JO. Prolonged fasting significantly changes nutrient oxidation and glucose tolerance after a normal mixed meal. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2001;90:155–63. https://doi.org/10. 1152/jappl.2001.90.1.155.
- [54] Frayn KN. The glucose-fatty acid cycle: a physiological perspective. Biochem Soc Trans 2003;31:1115–9. https://doi.org/10. 1042/bst0311115.
- [55] Shaw CS, Swinton C, Morales-Scholz MG, McRae N, Erftemeyer T, Aldous A, et al. Impact of exercise training status on the fiber typespecific abundance of proteins regulating intramuscular lipid metabolism. J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md 1985 2020;128:379–89. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00797.2019.
- [56] Chrzanowski-Smith OJ, Edinburgh RM, Smith E, Thomas MP, Walhin J-P, Koumanov F, et al. Resting skeletal muscle ATGL and

CPT1b are associated with peak fat oxidation rates in men and women but do not explain observed sex-differences. Exp Physiol 2021. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP089431.

- [57] Stisen AB, Stougaard O, Langfort J, Helge JW, Sahlin K, Madsen K. Maximal fat oxidation rates in endurance trained and untrained women. Eur J Appl Physiol 2006;98:497–506. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00421-006-0290-x.
- [58] Dandanell S, Meinild-Lundby A-K, Andersen AB, Lang PF, Oberholzer L, Keiser S, et al. Determinants of maximal whole-body fat oxidation in elite cross-country skiers: role of skeletal muscle mitochondria. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2018;28:2494–504. https: //doi.org/10.1111/sms.13298.
- [59] Olefsky JM, Reaven GM. Insulin and glucose responses to identical oral glucose tolerance tests performed forty-eight hours apart. Diabetes 1974;23:449–53. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab. 23.5.449.
- [60] Song JD, Alves TC, Befroy DE, Perry RJ, Mason GF, Zhang X-M, et al. Dissociation of muscle insulin resistance from alterations in mitochondrial substrate preference. Cell Metabol 2020;32: 726–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.09.008. e5.